# THE RESILIENT STUDY: A RETROSPECTIVE, DESCRIPTIVE CORRELATIONAL INVESTIGATION OF RATE AND CORRELATES OF ORAL ENDOCRINE THERAPY ADHERENCE IN OLDER WOMEN WITH BREAST CANCER

A DISSERTATION IN Nursing

Presented to the Faculty of the University of Missouri-Kansas City in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

by SUNNY YOO RUGGERI

B.S., Sungkyunkwan University, 2006M.S., Sungkyunkwan University, 2013M.S.N., Sacred Heart University, 2019

Kansas City, Missouri 2023

# ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

# SUNNY YOO RUGGERI

© 2023

# THE RESILIENT STUDY: A RETROSPECTIVE, DESCRIPTIVE CORRELATIONAL INVESTIGATION OF RATE AND CORRELATES OF ORAL ENDOCRINE THERAPY ADHERENCE IN OLDER WOMEN WITHBREAST CANCER Sunny Yoo Ruggeri, Candidate for the Doctor of Philosophy Degree University of Missouri-Kansas City, 2023

## ABSTRACT

Breast cancer is the most prevalent and costly cancer among females. About 80% of breast cancer patients take oral endocrine therapy (OET), such as anastrozole, letrozole, tamoxifen, and exmestane. These medications increase survival, improve quality-of-life and decrease healthcare costs, yet many patients do not take it properly. The purpose of this study is to identify rates of and multi-level determinants influencing OET non-adherence (NA) among older women with breast cancer enrolled in Medicare Part-D. It is important to consider older women with breast cancer; the medium breast cancer patient age was 62 and more than 20% of newly diagnosed patients were older than 70 in 2021.

Most existing research on OET-NA has been conducted on small samples at single sites and has focused predominantly on patient issues rather than exploring multi-level determinants. Despite their unique needs due to aging effects, there are no specific guidelines or known OET-NA determinants for older women with breast cancer. To resolve this, I utilized a large data set with theoretical frameworks (World Health Organization's fivedimensional-model of factors and Bronfenbrenner's ecological system theory) to understand multi-level determinants through a secondary data analysis of the Surveillance-Epidemiology-End-Results Medicare database (average age 69). All women in the database with a cancer diagnosis were identified using ICD-9 and ICD-10 codes in Medicare Part-D to identify ten years of OET-NA rates. I then focused on the most recently released data from 2019 to identify up-to-date trends in OET-NA determinants.

Results demonstrated that OET-NA was significantly affected by (a) patient-related factors of ethnicity and psychological issues, (b) socioeconomic-related factors of marital status, and lifestyle, (c) therapy-related factors of switching OET medications and increased number of drug therapy experiences, (d) condition-related factors of cancer stage and comorbidities, and (e) health care team/system-related factors of characteristics of healthcare team and system. The first steps in developing interventions for better nursing practice based on strong theoretical frameworks were determining rates and multi-level determinants of OET-NA on older women. This study can also support the implementation of better nursing policies to improve patient education and OET adherence— ultimately decreasing morbidity and mortality, and increasing quality-of-life.

## APPROVAL PAGE

The faculty listed below, appointed by the Dean of the School of Nursing and Health Studies, have examined a dissertation titled "The RESILIENT Study: A Retrospective, Descriptive, Correlational Investigation of Rate and Correlates of Oral Endocrine Therapy (OET) Adherence in Older Women with Breast Cancer," presented by Sunny Yoo Ruggeri, candidate for the Doctor of Philosophy degree and hereby certify that in their opinion it is worthy of acceptance.

# Supervisory Committee

Cynthia L. Russell, PhD, RN, FAAN, Committee Chair UMKC School of Nursing and Health Studies

Gregory L. Alexander, PhD, RN, FAAN, FACMI, FIAHSI Columbia University School of Nursing

Rebecca J. Bartlett Ellis, PhD, RN, ACNS-BC, FAAN Indiana University School of Nursing

Lori A. Erickson, PhD, RN, MSN, CPNP-PC Children's Mercy Kansas City & UMKC School of Nursing and Health Studies

Jeremy Provance, PhD. Data Adela, Inc & UMKC School of Nursing and Health Studies

| ABSTRACTiii  |
|--|
| LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS ix   |
| LIST OF TABLESxi   |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS   |
| Chapter  |
| 1. INTRODUCTION1   |
| Aims, Research Questions, and Definitions1                             |
| Description of the Problem9  |
| Significance of the Problem15  |
| Conceptual/Theoretical Framework17                                     |
| Innovation   |
| Conclusion   |
| 2. LITERATURE REVIEW   |
| Breast Cancer  |
| Incidence and Prevalence   |
| Pathophysiology  |
| Physical Presentation  |
| Treatment  |
| Medication Adherence in Chronic Diseases, Cancer, and Breast Cancer 32 |
| Patient-Related Factors  |
| Socioeconomic-Related Factors  |

# CONTENTS

|    | Therapy-Related Factors  | 46 |
|----|--|----|
|    | Condition-Related Factors                                      | 50 |
|    | Health care Team/System-Related Factors                        | 54 |
|    | Discussion   | 57 |
|    | Conclusion   | 62 |
| 3. | METHODS  | 64 |
|    | Design   | 64 |
|    | Sample and Setting   | 64 |
|    | SEER Medicare Database   | 64 |
|    | Inclusion Criteria   | 66 |
|    | Measures/ Instruments  | 66 |
|    | Procedures   | 69 |
|    | Data Analysis  | 83 |
| 4. | RESULTS  | 85 |
|    | Characteristics of the Samples                                 | 85 |
|    | Study Samples  | 86 |
|    | Demographics of Study Samples                                  | 89 |
|    | Summary of the Study Samples                                   | 93 |
|    | Results of Research Question 1: Identifying OET-NA Rates       | 93 |
|    | 2019 MPR and PDC Data  | 93 |
|    | Results of Research Question 2: Finding Determinants of OET-NA | 96 |
|    | Patient-Related Factors  | 97 |
|    |  |    |

|           | Socioeconomic-Related Factors10            | 4 |
|-----------|--|---|
|           | Therapy-Related Factors10                  | 9 |
|           | Condition-Related Factors11                | 4 |
|           | Health Care Team/System-Related Factors 11 | 9 |
|           | Post-Hoc Analysis                          | 3 |
| 5. DI     | SCUSSION 13                                | 1 |
|           | Interpretation of Findings                 | 1 |
|           | Strengths                                  | 7 |
|           | Limitations 14                             | 9 |
|           | Implications15                             | 0 |
|           | Future Research                            | 4 |
|           | Conclusions                                | 5 |
| APPENDIX  |  | 7 |
| REFERENCE | ES   | 5 |
| VITA      |  | 1 |

# ILLUSTRATIONS

| Figur | Page  |
|-------|---|
| 2.1.  | Histograms of Medication-NA in Chronic Disease, Cancer, Breast Cancer           |
| 3.1.  | MPR and PDC calculation example   |
| 4.1.  | Sample Extraction Diagram   |
| 4.2.  | Relevant Patient Count in Linked Databases                                      |
| 4.3.  | Patient-Related: Ethnicity Logistic Regression Results                          |
| 4.4.  | Patient-Related: Psychological Symptoms Logistic Regression Results             |
| 4.5.  | Patient-Related: Cognitive Logistic Regression Results                          |
| 4.6.  | Patient-Related: Psychological Diseases Logistic Regression Results             |
| 4.7.  | Patient-Related: Decreased Sensory/Motor Skills Logistic Regression Results 102 |
| 4.8.  | Patient-Related Factor Multivariate Regression Results                          |
| 4.9.  | Social-Related: Marital Status Logistic Regression Results                      |
| 4.10. | Social-Related: Lifestyle Status Logistic Regression Results 107                |
| 4.11. | Environmental-Related: Living Status Logistic Regression Results                |
| 4.12. | Socioeconomic-Related Logistic Regression Results                               |
| 4.13. | Therapy-Related: Medication Regimens and Therapy Combinations Logistic          |
|       | Regression Results  |
| 4.14. | Therapy-Related: Number of Drug Therapy Problem Logistic Regression Results 113 |
| 4.15. | Therapy-Related Factors: Multivariate Logistic Regression Results               |
| 4.16. | Condition- Related: Disease Characteristics Logistic Regression Results 115     |
| 4.17. | Condition-Related: Comorbidity Logistic Regression Results                      |

| 4.18. | Health Care Team-Related: CMR Review Status & Reviewer Type Logistic Regression      |
|-------|--|
|       | Results  |
| 4.19. | Health Care Team-Related: Provider Partnership Status Logistic Regression Result 121 |
| 4.20. | Health Care System-Related: Co-insurance and Deductible Status Logistic Regression   |
|       | Results  |
| 4.21. | Post-Hoc Analysis to Explore Joint Influences of Multi-Level Determinants            |

# TABLES

| Table | Page  |
|-------|---|
| 2.1.  | Patient-Related Factors of Medication-NA                                      |
| 2.2.  | Socioeconomic-Related Factors of Medication-NA                                |
| 2.3.  | Therapy-Related Factors of Medication-NA                                      |
| 2.4.  | Condition-Related Factors of Medication-NA                                    |
| 2.5.  | Health Care Team/System-Related Factors of Medication-NA                      |
| 3.1.  | Variables of Interest   |
| 3.2.  | Variables of Interest with Code Examples73                                    |
| 3.3.  | Patient-Related Variable Codes  |
| 3.4.  | Socioeconomic-Related Variable Codes  |
| 3.5.  | Therapy-Related Variable Codes  |
| 3.6.  | Condition-Related Variable Codes  |
| 3.7.  | Health Care Team/System-Related Factors                                       |
| 4.1.  | Demographics of 2019 Breast Cancer Patients Taking OET Medications            |
| 4.2.  | The Rate of OET Medication Adherence and OET-NA Rates in 2019                 |
| 4.3.  | OET Medication Adherence in 2019  |
| 4.4.  | Descriptive Statistics of OET Medication Adherence and NA Rates 2010- 2019 95 |
| 4.5.  | Odds Ratio Example  |
| 4.6.  | Patient-Related: Ethnicity Logistic Regression Results                        |
| 4.7.  | Patient-Related: Psychological Symptoms Logistic Regression Results           |
| 4.8.  | Patient-Related: Cognitive Issues Logistic Regression Results                 |

| 4.9.  | Patient-Related: Psychological Diseases Logistic Regression Results 100            |
|-------|--|
| 4.10. | Patient-Related: Decreased Sensory/Motor Skills Logistic Regression Results 102    |
| 4.11. | Social-Related: Marital Status Logistic Regression Results                         |
| 4.12. | Social-Related: Lifestyle Status Logistic Regression Results 106                   |
| 4.13. | Environmental-Related: Living Status Logistic Regression Results 107               |
| 4.14. | Therapy-Related: Medication Regimens and Therapy Combinations Logistic             |
|       | Regression Results   |
| 4.15. | Therapy-Related: Number of Drug Therapy Problem Logistic Regression Results 112    |
| 4.16. | Condition-Related: Disease Characteristics Logistic Regression Results 115         |
| 4.17. | Condition-Related: Comorbidity Logistic Regression Results 116                     |
| 4.18. | Health Care Team-Related: CMR Review Status & Reviewer Type Logistic               |
|       | Regression Results   |
| 4.19. | Health Care Team-Related: Provider Partnership Status Logistic Regression          |
| 4.20. | Health Care System-Related: Co-insurance and Deductible Status Logistic Regression |
|       | Results  |
| 4.21. | Post-Hoc Analysis to Explore Joint Influences of Multi-Level Determinants          |
| 5.1.  | Patient-Related Discussion   |
| 5.2.  | Socioeconomic-Related Discussion   |
| 5.3.  | Therapy-Related Discussion   |
| 5.4.  | Condition-Related Discussion   |
| 5.5.  | Health Care Team/System-Related Discussion   |

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to thank all my committee members who were more than generous with their expertise and precious time. A special thanks to Dr. Cynthia L. Russell, my committee chairperson for your invaluable support, assistance, motivation, and guidance throughout of my PhD journey. Thank you Dr. Gregory L Alexander, Dr. Rebecca J. Bartlett Ellis, Dr. Lori A. Erickson, and Dr. Jeremy Provance for agreeing to serve on my committee and providing constructive feedback.

I would also like to take this opportunity to express my appreciation and deep thanks to my biostatistian, Dr. Steven Chesnut for his invaluable advice, guidance, and encouragements to set me in the right direction.

Finally, I would like to thank the all the professors and administrators in our school who supported my academic success. Their support made my PhD life more enjoyable experience.

# DEDICATION

I dedicate my dissertation work to my family, colleagues, and friends in their support of this dissertation. I give special thanks to my husband, Andrew Ruggeri for technical support and for being there for me throughout the entire doctorate program. I also give another special thank you to my daughter, Adaleine Giavana Ruggeri. You were always so cooperative and patient through this hard process. Lastly, I dedicate this work and give special thanks to Dr. Cynthia L. Russell for guiding my medication adherence research with her expertise.

#### CHAPTER 1

# INTRODUCTION

The <u>rates</u> mult<u>ilevel</u> influences <u>endocrine</u> <u>therapy</u> (RESILIENT) study is a retrospective, descriptive, correlational investigation of rate and correlates of oral endocrine therapy non-adherence in older women with breast cancer.

Chapter one provides a general introduction and identification of the problems related to oral endocrine therapy (OET) non-adherence (NA) in older women with breast cancer within the current literature. In this chapter, I will review (a) aims, research questions and definitions; (b) description of the problem; (c) significance of the problem; (d) conceptual/theoretical framework; and (e) innovation of the RESILENT study.

### Aims, Research Questions, and Definitions

The purpose of this study is to identify the rate of OET-NA and the multi-level determinants that contribute to OET-NA in women with breast cancer. The purpose of this study is not hypothesis testing; rather, the purpose is identifying the rate of OET-NA and exploring the multi-level determinants that are correlated with OET-NA. Understanding the role of multi-level determinants such as patient-related, socio-economic-related, therapy-related, condition-related, and healthcare team/system-related factors will provide a blueprint for tailored interventions specific to breast cancer patients prescribed OET. The study's specific aims are as follows.

#### **Specific Aims**

This study aims to measure OET-NA rates and identify the multi-level determinants related to OET-NA in women with breast cancer to improve adherence to OET. Improving

adherence may lead to enhanced quality-of-life (QOL) and decrease recurrence rates, mortality, and medical costs for women with breast cancer.

#### **Research Questions**

The research questions are as follows: (a) what is the rate of adherence to OET in women with breast cancer? and (b) what are the multi-level determinants influencing OET-NA in women with breast cancer?

#### **Definitions and Terminologies**

I will now introduce the definitions and terminologies of this study, including adherence (related terms: initiation, implementation, persistence), medical possession ratio (MPR), measures, OET, medication-NA (related terms: inconsistency, delayed initiation, or early discontinuation), older adults, and over-adherence.

Adherence. Adherence was first conceptualized as compliance in the late 1970s (Butow et al., 2010). Kyngäs et al. (2000) described compliance as comprising three elements: (a) self-care responsibilities, (b) role in the treatment process, and (c) collaboration with health care providers. Osterberg and Blaschke (2005) described compliance as the passive action of the patient following the health care provider's order. Virijens et al. (2012) demonstrated that the term concordance was originally used to describe the patient– prescriber relationship and was often incorrectly applied as a synonym for compliance. Hansen (2015b) found that adherence puts the patient in the role of an active participant. However, since 2003, adherence has become the term preferred by researchers due to its more positive, less paternalistic, implication (Hansen, 2015b). Adherence was defined by the World Health Organization (WHO) in 2003 as "the extent to which a person's behavior [...] taking medication, following a diet, and/or executing lifestyle changes, corresponds with agreed recommendations from a healthcare provider" (Sabaté, 2003, p. 3). Virijens et al. (2012) developed the Ascertaining Barriers to Compliance (ABC) taxonomy to define medication adherence as a sequence of steps a patient must undertake to be defined as "adherent to treatment": (a) initiation, (b) implementation, and (c) discontinuation.

*Initiation.* Vrijens et al. (2012) defined initiation as taking the first dose of a prescribed medication.

*Implementation.* Vrijens et al. (2012) defined implementation as the continual process of the medication regimen, which they describe as taking the correct number of medications until finishing the last dose. This means implementation is the extent to which a patient's actual dosing corresponds to the prescribed dosing regimen, from initiation until the last dose.

*Discontinuation*. Vrijens et al. (2012) explained that discontinuation means the end of treatment without additional doses to be taken afterwards. Discontinuation occurs when the patient stops taking the prescribed medication for whatever reason(s).

*Persistence.* Vrijens et al. (2012) defined persistence as the length of time between initiation and the last dose, which immediately precedes discontinuation. In other words, persistence is taking medication as long as it is prescribed (Ruddy et al., 2009).

*Medication Non-adherence (NA).* Vrijens et al. (2012) described non-adherence as any inconsistency of the regimen, delayed initiation, or early discontinuation before

treatments finish. Medication-NA can be intentional (when the patient decides not to take their medication for a variety of reasons) or unintentional (i.e., forgetting a dose or misunderstanding the directions) (Bosworth et al., 2006).

**Measures.** Newly developed tools allow precise measurement of MA. There are two ways to identify MA: (a) subjective and (b) objective measures (Brown & Bussell, 2011; Hansen, 2015a).

Subjective Measures. Subjective measures include collecting data from the patient, or through report or assessment by family members or healthcare providers (Brown & Bussell, 2011; Byerly et al., 2007; Rand & Wise, 1994). Speicifically, subjective measures often involve healthcare provider's or patient's evaluation of their medication-taking behavior (Vik et al. 2004). And this can be done with interviewing patients by healthcare providers. For example, healthcare provider will ask patient about their medication knowledge including dosing schedules, any problems with taking medications to check the patient's adherence. Unfortunately, these subjective assessments by interviewers can increase bias adherence and this method is rare method to assess adherence (Vik et al. 2004). Another common subjective measure is patient's self-report. For this assessment, some providers may use direct questioning method which is similiar to interview method but it is less intensive procedure compared to interviewing method. For example, patients will either admit or deny about their nonadherence directly in this assessment. However, this method may increase bias since some patients who claim adherence to avoid disapproval of others (Vik et al. 2004). Especially, patients who tend to underreport medication-NA more likely to escape the embarrassed moments from their healthcare provider (Vik et al., 2004).

*Objective Measures.* Objective measures provide more precise records than subjective measures since objective measures are quantitative (Anghel et al., 2019). Objective measures can be divided into (a) direct measures, and (b) indirect measures such as electronic medication monitoring, biochemical measurements from drug levels on blood (Hill, 2005; Krcmarik, 2018; Liu et al., 2001; Partridge et al., 2002). Direct measure is a measurement that is directly verifying medication administrations, including direct observation by healthcare professionals and measurements of the drug concentration. Direct objective methods are mostly used for research studies with single-dose therapy or intermittent administration during hospitalized period (Vermeire et al., 2001). Indirect methods are more popular than direct methods in medication adherence research due to better financial benefits and time constraints, including pill count, electronic monitoring recording devices, and secondary database analysis measures (Anghel et al., 2019).

- Pill Count. Pill counts add up the number of dosage units that a patient has taken between two visits. This number would then be subtracted from the total number of units received to find the adherence information (Anghel et al., 2019; Farmer, 1999). This method is simple and cheaper to conduct research. However, several limitations are identified, such as (a) difficulty in assessing non-discrete dosages in medication formulation (fractionated tablets, capsules, and actuated inhaler); and (b) missing doses due to using medication only as needed (Pro Re Nata or PRN) (Vik et al., 2004).
- Electronic Monitoring Devices. Electronic monitoring devices are tools formed in prescription medication packages to record dosing events and store records of

adherence (Checchi et al., 2014). Medication Event Monitoring System (MEMS) is one of the popular electronic monitoring devices that has a sensor in the medication package container (e.g., once the package opens, it will send the signal to record as medication is taken). This device assumes that opening the container is ingesting medication (Lam & Fresco, 2015). Many studies support the accuracy of the MEMS device, and often it is considered as a reference standard for validating other adherence tools (Diaz et al., 2001; Lam & Fresco, 2015; Modi et al., 2012; Vitolins et al., 2000; Vik et al., 2004). However, there are several issues about MEMS such as (a) high costs, (b) difficult application for other types of medication formulations (e.g., liquid forms cannot be dispensed easily with MEMS), and (c) incorrect use of the MEMS (i.e., opening the medication container without taking the medication) (Diaz et al., 2001; Lam & Fresco, 2015; Modi et al., 2012).

Measures Involving Secondary Database Analysis. The data of the secondary database can be captured in primary data systems, such as electronic prescription services or pharmacy insurance claims (Lam & Fresco, 2015). Centralized-computerized systems are critical to review prescription refill records along with prescribers' and dispensers' information over that designated period (Farmer, 1999). This system allows an analysis of big datasets and assesses multi-drug adherence easily (Kitahata et al., 2004). Although, it could be hard to identify some medication adherence factors (i.e., patient's self-efficacy) since this data is not available in electronic health records (Krousel-Wood et al., 2013). There are

three major ways to assess medication adherence, which are medication possession ratio; proportion of days covered; and new prescription medication gap.

- (a) Medication Possession Ratio. Medication possession ratio (MPR) is defined as the proportion (or percentage) of days medication was supplied during a specified time period (i.e., last refill is the end point, or fixed refill) (Andrade et al. 2006; Burnier & Vrijens, 2018). The MPR is easy, and it is a widely used method. In contrast, the major drawback of MPR is that it does not consider the gaps in refills (Burnier & Vrijens, 2018; Lam & Fresco, 2015; Vanderpoel et al., 2004). Moreover, MPR only has the time of prescription collection and no exact medication administration information (i.e., missed a dose or stopped, patient may refill early for vacation), so it can affect overestimated adherence (Lam & Fresco, 2015).
- (b) Proportion of Days Covered. Proportion of days covered (PDC) estimates the number of days covered over a time interval (Burnier & Vrijens, 2018). In 2012, the PDC is becoming the preferred adherence measurement and recommended by the Pharmacy Quality Alliance (PQA) as the standard measure (Nau, 2012; Prieto-Merino et al., 2021). If a patient refills the medication several days prior to running out of it, PDC makes an adjustment, whereas MPR will be elevated from overlapping days supplies (Burnier & Vrijens, 2018). The PDC can provide a more conservative estimate of the adherence information even patient has switches of medications (Martin et al.,

2009). Both PDC and MPR cannot measure if a patient skipped taking medications several days before refiling it (Burnier & Vrijens, 2018; Prieto-Merino et al., 2021). Persistence in PDC can be defined as continuous use of the therapy over a fixed time interval before discontinuation (Patel et al., 2020). However, it can be tricky to assess and measure the discontinuation time frame. Generally, researchers set the date of gap between two consecutive prescription refills (i.e., 45 or 60 days) over the entire observation. For example, Patel et al. (2020) assessed discontinuation time frame when patient's refill gap is bigger than 45 days.

(c) New Prescription Medication Gap. New Prescription Medication Gap (NPMG) is defined as the proportion of days within an interval bounded by the prescriber's initial record date (prescriber's prescription order date) and the end of the observation period (Karter et al., 2009). The gap will be determined by researcher depending on the medications. This measure starts with the date of prescription and includes the time until initiation than MPR or PDC (Burnier & Vrijens, 2018). The NPMG ranges from 100% for patients who obtain no medication to 0% for those who consistently refill their medication in a timely fashion (Burnier & Vrijens, 2018). However, this measure does not calculate nonadherence values for cumulative periods without considering the possibility of early refill or overfill (Burnier & Vrijens, 2018).

**Oral Endocrine Therapy (OET).** OET includes either tamoxifen or aromatase inhibitors (AIs), which are anastrozole, exemestane, and letrozole (Lundgren et al., 2018). Theses AIs are recommended treatment in early stage breast cancer in postmenopausal women. This medication are given to patients after their surgery, chemotherapy or radiation, to lower the risk of the cancer recurrence (Xu et al., 2019).

**OET Medication Dosage.** The typical dose of Exemestane (25 mg Daily), Letrozole (2.5 mg daily), or Anastrozole (1 mg daily) in Postmenopausal Women (Peters & Tadi, 2022).

**OET Medication Day's Supply.** The quantity of dispencing amunt of each refill is typically 30 days and 90 days (Taitel et al., 2012).

**OET-NA.** Patients are not taking prescribed OET with PDC of < 80%; patients are not taking for various reasons such as (a) the patient's own decision, and/or (b) simply not taking as prescribed (Haynes, 1976).

**Older Adults.** Older adults or geriatric populations are commonly viewed as anyone over 65 years-old (Butler et al., 2011; Sieber, 2007).

**Over-adherence.** Ruddy et al. (2009) presented a definition of over-adherence as taking too much of a medication.

## **Description of the Problem**

For this section, I will introduce the impacts of chronic disease, cancer, breast cancer, and population of older breast cancer patients in the United States. Also, I will present health behavior, and its terminology to understand complex issues such as medication-NA. The final section is focused on medication-NA behavior in older breast cancer patients that

intersect all previous descriptions of the problem. This information will be the foreground of my RESILIENT study.

# **Chronic Disease**

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2003) defined chronic disease as a wide range of conditions that have a long-lasting character (i.e., lasts 1 year or more), a lack of spontaneous cure, and no possibility of being completely cured. Examples include: heart disease, cancer, chronic lung disease, stroke, Alzheimer's disease, diabetes, and chronic kidney disease. Multiple agencies and scholarly articles defined chronic disease as having characteristics such as duration or latency, need for medical attention, effect on function, pathology, departure from well-being, noncontagious nature, multiple risk factors, and nonamenability to cures (Bernell & Howard, 2016; CDC, 2022; Goodman et al., 2013; Paleczna, 2018; Phillips & Currow, 2010; WHO, 2014). In 2016, the total cost of treating chronic diseases within the United States was \$1.1 trillion, approximately 20% of the United States' gross domestic product (Waters & Graf, 2018). This trend has continued, as chronic diseases (i.e., heart disease, diabetes, and cancer) were the leading drivers of annual health care costs at \$3.8 trillion in the US in 2021 (CDC, 2022). Supporting patient self-care is the most critical component for effective chronic disease care which can lead to improved health outcomes (Bennett, 2016; Coleman & Newton, 2005; Dickson et al., 2013; Evangelista & Shinnick, 2008). Self-care can be defined as providing adequate attention to an individual's own health-related physical and psychological well-being (Beauchamp & Childress, 2001). Self-care is derived from the patient's understanding of disease progression management and symptom control (Donovan, 1995; Thorne et al., 2003; Wagner et al., 2001). Patients with chronic diseases are required to make everyday health-related self-care decisions (Thorne et

al., 2003). This is due to the majority of treatments being heavily related to a patient's selfcare, such as taking medications and following up with healthcare providers (Evangelista & Shinnick, 2008). Buttorff et al. (2017) reported that 60% of American adults had at least one chronic disease, and 12% of them had more than five chronic diseases. The average annual healthcare cost of public insurance (i.e., Medicaid, Medicare, any insurance by U.S. federal, state, or local governments) is \$19,201 for a patient with more than five chronic diseases (Buttorff et al., 2017).

Unfortunately, with 81% of the population diagnosed at least one chronic disease, patients 65 years and older are the age group that collectively suffers the most from chronic diseases (Buttorff et al., 2017). The National Council on Aging (NCOA) (2021) reported the top 10 most common chronic diseases in older adults are hypertension, hyperlipidemia, arthritis, ischemic/coronary heart disease, diabetes, chronic kidney disease, heart failure, depression, Alzheimer's disease and dementia, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Moreover, there is concern with an increasing number of individuals with chronic diseases (Hagger & Weed, 2019; Ryan, 2009). The CDC demonstrated that aging increases the risk of chronic disease. In 2019, 16% of Americans were older than 65, and by 2060 25% of the population will be older than 65 (CDC, 2022). The importance of understanding chronic diseases will continue to expand as the older adult population increases. Individuals with chronic diseases tend to have more limitations in terms of cognitive impairments (i.e., blindness, hearing loss, memory loss), and functional impairments (i.e., urinary incontinence, physical weakness, and use of a walker or cane) (Buttorff et al., 2017; Hung et al., 2011). These limitations can pose greater threats to their health outcomes than other age groups

(Buttorff et al., 2017) by impacting their ability to adhere to self-care behaviors (Evangelista & Shinnick, 2008; Hung et al., 2011).

### Cancer

The lifetime risk of having a cancer diagnosis is about 40% in the general population (White et al., 2014). Today, more patients are living with cancer for longer periods of time since their survival increases with medical treatments. The American Cancer Society (ACS) defines cancer as a chronic disease when it becomes stable and controllable with treatments or reaches remission (ACS, 2019). Possible treatments include surgery, chemotherapy, and/or radiation. All oral anti-cancer medications are considered chemotherapy. There has been remarkable growth and development of oral anti-cancer medication in the last decade, and more than 30% of anti-cancer medications are now available as oral agents (Weingart et al., 2011). More cancer patients prefer to have oral anti-cancer medications compared to intravenous therapy (IV) (Verbrugghe et al., 2013; Wood, 2012). However, with the possibility of oral anti-cancer medication there is also the chance of medication non-adherence (NA). Non-adherent patients suffer cancer relapse 2.5 times more often than adherent patients (Wood, 2012). However, it is not easy to measure NA since many patients take oral anti-cancer medication in a home setting (Given & Given, 2016).

Over the last two decades, oral anti-cancer medications have become a primary form of cancer treatment (Greer et al., 2016). The field of oral anti-cancer medication adherence research has grown steadily to include various types of cancer in different populations (Borner et al., 2001, Bouwman et al., 2017; Hansen, 2012; Verbrugghe et al, 2013). Oral anti-cancer medication treatments not only improve survival rates but also enhance the quality-of-life for cancer patients. However, cancer patients face challenges regarding oral anti-cancer medication-NA (Weingart et al., 2007).

**Breast Cancer.** Breast cancer is the most commonly diagnosed cancer, which is make up 11.6% of total cases, along with lung cancer, for the female population, and the leading cause of cancer deaths even with prescribed therapy (Bray et al., 2018). Only between 41% and 72% of breast cancer patients fully adhered to oral anti-cancer medications, especially for the endocrine-related oral anti-cancer medication (Hurtado-de-Mendoza et al., 2018).

*Older Women with Breast Cancer*. The risk for most cancer, including breast cancers, increase with age (Alkabban & Ferguson, 2021). Altekruse (2009) demonstrated that the incidence of breast cancer increases dramatically with age, and the mortality is higher for older women (>65 years). Zhu et al. (2020) also found a positive association between accelerated aging in breast cancer survivors and mortality. Older women face various challenges in maintaining adherence due to physical function, side-effects, drug to drug interactions, cognitive effects, psychological status, altered nutrition status, lacking knowledge of medication regimens, and financial issues (Given & Given, 2016). According to the Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) registry and Breast Cancer Research Foundation (BCRF), the median age of a breast cancer diagnosis was 62, and more than 20 % of newly diagnosed women were older than 70 years in 2021. As the general population ages, breast cancer cases will double by 2030 in the United States, and women over 70 years old will be a significant population with breast cancer (BCRF, 2021).

The pathophysiology of breast cancer in the older adults is the same as in younger populations, and nearly 80% of cases are an estrogen-positive (ER+) type (BCRF, 2021). Luminal cells, which are the epithelial cells of mammary, can be part of the production of estrogen and progesterone receptors (Yersal & Barutca, 2014). Older women with ER+ breast cancer have more favorable subtypes such as luminal A (low histological grade, low degree of nuclear pleomorphism, low mitotic activity and include special histological type with good prognosis), but they are mostly less aggressive (Jenkins et al., 2014; Yersal & Barutca, 2014). This suggests that oral endocrine therapy (OET) will be more effective treatment for older as well as younger populations. The OET is standard therapy for ER+ breast cancer and works by blocking hormone receptors that fuel cancer growth (ACS, 2015; Milata et al., 2018). Unfortunately, 70% of breast cancer patients prematurely stop taking it before the end of the recommended 5-year period (Luschin & Habersack, 2014). More recently, trials suggest that OET should be administered for 10 years rather than 5 years (Milata et al., 2018). This new recommendation causes even more concern about OET-NA since it doubles the medication taking time and increases the difficulty of monitoring patients' self-administration of the medications.

*Older Adults with Medication-NA*. About 90% of older adults take at least one prescription medication, and 54% of them take four or more medications (Kirzinger et al., 2019). Medication-NA occurs in around 50% of older adults, and its adverse consequences include worsening health, increased risk of mortality, and greater health care costs (Gosmanova et al., 2015; Iuga & McGuire, 2014; Lee et al., 2018; Marcum et al., 2017; Sokol et al., 2005). Medication-NA results in substantial healthcare service costs in the US at

between \$100 billion and \$300 billion annually (Marcum et al., 2017). Unfortunately, medication-NA is a persistent issue among older adults, even though they have greater risk than younger adults (Lee et al., 2018). Older adults have unique issues that influence medication-NA at the drug, patient, provider, and healthcare system levels, including: (a) increased vulnerability to drug-related problems because of age-related changes in pharmacokinetics (i.e., absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion) and pharmacodynamics (the physiologic effects of the drug); (b) high prevalence of cognitive and functional impairments; and (c) increased cost burden of healthcare service use across settings and regimen complexity (Buttorff et al., 2017; Evangelista & Shinnick, 2008; Hung et al., 2011; Rochon et al., 2022; Smaje et al., 2018).

Unfortunately, many older breast cancer patients also suffer from medication-NA, which is one of the most complicated health behaviors. There are limited studies available to understand why older breast cancer patients are not regularly taking the OET medications, even though they have a greater risk of undertreatment linked to poor outcomes and increased mortality (Nardin et al., 2020).

#### Significance of the Problem

Medication-NA is not a new problem, and it dates back to Hippocrates, circa 500 B.C. (Osterberg & Blaschke, 2005). The World Health Organization (WHO) emphasized the issue of NA in 2003 when they published an adherence report of long-term therapies including cancer treatments (Sabaté, 2003). Approximately 80% of all breast cancer patients are prescribed OET at least five years, which increases survival rates, improves quality-oflife (QOL), and decreases recurrence rate, mortality, morbidity, and medical costs for women

with breast cancer (Brett et al., 2018; Harrow et al., 2014; McCowan et al., 2008; Murphy et al., 2012; Paranjpe et al., 2019). Adherence rates for OET vary widely, from 41% to 72%, though the studies have included small sample sizes (Hurtado-de-Mendoza et al., 2018). This indicates that we need to utilize larger samples to validate the rate of OET adherence. Moreover, there are varied rates of medication-NA in breast cancer. Breast cancer patients over 69 years old had a higher medication-NA, which has not been documented in patients with other kinds of cancer (Gieseler et al., 2019; Verbrugghe et al., 2013). Therefore, it is critical to investigate the multi-level determinants that contribute to OET-NA in older women with breast cancer.

## **Incidence and Prevalence**

More than 1.7 million people are diagnosed and treated for breast cancer each year worldwide (Golubnitschaja et al., 2016; Torre et al., 2015). In the United States, breast cancer is the most prevalent cancer in females and is the second-highest cause of all cancer deaths with 268,600 new cases and 41,760 deaths in 2019, even with prescribed therapy (Park et al., 2019; Siege et al., 2019). OET is the most prescribed medication therapy for breast cancer (Wen et al., 2017).

#### Outcomes

As survival rate depends on patient adherence to treatment, it is critical to understand adherence to OET. Currently, OET-NA rates range from 41% to 72% measured by various methods (i.e., self-reports, indirect observations from electronic medication monitoring, and biochemical measurements) (Hurtado-de-Mendoza et al., 2018). Hwang et al. (2020) reported that 70% of breast cancer patients discontinue their recommend OET regimen before 5 years. Non-adherent women with breast cancer face diminished QOL and increased recurrence rates and mortality. The risk of breast cancer recurrence is 1.44 times higher for OET non-adherent patients than adherent patients (Sanft et al., 2019). Low adherence to OET is related to a 30% increased risk of mortality due to cancer recurrence (Brett et al., 2018; Harrow et al., 2014; Murphy et al., 2012).

## Cost

Increased medical costs have become a bigger problem in the breast cancer population as the number of older breast cancer patients continues to increase in the U.S. Due to the high percentage of breast cancer patients on Medicare, this has led to a greater cost burden on the US government, with projected costs of \$20.5 billion on breast cancer care alone in 2020 (Xie et al., 2020). Older adults with breast cancer are already considered a high-risk population due to their increased vulnerability to drug-related problems because of age-related changes in (a) pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics (the physiologic effects of a drug); (b) high prevalence of cognitive, and functional impairment; and (c) increased cost burden of service use across settings and regimen complexity (Buttorff et al., 2017; Evangelista & Shinnick, 2008; Hung et al., 2011; Rochon et al., 2022; Smaje et al., 2018). These age-related changes contribute to increasing cost of care which then lead to OET-NA and overall strain on the healthcare system (Brett et al., 2018; Harrow et al., 2014; McCowan et al., 2008; Murphy et al., 2012; Paranjpe et al., 2019).

#### **Conceptual/Theoretical Framework**

#### **Ecological Systems Theory**

Berben et al. (2012) recommended that healthcare researchers utilize a multilevel ecological perspective for medication adherence such as Bronfenbrenner's ecological system theory (EST). This is because medication adherence issues may be not only influenced by multiple factors—including a patient's social environment of family, friends, community but also because the multiple factors can wield influence simultaneously and reciprocally (Berben et al., 2012).

# Purpose, Scope, and Origin of Ecological System Theory

The EST was first developed for evaluating and understanding the development of children; however, the multilevel approach works well for understanding etiological impacts on health and behavior in adults and has been widely used for that purpose (Bronfenbrenner, 1977). The EST proposes that human development happens in a complex process within the individual and the environmental contexts of which he or she is a part (Bronfenbrenner, 1977). The scope of ecological system theory is very broad and has primarily been used in psychology, however, it has also been applied in other disciplines such as nursing, sociology, pharmacology, and medicine. Initially, the EST was designed to explain environmental factors that contribute to childhood development (Bronfenbrenner, 1977). Likely due to its multi-system emphasis, the EST has frequently been applied to healthcare interventions and used to improve health outcomes (Golden & Earp, 2012).

Bronfenbrenner's theory is a grounded theory from human development science (Bronfenbrenner, 1977). Bronfenbrenner's theory was well known as a socio-ecological model before he published the first version of his theory in 1977 (Rosa, 2013). Bronfenbrenner added the individual level to his theory in 1983 (Bronfenbrenner, 1983). After 1993, Bronfenbrenner changed the name of his theory to bioecological theory in order to focus on the component of human developments (Rosa & Tudge, 2013). Bronfenbrenner started to call his theory "ecological system theory" after 2000 (Bronfenbrenner, 2000).

## **Content of Ecological System Theory**

Assumptions. The ecological system theory (EST) assumes that there are interrelations between individuals and their environment (Bronfenbrenner, 1977; Golden & Earp, 2012). The multiple levels of environmental effects interact and reinforce patients' behaviors to improve health conditions (Golden & Earp, 2012). Bronfenbrenner (1977; 1979) assumed that there is a reciprocal relationship between levels and fluctuations in the social environment and individual behavior.

Concepts. Bronfenbrenner (1977; 1983;1994) identified variables for systemthinking at multiple levels: individual-, micro-, meso-, exo-, macro-, chrono-system levels. The micro-system shows interpersonal relationships in an environmental background (Bronfenbrenner, 1977; Yach, 2002). The micro-system involves direct interpersonal relationships, like a patient's family and peer group (Bronfenbrenner, 1977). The mesosystem addresses the connection between environmental settings (Bronfenbrenner, 1977; Yach, 2002). The meso-system describes the interaction between micro-systems that contribute to healthy behaviors like medication adherence (Bronfenbrenner, 1977). The exosystem describes the indirect environmental settings that exert influence without active patient engagement (Bronfenbrenner, 1977). The macro-system refers to broader systems that include culture or subculture, such as the economic, social, education, healthcare, legal, and political systems (Bronfenbrenner, 1977; McLeroy et al., 1988). Lastly, the chrono-system applies to the changes over time that affect an individual's development and includes life transitions such as marriage, divorces, school entry, and relocation (Bronfenbrenner, 1994). Bronfenbrenner added the individual level of concept in 1983. The individual level is considered to be a patient-system that includes demographics, knowledge, self-efficacy, and

medication beliefs (Bronfenbrenner, 1983; Yach, 2002). Based on its multi-system emphasis, Bronfenbrenner's EST has been frequently utilized in public health interventions and promotions to improve health outcomes (Golden & Earp, 2012).

## Theory Application: EST

Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory (EST) was used to assess the effect of multi-level factors on medication adherence (Berben et al., 2012). The multilevel nature of EST is a foundational premise of my research. In my dissertation, I assert that individual-, micro-, meso-, exo-, and macro-level systems modulate breast cancer oral endocrine therapy (OET adherence). For example, a patient's (a) psychosocial concerns (individual-system); (b) interpersonal relationship with chemotherapy clinic workers (micro-system); (c) significant other involved in routine care (meso-system); (d) consumption of mass media, involvement in the cancer community, and utilization of social services (exo-system); and (e) cultural background (macro-system) may influence treatment adherence.

#### Importance to Nursing

The ecological system theory reflects the nursing metaparadigm, including concepts of person, nursing, environment, and health (Masters, 2018). Even though EST is a psychology theory, each concept connects well to nursing within nursing metaparadigms. From the nursing metaparadigm, the concepts of person correspond with patient/individual level in the ecological system theory, the concepts of nursing can be comparable to ecological experiments in the EST, and the concepts of health are equivalent to human development in the EST. Since the goal of human development is to improve quality of life. The ecological system theory has been utilized in the nursing field to enhance a patient's

behavior with structured theoretical backgrounds (Berben et al., 2012, Cannoy et al., 2019; Denhaerynck et al., 2017; Hall et al., 2016).

#### The Five-Dimension Model (FDM) of the World Health Organization (WHO)

The five-dimension model (FDM) for medication adherence was developed by the World Health Organization (WHO) (Sabaté, 2003). The FDM considers patient-related, socio-economic, therapy-related, condition-related, and health care team/system-related factors (Sabaté, 2003). In the WHO's five-dimension model, (a) patient-related factors include a patient's knowledge, attitude, self-efficacy, beliefs on treatment efficacy, and perceived barriers to adherence; (b) social and economic-related factors include social networks, family functioning, and the cost of medication; (c) therapy-related factors include side-effects of the regimen, duration of treatment, and dose complexity; (d) condition-related factors involve co-morbidities, depression, and other psychiatric diagnoses such as substance abuse; and (e) healthcare team/system-related factors consider the knowledge of healthcare professionals and the relationship between the patient and their healthcare team (Sabaté, 2003).

# Theory Application: FDM

Berben et al. (2015) demonstrated that the FDM and EST to enhance medication adherence by addressing (a) patient-level (i.e., patient beliefs, intentions, self-efficacy and barriers, confidence in immunosuppressive medication, depression, health literacy); (b) healthcare provider-level (i.e. patient satisfaction with the interpersonal dimension of care, trust in the transplant team, social support); (c) healthcare organization-level (i.e. chronic illness management, transplant program practice patterns); and (d) healthcare system and policy-level (i.e. perceived financial burden of the treatment regimen, insurance status, system of healthcare coverage, country) factors.

Since the FDM and Bronfenbrenner's EST utilize ecological concepts to understand medication adherence, I would like to apply these theoretical models to the issue of medication non-adherence in women with breast cancer. Combining Bronfenbrenner's EST with the WHO's FDM can account for the simultaneous, reciprocal interactions between multi-level factors. For example, the EST's individual-level correlates to the FDM's patientrelated factors. Both categories discuss patient attitudes, knowledge, and self-efficacy (McLeroy, et al., 1988). The EST's micro-level encompasses the FDM's social and healthcare team-related factors which describe interpersonal or face-to-face relationships with healthcare providers, as well as social support. The EST's meso-level correlates with the FDM's healthcare team-related factors including the characteristics of the healthcare organization where a patient is being treated. The EST's macro-level factors relate to the FDM's healthcare system-related factors including local, state, and national healthcareassociated laws and policies.

#### Importance to Nursing

Investigating FDM factors will help nurses understand the current issues of OET-NA clearly. The blueprint of FDM factors can guide nurses to educate their patients on the importance of medication adherence to treat breast cancer. Nurses can coach patients at each of the levels (patient-related, condition-related, therapy-related, social/economic-related, and health care team/system-related factors) to influence their behavior changes. By promoting
OET adherence behavior, more breast cancer patients can eventually enhance their QOL and decrease recurrence rate, mortality, and medical costs.

#### Innovation

This study is novel because of its use of large database to increase the sample size and its investigation of multi-level determinants of OET-NA. Existing studies have commonly overlooked multi-level determinants, recruited homogenous samples, and utilized small samples from the Electronic Health Record (EHR), both of which limit generalizability. To overcome these issues, this study will utilize secondary data analysis with a large database, which is a Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA)-compliant EHR patient database of over 158 million patients in 863 healthcare facilities across the United States (Bao et al., 2018; Jamil et al., 2019). Additionally, this study will be the first to investigate potential underlying multi-level influences on OET-NA for breast cancer patients. This study will apply Bronfenbrenner's EST and FDM to better understand potential multi-level influences in order to improve OET-NA, which has the potential to decrease morbidity/mortality and increase QOL for breast cancer patients.

## Conclusion

Chapter one defined medication non-adherence related terminologies. I also described the current issues that women with breast cancer face, as well as the benefit of using Bronfenbrenner's EST and FDM. Medication-NA is a complex problem that causes poor health outcomes and increased healthcare costs. The EST is an appropriate framework that can be related to FDM to enhance understanding of OET-NA. Identifying the role of multilevel determinants like patient-related, socio-economic-related, therapy-related, conditionrelated, and healthcare team/system-related factors will provide a blueprint for future tailored interventions specific to breast cancer patients on OET. In this study, I will focus on identifying the rate of OET-NA and the multi-level determinants related to OET-NA in women with breast cancer in order to improve adherence to OET. This will serve to eventually enhance QOL and decrease recurrence rates, mortality, and medical costs for women with breast cancer.

### CHAPTER 2

## LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter aims to present the state of the science in OET-NA among older women with breast cancer from existing studies and identifying the gaps in the literature. The findings of this chapter can justify the RESLIENT study's research questions and methodologies.

### **Breast Cancer**

#### **Incidence and Prevalence**

Breast cancer is the most common cancer diagnosed in women, and it is the second most common cause of death from cancer among women in the world (Alkabban & Ferguson, 2021). The average risk of an American woman developing breast cancer sometime in her life is about 13%, and there are more than 3.8 million breast cancer survivors in the United States (ACS, 2022a; Parada et al., 2019; Gucalp et al., 2019). Annually 300,000 new breast cancer cases are reported in the United States, and 40,000 American women die from breast cancer each year (Park et al., 2019; Siege et al., 2019). There is a positive association between age and the incidence rate of breast cancer. For example, women 20 to 24 years of age have 1.5 cases per 100,000 women, and women 75 to 79 years of age have 421.3 cases per 100,000 women annually in the United States (Alkabban & Ferguson, 2021). According to the American Cancer Society the median age of breast cancer diagnosis among American women is 62 years. Breast cancer rates among American women in various racial and ethnic groups are: non-Hispanic white (128.1 cases), African American (124.3 cases), Hispanic/Latina (91.0 cases), American Indian/Alaska Native (91.9 cases), and Asian American/Pacific Islander (88.3 cases) per 100,000 annually (ACS, 2022a).

## Pathophysiology

In the anatomical presentation, the breast lies on the pectoralis major muscle and supportive ligaments on the chest wall (Alkabban & Ferguson, 2021). According to National Cancer Institute (NCI), the breast has milk-producing glands, no muscle tissue, and a layer of fat surrounding the glands. The glandular tissues include the breast lobes and breast ducts. Each breast contains 15 to 20 lobes circularly, and each lobe is formed by lobules containing milk production glands in response to hormone stimulation. Ducts are the roads that connect the lobes, lobules, and glands.

There are blood and lymph vessels throughout each breast. Lymphatic vessels are connected to axillary nodes and drain lymph fluids in breast tissue. Lymph fluids contain white blood cells known as lymphocytes that are immune cells (Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, 2022). Breast cancer develops from DNA damage and genetic mutations that can be enhanced by estrogen or progesterone hormones. Cancer cells keep growing, tricking the immune system to stay alive, ignoring other cell signals, and spreading into nearby areas via lymph vessels or another route (NCI, 2021). Researchers found that there are predisposed populations who have DNA defects with pro-cancerous genes like BRCA1 and BRCA2 (Alkabban & Ferguson, 2021). Breast cancers spread and are found frequently in lymph nodes such as axillary lymph nodes, brachial axillary lymph nodes, interpectoral axillary lymph nodes (Rotter nodes), para-mammary or intramammary lymph nodes, and para-sternal lymph nodes (internal mammary nodes) (NCI, 2021).

## **Physical Presentation**

Unfortunately, there is no clear visual presentation in the early stage of breast cancer and most early breast cancer patients are asymptomatic. However, once the size of breast cancer increases, the patient may discover cancer as a lump, which can be swollen lymph nodes, during showering. If the breast cancer grows more prominent, the patient may present peau d'orange, which is a French term meaning orange skin, to describe a symptom in which cancer cells make the skin thick and red by blocking lymphatic systems (Alkabban & Ferguson, 2021).

### Staging Breast Cancer

Breast cancer staging is selected through physical examination, imaging studies, and pathologic examination of the tumor and involved lymph nodes after surgical treatment. Staging is essential for categorizing risk factors that determine prognosis and guiding treatment recommendations for breast cancer patients (ACS, 2021; Alkabban & Ferguson, 2021).

The earliest stage of breast cancer is Stage 0, which is carcinoma in situ, has abnormal cells that are present but have not spread to nearby tissues (Trayes,& Cokenakes, 2021). After that, stages range from Stage I (1) through IV (4), and a lower number means a lower stage and less spread of cancer. Moreover, healthcare providers commonly use additional tools to differentiate stages of cancer including: the Tumor (T), node (N), and metastasis (M) (TNM) classification system, Estrogen receptor (ER) status, progesterone receptor (PR) status, human epidermal growth factor (HER) 2 status, and the grade of the cancer (G) (ACS, 2021; Alkabban & Ferguson, 2021).

The TNM classification system was made by the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) and has both clinical and pathologic staging systems for breast cancer (ACS, 2021). The TNM classifications include the primary tumor size (T), the number of involved lymph nodes (N), and any distant metastasis (M) (ACS, 2021; Alkabban & Ferguson, 2021). The ER and PR status show if the cancer has estrogen or progesterone receptors. The HER2 status demonstrates if the cancer makes too much of a protein called HER2, which is the mediator of key pathways involved in invasive behavior and cancer cell growth. The grade of the cancer (G) predicts the patient's outcome or prognosis and helps treatment recommendations. Possible grades span from 1 to 3, and a lower grade means slower growth and that the cancer is less likely to spread.

#### Treatment

Treatments are recommended to reduce the chance of local recurrence and the risk of spreading cancer (metastasis). Surgery is the main treatment of breast cancer with or without radiotherapy. Medical oncology therapy is recommended when there is a risk of metastatic cancer (Rocque et al., 2018; Seroussi et al., 2018).

## Surgical Oncology

Surgery is the primary intervention to control breast cancer. Radical Mastectomy of Halsted (RMH) had been utilized— which removed the breast, axillary lymph node, and pectoralis muscles— but it is no longer recommended due to high morbidity and mortality rates. Currently, the Modified Radical Mastectomy of Patey (MRMP) is the more favorable method to remove the whole breast tissue with the axillary lymph nodes. When a patient has a small tumor with negative sentinel lymph nodes, breast-only removal without axillary dissection can be recommended as a simple mastectomy. Breast-conserving surgery (BCS)

removes the tumor with leaving as much normal breast as possible; it is also called lumpectomy, quadrantectomy, partial mastectomy, or segmental mastectomy depending on how much breast tissues are removed together (ACS, 2021; Alkabban & Ferguson, 2021).

# Radiation Oncology

Radiation therapy can decrease the risk of cancer recurrence by 50% at 10 years and cancer death by 20% at 15 years of follow up after BCS. Radiation therapy is more beneficial in large-sized tumors (> 5 cm), or other organ-involved tumors (e.g., skin, chest wall and lymph nodes). Two main types of radiation therapy are available: external beam radiation (teletherapy) and internal radiation therapy (brachytherapy). External beam radiation (EBR) therapy is radiation directly delivered at the patient's cancer site. The EBR approach uses different levels of radiation depending upon tumor location. For example, low-energy radiation would not penetrate deeply into the body. Gamma Knife is one of the EBR techniques, and it is a highly advanced and precise method that uses a concentrated radiation dose from Cobalt-60 sources. Another type of radiation is brachytherapy, which involves placing radiation sources near the tumor site. Those radiation sources can be rods or small objects, and they can be inserted directly into the tumor-site. These may be left in place several days or permanently to reduce cancer cells (SEER, 2022a).

Radiation may be not necessary when a patient is over 70 years of age or older and they have small tumors without lymph node related spread even with hormone sensitive (ER+ or PR+) breast cancer. This is due to limited studies supporting radiation leading to an increased survival rate in these cases. Specifically, the prognosis was unfavorable regarding the need to continue hormonal therapy taking of OET for at least 5 years. Radiation can also be utilized as palliative therapy in advanced cancer stages— for example, when the tumor

has spread to the central nervous system (CNS) or bone— to shrink cancer cells or slow down their growth. This can relieve pressure or a blockage to reduce pain (Tang et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2018).

## Medical Oncology

Adjuvant chemotherapy is a therapy that patients receive after their primary treatment, such as surgery or radiation. This therapy is a systemic treatment which includes cancer medications (chemotherapy) such as cytotoxic therapy, immunotherapy and hormone therapy in medical oncology. In the last two decades, anti-cancer medication paradigms have evolved from non-specific cytotoxic agents to mechanism-based therapeutics (Vanneman & Dranoff, 2012). Initially, many anti-cancer drugs were focused on killing rapidly dividing cells, and this is still a backbone of current treatment. However, recently, more treatment options have been included such as targeted therapy stops molecular pathways that are critical to tumor growth and maintenance, whereas immunotherapy stimulates the immune systems to fight tumors (NCI, 2019; Vanneman & Dranoff, 2012). Only 17% of breast cancer patients need targeted therapy to reduce the growth-promoting protein HER2. Frequently, Trastuzumab is recommended, and it reduces the risk of recurrence by 19% (Alkabban & Ferguson, 2021).

The cytotoxic drugs can reduce relapse 25% over a 10 to 15-year period by using a first-generation cytotoxic chemotherapy regimen such as cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and 5-fluorouracil (CMF) every six months. In addition, other types of cytotoxic drugs are available such as Anthracyclines (doxorubicin or epirubicin) and taxanes, the most

commonly used cytotoxic agents for early and advanced stage breast cancer for a three-tosix-month period.

Hormone therapy medication blocks the growth of breast cancer that use hormones as a fuel to grow. Hormone therapy was superior to other types of chemotherapy in increasing breast cancer patients' quality-of-life (Burstein et al., 2019). The OET is a standard therapy for estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer including tamoxifen, and Aromatase Inhibitors (AIs) as anastrozole, exemestane, and letrozole (ACS, 2015; Milata et al., 2018). Commonly, tamoxifen (TAM) is a recommended drug for premenopausal women, and AIs are common drugs for postmenopausal women. According to Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG) (2015), TAM and AIs reduce the risk of recurrence by about 30% with TAM, and around 40% with AIs during the first 10–15 years respectively. In spite of the benefit of taking OET for five years, early-stage ER+ breast cancer still has a higher risk of late recurrence and death (Pan et al., 2017). There are several studies that show a benefit of extending OET with TAM for 10 years versus stopping treatment at 5 years (Davies et al., 2013; Goss et al., 2016). Their results demonstrated that extended TAM treatment lowered recurrence by 3.7 %, extended AI treatment reduced recurrence by a range of 3-4 %, and mortality also dropped by 2.8%. Still international guidelines have not included the extended (10 year) therapy regimen, but it is expected to change to taking OET for 10 years rather than 5 years (Eraso et al., 2021).

Oral anti-cancer medication-NA is known to decrease survival rates and quality-oflife (Borner et al., 2001). Anti-cancer medication-NA rates varied widely, from 46% to 100% for adult patients (older than 18 years old) (Bouwman et al., 2017; Greer et al., 2016; Hansen, 2012). The field of oral anti-cancer medication-NA research has grown steadily to include various types of cancer in different populations, such as pediatric and adolescent patients (younger than 18 years old), adult (older than 18 years old), and older adult (older than 65 years old) (Borner et al., 2001, Bouwman et al., 2017; Hansen, 2012; Verbrugghe et al., 2013). The median age of cancer occurrence is around 65 years old, which indicates that older adults are the high-risk population (Howlader et al., 2016). However, many breast cancers patients are already suffering from OET-NA even with the shorter period therapy. Luschin and Habersack (2014) demonstrated that 70% of breast cancer patients prematurely stop taking it before the end of the recommended 5-year period. This new extension of treatment causes more concerns about OET-NA since we do not know the specific rate of OET-NA and the factors of affecting OET-NA within a theoretical framework such Bronfenbrenner's EST or WHO's FDM.

# Medication Adherence in Chronic Diseases, Cancer, and Breast Cancer

Medication adherence is simultaneously influenced by multiple factors and frequently compromised by more than one barrier (Sabaté, 2003). This is because medication adherence is influenced not only by individual characteristics, but also by factors within the patient's environment, which are called system level factors. For this literature review, I have used a "funnel down" approach to identify and compare medication-NA factors between chronic disease and breast cancer. In order to investigate current literature trends of medication adherence in chronic disease, I performed a systematic literature search using the databases of Cumulative Index of Nursing and Allied Health (CINAHL), Medical Literature Analysis and Retrieval System Online (MEDLINE), Scopus, and Google Scholar. Selected articles in

this section have these criteria: (a) patients were older than 16 years and had chronic diseases; (b) patients took medications orally; (c) researchers used single quantitative studies and systematic reviews (contains only quantitative studies); (d) published before September 2022; and (e) written in English. Studies with qualitative designs were not included since these findings could skew the objectiveness of the data. I aimed to summarize the evidence for determinants that are widely applicable across different conditions, therapies, and regions/settings.

I utilized the concept of the WHO's FDM to organize medication-NA for my review. This model has been applied in numerous medication adherence studies to isolate the cause of medication-NA. Originally, as discussed chapter 1, the FDM considers patient-related (i.e., patient's knowledge, attitude, self-efficacy, beliefs on treatment efficacy, and perceived barriers to adherence), socioeconomic-related (i.e., social networks, family functioning, and the cost of medication), therapy-related (i.e., side-effects of the regimen, duration of treatment, and dose complexity), condition-related (i.e., comorbidities, depression, and other psychiatric diagnoses such as substance abuse), and health care team/system-related factors (i.e., knowledge of healthcare professionals and the relationship between the patient and their healthcare team) for chronic disease groups such as asthmatics, hypertensives, and diabetics (Sabaté, 2003). Unfortunately, the WHO's FDM has not been updated since the early 2000s in response to recent studies on chronic diseases. Given this, I conducted a literature review from recent quantitative studies and systematic reviews to identify these factors that show current trends of medication-NA. A total of 57 studies were identified for the literature review. Appendix A has four matrices for the 57 articles that I used in this literature review. For example, Matrix 1 has 20 medication-NA studies for chronic diseases. Matrix 2 has

another 20 medication-NA articles for cancer studies. Matrix 3 has a total of 16 OET-NA studies for breast cancer and finally Matrix 4 has one non-OET medication-NA research study for breast cancer to investigate determinants of medication-NA.

# **Patient-Related Factors**

Table 2.1

| Patient-Related | <i>Factors</i> | of Medication-NA |
|-----------------|----------------|------------------|

| Patient         |                |                                       |  |                       |
|-----------------|----------------|---------------------------------------|--|-----------------------|
| related         | Sub factors    | Chronic diseases                      | Cancer   | Breast                |
| factors         |                |                                       |  | cancer                |
| Psychological   | Self-efficacy  | Al-Noumani et al. (2016),             |  | Moon et al.           |
|                 | •              | Bane et al. (2006),                   |  | (2017)*,              |
|                 |                | Colbert et al. (2013)                 |  | Kimmick               |
|                 |                |                                       |  | et al.                |
|                 |                |                                       |  | (2015)                |
|                 |                |                                       |  | Toivonen              |
|                 |                |                                       |  | et al.                |
|                 |                |                                       |  | (2020)                |
|                 | Belief &       | Al-Noumani et al. $(2016)$ ,          |  | Moon et al. $(2017)*$ |
|                 | concerns       | Crawsnaw et al. (2016) <sup>*</sup> , |  | $(2017)^{*}$ ,        |
|                 |                | (2019) Unni et al $(2021)$            |  | (2018)                |
|                 | Depression     | (2017), $0$ min et al. $(2021)$       | Mathes et al                                   | Yussof et             |
|                 | Depression     | Crawshaw et al. $(2016)$ ;            | (2014b)* Santos et al                          | al. (2022)*           |
|                 |                | ( <u>1</u> 010)                       | (2019)   |                       |
|                 | Cognitive      | Fernandez-Lazaro et al.               | · · · ·  |                       |
|                 | (knowledge)    | (2019), Hussein et al.                |  |                       |
|                 |                | (2020), Unni et al. (2021)            |  |                       |
|                 | Cognitive      | Dennis et al. (2010), Unni            | Hirao et al. (2017)                            |                       |
|                 | (forgetfulnes) | et al. (2021)                         |  |                       |
| Behavioral      | Attitudes      | Crawshaw et al. (2016)*               |  |                       |
|                 | Eating habits  | Mannan et al. (2020),                 |  |                       |
|                 |                | Nonogaki et al. (2019)                |  |                       |
|                 |                |                                       |  |                       |
| Patient         | Younger ages   | Broekmans et al. (2008),              | Dashputre et al.                               | Brett et al.          |
| characteristics |                | Fernandez-Lazaro et al.               | (2020), Geissler et al.                        | (2018),               |
|                 |                | (2019), Krueger et al.                | (2017), Mathes et al. $(2014h)$ * $(n=7 from)$ | Pourcelot             |
|                 |                | (2013), wronnar et al. $(2016)$       | $(20140)^{\circ}$ (II-/ IIOM<br>review)        | (2018)                |
|                 | Older ages     | (2010)                                | Grundmark et al                                | Harrell et            |
|                 | 51461 4565     |                                       | (2012), Mathes et al.                          | al. (2017),           |

|        |              |                            | (2014b)* (n=12 from     | Yussof et   |
|--------|--------------|----------------------------|-------------------------|-------------|
|        |              |                            | review), Noens et al.   | al. (2022)* |
|        |              |                            | (2009), Timmers et      | (n=5 from   |
|        |              |                            | al. (2015)              | review)     |
|        | Ethnic       | Cedillo-Couvert et al.     | Banegas et al. (2018),  | Sheppard    |
|        | backgrounds  | (2018), Chen et al.        | Darkow et al. (2007),   | et al.      |
|        | (Not being   | (2009), Molnar et al.      | Halpern et al (2009),   | (2019)      |
|        | White)       | (2016)                     | Lee & Salloum           |             |
|        | ŕ            |                            | (2015), Mathes et al.   |             |
|        |              |                            | (2014b)*                |             |
|        | Female       | Mathes et al. (2014a)*     | Banegas et al. (2018),  |             |
|        | genders      | (n=6 from review)          | Clarks et al. (2021),   |             |
|        |              |                            | De Figueierdo Jr. et    |             |
|        |              |                            | al. (2014), Geissler et |             |
|        |              |                            | al. (2017)              |             |
|        | Male genders | Mannan et al. (2020)       | Noens et al.            | Ali et al.  |
|        | -            |                            | (2009)                  | (2022)      |
|        | Low          | Fernandez-Lazaro et al.    |                         |             |
|        | educational  | (2019), Hussein et al.     |                         |             |
|        | level        | (2020), Uni et al., (2021) |                         |             |
| 17. 40 |              |                            |                         |             |

*Note.* \*Systematic review

Table 2.1 lists patient-related factors which affected medication adherence. Three main factors —psychological, behavioral, and patient characteristics— with 13 sub-factors were noted. I will discuss each main factor and introduce subfactors afterwards.

### **Patient-Related Factors: Psychological**

Psychological factors positively associated with medication-NA included disbelief of medications' effectiveness, being in a current state of depression, being prone to forgetfulness, low self-efficacy, and less knowledge of medication administration (Table 2.1). Generally, the psychological factor that is most discussed in chronic disease medication-NA articles are patient beliefs related to taking medication. Patients' perceived beliefs about the medications they are prescribed are a critical factor for adults with chronic disease; more than 20 articles (including the one systematic review) emphasized this factor for patients with diabetes type II and hepatitis C as well as those with kidney-related and cardiovascular-related diseases (see Matrix 1 in Appendix A).

Another important psychological factor is depression, which is noted more frequently in cancer-focused studies than those focused on other chronic diseases (Mathes et al., 2014b; Santos et al., 2019). Furthermore, many articles emphasized that OET-NA in breast cancer patients is especially highly related to psychological symptoms, such as anxiety and depression indicators (i.e., anxiety, depression) and cognitive functioning due to the increased age of the population (Brett et al., 2018; Corter et al., 2018; Fleming et al., 2020; Hershman et al., 2016; Kimmick et al., 2015; Lambert et al., 2018; Toivonen et al., 2020; Yussof et al., 2022).

Cognitive factors (knowledge and forgetfulness) are also significant psychological factors in determining if patients will not adhere to their medication (Fernandez-Lazaro et al., 2019; Hussein et al., 2020; Unni et al., 2021). Even though there is a physiologic aspect to cognitive factors (Coleman, 1985); this study focuses on all cognitive issues under psychology. However, educating patients about cancer medication did not significantly enhance medication adherence (Pourcelot et al., 2018). Embracing and acknowledging cancer patients' psychological factors (i.e., self-efficacy, anxiety, depression) in education materials can encourage them to adhere to medication and a treatment plan (Kaptein et al., 2020). While there is not enough evidence to correlate the link between patient knowledge and medication adherence, there are several studies showing that knowledge may reduce fears of taking medications (Keller et al., 2008; Nizet et al., 2022). Furthermore, forgetfulness is a non-quantifiable or non-modifiable factor that is commonly discussed as a psychological factor regarding unintentional medication-NA (Skrabal Ross et al., 2020). Unni and Farris (2011) demonstrated that forgetfulness is one of the main factors impacting medication-NA. They have also shown that patient beliefs about medication are closely

related to forgetfulness. For example, if patients believed their medication is beneficial for their health, they were more likely to remember to take medications. These findings are linked together and supports how cognitive factors are contributing to medication-NA for chronic disease patients.

When reviewing selected psychological factor focused articles, I found that most of the quantitative studies included small sample sizes. A total of seven selected articles in psychological categories (Table 1) had an average sample size of 1,000 patients in a single site setting (i.e., small clinic or community hospital). While the majority of the selected studies utilized cross-sectional design, there were two studies that used secondary data analysis, and one which was a quantitative systematic review study. Despite the differences in design, all the studies followed these same trends in sample sizes and settings. Even though these studies only have small sample sizes in a single site, I found that the selected studies utilized various types of samples from countries and continents (North America, Europe, Asia, South America, Africa, and Middle East) with diverse ethnic backgrounds to understand the psychological factors of chronic disease including cancer. This suggests that even though the small sample sizes will make our synthesized findings less generalizable, they can still be considered applicable in diverse settings accommodating multiple ethnic backgrounds.

Moreover, theoretical frameworks support researchers to identify and quantify several confusing psychological terms (i.e., self-efficacy, medication belief) to gain a clearer understanding of the abstract nature of psychological related factors. For example, researchers utilized the self-regulation model, theory of planned behavior, and the socio-cognitive theory to understand medication adherence. Specifically, the self-regulation model

can help patients to engage more in their medication-taking behavior from helping them understand their illness correctly (e.g., what the disease is, what it means to the patient, its causes, its consequences, how long it will last, and whether it can be cured and/or controlled) (Browning et al., 2010). However, this self-regulation model did not significantly improve medication adherence compared to other theories in chronic disease patients (Al-Noumani et al., 2016; Nili et al., 2020). Moreover, Bandura's social cognitive theory (1977) focuses on self-efficacy, which is a core social cognitive theory construct that allows patients to change how they feel, think, behave, and motivate themselves through their own confidence in their capability to conduct a specific action towards a specific outcome (Glanz et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2015). Using the socio-cognitive theory to enhance medication adherence was effective among patients with HIV, hypertension, stroke, and those who have had an organ transplant (Colber et al., 2013; Dobbles et al., 2017; Garofalo et al., 2016; Kamal et al., 2015; Ma et al., 2014). Lastly, the theory of planned behavior was a helpful framework to identify the medication beliefs and cognition, which determine an individual's behavior and selfefficacy (Bane et al., 2006). Several studies demonstrated the theory of planned behavior was helpful to understand medication-NA. However, most of these theoretical frameworks only focused on analyzing patient-related factors (i.e., self-efficacy and other cognitivepsychological related terms) rather than understanding medication-NA as a whole.

#### **Patient-Related Factors: Behavioral**

Behavioral factors encompassed attitudes (Crawshaw et al., 2016), and eating habits (i.e., following a special diet, or eating fruits and vegetables for health) (Mannan et al., 2020; Nonogaki et al., 2019). Two studies in chronic disease categorized patients' healthy eating habits as a behavioral factor. Nonogaki et al. (2019) focused on diabetes mellitus patients

following the MoPoTsyo Food Pyramid diet and found that patients on special diets were likely to adhere to their medication. Meanwhile, Mannan et al. (2020) demonstrated that eating habits such as consuming fewer fruits and vegetables showed a significant correlation with medication-NA for patients with ocular disorders and diabetic ulcers. These studies indicated that eating habits can be combined with medication adherence as a positivw behavioral factor and eventually both efforts can increase patients' health outcomes.

Some articles tried to study patients' attitudes directly rather than observing them via other factors (i.e., eating habits). For example, one of the studies utilized the dysfunctional attitudes psychometric scale to measure three aspects of patient attitudes: achievement, dependency, and self-control. These aspects were positively associated with medication-NA (Crawshaw et al., 2016).

In regards to sample and setting characteristics, three selected behavioral factor focused studies used small sample sizes. The two cross-sectional studies and one systematic review study showed the same trend of having less than 2,000 participants in a single site setting. Despite the issues of small sample sizes and localized site settings, samples of behavioral factors were collected in countries with diverse ethnic backgrounds. For example, the selected review study collected their samples from the USA (n=9), Europe (n=6), Israel (n=1), China (n=1), and Argentina and Brazil (n=1) (Crawshaw et al., 2016). In addition, the two selected cross-sectional studies were conducted in Bangladesh and Cambodia, which increased the diversity of samples. It is difficult to generalize these review findings because of small sample sizes even though these studies had diverse samples across different countries.

Moreover, there were no quantitative cancer-specific studies focused on behavioral factors included in this review. No theoretical frameworks were used in the reviewed cancer studies. Unfortunately, measuring and understanding behavioral factors is still an abstract and difficult concept. Even though many other researchers have been trying to apply the theoretical framework in understanding this work, I was not able to retrieve studies using a theoretical framework to understand behavioral factors in this literature review.

## **Patient-Related Factors: Patient Characteristic**

The last category of factors affecting medication-NA is patient characteristic factors. When looking at patient characteristic factors, age, ethnic background, gender, and education level were the sub-factors most associated with poor medication adherence (Table 1). In patients with chronic diseases, younger age was identified as a factor related to medication-NA; however, the majority of cancer reviews and articles suggested that older age was a determinant for medication-NA in that population. Also, breast cancer patients over 69 years of age in particular had a higher medication-NA than their younger female counterparts (Gieseler et al., 2019; Verbrugghe et al., 2013). Moreover, most chronic disease studies (including those focused on cancers) pointed out that Non-Hispanic Whites are the most adherent ethnic group, with a notable incongruity in the findings of Hiko et al. (2012). Being female is more frequently identified as a factor in medication-NA than being male in chronic disease and cancer patients (Table 1). Still, some studies on diabetic and pain medications showed that being male was associated with medication-NA (Broekmans et al., 2008; Mannan et al., 2020).

Furthermore, having a lower education level is also consistently related to medication-NA in chronic condition patients (Fernandez-Lazaro et al., 2019; Hussein et al.,

2020; Uni et al., 2021). Still, some studies consider lower education level (i.e., less than high school education) a reflection of health illiteracy and/or inability to comprehend patient education pamphlets (Fernandez-Lazaro et al., 2019). However, some chronic disease studies' findings contradicted this and mentioned that education level was not correlated with adherence in patients with pain and hepatitis C (Broekmans et al., 2008; Mathes et al., 2014). Also, there are no apparent cancer-focused studies (including those focused on breast cancer) to show a strong relationship between education level and medication-NA.

Unfortunately, there are several limitations on studies focusing on patient characteristic factors in chronic disease including cancers. No theoretical frameworks were used to understand patient characteristic factors and most of the studies are not easily generalizable due to small-sized and less diverse samples. The majority of the studies had an average sample of around 1,000 participants in a single site setting. A total of seven secondary data analysis studies utilized samples with multi-site setting, their average sample size was 2,000 patients (Cedillo-Couvert et al., 2018; Dashputer et al., 2020; Gissler et al., 2017; Grudmark et al., 2012; Harrell et al., 2017; Lee & Salloum, 2015; Sheppard et al., 2019). Moreover, samples were collected from the U.S.A, Europe, and Asia, but there is considerably more data from the U.S.A. This may have skewed the findings since many of the studies were conducted in the U.S.A. The studies are also lacking samples from South America, the Middle East and Africa. These findings are hard to generalize due to small and less diverse samples across different countries.

## **Socioeconomic-Related Factors**

# Table 2.2

# Socioeconomic-Related Factors of Medication-NA

| Socioeconomic                    | Sub factors                         | Chronic diseases   | Cancer   | Breast cancer                                  |
|----------------------------------|-------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| related factors                  |                                     |  |  |  |
| Social/environ<br>mental factors | Decreased<br>social support         | Crawshaw et al.<br>(2016)*   | Mathes et al.<br>(2014)*                             | Moon et al.<br>(2017);<br>Lebovits<br>(1990)** |
|                                  | Decreased<br>cohabitation<br>status | Molnar et al. (2016)   | Geissler et al.<br>(2017)                            | Mohamed &<br>Elamin (2020)                     |
| Economic<br>factors              | Financial<br>constraints            | Adidija et al. (2018),<br>Chew et al. (2015),<br>Dennis et al. (2010),<br>Hussein et al. (2020),<br>Mannan et al. (2020),<br>Nonogaki et al.<br>(2019) | Al-Dewik et al.<br>(2016), Streeter<br>et al. (2011) | Lebovits<br>(1990)**                           |
| Lifestyle<br>factors             | Alcohol and drug use                | Fernandez-Lazaro et<br>al., (2019); Mathes et<br>al. (2014), Nonogaki<br>et al. (2019)   |  |  |

*Note*. \*Systematic review \*\*breast cancer with non OET medication study

Table 2.2 lists socioeconomic factors which affected medication adherence. Three socioeconomic factors were noted: social/environmental, economic, and lifestyle factors. These were then divided into four sub-factors. I will discuss each main factor and subfactor in detail below.

# Socioeconomic-Related Factors: Social/environmental

When looking at social/environmental factors, social support and marital or cohabitation status were associated with poorer medication adherence. Every study I reviewed demonstrated that a lack of social support typically leads to medication-NA in chronic disease and cancer patients. Some studies found that social support from family, friends and other survivors is one of the significant factors contributing to OET adherence for breast cancer patients (Moon et al., 2017). This is because care and support from significant others can improve patients' poor mental resilience, and even restore their normal psychological state (Xu & Wang, 2019). Greater social support at prescription initiation was strongly associated with lowering psychological symptoms such as depression (Bright & Stanton, 2018; Toivonen et al., 2020).

Moreover, marital or cohabitation status is one of the essential factors influencing medication-NA (Geissler et al., 2017; Mohamed & Elamin, 2020; Molnar et al., 2016). When they are married, breast cancer patients have a lower OET-NA because there is a higher chance that their significant other will remind, and encourage the patient to take their OET medicine, sometimes even taking it upon themselves to administer it. However, the divorce rate is as high as 52% after breast cancer related surgeries, and studies show an increase in depression and anxiety among these divorced breast cancer patients (Xu & Wang, 2019). Of the studies reviewed, it is important to note that the study by Tan et al. (2017) was the only study that demonstrated marital status was not associated with OET- NA among breast cancer patients. However, their results may differ because they included more diverse samples which may be skewed by specific populations' cultural influences, such as paternalism or condescension (Kaye, 2016; Tan et al., 2017).

Regarding the limitations of the selected studies, no theoretical frameworks were recognized. Most studies demonstrated an average sample size of about 500 patients in a single site setting. However, there was one study that had a notably bigger sample: 32,348 U.S. veterans in a multi-site setting (Molnar et al., 2016). All of these selected studies showed that decreased social support is recognized as a significant social/environmental factor, even with different samples and settings. However, most studies were conducted in

the U.S.A and Europe without considering samples with diverse ethnic backgrounds. For example, Molnar et al. (2016) demonstrated that their secondary data-analysis samples were 74% White, 23% African American, and 3% other races due to the uneven race enrollment in U.S. veteran services. Overall, these results of samples in selected studies are hard to generalize in other race groups and/or countries since the diversity of the samples did not reach optimum status.

## Socioeconomic-Related Factors: Economical

More chronic disease articles emphasized financial constraints as a factor for medication-NA than cancer studies; these trends were the same across countries such as Cameroon, India, Japan, and the U.S. (Adidja et al., 2018; Clarks et al., 2021; Dennis et al., 2010; Hirao et al. 2017). Even though there was a similar medication-NA pattern with financial constraints in cancer studies (including breast cancer), there were several contradicting trends concerning financial constraints that appear in breast cancer studies. Some studies showed that low-income was not associated with OET-NA among older female breast cancer patients (the mean age of the sample was 67.7 years old) (Fleming et al., 2022; Weaver et al., 2013). However, review studies that did not consider patient age showed that financial status (i.e., low income) is one of the most significant factors contributing to medication-NA in breast cancer patients (Lebovtis et al., 1990).

Even though there is inconsistency in the findings, it is known that older cancer patients and minority populations with cancer are more vulnerable because they tend to have limited income. Similarly, there is a positive association between ethnic minority group and medication-NA because of limited financial resources. Lee and Salloum (2015) presented findings that older, lower income African American and Hispanic cancer patients were more

likely to have higher medication-NA compared with non-Hispanic Whites with higher incomes. This example showed that financial constraints are interrelated with ethnic background and in influencing medication-NA.

Regarding the limitations of the selected studies, no theoretical frameworks were recognized, and less diverse and small samples were found. Among the 10 selected studies on understanding economical factors, most studies were utilizing cross-sectional design with small sizes of samples (average sample size = 865 patients) in single site settings. One study applied secondary data analysis of 2,000 patients but utilized a single site rather than multi-site settings (Hussein et al., 2020). Interestingly, the selected samples were mostly collected in developing countries such as Cameroon, Malaysia, India, Egypt, Cambodia, and Bangladesh. Only two studies utilized samples from the U.S.A and Middle East. Because selected samples were more focused on specific populations and developing countries, the samples were not as diverse enough in this literature review. Overall, the economical factors cannot be generalized due to small and less diverse samples.

## Socioeconomic-Related Factors: Lifestyle

Three studies identified using alcohol and drugs as a lifestyle factor (Fernandez-Lazaro et al., 2019; Mathes et al., 2014; Nonogaki et al., 2019), but only Nonogaki et al. (2019) showed using alcohol and drugs as a significant factor for medication-NA (specifically while studying diabetic patients in Cambodia). I did not identify any cancer studies that demonstrated a strong relationship between this factor and medication-NA in cancer patients specifically (Mislang et al., 2017; Verbrugghe et al., 2013).

Regarding the limitations of the selected studies, no theoretical frameworks were recognized, and less diverse and small samples were utilized to understand lifestyle factors in

chronic disease. All of these selected studies were either cross-sectional studies or the review studies. The average sample size was 500 patients in a single site setting (Fernandez-Lazaro et al., 2019; Mathes et al., 2014, Nonogaki et al., 2019). Unfortunately, sample were not diverse enough to conclude this lifestyle factor was significant because most of results came from U.S.A. and Europe (Fernandez-Lazaro et al., 2019; Mathes et al., 2014). Overall, these results demonstrated that samples were not diverse and large enough to generalize my review findings.

# **Therapy-Related Factors**

Table 2.3

| TΪ | herapy-Rel | ated Fa | ctors of | Med | ication- | NA |
|----|------------|---------|----------|-----|----------|----|
|    |            |         |          |     |          |    |

| Therapy related       | Sub factors                   | Chronic<br>diseases                            | Cancer   | Breast cancer  |
|-----------------------|-------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Medication<br>effects | Side-effects                  | Adidja et al.<br>(2018), Chew<br>et al. (2009) | Noens et al.<br>(2009)   | Brett et al.<br>(2018), Fleming<br>et al. (2022)*,<br>Harrell et al.<br>(2017), Murphy<br>et al. (2012)*,<br>Toivonen et al.<br>(2018)*, Yussof<br>et al. (2022)*,<br>Lebovits<br>(1990)** |
| Medication<br>regimen | Polypharmacy                  | Hussein et al.<br>(2020)                       | Mathes et al.<br>(2014b)*  |  |
|                       | Concomitant medications       |  | Clarks et al. (2021),<br>Geissler et al.<br>(2017)                           |  |
|                       | Increased dose of medications | Mathes et al.<br>(2014a)*                      | Darkrow et<br>al.,2008; Geissler et<br>al. (2017), Noens et<br>al.<br>(2009) | Lebovits<br>(1990)**   |

| Additiona  | al Molnar et al. (2016) | Dashputre et al. (2020). Hirao et al. | Yussof et al.<br>(2022)* |
|------------|-------------------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------------|
| therapy    | ()                      | (2017)                                | ()                       |
| Types of   | Ĩ                       | Banegas et al.                        |                          |
| medication | ns                      | (2018), Broekmans                     |                          |
|            |                         | et al. (2008),                        |                          |
|            |                         | Geissler et al.                       |                          |
|            |                         | (2017), Marques &                     |                          |
|            |                         | Pierin                                |                          |
|            |                         | (2008), Streeter et                   |                          |
|            |                         | al. (2011)                            |                          |
| Duration   | of                      | Banegas et al.                        | Yussof et al.            |
| medication | ns                      | (2018), Marques &                     | (2022)*                  |
|            |                         | Pierin                                |                          |
|            |                         | (2008), Noens et al.                  |                          |
|            |                         | (2009)                                |                          |
| Switching  | g                       | Marques & Pierin                      | Murphy et al.            |
| medication | ns                      | (2008)                                | (2012)*, Yussof          |
|            |                         |                                       | et al. (2022)*           |

Note. \*Systematic review \*\*breast cancer with non OET medication study

Table 2.3 lists therapy-related factors which affected medication adherence. Medication effects and medication regimens were identified as the overarching therapyrelated factors, which were then divided into eight sub-factors.

## **Therapy-Related Factors: Medication Effects**

On the topic of medication effects, side-effects are frequently discussed throughout all the selected articles. In chronic disease, Adidja et al. (2018) stated that multiple daily doses, and side-effects of drugs were positively associated with NA for hypertensive patients. Furthermore, multiple studies in this review show that side-effects are a more significant factor for medication-NA among breast cancer than other cancer or chronic disease. However, Fleming et al. (2022) demonstrated that even though side-effects have positive relationships with medication-NA, this seems to be a short-term problem. Although knowledge of potential side-effects may cause a patient not to want to start taking a new medication, they typically will continue to take medications as recommended once they have started. This indicates that even if breast cancer patients initially resist taking a medication due to its side-effects, once they are taking the medication, they tend to take it consistently for the prescribed period of time without discontinuing the medication abruptly.

In terms of the limitations of the selected studies, no theoretical frameworks were recognized in the selected studies to understand medication effects. Most studies were using cross-sectional design with an average sample of 500 patients in single site settings in the U.S.A. and Europe. Overall, these results are hard to generalize due to smaller and less diverse samples.

### **Therapy-Related Factors: Medication Regimen**

Medication regimen factors are the most significant factors for general cancer patients (with lower significance for breast cancer patients specifically) (Table 2.3). Polypharmacy, which is defined as the simultaneous use of multiple medication to treat their disease condition, is noted as a factor that increases medication-NA in chronic disease patients (Bakaki et al., 2018). Hussein et al. (2020) stated that polypharmacy tends to be a medication-NA factor for hypertensive patients. Their team reported that there is a positive association between medication-NA and the number of pills a patient has to take. Reasons for this trend include that a lower number of medications is easier for a patient to remember to take and that fewer medications typically lead to fewer side-effects, which in turn leads to greater adherence (Hussein et al., 2020). These trends were reported in cancer patients as well (Mathes et al., 2014b). Moreover, two studies identified that prescribing concomitant medications, which involves taking two or more drugs at the same time, also contributes to medication-NA (Clarks et al., 2021; Geissler et al., 2017). This factor is similar to that of

polypharmacy however, studying concomitant medications specifically focuses on how having to take multiple medications at the same time which may create more medication-NA.

Similarly, increased doses of medications are noted across the studies in chronic disease, cancer, and breast cancer as another factor of medication-NA (Darkrow et al., 2008; Geissler et al., 2017; Lebovitis, 1990; Mathes et al., 2014a; Noens et al., 2009). More cancer studies included this factor as a significant medication-NA determinant than chronic disease studies. For example, prescribing a higher dose of a cancer medication (i.e., imatinib) was strongly associated with medication-NA (Darkrow et al., 2008; Noens et al., 2009).

Furthermore, several studies reported that there is a positive relationship between medication adherence and receiving additional therapy. Especially for breast cancer patients, receiving radiotherapy, surgical therapy, and/or other chemotherapy before starting OET led to greater adherence (Blanchette et al., 2020; Yussof et al., 2022).

In the medication regimen category, types of medication, switching of medications, and duration of medication usage were the significant factors for medication-NA in cancer patients especially. Different types of cancer medications can lead to different levels of medication-NA. Switching medications or providing alternative treatments is one of the most effective methods for combating medication-NA in cancer patients (Harrell et al., 2017; Marques & Pierin, 2008; Murphy et al., 2012). For example, if a patient was changed from tamoxifen to AI treatment, OET-NA decreased (Font et al., 2012; Gao et al., 2018; Lailler et al., 2021; Murphy et al., 2012; Yussof et al., 2022). However, if a patient was switched from AI to tamoxifen, OET-NA increased compared to patients taking AI alone (Lailler et al., 2021). These findings suggest that taking tamoxifen may cause higher OET-NA than taking AI. Also, the timing of the switch is important. Switching medications late in treatment

causes higher OET-NA compared to switching earlier in breast cancer populations (Trabulsi et al., 2014; Yussof et al., 2020). In addition to carefully considering which medications a provider selects for a change in regimen, duration of medication usage was also reported as a critical factor for medication-NA. Noens et al. (2009) demonstrated that if patients are on cancer medication (i.e., imatinib) for a longer period of time, they are more prone to medication-NA. These trends were the same in breast cancer. For example, the rate of OET adherence tends to drop as time goes on because patients are typically prescribed this medication for a span of 5-10 years (Yussof et al., 2022).

Unfortunately, several limitations were noted on the studies focusing on medication regimen factors. No theoretical frameworks were used to understand medication regimen factors and samples sizes were small and less diverse ethnic groups; making it difficult to generalize my review findings. All of the studies had less than 1,000 participants in a single site setting, except several secondary data analyses. Moreover, many studies were conducted in the U.S.A, and Europe without considering diversity of sample characteristics. Overall, these results may increase the bias of my review findings.

## **Condition-Related Factors**

Table 2.4

# Condition-Related Factors of Medication-NA

| Condition       | Sub factors | Chronic  | Cancer | Breast |
|-----------------|-------------|----------|--------|--------|
| related factors |             | diseases |        | cancer |

| Disease control<br>factor | Symptoms             | Bane et al.<br>(2006), Chen et<br>al. (2009)   | De Figueierdo<br>Jr. et al. (2014),<br>Hirao et al.<br>(2017), Noens<br>et al. (2009) | Kimmick et<br>al.<br>(2015)                             |
|---------------------------|----------------------|--|---|---|
|                           | Severity             |  | De Figueierdo<br>Jr. et al. (2014),<br>Darkow et al.,<br>(2007)                       | Inotai et al.<br>(2021)                                 |
| Disease characteristics   | Time since diagnoses | Gast & Mathes,<br>(2019)   | Noens et al. (2009)   | Murphy et al. (2012)*                                   |
| Comorbidities             |                      | Cedilio-Couvert<br>et al. (2018),<br>Crawshaw et al.<br>(2016)*,<br>Hussein et al.<br>(2020), Mannan<br>et al., (2020),<br>Mathes et al.<br>(2014a)*,<br>Nonogaki et al.<br>(2019) | Dashputre et al.<br>(2020)  | Pourcelot et<br>al. (2018),<br>Yussof et al.<br>(2022)* |

*Note*. \*Systematic review

Table 2.4 lists condition-related factors which affected medication adherence. Three condition-related factors (disease control factors, disease characteristics, and comorbidities) with four sub-factors were identified. I will discuss main factors and the following sub-factors of condition-related determinants.

# Condition-Related Factors: Disease Control

The sub-factors of disease control are symptoms and severity of disease. Bane et al. (2006) demonstrated that experiencing symptoms (i.e., headaches, dizziness) of hypertension are positively associated with medication-NA. These trends of experiencing symptoms influencing medication-NA in chronic disease patients were similar in cancer studies. Cancer patients tend to have higher medication-NA when they are experiencing bothersome

symptoms (i.e., dyspnea, diarrhea, pain) from cancer (Table 2.4). More severe illness (i.e., advanced stage of disease, recurrences of cancer, metastasis of cancer) is also correlated with higher medication-NA. This particular trend has only been recorded in cancer populations (Inotai et al., 2021). For example, Darkrow et al. (2008) demonstrated that high cancer complexity/severity was likely to be associated with medication-NA. This trend works the same in breast cancer patients. Advanced breast cancer stage patients with metastasis (i.e., Stage 4) tend to have a higher OET-NA (Bosco-Levy et al., 2016; Guedes et al., 2017; Yussof et al., 2022). However, non-metastatic breast cancer patients have a higher OET adherence rate, despite higher tumor grade and more lymph node involvements, compared to patients in earlier stages of breast cancer (Hagen et al., 2019; Wulaningsih et al., 2018; Yussof et al., 2022). Interestingly, some studies found that the cancer severity is not correlated with medication-NA. For example, in chronic myeloid leukemia patients there was no significant relationship between adherence and phase of disease (Geissler et al., 2017).

I have found several limitations on the studies focusing on disease control factors. There were no theoretical frameworks used to understand these factors and they utilized a less generalizable sample quality. Most of the studies had less than 1,000 participants in a single site setting. However, the selected studies were conducted in Brazil, Taiwan, Europe, South Korea, Japan, New Zealand, Canada, and the U.S.A, making them more diverse than the other studies I have reviewed. However, it is still hard to generalize the findings with the small sizes of the samples.

#### **Condition-Related Factors: Disease Characteristics**

Under disease characteristics, time since diagnosis was a subfactor that is positively related with medication-NA (Murphy et al., 2012; Noens et al., 2009). For example, a cancer

patient diagnosed five years ago will tend to have higher medication-NA than a patient who was diagnosed within the last year. These trends are also consistent with findings from studies in patients with chronic illnesses; for instance, patients who have been suffering with diabetes for a longer period had higher medication-NA (Gast & Mathes, 2019).

Regarding the limitations of the selected studies, no theoretical frameworks were recognized, less diverse ethnic groups were studied, and small samples were used to understand disease characteristics factors. Most selected studies were either cross-sectional studies or review studies. From the selected studies, the sample size was usually less than 500 patients in a single site setting and collected mostly from the U.S.A. and Europe (Gast & Mathes, 2019; Murphy et al., 2012). Overall, my review results are hard to generalize because samples were not diverse or large enough to conclude the findings.

### **Condition-Related Factors: Comorbidities**

Comorbidities were all positively related with medication-NA in any chronic disease population throughout all the studies I reviewed; however, more articles are found in chronic disease than in cancer (Table 2.4). This is because non-cancer chronic diseases affect a patient's entire body. For example, diabetic disease influences the entire body compared to non-metastatic cancer by circulating in blood systems with increased blood sugar (Schrijvers et al., 2004).

Some studies showed a positive relationship between medication-NA and comorbidities in general instead of identifying specific comorbidities that impacted medication-NA (Dashputre et al., 2020; Yussof et al. 2022). Other studies identified strokes, cardiovascular disease (CVD), diabetes, and dyslipidemia as important comorbidities for cancer patients (Cho et al., 2018; Zullig et al., 2022). Specifically, cancer patients with CVD or CVD risk factor-related comorbidities (i.e., diabetes, hypertension, and dyslipidemia) had a lower medication adherence in general, and their medication adherence may decline over time (Zullig et al., 2022). This indicates that understanding comorbidities is one of the most critical factors for medication adherence.

In regard to the limitations of the selected studies, I could not identify theoretical frameworks, nor generalizable samples to understand comorbidity factors. Selected studies were cross-sectional studies, secondary data analyses, or review studies. The sample sizes were mostly less than 1,000 patients and samples were mostly collected from the U.S.A. and Europe. Overall, these results demonstrated that the samples were not diverse or large enough to generalize my review findings.

# Health care Team/System-Related Factors

### Table 2.5

| Healthcare<br>team/system<br>related<br>factors | Sub factors                                   | Chronic diseases | Cancer   | Breast cancer   |
|---|---|------------------|--|---|
| Health care<br>team factor                      | Relationship<br>and<br>Interaction            |                  | Geissler et al.<br>(2017), Marques<br>& Pierin<br>(2008) | Moon et al. (2017)*,<br>Toivonen et al.<br>(2020)*, Kimmick et<br>al.<br>(2015), Lebovits<br>(1990)** |
|   | Provider's<br>experience<br>(years)           |                  | Noens et al. (2009)                                      |   |
|   | Not seeing or<br>no referral to<br>specialist |                  |  | Murphy et al. (2012)*   |

## Health Care Team/System-Related Factors of Medication-NA

| Health care<br>system<br>factor | Less number<br>of healthcare<br>services | Fernandez-Lazaro<br>et al. (2019),<br>Hussein et al.<br>(2020), Nonogaki<br>et al. (2019) | Al-Dewik et al.<br>(2016),<br>Dashputre et al.<br>(2020), Halpern<br>et al. (2009),<br>Noens et al.<br>(2009) | Yussof et al. (2022),<br>Tan et al. (2017)        |
|---------------------------------|--|---|---|---|
|                                 | Type of insurance                        |   | Dashputre et al.<br>(2020), Lafeuille<br>et al. (2014)  | Sheppard et al.<br>(2019), Tang et al.<br>(2018)* |
|                                 | Increased cost                           | Chen et al. (2009)  | Halpern et al.<br>(2009), Mathes et<br>al. (2014b)*,<br>Streeter et al.<br>(2011)                             | Murphy et al. (2012)*                             |

# *Note*. \*Systematic review

Table 2.5 lists health care team/system-related factors which affected medication adherence. Two therapy-related factors (healthcare team factors and healthcare system factors) with four sub-factors were identified. I will review two major factors and sub factors below.

## Health Care Team Factors

Under the healthcare team factors, there is one sub-factor: relationships and interactions. Only cancer-focused studies discussed this factor, and it was especially emphasized for breast cancer populations (Lebovits, 1990; Moon et al., 2017; Toivonen et al., 2020). Some studies discovered that patients with chronic disease feel unable to discuss their medication concerns with healthcare providers due to a limited trust-based patientprovider communication relationship. This situation may be caused by patients feeling unheard or having assumptions about their providers and can negatively impact the selfefficacy of patients (Lambert-Kerzner et al., 2015; Marques & Pierin, 2008). The same trends were also recognized in cancer studies. Good patient–physician relationships are major contributors to medication adherence for female breast cancer patients and positive interactions between patient and healthcare professionals can support medication adherence (Lin et al., 2017; Moon et al., 2017). For example, the study by Ma et al. (2020) found that there is a trend of increased OET-NA over five-year treatment periods when patients are introduced to take generic AI by healthcare providers due to a general distrust of generic medications. However, the study also showed that patients who have strong relationships with their healthcare providers will be more likely to adhere to the generic medication because of the trust they have in their provider. Moreover, sharing in decision-making with healthcare professionals (e.g., personalizing care plan) are associated with better OET adherence (Yussof et al., 2022). Unfortunately, many cancer patients are suffering from insufficient treatment due to working with less-experienced providers and/or not being referred to specialists. This often leads to a discontinuation of care (Murphy et al., 2012; Noens et al., 2009).

Several limitations are found in the selected studies focusing on healthcare team factors. Firstly, there was no theoretical framework to understand these factors. Most selected studies were quantitative review studies. Even though their sample sizes were mostly less than 1,000 patients and samples were collected across different countries, such as Brazil, America, the Near and Middle East, Asia, and Europe. Overall, these results demonstrated that the samples were diverse but not large enough to generalize my review findings.

#### Health Care System-Related Factors

In health care systems such as the one in the United States, Mathes (2014b) found that higher co-payments with Medicare or private insurance always positively impacts medication-NA, especially for patients with inflammatory arthritis, and cardiovascular related diseases. Higher out-of-pocket costs for OET was positively associated with higher

OET-NA (Bosco-Levy et al., 2016; Ma et al., 2020; Yussof et al., 2022). Less frequent use of healthcare services (i.e., hospitalization, pharmacy visits) was positively associated with higher OET-NA as well (Yussof et al., 2022). This indicates that patients who use healthcare services more often tend to adhere better to their medication. Moreover, continuing care in the same hospital is associated with better OET adherence (Yussof et al., 2022).

For limitations of the studies on the healthcare system-related factors, I have found that there was no theoretical framework used to understand this factor. Moreover, sample sizes were not large or diverse enough to generalize my review findings. All selected studies were cross-sectional studies with sample sizes of less than 1,000 patients, except several secondary data analyses. Also, most samples had a considerable majority of the data collected from the White ethic group (especially coming from Europe and the U.S.A.) and were lacking samples from Asia, South America, the Middle East and Africa. Overall, these findings are hard to generalize due to small and less diverse samples across different countries.

#### Discussion

I have created the following histograms (Figure 2.1) to better visualize how all the various factors that have been discussed in this chapter work together. Using this particular style of graph allowed me to separate the major factors (patient-related, socioeconomic related, therapy related, condition related, and healthcare team and system related factors) from their subfactors (13 factors listed in Figure 1). Each different level of specificity of study are listed on the top of the histogram: chronic disease, cancer, and breast cancer specifically. The unit of X-axis is the amplitudes for each factor, in this case being equal to

the number of selected studies focused on that factor. The Y-axis or each bar represents one of the subfactors. At the end of the bar has the number, which is X-axis amplitude.

# Figure 2.1

# Histograms of Medication-NA in Chronic Disease, Cancer, Breast Cancer






\*HCT/HST = Healthcare team/system

Being female was identified as a factor for medication-NA throughout the studies on chronic disease (including cancer-focused studies), as shown by the large bars for patient characteristics in each of the histograms (Figure 1). The most surprising trend was the age factor in patient characteristics; unlike most populations, older age cancer patients were less likely to adhere to their medication. Overall, the factors that lead medication-NA in noncancer chronic disease studies are: (a) younger age, (b) not being from a White ethnic background, (c) having comorbidities, (d) having cognitive and psychological factors, and (d) having financial constraints. Along with gender, age and ethnicities fall into the patient characteristic factors. As shown by Figure 1, having comorbidities, cognitive and psychology factors, and/or financial constraints are all more of a factor for chronic disease patients than for cancer patients (including breast cancer patients). Cancer studies on the other hand demonstrated that: (a) older age, (b) having side-effects, (c) type of medication, and (d) dosage and duration of medication are special factors for medication-NA in this population. In breast cancer populations in particular, having side-effects are most strongly correlated with OET-NA. This is reflected in the fact that the histogram for cancer studies shows a large bar for medication regimen factors and a small bar for medication effects, while the opposite is true for breast cancer studies (Figure 1).

Additionally, I have found several gaps in the research on medication-NA in chronic disease populations including cancer patients while preparing this state of science review. Most of the existing research has been conducted in the U.S. and Europe using single-site samples (N=100-2,000) from small clinics and hospitals (see Matrix1, 2, and 3). Similarly, many retrospective studies examining medication-NA rates have utilized small electronic databases with sample sizes fewer than 10,000 individuals globally (Blanchette et al., 2020;

60

Harrell et al., 2017; Huiart et al., 2013; Hwang et al., 2020; Murphy et al., 2012; Sella & Chodick, 2018). This trend is also consistent for studies focused on older women with breast cancer in the U.S. Moreover, fewer studies have been conducted with diverse samples (i.e., including various races, ethnicities, genders, age groups, etc.), with especially limited numbers of older American women with breast cancer, even though they are a high risk population (Given & Given, 2016). Unfortunately, many retrospective studies use single-site small sample sizes from small clinics and hospitals, which limit the generalizability of research findings and emphasize the value of future research examining OET-NA rates across diverse sample populations and over multiple site settings.

Moreover, another gap was a lack of theoretical frameworks to explain medication-NA. While there were three studies out of 57 included in this review that acknowledge certain theoretical frameworks (the self-regulation model, the theory of planned behavior, and the socio-cognitive theory) for understanding more abstract factors affecting medication-NA. Still, there remains a gap in the literature when it comes to a multi-level perspective. Even though researchers agree that medication adherence is a complex problem that is influenced by multiple environments, the majority of existing literature focuses on patientlevel factors affecting medication adherence (i.e., cognitive and psychological barriers) rather than focusing on multi-level influences (see Matrices 1, 2 and 3). Presently, there are only two research studies out of 57 examining the effects of multi-level influences on OET-NA in older female breast cancer patients in the United States. However, these two studies utilized the multi-level WHO FDM model in a very general manner rather than focusing on each individual factor. This is concerning because medication-NA is a complex issue and the types of theoretical frameworks that could help us to better understand it are largely being ignored in the current literature. Berben et al. (2012) recommends that health care researchers should use a multi-level ecological perspective, such as Bronfenbrenner's EST, to understand the complexities of medication adherence because medication-NA is frequently due to a combination of multi-level determinants (divided in EST into individual, micro-, meso-, exo-, and macro levels of influences). My literature review shows the potential benefits for using the EST to understand medication-NA. I believe that this review proves that there were several interrelated factors (i.e., patient's ethnic background and socioeconomic factors) which support the EST concept of interconnection.

### Conclusion

Even though breast cancer is the most common cancer diagnosed in women, and it is the second most common cause of death from cancer among women in the world, we still do not know the exact rate ranges of OET-NA, or its influencing determinants. Unfortunately, many breast cancer patients, including older individuals, suffer from OET-NA with recommendations for long-term therapy regimens. The recommended regimen for OET is five years; however, Eraso et al. (2021) are now recommending that timeline be doubled to 10 years due to the benefit of lowering risk of late recurrence and death. Considering the high OET-NA with the five-year regimen, it will be even more critical to understand and identify OET-NA determinants to support breast cancer patients' extended treatments so that the new regimens can be effective.

Medication-NA is a complex problem that is simultaneously influenced by multiple factors, and frequently compromised by more than one barrier. The WHO's FDM is a helpful multidisciplinary approach to understanding each determinant's influence on medication adherence (i.e., patient-related, socioeconomic-related, therapy-related, condition-related,

62

and health care team/system-related factors). I have reviewed these factors on patients with chronic diseases, cancer, and breast cancer to foreground my RESILIENT study, and shown how factors are different for specific populations. From reviewing current literature, I have identified there are some similar and some different trends in medication-NA factors, depending on the specific diseases. For example, most factors were following similar trends except gender, age, side-effects, and medication regimen determinants (see Figure 1). Also, several gaps are found in the current review, such as failure to utilize large, diverse samples from multi-site data sets, and disregarding the role multi-level determinants exert on medication-NA.

My literature review verified that multi-level systems is helpful theoretical framework to identify medication-NA factors as a whole picture. I will use a multi-level influenced theoretical model such as the WHO's FDM in a large sample of older American women with breast cancer to understand this issue and reveal the multi-level factors affecting medication adherence in this population that are currently missing from the literature. Identification of these multi-level determinants will allow the development of tailored interventions in older women with breast cancer.

#### CHAPTER 3

#### METHODS

This chapter aims to present the methods of the RESILIENT study. The purpose of this study was not hypothesis testing; instead, this is an exploratory data analysis to identify the rate of OET-NA using large data sets.

#### Design

This study is a retrospective, descriptive, correlational study investigating OET-NA rates and the multi-level factors influencing OET-NA in women with breast cancer. Secondary data analysis of the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER)-Medicare database examining OET-NA in the 10-year period following initial cancer diagnosis was performed (SEER, 2022b).

#### **Sample and Setting**

The study sample was collected consecutively from the SEER-Medicare database with inclusion and exclusion criteria.

## **SEER Medicare Database**

The SEER program, a clinical database funded by the National Cancer Institute (NCI), collects data on cancer incidence and survival from U.S. cancer registries (SEER, 2022b). The SEER registry contains more than 9 million cancer cases with over 470,000 new cases added to the database every year (Daly & Paquette, 2019). The SEER-Medicare data follows Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) requirements with investigators' signed data use agreement (SEER, 2022b). The SEER-Medicare's data collection originally began on January 1, 1973, and covers numerous groups and regions, such as Alaskan natives and Arizona Indians as well as residents of Connecticut, Iowa, New

Mexico, Utah, Hawaii, Georgia, Idaho, Louisiana, New Jersey, Puerto Rico, California, Utah, New York, Massachusetts, Wisconsin, Kentucky, Texas, Michigan, Washington, and Illinois (SEER, 2022b). Murphy et al. (2013) reported that the SEER database represents approximately 30% of the US population. Medicare is federally funded public health insurance, and it is used by approximately 97% of Americans aged 65 years or older (Engels et al., 2011). The SEER database has been linked to Medicare data that includes (a) claimsbased measures of comorbidities, (b) screenings and evaluation tests, and (c) detailed treatment and outcomes data, with a collaborative effort by the NCI, SEER registry, and the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) (Warren et al., 2002). SEER-Medicare is a robust database that includes various populations to cover health disparities, quality of care and cost of treatment in oncologic diseases (Daly & Paquette, 2019). The SEER registry is broadly representative of the US population, although there are some differences (Daly & Paquette, 2019). For example, the database shows different percentages for urban/rural population distribution as well as racial demographics. Specially, the SEER database has a largest racial patient population of US Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander (who make up 0.3%) of the national population according to the most recent census data) while whites (59.3% of the population according to the most recent census data) only make up 23.4% of the database patients. Similarly, black patients are represented almost equally in the database to whites (22.7% to 23.4% respectively) while blacks make up 13.6% of the national population (45.7% less than whites) (Daly & Paquette, 2019; SEER, 2022b; US Census Bureau, 2022). Nonetheless, the SEER-Medicare database is the best cancer database and includes the closest representation of the US cancer population with diverse ethnic groups in a large-size data set with yearly follow-up.

65

## **Inclusion Criteria**

The cohort selection inclusion criteria are (a) American women, 65 years of age or older, who are enrolled in Medicare Part D, (b) diagnosed with breast cancer stages I-III using ICD-9 174 (10 codes) and ICD-10 C50 (female, 36 codes) from 2010-2019 for OET-NA rates and 2019 for OET-NA determinants, and (c) prescribed one of the following oral medications: tamoxifen, anastrozole, exemestane and letrozole.

## **Measures/Instruments**

Current literature trends regarding measuring medication adherence demonstrated that the most effective tools are indirect objective methods (as opposed to direct subjective methods) due to better financial benefits and a quicker process. Within this category, utilizing secondary data analysis in medication adherence measurements is one of the most powerful methods, because of easy access to bigger samples without time constraints. The majority of previous secondary data analysis studies used MPR and PDC as a measure for medication adherence. However, I used the PDC for this study because PDC is more recommended than any other measure by the Pharmacy Quality Alliance.

The predictor variables are the multi-level determinants, which are identified by the WHO's FDM— including patient-related, condition-related, therapy-related, social/economic-related, and health care team/system-related factors— correlated to OET-NA. These multi-level variables are adjusted and defined based on the current literature of OET-NA factors based on Chapter 2 in this dissertation. All these variables are able to be located in the SEER-Medicare database, and the detail codes are described in Tables 6 and 7 (SEER, 2022b). The main outcome variable is OET-NA. No questionnaires or instruments were utilized in this study.

The following data definitions were utilized for the multi-level determinants and outcome measures in this study, including patient-related, condition-related, therapy-related, social/economic-related, health care team/system-related factors correlated with OET-NA. Please see Tables 6 and 7 for all the variables and related code files in the SEER-Medicare database.

#### **Multi-level Determinants and Outcome Variables**

#### Multi-Level Determinants

Patient-Related Variables. The patient-related determinant data includes (a) demographic information (age at diagnosis, sex, race, ethnicity, and marital status); (b) psychosocial factors (mental illness such as dementia or depression diagnosis, antidepressant use, memory issue), and (c) behavioral factors (attitudes from past drug management/therapy problems-adherence, eating habits/diet preferences) (Finitsis et al., 2019; Lambert et al., 2018; Lin et al., 2017; MacDonald et al., 2018; Moon et al., 2017; Paranjpe et al., 2019; Peh et al., 2021; Sabaté, 2003; Tan et al., 2021; Xu & Wang, 2019).

Socio-economic-Related Variables. The social/economic-related determinant data includes (a) social/environment factors (social support, culture or religious practice, life status changes like marriage or divorce); (b) economic factors (financial constraints, income); and (c) lifestyle factors (alcohol and drug use) (Bright & Stanton, 2018; Mohamed & Elamin, 2020; Peh et al., 2021; Pranjpe et al., 2019; Sabaté, 2003; Xu & Wang, 2019).

**Condition-Related Variables.** The condition-related determinant variables include (a) disease control related conditions (risk factors that may increase medication nonadherence); (b) disease characteristics (time since diagnosis, stage of cancer, lymph node involvements) and tumor characteristics (site, stage, histology, and grade) ; and (c) comorbidities (coexisting condition with breast cancer) (Bosco-Levy et al., 2016; Farias et al., 2018b; Hagen et al., 2019; Halli-Tierney et al., 2019; Tan et al., 2021; Ma et al., 2020; Peh et al., 2021; Pranjpe et al., 2019; Sabaté, 2003; Wulaningsih et al., 2018; Yussof et al., 2022).

Therapy-Related Variables. The therapy-related factor data included (a) medication effect (side effects); and (b) medication regimen (polypharmarcy, types and doses of medications, duration of medications) (Adidja et al., 2019; Chew et al., 2009; Dashputre et al., 2020; Mathes et al., 2014a, Molnar et al., 2016; Murphy et al., 2012; Sabaté, 2003; Yussof et al., 2022).

Health Care Team/ System-Related Variables. This determinant was described as (a) healthcare professional characteristics (prescribing practice, number of providers seen, and the historical amount of patient sharing among providers); and (b) healthcare system characteristics (coinsurance, deductible, copayment amount, total payment amount, changed charges due to healthcare errors such as wrong procedure code or invalid date of services) (Bosco-Levy et al., 2016; Guedes et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2020; Moon et al., 2017; Lambert -Côté et al., 2020; Lin et al., 2017; Peh et al., 2021; Paranjpe et al., 2019; Sabaté, 2003; Trabulsi et al., 2014).

#### **Outcome Variable: OET Non-Adherence**

The primary outcome variable is OET-NA rates, which can be calculated by considering the proportion of days covered (PDC) (Davies et al., 2013). I used the "Part D Event (PDE)- with Drug Characteristics File appended" file to identify medication refill data. The PDC is the number of days covered by a prescription drug divided by the total number of days in an observation window (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2014). I divided the "days supply" of PDE file by the total number of days for the prescription. The PDC method was calculated in similar ways, but I deduct overlapped refill days for the PDC as shown in Figure 1. These overlapped days can be calculated by the "date of service of PDE" data. A patient with OET-NA is identified based on the PDC data using the common cut-point of <80% (non-adherent) versus  $\geq$ 80% (adherent) (Chapman et al., 2008; Choudhry et al., 2008).

Figure 3.1



MPR and PDC calculation example

#### Procedures

I did not need to obtain informed consent since this was secondary data analysis of HIPPA compliant datasets. Since this was an IRB exempt case, the IRB cleared us to proceed. After retrieving the SEER-Medicare dataset, the medical informatic expert, Dr. Provance supported the use of a three-step process involving (a) understanding the context of SEER-Medicare data; (b) extracting data while maintaining data structures; and (c) defining data parameters (Cole et al., 2016). Next, I worked on reviewing raw data to parse that into MongoDB, which is the program that allows me to organize big datasets. I chose MongoDB since it is a not structured query language (NoSQL) system, which provides a more flexible structure, especially when working with big data analysis that contains messy and potentially missing data (Ali et al., 2019). For instance, a field can be coded as a number, as a string, or as missing for different patients.

I extracted patient information from the Medicare Part D Event and Drug Characteristics (PDESAF) database and linked these patients' individual information to other databases such as the SEER\_CANCER database, the MBSF\_OTH\_CC MBSF Other Chronic Condition (MBSF\_OTH\_CC) database, the MBSF Chronic Condition database (MBSF\_ CC), the Medicare Part D Medication Therapy (PDEMTM) database, and the National Claim History (NCH) database.

The study samples were collected consecutively from the SEER-Medicare database. I extracted all available data from these databases and then identified any recurring patient identification (ID) numbers across the collective data. For example, I combined and compared data from the PDESAF and SEER-Cancer databases to compile both prescription and demographic information on each patient. Then I organized clinical characteristics and multi-level determinants from other three databases. Cancer files, Medicare Part D event files, Medicare enrollment files, and carrier claim files were used to identify these variables (Please see Table 3.1). The extracted and organized data were analyzed within the context of the research questions. Table 3.2. shows the details of possible variable codes in SEER-Medicare database for the complicated multi-level determinants. Tables 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, and 3.7. demonstrate the code that is used for our analysis. Duplicated patient information found in the databases was considered to be one last entry per data analyst, Dr. Provance's recommendation.

A data dictionary is available in Appendix B. After reviewing all eligible samples and checking the linkage on each database, most factors being studied had clear names and values directly tied to a single variable in the data. However, comorbidity factors (Table 3.5) were retrieved from four values from the MBSF Other CC and MBSF CC databases. These four values separated the patients not only by whether or not they had a comorbidity condition, but also whether or not they had succeeded in meeting the financial criteria for a insurance claim regarding that condition. Since I was concerned with medical criteria (i.e., having diabetes) for comorbidities rather than financial criteria (i.e., fee for services cannot be provided), I reorganized this data into two value sets: patients with comorbidities and patients without.

After I retrieved the information on all variables from the different databases for analyzing five different multi-level systems, I worked on a binary logistic regression analysis for each set of factors. Next, I worked on post-hoc analysis to see the trends among all of the important factors from the five different multi-level systems.

Table 3.1.

#### Variables of Interest

| Variables  | <b>Detailed Variables</b>  | SEER-<br>Medicare Files  |
|--|--|--|
| Patient-related<br>Variables (Finitsis et  | Demographic information (age at diagnosis, sex, race, ethnicity, and marital status)                                     | Cancer file  |
| al., 2019; Lambert et<br>al., 2018; Lin et al.,  | Tumor characteristics (e.g., site, stage, histology, and grade)  | Cancer file  |
| 2017; Moon et al.,<br>2017; Paranjpe et al.,<br>2019; Peh et al., 2021;<br>Sabaté, 2003; Tan et<br>al., 2021; Xu et al.,<br>2019). | Psychosocial factors * (mental illness such<br>as dementia or depression diagnosis,<br>antidepressant use, memory issue) | Other chronic<br>or potentially<br>disabling<br>conditions file,<br>Part D Event<br>(PDE) file |

|                            | Behavioral factors* (Past drug<br>management/therapy problems-adherence) | PDE file        |
|----------------------------|--|-----------------|
| <b>Condition-related</b>   | Disease control related conditions (risk                                 | Medicare        |
| variables (Bosco-Levy      | factors that may increase medication non-                                | enrollment file |
| et al., 2016; Farias et    | adherence)   |                 |
| al., 2018b; Hagen et al.,  | Disease characteristics (time since                                      | Cancer File     |
| 2019; Tan et al., 2021;    | diagnosis, stage of cancer, lymph node                                   |                 |
| Ma et al., 2020; Peh et    | involvements)  |                 |
| al., 2021; Pranjpe et al., | Co-morbidities (coexisting condition with                                | Medicare        |
| 2019; Sabaté, 2003;        | breast cancer)   | enrollment file |
| Wulaningsih et al.,        |  |                 |
| 2018; Yussof et al.,       |  |                 |
| 2022).                     |  |                 |
| Therapy-related            | Pre-treatment options before starting OET*                               | Cancer file,    |
| variable (Finitsis et al., | (chemotherapy, polypharmacy  | PDE file        |
| 2019; Mohamed &            | radiotherapy, surgical interventions such as                             |                 |
| Elamin, 2020; Peh et       | mastectomy, lumpectomy)  |                 |
| al., 2021; Pranjpe et al., | Medication regimen (type of OET, dose,                                   | PDE file        |
| 2019; Sabate, 2003;        | duration of treatment, switching OEI)                                    |                 |
| Y ussof et al., $2022$ ).  |  | C (°1           |
| Socio-                     | Social/environment factors (social support,                              | Cancer file     |
| veniebles (Dright &        | culture of religious practice, life status                               |                 |
| Stanton 2018:              | Economic factors (financial constraints                                  | Concer file     |
| Mohamed & Flamin           | income)  |                 |
| 2020: Peh et al $2021$ :   | Lifestyle factors (alcohol and drug use)                                 | Cancer file     |
| Pranine et al 2019:        | Effestive factors (alconor and drug use)                                 |                 |
| Sabaté 2003: Xu &          |  |                 |
| Wang, 2019).               |  |                 |
| Health Care Team/          | Healthcare professional characteristics *                                | Carrier claims, |
| System- related            | (prescribing practice, number of providers                               | Medicare        |
| variables                  | seen, and the historical amount of patient                               | enrollment, and |
| (Bosco-Levy et al.,        | sharing among providers)   | PDE file        |
| 2016; Guedes et al.,       | Healthcare system characteristics*                                       | Carrier claims  |
| 2017; Ma et al., 2020;     | (coinsurance, deductible, copayment                                      |                 |
| Moon et al., 2017;         | amount, total payment amount, changed                                    |                 |
| Lambert -Côté et al.,      | charges due to healthcare errors such as                                 |                 |
| 2020; Lin et al., 2017;    | wrong procedure code or invalid date of                                  |                 |
| Peh et al., 2021;          | services)  |                 |
| Paranjpe et al., 2019;     |  |                 |
| Sabate, 2003; Trabulsi     |  |                 |
| et al., 2014).             |  |                 |

\* These variables are explained more detailed in Table 3.2.

Table 3.2.

| Variables   | Files   | Code name in SEER-Medicare database  |
|---|---|--|
| Patient-related<br>variables<br>- Psychosocial<br>factors   | Medicare<br>Enrollment-<br>Chronic<br>Conditions  | Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders (ALZH, ALZH_DEMEN*)  |
|   | Part D Medication<br>Therapy<br>Management<br>Enrollment File<br><b>Medicare</b><br><b>Enrollment-</b><br>Other Chronic or<br>Potentially<br>Disabling<br>Conditions<br>Segment | Beneficiary Identified as Cognitively Impaired<br>(COG_IMPAIRED LABEL)<br>Alcohol disorder (ALCO_MEDICARE*), Tobacco<br>Use Disorders (TOBA_MEDICARE*),<br>Overarching Opioid Use Disorder (OUD)<br>(OUD_ANY_MEDICARE *), Anxiety disorder<br>(ANXI_MEDICARE*), Personality disorders<br>(PSDS_MEDICARE*), Personality disorders<br>(PSDS_MEDICARE*), Schizophrenia and Other<br>Psychotic Disorders (SCHIOT_MEDICARE*),<br>Deafness and hearing impairment<br>(HEARIM_MEDICARE*), Blindness and Visual<br>Impairment (VISUAL_MEDICARE*), Intellectual<br>Disabilities and Related Conditions<br>(INTDIS_MEDICARE*), learning Disabilities<br>(LEADIS_MEDICARE*) |
| Patient-related<br>variables<br>-Behavioral factors<br>(Past drug therapy<br>problems-<br>adherence)<br>MacDonald et al.,<br>2018).                   | Part D Medication<br>Therapy<br>Management<br>Enrollment File   | Number of drug therapy problem recommendations<br>to prescribers (PRESCRIBER_INTERV_NUM),<br>Number of drug therapy problem resolutions with<br>prescribers (DRUG_THER_CHG_NUM)  |
| Therapy-related<br>variables<br>-Pre-treatment<br>options before<br>starting OET<br>(chemotherapy,<br>radiotherapy,<br>surgical<br>interventions such | Cancer File   | Surgery of Primary Site<br>(RX_Summ_Scope_Reg_LN_Sur), Scope of<br>Regional Lymph Node Surgery<br>(RX_Summ_Scope_Reg_LN_Sur), radiation and<br>surgical procedures given as part of first course of<br>treatment (RX_Summ_Surg_Rad_Seq),<br>Radiation_recoded, Chemotherapy_recoded,<br>systemic therapy*, Neoadjuvant therapy*,<br>Other_cancer_directed_therapy  |

Variables of Interest with Code Examples

| as mastectomy,<br>lumpectomy)   | Part D Event<br>(PDE) file  | Taxotere, Ellence, Adriamycin, Xeloda,<br>fluorouracil, Cytoxan, Paraplatin, doxorubicin  |
|---|---|---|
| Comorbidities<br>Comorbidities<br>(coexisting<br>condition with<br>breast cancer)   | Medicare<br>Enrollment-<br>Chronic<br>Conditions<br>Medicare<br>Enrollment-Other<br>Chronic or<br>Potentially<br>Disabling<br>Conditions<br>Segment | Acute Myocardial Infarction (AMI*), Anemia<br>(ANEMIA*), Asthma (ASTHMA*), Atrial<br>Fibrillation (ATRIAL_FIB*), Heart Failure<br>(CHF*), Chronic Kidney Disease<br>(CHRONICKIDNEY*), Chronic Obstructive<br>Pulmonary Disease (COPD*), Diabetes<br>(DIABETES*), Hyperlipidemia (HYPERL*),<br>Hypertension (HYPERT*), Hypothyroidism<br>(HYPOT*), Ischemic heart disease<br>(ISCHEMICHEART*), Osteoporosis<br>(OSTEOPOROSIS*), Rheumatoid Arthritis<br>(RA_OA*), Stroke / Transient Ischemic Attack<br>(STROKE_TIA*)<br>Viral Hepatitis (HEPVIRAL_MEDICARE*),<br>HIV/AIDS(HIVAIDS_MEDICARE*), Liver<br>related conditions (LIVER_MEDICARE*),<br>Migraine and other Chronic Headache<br>(MIGRAINE_MEDICARE*), Peripheral Vascular<br>Disease (PVD_MEDICARE*), Sickle Cell Disease<br>(SCD_MEDICARE*) |
| <b>Condition-related</b><br><b>variables</b><br>-Disease control<br>related conditions<br>(risk factors that<br>may increase<br>medication non-<br>adherence) | Medicare<br>Enrollment-<br>Chronic<br>Conditions<br>Other Chronic or<br>Potentially<br>Disabling<br>Conditions<br>Segment                           | Previous colorectal cancer diagnosis date<br>(CANCER_COLORECTAL_EVER), Endometrial<br>Cancer diagnosis date (CANCER_<br>ENDOMETRIAL_EVER), Cataract diagnosis date<br>(CATARACT_EVER), Glaucoma diagnosis date<br>(GLAUCOMA_EVER), Depression<br>(DEPRESSION*), Hip fracture history<br>(HIP_FRACTURE_EVER)<br>Leukemias and Lymphomas<br>(LEUKLYMPH_MEDICARE*), Obesity<br>(OBESITY_MEDICARE*), Pressure Ulcers and<br>Chronic Ulcers (ULCERS_MEDICARE*)   |
| <b>Condition-related</b><br><b>Variables</b><br>- Polypharmacy  | Cancer File<br>NCH (Carrier<br>Claims)  | Mobility Impairments (MOBI_MEDICARE*),<br>Spinal Cord Injury (SPIINJ_MEDICARE*),<br>metastasis (REGIONAL NODES POSITIVE,<br>METS AT DX*)<br>Claim Related Condition Code<br>(CLM_RLT_COND_CD) i.e., 22 = Patient on<br>multiple drug regimen — a patient who is receiving   |

|   |  | multiple intravenous drugs while on home IV therapy  |
|---|--|--|
| Healthcare<br>professional<br>characteristics<br>(prescribing<br>practice, and the<br>historical amount | Part D Prescriber<br>Characteristics and<br>Medicare Data on<br>Provider Practice<br>and Specialty<br>(MD-PPAS) file | National provider identifier (NPI)   |
| of patient sharing<br>among providers)  | Medicare Data on<br>Provider Practice<br>and Specialty<br>(MD-PPAS) file<br>NCH (Carrier<br>Claims)                  | <ul> <li>Provider Specialty (spec_broad,</li> <li>spec_prim_1 spec_prim_1_name spec_prim_2</li> <li>spec_prim_2_name</li> <li>spec_source spec_source_hosp)</li> <li>REV_CNTR_1ST_ANSI_CD,</li> <li>REV_CNTR_3RD_ANSI_CD,</li> <li>REV_CNTR_4TH_ANSI_CD</li> <li>B17 = Claim/service adjusted because this service</li> <li>was not prescribed by a physician, not prescribed</li> <li>prior to delivery, the prescription is incomplete, or</li> <li>the prescription is not current</li> <li>B19 = Claim/service adjusted because of the</li> <li>finding of a Review Organization. INACTIVE</li> <li>B20 = Charges adjusted because</li> <li>procedure/service was partially or fully furnished</li> <li>by another provider</li> <li>B21 = The charges were reduced because the</li> <li>service/care was partially furnished by another</li> <li>physician. INACTIVE</li> <li>B23 = Claim/service denied because this provider has failed an aspect of a proficiency testing program</li> </ul> |
|   |  |  |

| Healthcare        | NCH (Carrier |
|-------------------|--------------|
| system            | Claims)      |
| characteristics   |              |
| (coinsurance,     |              |
| deductible,       |              |
| copayment         |              |
| amount, total     |              |
| payment amount,   |              |
| changed charges   |              |
| due to healthcare |              |
| errors such as    |              |
| wrong procedure   |              |
| code or invalid   |              |
| date of services) |              |

# CLM\_VAL\_CD (Claim Value Code)

- 25 = Offset to the Patient Payment Amount (Prescription Drugs) — prescription drugs paid for out of a long-term care facility resident/patient's fund in the billing period submitted (Statement Covers Period)
- 35 = Offset to the Patient Payment Amount (Health Insurance Premiums) — Other medical services paid out of a long-term care facility resident/ patient's funds in the billing period submitted
- 70 = Interest amount (providers do not report this.) Report the amount applied to this bill
- A1 = Deductible Payer A the amount assumed by the provider to be applied to the patient's deductible amount to the involving the indicated payer. (eff. 10/1993) — Prior value 0
- A2 = Coinsurance Payer A the amount assumed by the provider to be applied to the patient's Part B coinsurance amount involving the indicated payer
- A7 = Copayment A the amount assumed by the provider to be applied toward the patient's copayment amount involving the indicated payer

# REV\_CNTR\_1ST\_ANSI\_CD, REV\_CNTR\_2ND\_ANSI\_CD, REV\_CNTR\_3RD\_ANSI\_CD, REV\_CNTR\_4TH\_ANSI\_CD

- PR = Patient Responsibility this group should be used when the adjustment represents an amount that should be billed to the patient or insured. This group would typically be used for deductible and copay adjustments
- 2 = Coinsurance Amount
- 3 = Co-pay Amount
- 5 = The procedure code/bill type is inconsistent with the place of service
- 126 = Deductible major Medical
- 127 = Coinsurance major Medical
- B18 = Claim/service denied because this procedure code/modifier was invalid on the date of service or claim submission

| Healthcare | Medicare Data on  | Geographic location (state, cbsa_type), Utilization |
|------------|-------------------|---|
| system     | Provider Practice | summary measures ( npi_srvc_lines,                  |

| characteristics       | and Specialty  |
|-----------------------|----------------|
| (location of          | (MD-PPAS) file |
| healthcare,           |                |
| utilizing or visiting |                |
| healthcare facility)  |                |

npi\_allowed\_amt npi\_unq\_benes), Plan of service that is delivered in office, outpatient department, hospital, patient's residence (Pos\_office, pos\_opd, pos\_inpat, post\_ER, pos\_resid),

Table 3.3.

Patient-Related Variable Codes

|                               | Database and Codes                   |
|-------------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| White                         | SEER_CANCER RACE_RECODE_W_B_AI_API 1 |
| Black                         | SEER_CANCER RACE_RECODE_W_B_AI_API 2 |
| American Indian/Alaska        | SEER_CANCER RACE_RECODE_W_B_AI_API 3 |
| Native                        |                                      |
| Asian or Pacific Islander     | SEER_CANCER RACE_RECODE_W_B_AI_API 4 |
| Anxiety (Y)                   | MBSF_OTH_CC ANXI_MEDICARE 1,3        |
| Anxiety (N)                   | MBSF_OTH_CC ANXI_MEDICARE 2,4        |
| Depression (Y)                | MBSF_OTH_CC DEPSN_MEDICARE 1,3       |
| Depression (N)                | MBSF_OTH_CC DEPSN_MEDICARE 2,4       |
| Alzheimer's (dementia)        | MBSF_CC ALZH_DEMEN 1,3               |
| Disease (Y)                   |                                      |
| Alzneimer's (dementia)        | MBSF_CC ALZH_DEMEN 2,4               |
| Brain Damage (Y)              | MBSF_OTH_CC BRAINJ_MEDICARE 1,3      |
| Brain Damage (N)              | MRSE OTH CC RRAINI MEDICARE 24       |
| Dialii Daillage (11)          | MDSI_0111_CC DRAINJ_MEDICARE 2,4     |
| Intellectual Disabilities (Y) | MBSF_OTH_CC INTDIS_MEDICARE 1,3      |
| Intellectual Disabilities     | MBSF_OTH_CC INTDIS_MEDICARE 2,4      |
| Learning Disabilities (Y)     | MBSF_OTH_CC LEADIS_MEDICARE 1,3      |
| Learning Disabilities (N)     | MBSF_OTH_CC LEADIS_MEDICARE 2,4      |

| ADHD and Other  | MBSF_OTH_CC ACP_MEDICARE 1,3    |
|---|---------------------------------|
| Conduct Disorder (Y)  |                                 |
| ADHD and Other  | MBSF_OTH_CC ACP_MEDICARE 2,4    |
| Conduct Disorder (N)  |                                 |
| Bipolar Disorder (Y)  | MBSF_OTH_CC BIPL_MEDICARE 1,3   |
| Bipolar Disorder (N)  | MBSF_OTH_CC BIPL_MEDICARE 2,4   |
| Personality Disorders (Y)   | MBSF_OTH_CC PSDS_MEDICARE 1,3   |
| Personality Disorders (N)   | MBSF_OTH_CC PSDS_MEDICARE 2,4   |
| PTSD (Y)  | MBSF_OTH_CC PTRA_MEDICARE 1,3   |
| PTSD (N)  | MBSF_OTH_CC PTRA_MEDICARE 2,4   |
| Schizophrenia and   | MBSF_OTH_CC SCHIOT_MEDICARE 1,3 |
| Related Conditions (Y)<br>Schizophrenia and<br>Related Conditions (N) | MBSF_OTH_CC SCHIOT_MEDICARE 2,4 |
| Hearing Impairment (Y)  | MBSF_OTH_CC HEARIM_MEDICARE 1,3 |
| Hearing Impairment (N)  | MBSF_OTH_CC HEARIM_MEDICARE 2,4 |
| Mobility impairment (Y)   | MBSF_OTH_CC MOBIMP_MEDICARE 1,3 |
| Mobility impairment (N)   | MBSF_OTH_CC MOBIMP_MEDICARE 2,4 |
| Visual impairment (Y)   | MBSF_OTH_CC VISUAL_MEDICARE 1,3 |
| Visual impairment (N)   | MBSF_OTH_CC VISUAL_MEDICARE 2,4 |

Table 3.4.

Socioeconomic-Related Variable Codes

|                        | Database and Codes                        |
|------------------------|---|
| Single (never married) | SEER_CANCER MARITAL_STATUS_AT_DIAGNOSIS 1 |
| Married                | SEER_CANCER MARITAL_STATUS_AT_DIAGNOSIS 2 |
| Separated              | SEER_CANCER MARITAL_STATUS_AT_DIAGNOSIS 3 |

| Divorced                            | SEER_CANCER MARITAL_STATUS_AT_DIAGNOSIS 4   |
|-------------------------------------|---|
| Widowed                             | SEER_CANCER MARITAL_STATUS_AT_DIAGNOSIS 5   |
| Alcohol use (Y)                     | MBSF_OTH_CC ALCO_MEDICARE 1,3               |
| Alcohol use (N)                     | MBSF_OTH_CC ALCO_MEDICARE 2,4               |
| Drug use (Y)                        | MBSF_OTH_CC DRUG_MEDICARE 1,3               |
| Drug use (N)                        | MBSF_OTH_CC DRUG_MEDICARE 2,4               |
| Opioid drug use (Y)                 | MBSF_OTH_CC OUD_ANY_MEDICARE 1,3            |
| Opioid drug use (N)                 | MBSF_OTH_CC OUD_ANY_MEDICARE 2,4            |
| Opioid use for MAT <sup>a</sup> (Y) | MBSF_OTH_CC OUD_MAT_MEDICARE 1,3            |
| Opioid use for MAT <sup>a</sup> (N) | MBSF_OTH_CC OUD_MAT_MEDICARE 2,4            |
| Tobacco use (Y)                     | MBSF_OTH_CC TOBA_MEDICARE 1,3               |
| Tobacco use (N)                     | MBSF_OTH_CC TOBA_MEDICARE 2,4               |
| Metro area                          | SEER_CANCER                                 |
|                                     | RURAL_URBAN_CONTINUUM_CODE_2003 01,02,03    |
| Urbon area                          | SEER_CANCER                                 |
| Orban area                          | RURAL_URBAN_CONTINUUM_CODE_2003 04,05,06,07 |
| Completely Rural area               | SEER_CANCER                                 |
| Completely Kulai alea               | RURAL_URBAN_CONTINUUM_CODE_2003 08,09       |

<sup>a</sup>MAT = Medication-Assisted Treatment

# Table 3.5.

Therapy-Related Variable Codes

|  | Database and Codes          |
|--|-----------------------------|
| OET medication switched (Y)                    | PDESAF_pdc_mpr_results      |
|  | MEDS_SWITCHED True          |
| OET medication switched (N)                    | PDESAF_pdc_mpr_results      |
|  | MEDS_SWITCHED False         |
| No systemic chemo and/or surgical therapy      | SEER_CANCER                 |
|  | RX_SUMM_SYSTEMIC_SURG_SEQ 0 |
| Systemic therapy before surgery                | SEER_CANCER                 |
|  | RX_SUMM_SYSTEMIC_SURG_SEQ 2 |
| Systemic therapy after surgery                 | SEER_CANCER                 |
|  | RX_SUMM_SYSTEMIC_SURG_SEQ 3 |
| Systemic therapy both before and after surgery | SEER_CANCER                 |
|  | RX_SUMM_SYSTEMIC_SURG_SEQ 4 |
| Intraoperative systemic therapy                | SEER_CANCER                 |

|  | RX_SUMM_SYSTEMIC_SURG_SEQ 5 |
|--|-----------------------------|
| Intraoperative systemic therapy with other     | SEER_CANCER                 |
| therapy  | RX_SUMM_SYSTEMIC_SURG_SEQ 6 |
| Surgery both before and after systemic therapy | SEER_CANCER                 |
|  | RX_SUMM_SYSTEMIC_SURG_SEQ 7 |
| Sequence unknown, but both surgery and         | SEER_CANCER                 |
| systemic therapy are given                     | RX_SUMM_SYSTEMIC_SURG_SEQ 9 |
| No radiation and /or surgery                   | SEER_CANCER                 |
|  | RX_SUMM_SURG_RAD_SEQ 0      |
| Radiation before surgery                       | SEER_CANCER                 |
|  | RX_SUMM_SURG_RAD_SEQ 2      |
| Radiation after surgery                        | SEER_CANCER                 |
|  | RX_SUMM_SURG_RAD_SEQ 3      |
| Radiation both before and after surgery        | SEER_CANCER                 |
|  | RX_SUMM_SURG_RAD_SEQ 4      |
| Intraoperative radiation                       | SEER_CANCER                 |
|  | RX_SUMM_SURG_RAD_SEQ 5      |
| Intraoperative radiation with other radiation  | SEER_CANCER                 |
| given  | RX_SUMM_SURG_RAD_SEQ 6      |
| Surgery both before and after radiation        | SEER_CANCER                 |
|  | RX_SUMM_SURG_RAD_SEQ 7      |
| Sequence unknown, but both surgery and         | SEER_CANCER                 |
| radiation were given                           | RX_SUMM_SURG_RAD_SEQ 9      |
| No Drug Therapy problem                        | PDEMTM DRUG_THER_CHG_NUM 0  |
| 1 <sup>st</sup> Drug Therapy problem           | PDEMTM DRUG_THER_CHG_NUM 1  |
| 2 <sup>nd</sup> Drug Therapy problem           | PDEMTM DRUG_THER_CHG_NUM 2  |
| 3 <sup>rd</sup> Drug Therapy problem           | PDEMTM DRUG_THER_CHG_NUM 3  |
| 4 <sup>th</sup> Drug Therapy problem           | PDEMTM DRUG_THER_CHG_NUM 4  |

Table 3.6.

Condition- Related Variable Codes

|           | Database and Codes                        |
|-----------|---|
| Stage 0   | SEER_CANCER COMBINED_SUMMARY_STAGE_2004 0 |
| Stage I   | SEER_CANCER COMBINED_SUMMARY_STAGE_2004 1 |
| Stage II  | SEER_CANCER COMBINED_SUMMARY_STAGE_2004 2 |
| Stage III | SEER_CANCER COMBINED_SUMMARY_STAGE_2004 7 |

| Stage IV              | SEER_CANCER COMBINED_SUMMARY_STAGE_2004 9 |
|-----------------------|---|
| AMI (Y)               | MBSF_CC AMI 1,3                           |
| AMI (N)               | MBSF_CC AMI 2,4                           |
| Anemia (Y)            | MBSF_CC ANEMIA 1,3                        |
| Anemia (N)            | MBSF_CC ANEMIA 2,4                        |
| Asthma (Y)            | MBSF_CC ASTHMA 1,3                        |
| Asthma (N)            | MBSF_CC ASTHMA 2,4                        |
| CHF (Y)               | MBSF_CC CHF 1,3                           |
| CHF (N)               | MBSF_CC CHF 2,4                           |
| COPD (Y)              | MBSF_CC COPD 1,3                          |
| COPD (N)              | MBSF_CC COPD 2,4                          |
| CKD (Y)               | MBSF_CC CHRONICKIDNEY 1,3                 |
| CKD (N)               | MBSF_CC CHRONICKIDNEY 2,4                 |
| Diabetes (Y)          | MBSF_CC DIABETES 1,3                      |
| Diabetes (N)          | MBSF_CC DIABETES 2,4                      |
| Epilepsy (Y)          | MBSF_OTH_CC EPILEP_MEDICARE 1,3           |
| Epilepsy (N)          | MBSF_OTH_CC EPILEP_MEDICARE 2,4           |
| Fibromyalgia          |   |
| Chronic Pain and      | MBSF_OTH_CC FIBRO_MEDICARE 1,3            |
| Fatigue (Y)           |   |
| Fibromyalgia          |   |
| Chronic Pain and      | MBSF_OTH_CC FIBRO_MEDICARE 2,4            |
| Fatigue (N)           |   |
| Hepatitis (Viral)     | MBSE OTH CCHEPVIRAL MEDICARE 1.3          |
| (Y)                   |   |
| Hepatitis (Viral)     | MBSF OTH CC HEPVIRAL MEDICARE 2.4         |
| (N)                   |   |
| Hip Fracture (Y)      | MBSF_CC HIP_FRACTURE 1,3                  |
| Hip Fracture (N)      | MBSF_CC HIP_FRACTURE 2,4                  |
| HIV/AIDS (Y)          | MBSF_OTH_CC HIVAIDS_MEDICARE 1,3          |
| HIV/AIDS (N)          | MBSF_OTH_CC HIVAIDS_MEDICARE 2,4          |
| Hyperlipidemia        | MBSF CC HYPERL 1,3                        |
| $(\mathbf{Y})$        | _ ``                                      |
| Hyperlipidemia<br>(N) | MBSF_CC HYPERL 2,4                        |
| Hypertension (Y)      | MBSF_CC HYPERT 1,3                        |
| Hypertension (N)      | MBSF_CC HYPERT 2,4                        |
| Hypothyroid (Y)       | MBSF_CC HYPOTH 1,3                        |
| Hypothyroid (N)       | MBSF_CC HYPOTH 2,4                        |
|                       |   |

| Leukemia and       | MDSE OTH CCLEHVIVMDH MEDICADE 12    |
|--------------------|-------------------------------------|
| lymphomas (Y)      | MBSF_OTH_CC LEUKLYMPH_MEDICAKE 1,5  |
| Leukemia and       | MDSE OTH CCLEHVI VMDIL MEDICADE 24  |
| lymphomas (N)      | MBSF_0TH_CC LEUKLY MPH_MEDICARE 2,4 |
| Liver Diseases (Y) | MBSF_OTH_CC LIVER_MEDICARE 1,3      |
| Liver Diseases (N) | MBSF_OTH_CC LIVER_MEDICARE 2,4      |
| Migraine and       |                                     |
| Other Chronic      | MBSF_OTH_CC MIGRAINE_MEDICARE 1,3   |
| Headache (Y)       |                                     |
| Migraine and       |                                     |
| Other Chronic      | MBSF_OTH_CC MIGRAINE_MEDICARE 2,4   |
| Headache (N)       |                                     |
| Obesity (Y)        | MBSF_OTH_CC OBESITY_MEDICARE 1,3    |
| Obesity (N)        | MBSF_OTH_CC OBESITY_MEDICARE 2,4    |
| Osteoporosis (Y)   | MBSF_CC OSTEOPOROSIS 1,3            |
| Osteoporosis (N)   | MBSF_CC OSTEOPOROSIS 2,4            |
| PVD (Y)            | MBSF_OTH_CC PVD_MEDICARE 1,3        |
| PVD (N)            | MBSF_OTH_CC PVD_MEDICARE 2,4        |
| Spinal Injury (Y)  | MBSF_OTH_CC SPIINJ_MEDICARE 1,3     |
| Spinal Injury (N)  | MBSF_OTH_CC SPIINJ_MEDICARE 2,4     |
| Ulcers (Y)         | MBSF_OTH_CC ULCERS_MEDICARE 1,3     |
| Ulcers (N)         | MBSF_OTH_CC ULCERS_MEDICARE 2,4     |

Table 3.7

Health Care Team/System-Related Factors

|  | Database and Codes                 |
|--|------------------------------------|
| CMR provider-Physician                 | PDEMTM CMR_PROVIDER 01             |
| CMR provider-Registered Nurse          | PDEMTM CMR_PROVIDER 02             |
| CMR provider-Licensed practical        | PDEMTM CMR_PROVIDER 03             |
| nurse                                  |                                    |
| CMR provider-Nurse practitioner        | PDEMTM CMR_PROVIDER 04             |
| CMR provider-Pharmacist                | PDEMTM CMR_PROVIDER 05             |
| Group Practitioners in Clinic          | NCH_LINE CARR_LINE_PRVDR_TYPE_CD 0 |
| Solo Practitioners                     | NCH_LINE CARR_LINE_PRVDR_TYPE_CD 1 |
| Institution providers (share patients) | NCH_LINE CARR_LINE_PRVDR_TYPE_CD 3 |
| Coinsurance amount \$0-20              | NCH_LINE LINE_COINSRNC_AMT 0       |

Coinsurance amount \$20-40NCH\_LINE LINE\_COINSRNC\_AMT 1Coinsurance amount \$40-60NCH\_LINE LINE\_COINSRNC\_AMT 2Coinsurance amount \$60-80NCH\_LINE LINE\_COINSRNC\_AMT 3Coinsurance amount \$80-100NCH\_LINE LINE\_COINSRNC\_AMT 4Health care service subject to<br/>deductible (Y)NCH\_LINE LINE\_SERVICE\_DEDUCTIBLE 1Health care service subject to<br/>deductible (N)NCH\_LINE LINE\_SERVICE\_DEDUCTIBLE 0

## **Data Analysis**

Data was be managed using Python (version 3.11.4) for the secondary analysis to find OET-NA and multi-level determinants. The alpha level for this study is 0.05. Analysis was performed under the supervision of a biostatistician, Dr. Chestnut. Descriptive statistics was utilized to interpret demographic data, which includes patient age groups (ordinal level), race (ordinal level), and marital status (ordinal level). The descriptive statistics of ordinal level data was including the total number and its percentage, and the ratio level data had mean, standard deviation, and range (Polit & Beck, 2020).

Research Question #1: What is the rate of OET-NA in women with breast cancer?

Analysis Plan: The OET- NA will be calculated as the percentage of NA rates to OET among women with breast cancer who are taking OET. This data will be collected as ratio level and arranged in a descriptive statistical analysis table with demographic data.

Research Question #2: What are the multi-level determinants influencing OET-NA in women with breast cancer?

Analysis Plan: The OET-NA is the main outcome variable and nominal level of data. The univariate and multivariate binary logistic regression statistical test will be computed to assess the relationship between multi-level determinants and OET-NA with odds ratio at a significance level of 0.05. The data analysis was conducted on each multi-level factors derived from the WHO's FDM and the correlation analysis was computed to identify the trends of medication-NA factor among older female breast cancer patients in the U.S.

#### CHAPTER 4

#### RESULTS

This chapter includes the results of the RESILIENT study, a descriptive, correlational investigation of the rate and correlation of OET-NA in women with breast cancer. This chapter will be presented in three sections. The first section is a summary of the samples using descriptive statistics, the second section seeks to answer the first research question by identifying OET-NA rates, and the final section seeks to answer the second research question by finding determinants of OET-NA.

#### **Characteristics of the Samples**

A total of six databases were utilized to conduct this study: (a) the Master Beneficiary Summary File (MBSF) chronic condition database, (b) the MBSF other chronic condition database, (c) the National Claims History (NCH) database, (d) the Medicare Part D Medication Therapy (PDEMTM) database, (e) the Medicare Part D Event and Drug Characteristics (PDESAF) database, and (f) the SEER Cancer database (SEER, 2022a). Due to the disconnectedness of these databases, the Mongo database was used in conjunction with C++ and Python to link and organize all of the data. This allowed the investigator to efficiently review all eligible samples, check each database's lineage, and subsequently answer research question one and two. Research question number one focused on ten years of OET studies to calculate OET-NA rates from 2010 to 2019 to see the trends of OET-NA. Research question number two identified OET-NA determinants on breast cancer patients from 2019 data, which is the most updated available from the SEER Medicare (released early 2023).

85

## **Study Samples**

The study samples were collected from the 2019 SEER-Medicare database, using this study's inclusion criteria, to collect pertinent medication adherence data. The sub-sampling process is outlined in Figure 4.1.

Figure 4.1.

Sample Extraction Diagram



The total number of breast cancer patients in the "PDESAF 2019" database was 458,343. After excluding patients who were not taking OET medications, the remaining patient count was 207,618 (Figure 4.1). After applying the study's inclusion criteria, the data

was filtered down to 141,457 older women with breast cancer ( $\geq 65$ ) in OET therapy. These sub-subsampled patients were copied to a new database, referred to as "PDESAF Extracted". The patient IDs from this new database, along with their OET-NA status (i.e., adherent as PDC $\geq 80$ , non-adherent as PDC <80), were selected as the dependent variable of this study.

Figure 4.2.

Relevant Patient Count in Linked Databases



After reviewing all 141,457 patient IDs for the dependent variable, patient information was matched from the "PDESAF Extracted" database to the other databases by referencing the patient IDs to find matches. Figure 4.2 shows the total common patient count found between "PDESAF Extracted" and each of the five databases used in this study. I found information for 141,455 patients in the MBSF OTH CC database which had corresponding patient IDs in our dependent variable PDESAF Extracted database (n=141,457), meaning two patients had no information in the MBSF OTH CC database (Figure 4.2.). Each database had matching patient IDs, leading to 141,454 retrieved patients in the MBSF CC database, 141,454 in the SEER CANCER database, 11,443 in the PDEMTM database and 84,269 in the NCH database, respectively.

As might be expected with pulling data from so many databases, there was a percentage of data missing. Most of the information was complete; however, two major categories had roughly 60% completion. Marital status, for example, was 42% unknown and therapy combination was 39% unknown. Other demographic items had less than 0.73% unknown or missing data (see Table 4.3). This missing data can be counted as either being reported unknown if an unknown variable value was selected by or on behalf of the patient or the relevant field for a patient had no value at all and was left empty in the database. Specifically, an unknown variable value is identified for a particular field in the data dictionary. For instance, the field "RACE RECODE" in the SEER CANCER database has values from categorically ethnic values from 1 to 4, a value of 9 indicates a patient's ethnicity is unknown as described in the data dictionary.

Fortunately, the logistic regression tool automatically checked for data completeness and thus removes all the missing data before the analysis. So, while I started with a very large sample size overall, I may have had a smaller sample size for analysis for a particular factor depending on the amount of missing data for the fields selected. To avoid ambiguous inferences, I did not include any missing data. In my odds ratio plots, I included sample size numbers for each analysis based on the actual data count used.

88

# **Demographics of Study Samples**

Retrieved demographic data is presented in descriptive statistics (Table 4.1.) to portray the characteristics of all eligible samples. All demographic items including ethnicity, sex, age, marital status at diagnosis, residence type, and year of diagnosis were collected from the SEER Cancer database.

## Table 4.1

| Demographics                   | Count        | Percentage<br>(%) |
|--------------------------------|--------------|-------------------|
| Race                           |              |                   |
| White                          | 117,873      | 83.33             |
| Black                          | 13,852       | 9.79              |
| American Indian/Alaska Native  | 459          | 0.32              |
| Asian or Pacific Islander      | 8,238        | 5.82              |
| Unknown                        | 1,035        | 0.73              |
| Age                            |              |                   |
| Mean Age                       | 73.16        |                   |
| (Min/Max/σ)                    | (65/99/6.42) |                   |
| 65-74                          | 92,044       | 65.07             |
| 75-84                          | 40,338       | 28.52             |
| 85-99                          | 9,046        | 6.39              |
| Unknown                        | 29           | 0.02              |
| Cancer Stage                   |              |                   |
| Stage I                        | 92,450       | 65.36             |
| Stage II                       | 29,971       | 21.19             |
| Stage III                      | 4,909        | 3.47              |
| Stage IV                       | 2,416        | 1.71              |
| Unknown                        | 11,711       | 8.28              |
| Marital Status at Diagnosis    |              |                   |
| Single (never married)         | 9,104        | 6.44              |
| Married (including common law) | 42,354       | 29.94             |
| Separated                      | 572          | 0.4               |
| Divorced                       | 9,923        | 7.01              |
| Widowed                        | 19,487       | 13.78             |
| Unknown                        | 60,017       | 42.43             |

Demographics of 2019 Breast Cancer Patients Taking OET Medications (N= 141,457)

| Year of Diagnosis for 2019 Cancer Patients                      |         |       |
|---|---------|-------|
| 2010  | 2,616   | 1.85  |
| 2011  | 3,839   | 2.71  |
| 2012  | 5,101   | 3.61  |
| 2013  | 8,137   | 5.75  |
| 2014  | 14,838  | 10.49 |
| 2015  | 17,790  | 12.58 |
| 2016  | 20,008  | 14.14 |
| 2017  | 22,567  | 14.39 |
| 2018  | 26,205  | 18.53 |
| 2019  | 20,356  | 14.39 |
| Unknown   | 0       | 0     |
| Rural Urban Status  |         |       |
| Metro area (more than 250,000 populations)                      | 125,289 | 88.57 |
| Urban area (more than 2,500 populations)                        | 14,668  | 10.37 |
| Rural area (less than 2,500 populations)                        | 1,495   | 1.06  |
| Unknown   | 0       | 0.00  |
| Switch Medication Status  |         |       |
| Prescribed medication was changed                               | 7,607   | 5.38  |
| Prescribed medication was not changed                           | 133,850 | 94.62 |
| OET Medication  |         |       |
| Anastrozole   | 78,256  | 55.32 |
| Exmestane   | 9,663   | 6.83  |
| Letrozole   | 33,864  | 23.92 |
| Tamoxifen   | 19,674  | 13.91 |
| Systemic and Surgical Therapy                                   |         |       |
| No systemic therapy <sup>a</sup> and/or surgical therapy        | 21,613  | 15.28 |
| Systemic therapy <sup>a</sup> before surgery                    | 1,870   | 1.32  |
| Systemic therapy <sup>a</sup> after surgery                     | 59,050  | 41.74 |
| Systemic therapy <sup>a</sup> both before and after surgery     | 2,605   | 1.84  |
| Intraoperative systemic therapy <sup>a</sup>                    | 25      | 0.02  |
| Intraoperative systemic therapy <sup>a</sup> with other therapy | 36      | 0.03  |
| Surgery both before and after systemic therapy <sup>a</sup>     | 599     | 0.42  |
| Sequence unknown, but both surgery and systemic therapy are     |         |       |
| given   | 47      | 0.03  |
| Unknown   | 55,612  | 39.31 |
| Radiation and Surgical Therapy                                  |         |       |
| No radiation and/ or surgery                                    | 42,397  | 29.97 |
| Radiation before surgery  | 145     | 0.10  |
| Radiation after surgery   | 42,153  | 29.80 |

| Radiation both before and after surgery                     | 85    | 0.06  |  |
|---|-------|-------|--|
| Intraoperative radiation                                    | 832   | 0.59  |  |
| Intraoperative radiation with other radiation given         | 184   | 0.13  |  |
| Surgery both before and after radiation                     | 14    | 0.01  |  |
| Sequence unknown, but both surgery and radiation were given | 35    | 0.02  |  |
| Unknown   | 55612 | 39.31 |  |

<sup>a</sup>Systemic therapy is systemic chemotherapy that is affected whole body systems with medications such as cytotoxic medications to kill the cancer cells.

Ethnicity, sex, age, marital status at diagnosis, residence type, and year of diagnosis are defined as follows.

## **Ethnicity**

Race data identifies patient's ethnicity into five major categories: White, Black,

American Indian/Alaska Native, and Asian/Pacific Islander, and other.

## Sex

This data item identifies the sex of the patient at diagnosis: female or male.

## Age

Age represents the age of the patient at the time of cancer diagnosis. Age is

categorized into the following categories: 65-74, 75-84, 85-99, and unknown.

## Marital Status at Diagnosis

This item identifies the patient's marital status at time of diagnosis as one of six options: single (never married), married (including common law), separated, divorced, widowed, and unmarried or domestic partner (same sex or opposite sex or unregistered).

## Stage of Cancer

This item identifies the patient's cancer stage, which was discussed in Chapter 2. Stage 0, carcinoma in-situ, describes the presence of abnormal cells that have not spread to nearby tissues. Stage I, the early stage, describes when the cancer has spread to other tissue in a small area. Stage II, the localized stage, describes when tumor size ranges between 20-50 mm and there is some lymph node involvement or when a tumor is larger than 50 mm without any lymph node involvement. Stage III, the regional spread stage, described a tumor larger than 50 mm with greater lymph nodes involvement across a wider region. Finally, Stage IV, the distant spread stage, described when cancer has spread beyond the breast to other distant parts of the body.

## **Medications**

This item includes all different types of OET medications such as anastrozole, letrozole, tamoxifen citrate, and exmestane.

## Switch Medication Status

This item documents that the patient's prescriber switched the patient's OETmedication among anastrozole, letrozole, tamoxifen citrate, and exmestane. The possible value of this item is either (a) prescribed medication was changed or (b) prescribed medication was not changed.

## Systemic and Surgical Therapy

This item shows the order in which systemic therapy and surgery were administered for patients who required both. This combination is often used as the initial course of treatment.

#### Radiation and Surgical Therapy

This item shows the order in which surgery and radiation therapies were administered for those patients who had both surgery and radiation.

#### **Summary of the Study Samples**

In 2019, 141,457 breast cancer patients were taking OET per the SEER Medicare database. The mean age of this population was 73.16 years old. Most patients were White (83.33%), married (29.94%), and living in a metropolitan area (88.57%). The vast majority were Stage I at first diagnosis (65.36%), required systemic chemotherapy after surgery (41.74%), no radiation and/or surgery (29.97%), and took AI medications such as anastrozole (55.32%), exemestane (6.83%), and letrozole (23.92%). More than 25% of patients were diagnosed between 2010 and 2014 and about 75% of patients between 2015 and 2019. These trends were similarly reported in other years of the SEER-Medicare database studies (Farias & Du, 2017; Haskins et al., 2019; Wang & Du, 2015; Yuan et al., 2020). Unfortunately, there were significant amounts of missing/unknown data in systemic-chemo, radiation, and surgical therapy (39.31%). This makes it difficult to understand the underlying reason for specific therapy-related determinants for OET-NA.

#### **Results of Research Question 1: Identifying OET-NA Rates**

Research question number one is designed to identify the rate of OET adherence in women with breast cancer.

#### **2019 MPR and PDC Data**

The MPR estimates the proportion (or percentage) of days medication was supplied during a specified time period, while the PDC estimates the number of days covered over a time interval. In this study, both the MPR and PDC data are used to calculate medication adherence (Table 4.2). The rates of OET medication adherence were 98.06% (MPR) and 93.65% (PDC). The rates of OET-NA were 1.94% (MPR) and 6.35% (PDC). The MPR OET-NA rates were lower than the PDC method as it accounted for extra dates. The lowest OET-NA rate was 6.09% (PDC) for anastrozole, which indicates this is the OET medication patients were most likely to be adherent to. However, other OET medications have similar ranges of NA, from 6.42-7.58%. OET-NA was grouped into categories based on the PDC data using the common cut-point of <80% (non-adherent); while adherent groups showed PDC rates  $\geq$ 80% (adherent) (Chapman et al., 2008; Choudhry et al., 2008). Again, anastrozole was the smallest (8%) OET-NA group, and the biggest OET-NA group was patients taking exmestane (6.83%) (Table 4.3).

Table 4.2

The Rate of OET Medication Adherence and OET-NA Rates in 2019

| Medication  | Perce | MPR   | MPR           | PDC   | PDC        | MPR    | PDC  |
|-------------|-------|-------|---------------|-------|------------|--------|------|
|             | ntage | (%)   | Min/Max/      | (%)   | Min/Max/   | OET-   | OET- |
|             | (%)   |       | SD (%)        |       | SD (%)     | NA (%) | NA   |
|             |       |       |               |       |            |        | (%)  |
| Entire OET  | 100   | 98.06 | 10.73/823/    | 93.65 | 10.73/100/ | 1.04   | 6 25 |
|             |       |       | 13.11         |       | 9.59       | 1.94   | 0.55 |
| Anastrozole | 55.32 | 97.97 | 14.34/823/12. | 93.91 | 11.53/100/ | 2.02   | 6.00 |
|             |       |       | 20            |       | 9.15       | 2.03   | 0.09 |
| Exmestane   | 6.83  | 98.67 | 10.73/407/    | 92.42 | 10.73/100/ | 1 2 2  | 7 58 |
|             |       |       | 17.07         |       | 11.00      | 1.55   | 1.30 |
| Letrozole   | 23.94 | 98.13 | 15.34/387/    | 93.58 | 15.34/100/ | 1 87   | 6.42 |
|             |       |       | 13.10         |       | 13.10      | 1.07   | 0.42 |
| Tamoxifen   | 13.91 | 98.03 | 12.94/495 /   | 93.33 | 12.94/100/ | 1.07   | 6 67 |
|             |       |       | 14.32         |       | 10.15      | 1.9/   | 0.07 |

Table 4.3

OET Medication Adherence in 2019

| Medication | Counts (%) | OET adherent<br>counts (%) | OET-NA counts (%) |
|------------|------------|----------------------------|-------------------|
|            |            |                            |                   |
| Anastrozole | 78,256 (55.32%) | 73,490 (93.91%) | 4,766 (6.09%) |
|-------------|-----------------|-----------------|---------------|
| Exmestane   | 9,663 (6.83%)   | 8,931 (92.42 %) | 732 (7.58%)   |
| Letrozole   | 33,864 (23.92%) | 31,690 (93.58%) | 2,174 (6.42%) |
| Tamoxifen   | 19,674 (13.91%) | 18,362 (93.33%) | 1,312 (6.67%) |

## The Rate of OET-NA over Ten years

I extended the OET-NA rates from 2010 to 2019 to see the trends of rates, which will enhance understanding of 2019 OET-NA rates data. The average OET adherence rate over ten years was 92.85% (PDC) and 97.22% (MPR). The average OET-NA rate was 7.15% (PDC) and 2.78% (MPR). Each year data and its sample size are available in Table 4.4. Table 4.4.

Descriptive Statistics of OET Medication Adherence and NA Rates 2010-2019

| Year | MPR                    | MPR          | PDC   | PDC        | MPR    | PDC    | Counts   |
|------|------------------------|--------------|-------|------------|--------|--------|----------|
|      | (%)                    | Min/Max/     | (%)   | Min/Max/   | OET-   | OET-   |          |
|      |                        | SD (%)       |       | SD (%)     | NA (%) | NA (%) |          |
| 2010 | 07.21                  | 12.60/457.1  | 02 20 | 12.60/100/ | 2.60   | 6.61   | 16 2 2 2 |
| 2010 | 97.51                  | 4/14.85      | 95.59 | 11.23      | 2.09   | 0.01   | 10,525   |
| 2011 | 06.06                  | 12.60/2325/  | 02 50 | 12.60/100/ | 2.04   | 75     | 25 020   |
| 2011 | 90.90                  | 19.10        | 92.30 | 11.20      | 3.04   | 1.5    | 55,750   |
| 2012 | 06.00                  | 8.38/766/14. | 02 16 | 8.38/100/  | 3 1    | 7 54   | 58 773   |
| 2012 | 2012 90.90             | 39           | 92.40 | 10.82      | 5.1    | 7.34   | 50,725   |
| 2013 | 06 05                  | 0/850/14 04  | 02 17 | 0.00/100/  | 3.05   | 7 53   | 88 851   |
| 2013 | 90.95                  | 0/830/14.04  | 92.47 | 10.5       | 5.05   | 1.55   | 00,051   |
| 2014 | 96 93                  | 0.00/1000/   | 92 /0 | 0.00/100/  | 3.07   | 76     | 115 /00  |
| 2014 | 90.95                  | 14.47        | 92.40 | 10.6       | 5.07   | 7.0    | 115,409  |
| 2015 | 96 93                  | 3.73/3100/   | 02 53 | 3.73/100/  | 3.07   | 7 47   | 1/2 355  |
| 2015 | <i>J</i> 0. <i>J</i> 3 | 17.94        | 12.33 | 10.48      | 5.07   | //     | 172,333  |
| 2016 | 97.07                  | 9.30/2400/   | 02 71 | 9.30/100/  | 2 03   | 7 20   | 161 862  |
| 2010 | 97.07                  | 14.91        | 92.71 | 10.46      | 2.95   | 1.29   | 101,802  |
| 2017 | 07 3/                  | 12.83/1385/  | 03 01 | 12.83/100/ | 2.66   | 6 90   | 178 272  |
| 2017 | 71.54                  | 13.68        | 75.01 | 10.14      | 2.00   | 0.99   | 1/0,2/2  |

| 2018 | 97.72 | 1.64/1100/<br>13.57 | 93.34 | 1.64/100/<br>9.94  | 2.28 | 6.66 | 158,521 |
|------|-------|---------------------|-------|--------------------|------|------|---------|
| 2019 | 98.06 | 10.73/823/<br>13.11 | 93.65 | 10.73/100/<br>9.59 | 1.94 | 6.35 | 141,457 |

### **Results of Research Question 2: Finding Determinants of OET-NA**

The second research question was designed to identify the multi-level determinants influencing OET-NA in older women with breast cancer. Determinants were identified by using odds ratio analysis. To calculate the odds ratio, the OET-NA group (PDC <80%) and the OET adherent group (PDC  $\geq$ 80%) were divided by either having the condition (True for A Factor) and not having condition (False for A Factor) (Table 4.5).

Table 4.5.

Odds Ratio Example

| Patient counts      | True for A Factor | False for A Factor |
|---------------------|-------------------|--------------------|
| <b>OET-NA group</b> | 237               | 13,273             |
| OET adherent group  | 2,152             | 144,433            |

To interpretate an odds ratio, its value must be compared to 1: (a) if the odds ratio is greater than 1, the odds of the chosen factor (True for A Factor) were more likely to occur in the OET-NA group (positive association between the OET-NA and chosen factor); (b) if the odds ratio is less than 1, the odds of the chosen factor (True for A Factor) were less likely to occur in the OET-NA group (negative association between the OET-NA and chosen factor); and (c) if the odds ratio is equal to 1, the odds of NA were the same with or without the chosen factor (True for A Factor) to occur (no association between the OET-NA and chosen factor). For example, when the chosen factor is diabetes and the odds ratio is greater than 1, it

suggests that the odds of having diabetes were more likely to occur in the OET-NA group. This can be also interpreted that having diabetes is a positive determinant or risk factor for OET-NA.

#### **Patient-Related Factors**

Among patient-related factors described in previous chapters, race/ethnicity data and psychological data were analyzed here. Multivariate binary logistic regression analysis was conducted to calculate the Adjusted OR (AOR) of the 141,457 patient samples for ethnicity in the SEER Cancer database (Table 4.6) and available samples for psychological symptoms, cognitive issues, and psychological diseases are avialable (Figure 4.2, 4.3, 4.5 and 4.6). Those with White ethnicity and no psychological conditions were selected as a reference group, due to the significant amount of data points, allowing the investigation of different patient-related factors on OET-NA. From this analysis, Black (AOR 1.51; 95% CI 1.43-1.60; p <0.001) and American Indian/Alaska Native (AOR 1.42; 95% CI 1.06-1.91; p <0.001) ethnic groups were identified as more likely to have OET-NA than other ethnic groups (Table 4.6). Having psychological symptoms such as anxiety (AOR 1.15; 95% CI 1.08-1.23; p <0.001) and depression (AOR 1.49; 95% CI 1.39-1.59; p <0.001) were identified as determinants (Table 4.7). In other words, patients with anxiety were 21% more likely to be OET-NA while patients with depression were 48% more likely to be OET-NA. Moreover, Alzheimer's disease (AOR 1.76; 95% CI 1.63-1.89; p < 0.001) was associated with greater OET-NA among breast cancer patients than other cognitive issues (Table 4.8). Interestingly, ADHD (AOR 1.65; 95% CI 1.17-2.32; p < 0.001) was the strongest determinant of OET-NA among other psychological diseases (Table 4.9). All other psychological diseases were positively associated with OET-NA. Also, mobility impairment (AOR 1.61; 95% CI 1.371.88; p <0.001) was identified as a determinant of OET-NA, but hearing and visual sensory impairments were not statistically significant (Table 4.10).

Table 4.6.

Patient-Related: Ethnicity Logistic Regression Results

|                                     | -                    | Univariat          | e Analysi          | s       | Multivariate Analysis |                    |                    |         |
|-------------------------------------|----------------------|--------------------|--------------------|---------|-----------------------|--------------------|--------------------|---------|
| Factors                             | Unadju<br>sted<br>OR | Lower<br>95%<br>CI | Upper<br>95%<br>CI | p-value | Adjust<br>ed<br>OR    | Lower<br>95%<br>CI | Upper<br>95%<br>CI | p-value |
| White                               | 0.8                  | 0.77               | 0.84               | < 0.001 | -                     | -                  | -                  | -       |
| Black                               | 1.52                 | 1.44               | 1.61               | < 0.001 | 1.51                  | 1.43               | 1.6                | < 0.001 |
| American<br>Indian/Alaska<br>Native | 1.37                 | 1.02               | 1.84               | 0.04    | 1.42                  | 1.06               | 1.91               | 0.02    |
| Asian or Pacific<br>Islander        | 0.79                 | 0.73               | 0.87               | < 0.001 | 0.83                  | 0.76               | 0.91               | <0.001  |

Figure 4.3.

Patient-Related: Ethnicity Logistic Regression Results

| Field Name                    | Ν     |   |     |   | OR(95% CI)        | p-value |
|-------------------------------|-------|---|-----|---|-------------------|---------|
| Ethnicity                     |       |   |     |   |                   |         |
| Black                         | 13852 |   |     |   | 1.51 (1.43, 1.60) | <0.001  |
| American Indian/Alaska Native | 459   | I |     |   | 1.42 (1.06, 1.91) | 0.019   |
| Asian or Pacific Islander     | 8238  |   |     |   | 0.83 (0.76, 0.91) | <0.001  |
|                               |       |   | 1   |   |                   |         |
|                               |       | 1 | 1.5 | 2 |                   |         |

Table 4.7.

Patient-Related: Psychological Symptoms Logistic Regression Results

| Univariate Analysis | Multivariate Analysis |
|---------------------|-----------------------|
|---------------------|-----------------------|

| Factors           | Unadju<br>sted | Lower<br>95% | Upper<br>95% | p-value | Adjust<br>ed | Lower<br>95% | Upper<br>95% | p-value |
|-------------------|----------------|--------------|--------------|---------|--------------|--------------|--------------|---------|
|                   | OR             | CI           | CI           |         | OR           | CI           | CI           |         |
| Anxiety (Y)       | 1.29           | 1.22         | 1.36         | < 0.001 | 1.15         | 1.08         | 1.23         | < 0.001 |
| Anxiety (N)       | 0.88           | 0.84         | 0.91         | < 0.001 | -            | -            | -            | -       |
| Depression<br>(Y) | 1.5            | 1.42         | 1.58         | < 0.001 | 1.49         | 1.39         | 1.59         | < 0.001 |
| Depression<br>(N) | 0.83           | 0.79         | 0.86         | < 0.001 | -            | -            | -            | -       |

Figure 4.4.

Patient-Related: Psychological Symptoms Logistic Regression Results

| Field Name             | Ν     |   |     |     |     |     |     |     | OR(95% CI)        | p-value |
|------------------------|-------|---|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-------------------|---------|
| Psychological Symptoms |       |   |     |     |     |     |     |     |                   |         |
| Anxiety                | 17273 |   |     |     |     |     |     |     | 1.15 (1.08, 1.23) | <0.001  |
| Depression             | 16408 |   |     |     |     |     |     |     | 1.49 (1.39, 1.59) | < 0.001 |
|                        |       |   |     |     |     |     |     |     |                   |         |
|                        |       | 1 | 1.1 | 1.2 | 1.3 | 1.4 | 1.5 | 1.6 |                   |         |

Table 4.8.

# Patient-Related: Cognitive Issues Logistic Regression Results

|             |                | Univariat    | e Analysis |         | Multivariate Analysis |              |               |         |
|-------------|----------------|--------------|------------|---------|-----------------------|--------------|---------------|---------|
| Factors     | Unadju<br>sted | Lower<br>95% | Upper      | p-      | Adjusted              | Lower<br>95% | Uppe<br>r 95% | p-      |
|             | OR             | CI           | 9370 CI    | value   | OK                    | CI           | CI            | value   |
| Alzheimer's |                |              |            |         |                       |              |               |         |
| (dementia)  | 1.73           | 1.63         | 1.84       | < 0.001 | 1.76                  | 1.63         | 1.89          | < 0.001 |
| Disease (Y) |                |              |            |         |                       |              |               |         |
| Alzheimer's |                |              |            |         |                       |              |               |         |
| (dementia)  | 0.85           | 0.82         | 0.88       | < 0.001 | -                     | -            | -             | -       |
| Disease (N) |                |              |            |         |                       |              |               |         |
| Brain       | 1.02           | 1.20         | 2.56       | <0.001  | 1 5 2                 | 1.06         | 2.2           | 0.02    |
| Damage (Y)  | 1.62           | 1.29         | 2.36       | <0.001  | 1.55                  | 1.00         | 2.2           | 0.02    |
| Brain       | 0.96           | 0.93         | 1          | 0.05    | -                     | -            | -             | -       |

| Damage (N)   |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
|--------------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| Intellectual |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
| Disabilities | 0.76 | 0.44 | 1.3  | 0.31 | 0.54 | 0.29 | 1    | 0.05 |
| (Y)          |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
| Intellectual |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
| Disabilities | 0.97 | 0.93 | 1.01 | 0.10 | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| (N)          |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
| Learning     |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
| Disabilities | 2.07 | 1.23 | 3.47 | 0.01 | 1.63 | 0.9  | 2.96 | 0.11 |
| (Y)          |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
| Learning     |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
| Disabilities | 0.97 | 0.93 | 1    | 0.07 | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| (N)          |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |

Figure 4.5.

# Patient-Related: Cognitive Logistic Regression Results

| Field Name                     | Ν    |                 | OR(95% CI)        | p-value |
|--------------------------------|------|-----------------|-------------------|---------|
| Cognitive Issues               |      |                 |                   |         |
| Alzheimer's (dementia) Disease | 9953 | ⊢∎⊣             | 1.76 (1.63, 1.89) | <0.001  |
| Brain Damage                   | 272  |                 | 1.53 (1.06, 2.20) | 0.024   |
| Intellectual Disabilities      | 221  |                 | 0.54 (0.29, 1.00) | 0.05    |
| Learning Disabilities          | 109  | <b>—</b>        | 1.63 (0.90, 2.96) | 0.109   |
|                                |      |                 |                   |         |
|                                |      | 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 | 5 3               |         |

# Table 4.9.

# Patient-Related: Psychological Diseases Logistic Regression Results

|          | τ                 | Univariate      | Analysis     |         | М            | [ultivariat  | e Analysi    | S           |
|----------|-------------------|-----------------|--------------|---------|--------------|--------------|--------------|-------------|
| Factors  | Unadjust<br>ed OR | Lower<br>95% CI | Upper<br>95% | p-value | Adjuste<br>d | Lower<br>95% | Upper<br>95% | p-<br>value |
|          |                   |                 | CI           |         | OR           | CI           | Cl           |             |
| ADHD and |                   |                 |              |         |              |              |              |             |
| Other    |                   |                 |              |         |              |              |              |             |
| Conduct  | 2.11              | 1.55            | 2.87         | < 0.001 | 1.65         | 1.17         | 2.32         | < 0.01      |
| Disorder |                   |                 |              |         |              |              |              |             |
| (Y)      |                   |                 |              |         |              |              |              |             |

| ADHD and       |              |      |         |         |      |      |      |         |
|----------------|--------------|------|---------|---------|------|------|------|---------|
| Other          |              |      |         |         |      |      |      |         |
| Conduct        | 0.96         | 0.92 | 1       | 0.04    | -    | -    | -    | -       |
| Disorder       |              |      |         |         |      |      |      |         |
| (N)            |              |      |         |         |      |      |      |         |
| Bipolar        |              |      |         |         |      |      |      |         |
| Disorder       | 1.79         | 1.56 | 2.05    | < 0.001 | 1.54 | 1.31 | 1.8  | < 0.001 |
| (Y)            |              |      |         |         |      |      |      |         |
| Bipolar        |              |      |         |         |      |      |      |         |
| Disorder       | 0.94         | 0.9  | 0.98    | < 0.01  | -    | -    | -    | -       |
| (N)            |              |      |         |         |      |      |      |         |
| Personality    |              |      |         |         |      |      |      |         |
| Disorders      | 1.5          | 1.25 | 1.81    | < 0.001 | 1.42 | 1.16 | 1.74 | < 0.001 |
| (Y)            |              |      |         |         |      |      |      |         |
| Personality    | 0 0 <b>-</b> |      | 0.00    |         |      |      |      |         |
| Disorders      | 0.95         | 0.92 | 0.99    | 0.02    | -    | -    | -    | -       |
| (N)            | 4.0.         |      | • • • • | 0.001   |      |      |      |         |
| PTSD (Y)       | 1.85         | 1.38 | 2.48    | < 0.001 | 1.5  | 1.07 | 2.11 | 0.02    |
| PTSD (N)       | 0.96         | 0.93 | 1       | 0.04    | -    | -    | -    | -       |
| Schizophre     |              |      |         |         |      |      |      |         |
| nia and        | 1.00         |      | • • •   | 0.001   |      |      |      | 0.001   |
| Related        | 1.88         | 1.61 | 2.18    | < 0.001 | 1.54 | 1.29 | 1.85 | < 0.001 |
| Conditions     |              |      |         |         |      |      |      |         |
| $(\mathbf{Y})$ |              |      |         |         |      |      |      |         |
| Schizophre     |              |      |         |         |      |      |      |         |
| nia and        | 0.04         | 0.01 | 0.00    | <0.01   |      |      |      |         |
| Conditiona     | 0.94         | 0.91 | 0.98    | <0.01   | -    | -    | -    | -       |
| (NI)           |              |      |         |         |      |      |      |         |
| (1)            |              |      |         |         |      |      |      |         |

# Figure 4.6.

Patient-Related: Psychological Diseases Logistic Regression Results

| Field Name                           | Ν    |  | OR(95% CI)        | p-value |
|--------------------------------------|------|--|-------------------|---------|
| Psychological Diseases               |      |  |                   |         |
| ADHD and Other Conduct Disorder      | 303  | <b>—</b> ——————————————————————————————————— | 1.65 (1.17, 2.32) | 0.004   |
| Bipolar Disorder                     | 1820 | <b>⊢</b>                                     | 1.54 (1.31, 1.80) | <0.001  |
| Personality Disorders                | 1076 | <b>⊢</b> I                                   | 1.42 (1.16, 1.74) | <0.001  |
| PTSD                                 | 367  | ·  | 1.50 (1.07, 2.11) | 0.018   |
| Schizophrenia and Related Conditions | 1387 |  | 1.54 (1.29, 1.85) | <0.001  |
|                                      |      | 1 1.5 2 2.5                                  |                   |         |

Table 4.10.

| <i>Patient-Related:</i> | Decreased | ' Sensory/Motor | r Skills Logisti | c Regressi | ion Results |
|-------------------------|-----------|-----------------|------------------|------------|-------------|
|                         |           | ~               | 0                | 0          |             |

|                               | U                 | Jnivariate      | Analysis        | Multivariate Analysis |                    |                    |                    |         |
|-------------------------------|-------------------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------|---------|
| Factors                       | Unadjuste<br>d OR | Lower<br>95% CI | Upper<br>95% CI | p-<br>value           | Adjust<br>ed<br>OR | Lower<br>95%<br>CI | Upper<br>95%<br>CI | p-value |
| Hearing<br>Impairmen<br>t (Y) | 1.14              | 1.04            | 1.24            | 0.01                  | 1.16               | 1.06               | 1.28               | <0.01   |
| Hearing<br>Impairmen<br>t (N) | 0.95              | 0.91            | 0.98            | 0.01                  | -                  | -                  | -                  | -       |
| Mobility<br>impairment<br>(Y) | 1.62              | 1.41            | 1.87            | <0.001                | 1.61               | 1.37               | 1.88               | <0.001  |
| Mobility<br>impairment<br>(N) | 0.94              | 0.91            | 0.98            | <0.01                 | -                  | -                  | -                  | -       |
| Visual<br>impairment<br>(Y)   | 1.64              | 1.16            | 2.33            | 0.01                  | 1.57               | 1.08               | 2.3                | 0.02    |
| Visual<br>impairment<br>(N)   | 0.96              | 0.93            | 1               | 0.054                 | -                  | -                  | -                  | -       |

Figure 4.7.

Patient-Related: Decreased Sensory/Motor Skills Logistic Regression Results

| Field Name                    | Ν    |   |     |   |     | OR(95% CI)        | p-value |
|-------------------------------|------|---|-----|---|-----|-------------------|---------|
| Decreased Sensor/Motor Skills | 3    |   |     |   |     |                   |         |
| Hearing Impairment            | 6176 |   |     |   |     | 1.16 (1.06, 1.28) | 0.002   |
| Mobility impairment           | 1800 |   |     |   |     | 1.61 (1.37, 1.88) | <0.001  |
| Visual impairment             | 281  | · |     |   |     | 1.57 (1.08, 2.30) | 0.019   |
|                               |      |   | I   | I |     |                   |         |
|                               |      | 1 | 1.5 | 2 | 2.5 |                   |         |

All patient-related variables were able to be analyzed together (Figure 4.6). Most patient-related factors (psychological symptoms, psychological diseases, cognitive issues, decreased sensory/motor skills) were positively associated with OET-NA except learning disability. However, still having Alzheimer, ADHD, and mobility impairment were strongest OET-NA factor as our previous each univariate and multivariate results.

#### Figure 4.8.

#### Patient-Related Factor Multivariate Regression Results

| Field Name                           | Ν     |                 | OR(95% CI)        | p-value |
|--------------------------------------|-------|-----------------|-------------------|---------|
| Cognitive Issues                     |       |                 |                   |         |
| Learning Disabilities                | 109   | <b>—</b>        | 1.38 (0.76, 2.52) | 0.295   |
| Intellectual Disabilities            | 221   | ⊢ <b>_</b>      | 0.47 (0.25, 0.87) | 0.017   |
| Brain Damage                         | 272   |                 | 1.40 (0.97, 2.02) | 0.076   |
| Alzheimer's (dementia) Disease       | 9953  | ⊢∎⊣             | 1.49 (1.38, 1.62) | < 0.001 |
| Decreased Sensor/Motor Skills        |       |                 |                   |         |
| Hearing Impairment                   | 6176  | <b>⊢</b> ∎1     | 1.12 (1.02, 1.24) | 0.021   |
| Mobility impairment                  | 1800  |                 | 1.24 (1.05, 1.45) | 0.011   |
| Visual impairment                    | 281   | <b>I</b>        | 1.30 (0.88, 1.90) | 0.182   |
| Ethnicity                            |       |                 |                   |         |
| Asian or Pacific Islander            | 8238  | ⊢ <b>∎</b> →    | 0.87 (0.74, 1.02) | 0.076   |
| American Indian/Alaska Native        | 459   | <b>—</b>        | 1.32 (0.85, 2.06) | 0.217   |
| Black                                | 13852 | <b>⊢−</b> −i    | 1.57 (1.42, 1.74) | <0.001  |
| Psychological Diseases               |       |                 |                   |         |
| ADHD and Other Conduct Disorder      | 303   | ·               | 1.46 (1.03, 2.07) | 0.035   |
| Bipolar Disorder                     | 1820  | <b>⊢−</b> ■−−−1 | 1.25 (1.06, 1.47) | 0.008   |
| Personality Disorders                | 1076  | h               | 1.12 (0.91, 1.38) | 0.288   |
| PTSD                                 | 367   | h               | 1.36 (0.96, 1.94) | 0.082   |
| Schizophrenia and Related Conditions | 1387  | ⊨ <b></b>       | 1.13 (0.93, 1.36) | 0.218   |
| Psychological Symptoms               |       |                 |                   |         |
| Anxiety                              | 17273 |                 | 1.08 (1.01, 1.16) | 0.03    |
| Depression                           | 16408 |                 | 1.33 (1.24, 1.43) | <0.001  |
|                                      |       | 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 |                   |         |

### **Socioeconomic-Related Factors**

Among socioeconomic-related factors identified in the previous chapters, social and environmental factors such as marriage, lifestyle, and living status are analyzed here. AOR was calculated based on the 81,440 samples indexing patient's marital status in the SEER Cancer database (Table 4.11) using the binary logistic regression analysis. Other available samples were described on each figure (Figure 4.7, 4.8, 4.9, and 4.10). The sample size for marital status was relatively small due to the large number of missing data from the Medicare database. The AOR analysis eliminated all patients who did not have marital status data. Thus, due to its small sample size, marital status results cannot be generalized to the Medicare Part D patient population. Reference groups are selected as follows: (a) the married living in metropolitan areas and (b) no psychological conditions. These reference variables were selected due to the significant amount of data points, allowing the investigation of different patient-related factors on OET-NA. In univariate analysis, the not-married factor (Single, Separated, and Divorced) was a determinant of OET-NA; however, multivariate analysis showed all the data were statistically insignificant to conclude this result (Table 4.11). Interestingly, all lifestyle factors were positively correlated with OET-NA. Opioid (AOR 1.94; 95% CI 1.55-2.44; p <0.001) and alcohol usage (AOR 1.71; 95% CI 1.37-2.14; p <0.001), 94% and 71%, respectively, were more likely to be present in OET-NA groups compared to adherent patients (Table 4.12). Patients' living status, whether urban or rural, were not statistically significantly correlated with OET-NA (Table 4.13).

Table 4.11.

|                              | τ                 | Univariate Analysis |                    |         |                    |                    | Multivariate Analysis |         |  |  |  |
|------------------------------|-------------------|---------------------|--------------------|---------|--------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|---------|--|--|--|
| Factors                      | Unadjust<br>ed OR | Lower<br>95%<br>CI  | Upper<br>95%<br>CI | p-value | Adjust<br>ed<br>OR | Lower<br>95%<br>CI | Upper<br>95%<br>CI    | p-value |  |  |  |
| Single<br>(never<br>married) | 1.2               | 1.11                | 1.3                | <0.001  | 1.3                | 1.2                | 1.41                  | <0.001  |  |  |  |
| Married)                     | 0.82              | 0.78                | 0.86               | < 0.001 | -                  | -                  | -                     | -       |  |  |  |
| Separated                    | 1.3               | 0.99                | 1.7                | 0.06    | 1.46               | 1.11               | 1.91                  | 0.01    |  |  |  |
| Divorced                     | 1.17              | 1.08                | 1.25               | < 0.001 | 1.27               | 1.17               | 1.37                  | < 0.001 |  |  |  |
| Widowed                      | 1.06              | 1                   | 1.12               | 0.06    | 1.16               | 1.09               | 1.23                  | < 0.001 |  |  |  |

Social-Related: Marital Status Logistic Regression Results

# Figure 4.9.

# Social-Related: Marital Status Logistic Regression Results



## Table 4.12.

Social-Related: Lifestyle Status Logistic Regression Results

|                              | τ                 | Univariate         | Analysis           |         | Multivariate Analysis |                    |                        |         |  |
|------------------------------|-------------------|--------------------|--------------------|---------|-----------------------|--------------------|------------------------|---------|--|
| Factors                      | Unadjus<br>ted OR | Lower<br>95%<br>CI | Upper<br>95%<br>CI | p-value | Adjusted<br>OR        | Lower<br>95%<br>CI | Upp<br>er<br>95%<br>CI | p-value |  |
| Alcohol use<br>(Y)           | 1.85              | 1.51               | 2.27               | < 0.001 | 1.71                  | 1.37               | 2.14                   | < 0.001 |  |
| Alcohol use<br>(N)           | 0.95              | 0.92               | 0.99               | 0.01    | -                     | -                  | -                      | -       |  |
| Drug use<br>(Y)              | 1.59              | 1.37               | 1.85               | < 0.001 | 0.94                  | 0.76               | 1.17                   | 0.57    |  |
| Drug use<br>(N)              | 0.95              | 0.91               | 0.99               | 0.01    | -                     | -                  | -                      | -       |  |
| Opioid drug<br>use (Y)       | 1.96              | 1.68               | 2.3                | < 0.001 | 1.94                  | 1.55               | 2.44                   | < 0.001 |  |
| Opioid drug<br>use (N)       | 0.94              | 0.91               | 0.98               | 0.00    | -                     | -                  | -                      | -       |  |
| Opioid use<br>for MAT<br>(Y) | 2.7               | 1.79               | 4.08               | < 0.001 | 0.85                  | 0.43               | 1.72                   | 0.66    |  |
| Opioid use<br>for MAT<br>(N) | 0.97              | 0.93               | 1                  | 0.08    | -                     | -                  | -                      | -       |  |
| Tobacco use<br>(Y)           | 1.49              | 1.36               | 1.64               | < 0.001 | 1.43                  | 1.29               | 1.6                    | <0.001  |  |

| (N) 0.55 0.65 0.56 <0.001 | Tobacco use<br>(N) | 0.93 | 0.89 | 0.96 | < 0.001 | - | - | - | - |
|---------------------------|--------------------|------|------|------|---------|---|---|---|---|
|---------------------------|--------------------|------|------|------|---------|---|---|---|---|

\* MAT = Medication-Assisted Treatment

Figure 4.10.

Social-Related: Lifestyle Status Logistic Regression Results

| Field Name         | Ν    |     |   |                |   |     | OR(95% CI)        | p-value |
|--------------------|------|-----|---|----------------|---|-----|-------------------|---------|
| Lifestyle Status   |      |     |   |                |   |     |                   |         |
| Alcohol use        | 776  |     |   |                |   |     | 1.71 (1.37, 2.14) | < 0.001 |
| Drug use           | 1541 |     |   |                |   |     | 0.94 (0.76, 1.17) | 0.569   |
| Opioid drug use    | 1225 |     |   |                | - |     | 1.94 (1.55, 2.44) | < 0.001 |
| Opioid use for MAT | 144  |     | - |                |   |     | 0.85 (0.43, 1.72) | 0.659   |
| Tobacco use        | 4486 |     |   | ⊢ <b>−</b> −−− |   |     | 1.43 (1.29, 1.60) | < 0.001 |
|                    |      |     |   |                |   |     |                   |         |
|                    |      | 0.5 | 1 | 1.5            | 2 | 2.5 |                   |         |

Table 4.13.

Environmental-Related: Living Status Logistic Regression Results

|                          | U                 | Multivariate Analysis |                 |             |                    |                 |                    |             |
|--------------------------|-------------------|-----------------------|-----------------|-------------|--------------------|-----------------|--------------------|-------------|
| Factors                  | Unadjust<br>ed OR | Lower<br>95% CI       | Upper<br>95% CI | p-<br>value | Adjuste<br>d<br>OR | Lower<br>95% CI | Upper<br>95%<br>CI | p-<br>value |
| Metro area               | 0.96              | 0.91                  | 1.02            | 0.20        | -                  | -               | -                  | -           |
| Urban area               | 1.05              | 0.99                  | 1.12            | 0.11        | 1.05               | 0.99            | 1.12               | 0.111       |
| Completely<br>Rural area | 0.92              | 0.76                  | 1.12            | 0.40        | 0.93               | 0.76            | 1.12               | 0.44        |

### Figure 4.11.

## Environmental-Related: Living Status Logistic Regression Results



All socioeconomic-related variables were able to be analyzed together (Figure 4.10). Factors identified in previous analysis (Figure 4.7-9) appeared once again. (a) Living in rural areas, (b) using alcohol, drugs, and tobacco, (c) and unmarried status were all positively associated with OET-NA. This analysis still showed the same trends of previous univariate and multivariate analysis.

## Figure 4.12.

### Socioeconomic-Related Logistic Regression Results

| Field Name             | Ν     |   |                 | <b>OR(95% CI)</b> | p-value |
|------------------------|-------|---|-----------------|-------------------|---------|
| Lifestyle Status       |       |   |                 |                   |         |
| Alcohol use            | 776   |   | <b>—</b>        | 1.67 (1.24, 2.26) | <0.001  |
| Drug use               | 1541  |   | <b>⊢</b>        | 0.96 (0.72, 1.26) | 0.757   |
| Opioid drug use        | 1225  |   | <b>—</b> ———    | 1.85 (1.37, 2.48) | <0.001  |
| Opioid use for MAT     | 144   |   |                 | 0.61 (0.21, 1.76) | 0.357   |
| Tobacco use            | 4486  |   | <b>⊢</b>        | 1.48 (1.29, 1.70) | < 0.001 |
| Living Status          |       |   |                 |                   |         |
| Urban area             | 14668 |   | H <b>-</b>      | 0.99 (0.90, 1.10) | 0.906   |
| Completely Rural area  | 1495  |   | ⊢ <b>⊢</b> I    | 1.00 (0.76, 1.31) | 0.996   |
| Marrital Status        |       |   |                 |                   |         |
| Single (never married) | 9104  |   | i∎i             | 1.22 (1.08, 1.38) | < 0.001 |
| Separated              | 572   |   |                 | 1.54 (1.01, 2.35) | 0.044   |
| Divorced               | 9923  |   | ⊢ <b>−</b> −−1  | 1.28 (1.14, 1.44) | <0.001  |
| Widowed                | 19487 |   |                 | 1.12 (1.02, 1.22) | 0.013   |
|                        |       |   |                 |                   |         |
|                        |       | 0 | 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 |                   |         |

#### **Therapy-Related Factors**

With respect to therapy-related factors, data describing medication regimens, therapy combinations, and switching regimens were retrieved. 207,618 patients' medication regimen was pulled from the SEER cancer database without any discrepancies in the PDESAF database (Table 4.14); however, therapy combinations (systemic, surgical, radiation) were only available in 85,845 of 141,457 patients in the SEER Cancer database (Table 4.15). AOR was calculated among patients who shared therapy types. Three other variables were assigned as reference for each category of multivariate analysis: having systemic therapy after surgery, radiation after surgery, and no drug therapy problems respectively (Table 4.14, and 4.15). These variables represent the most common course of therapy that the majority of patients were taking. The strongest determinant of OET-NA was a switched medication regimen (AOR 2.65; 95% CI 2.45-2.87; p < 0.001) (Table 4.14). Patients having systemic chemo before surgical therapy were 19% more likely to have OET-NA (AOR 1.19; 95% CI 1.01-1.39; p <0.001) when compared to other systemic/surgical therapy combinations. Patients having radiation combination therapy were 100% more likely to have OET-NA (AOR 2.00; 95% CI 1.27-3.14; p =0.003) when compared to other radiation/surgical therapy combinations (Table 4.14). In univariate analysis, there was a positive effect on OET-NA when patients experience a drug therapy problem (DTP), which is a variable describing the number of drug therapy problem resolutions with prescribers resulting from recommendations made to patient's prescriber(s). In other words, DTP counts explain the number of drug problems patients previously experienced. Specifically, if a patient had more than four DTP (AOR 1.96; 95% CI 0.81-4.74; p =0.134), they were more likely to be nonadherent, but this result was statistically not significant (Table 4.15).

# Table 4.14.

# Therapy-Related: Medication Regimens and Therapy Combinations Logistic Regression

# Results

|                | Ţ                 | Univariate | Analysi | s       | Multivariate Analysis |       |       |         |
|----------------|-------------------|------------|---------|---------|-----------------------|-------|-------|---------|
|                | Unadju            | Lower      | Upper   |         | Adjusted              | Lower | Upper |         |
| Factors        | sted              | 95%        | 95%     | p-value | Adjusted              | 95%   | 95%   | p-value |
|                | OR                | CI         | CI      |         | OK                    | CI    | CI    |         |
| Medication Re  | egimen            |            |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| OET            |                   |            |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| medication     | 2.58              | 2.42       | 2.74    | < 0.001 | 2.65                  | 2.45  | 2.87  | < 0.001 |
| switched (Y)   |                   |            |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| OET            |                   |            |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| medication     | 0.39              | 0.36       | 0.41    | < 0.001 | -                     | -     | -     | -       |
| switched (N)   |                   |            |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| Systemic and S | Surgical <b>T</b> | Therapy    |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| No systemic    |                   |            |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| chemo and/or   | 1.11              | 1.05       | 1.18    | < 0.001 | 1.14                  | 1.08  | 1.22  | < 0.001 |
| surgical       |                   | 1100       |         | 0.001   |                       | 1.00  | 1.22  | 0.001   |
| therapy        |                   |            |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| Systemic       |                   |            |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| therapy        | 1.17              | 1          | 1.37    | 0.05    | 1.19                  | 1.01  | 1.4   | 0.04    |
| before         | ,                 | -          |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| surgery        |                   |            |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| Systemic       |                   |            |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| therapy after  | 0.88              | 0.83       | 0.92    | < 0.001 | -                     | -     | -     | -       |
| surgery        |                   |            |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| Systemic       |                   |            |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| therapy both   | 1.11              | 0.97       | 1.27    | 0.13    | 1.13                  | 0.98  | 1.3   | 0.09    |
| before and     |                   |            |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| after surgery  |                   |            |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| Intraoperative | 0.00              | 0.00       | 4 1 4   | 0.07    | 0.00                  | 0.00  | 4.2.4 | 0.00    |
| systemic       | 0.98              | 0.23       | 4.14    | 0.9/    | 0.99                  | 0.23  | 4.24  | 0.99    |
| therapy        |                   |            |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| Intraoperative |                   |            |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| systemic       | 0.66              | 0.16       | 2.75    | 0.57    | 0.66                  | 0.16  | 2.76  | 0.57    |
| therapy with   |                   |            |         |         |                       |       |       |         |
| other therapy  |                   |            |         |         |                       |       |       |         |

| Surgery both<br>before and<br>after systemic<br>therapy                           | 1.18     | 0.9     | 1.56 | 0.23    | 1.22 | 0.92 | 1.6  | 0.17   |
|---|----------|---------|------|---------|------|------|------|--------|
| Sequence<br>unknown, but<br>both surgery<br>and systemic<br>therapy were<br>given | 1.04     | 0.37    | 2.91 | 0.93    | 1.05 | 0.37 | 2.95 | 0.93   |
| Radiation and   | Surgical | Therapy |      |         |      |      |      |        |
| No radiation<br>and /or<br>surgery<br>Padiation                                   | 1.02     | 0.97    | 1.07 | 0.35    | -    | -    | -    | -      |
| before<br>surgery   | 2.12     | 1.36    | 3.31 | < 0.001 | 2.00 | 1.34 | 3.14 | < 0.01 |
| Radiation<br>after surgery  | 0.97     | 0.93    | 1.02 | 0.3     | 1.02 | 0.96 | 1.07 | 0.55   |
| both before<br>and after<br>surgery   | 1.01     | 0.46    | 2.18 | 0.98    | 0.98 | 0.45 | 2.14 | 0.97   |
| Intraoperative<br>radiation   | 1.02     | 0.79    | 1.3  | 0.90    | 1.03 | 0.8  | 1.33 | 0.80   |
| Intraoperative<br>radiation with<br>other<br>radiation<br>given                   | 0.64     | 0.34    | 1.22 | 0.18    | 0.68 | 0.36 | 1.3  | 0.25   |
| Sequence<br>unknown, but<br>both surgery<br>and radiation<br>were given           | 0.33     | 0.05    | 2.41 | 0.28    | 0.34 | 0.05 | 2.46 | 0.28   |

# Figure 4.13.

# Therapy-Related: Medication Regimens and Therapy Combinations Logistic Regression

## Results

| Field Name  | Ν     |              | <b>OR(95% CI)</b> | p-value |
|---|-------|--------------|-------------------|---------|
| Medication Regimen                                  |       |              |                   |         |
| OET medication switched                             | 7607  | •            | 2.65 (2.45, 2.87) | <0.001  |
| Radiation & Surgical Therapy                        |       |              |                   |         |
| Radiation before surgery                            | 145   | · <b>-</b> i | 2.00 (1.27, 3.14) | 0.003   |
| Radiation after surgery                             | 42154 | •            | 1.02 (0.96, 1.07) | 0.549   |
| Radiation both before and after surgery             | 85    |              | 0.98 (0.45, 2.14) | 0.968   |
| Intraoperative radiation                            | 832   |              | 1.03 (0.80, 1.33) | 0.794   |
| Intraoperative radiation with other radiation given | 185   | H            | 0.68 (0.36, 1.30) | 0.243   |
| Sequence unknown, surgery & radiation given         | 35    | H <b></b>    | 0.34 (0.05, 2.46) | 0.284   |
| Systemic & Surgical Therapy                         |       |              |                   |         |
| No systemic chemo and/or surgical therapy           | 21613 | -            | 1.14 (1.08, 1.22) | < 0.001 |
| Systemic therapy before surgery                     | 1870  | -            | 1.19 (1.01, 1.39) | 0.035   |
| Systemic therapy both before and after surgery      | 2605  | •            | 1.13 (0.98, 1.30) | 0.085   |
| Intraoperative systemic therapy                     | 25    | ⊢ <b>−</b>   | 0.99 (0.23, 4.24) | 0.991   |
| Intraoperative systemic therapy with other therapy  | 36    |              | 0.66 (0.16, 2.76) | 0.57    |
| Surgery both before and after systemic therapy      | 599   | H <b>-</b>   | 1.21 (0.92, 1.60) | 0.17    |
| Sequence unknown, surgery & systemic therapy given  | 47    |              | 1.05 (0.37, 2.95) | 0.928   |
|   |       | 0 1 2 3 4    |                   |         |

# Table 4.15.

Therapy-Related: Number of Drug Therapy Problem Logistic Regression Results

|                      | Uı               | nivariate A     | Analysis        |             | Multivariate Analysis |                 |                    |             |
|----------------------|------------------|-----------------|-----------------|-------------|-----------------------|-----------------|--------------------|-------------|
| Factors              | Unadjusted<br>OR | Lower<br>95% CI | Upper<br>95% CI | p-<br>value | Adjuste<br>d<br>OR    | Lower<br>95% CI | Upper<br>95%<br>CI | p-<br>value |
| No Drug              |                  |                 |                 |             |                       |                 |                    |             |
| Therapy              | 0.92             | 0.76            | 1.12            | 0.41        | -                     | -               | -                  | -           |
| problem              |                  |                 |                 |             |                       |                 |                    |             |
| 1 <sup>st</sup> Drug |                  |                 |                 |             |                       |                 |                    |             |
| Therapy              | 0.99             | 0.78            | 1.25            | 0.91        | 1.0                   | 0.79            | 1.26               | 0.98        |
| problem              |                  |                 |                 |             |                       |                 |                    |             |
| 2 <sup>nd</sup> Drug |                  |                 |                 |             |                       |                 |                    |             |
| Therapy              | 1.25             | 0.84            | 1.87            | 0.27        | 1.26                  | 0.8             | 1.99               | 0.31        |
| problem              |                  |                 |                 |             |                       |                 |                    |             |
| 3 <sup>rd</sup> Drug | 1 42             | 0.75            | 2 69            | 0.28        | 1 44                  | 0 74            | 2.83               | 0.29        |
| Therapy              | 1.72             | 0.75            | 2.07            | 0.20        | 1.77                  | 0.74            | 2.05               | 0.27        |

| problem              |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
|----------------------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| 4 <sup>th</sup> Drug |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
| Therapy              | 1.95 | 0.81 | 4.71 | 0.14 | 1.85 | 0.75 | 4.57 | 0.18 |
| problem              |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |

Figure 4.14.

Therapy-Related: Number of Drug Therapy Problem Logistic Regression Results

| Field Name                      | Ν   |                         | <b>OR(95% CI)</b> | p-value |
|---------------------------------|-----|-------------------------|-------------------|---------|
| Number of Drug Therapy Problems |     |                         |                   |         |
| 1st DTP                         | 894 | H                       | 1.00 (0.79, 1.26) | 0.981   |
| 2nd DTP                         | 239 |                         | 1.26 (0.84, 1.88) | 0.258   |
| 3rd DTP                         | 84  | <b>⊢</b>                | 1.43 (0.76, 2.71) | 0.271   |
| 4th DTP                         | 35  | F                       | 1.96 (0.81, 4.74) | 0.134   |
|                                 |     |                         |                   |         |
|                                 |     | 1 1.5 2 2.5 3 3.5 4 4.5 |                   |         |

All therapy-related variables were able to be analyzed together (Figure 4.13). Only switching OET medication (Prescribed medication was changed) was positively associated with OET-NA. This analysis still showed the same trends of previous univariate and multivariate analysis except radiation therapy sequence due to small size of samples. From attenuating the variance effects of small samples with the entire therapy factor, I found that a higher number of DTP is associated with OET-NA that was not clearly presented in univariate or small multivariate analysis.

#### Figure 4.15.

#### Therapy-Related Factors: Multivariate Logistic Regression Results

| Field Name  | Ν     |              | <b>OR(95% CI)</b>  | p-value |
|---|-------|--------------|--------------------|---------|
| Medication Regimen                                  |       |              |                    |         |
| OET medication switched                             | 7607  | •            | 1.37 (0.93, 2.01)  | 0.11    |
| Number of Drug Therapy Problems                     |       |              |                    |         |
| 1st DTP   | 894   | •            | 0.97 (0.71, 1.33)  | 0.85    |
| 2nd DTP   | 239   | ÷            | 0.89 (0.46, 1.71)  | 0.729   |
| 3rd DTP   | 84    |              | 1.70 (0.71, 4.06)  | 0.235   |
| 4th DTP   | 35    | H <b>B</b> i | 2.94 (1.08, 8.02)  | 0.035   |
| Radiation & Surgical Therapy                        |       |              |                    |         |
| Radiation after surgery                             | 42154 | +            | 0.93 (0.77, 1.11)  | 0.409   |
| Intraoperative radiation                            | 832   | -1           | 0.88 (0.31, 2.46)  | 0.805   |
| Intraoperative radiation with other radiation given | 185   | •i           | 0.94 (0.12, 7.31)  | 0.952   |
| Radiation before surgery                            | 145   | H <b></b> I  | 2.79 (0.56, 13.83) | 0.208   |
| Systemic & Surgical Therapy                         |       |              |                    |         |
| Surgery both before and after systemic therapy      | 599   | -            | 1.26 (0.49, 3.20)  | 0.633   |
| Sequence unknown, surgery & systemic therapy given  | 47    |              | 3.89 (0.74, 20.35) | 0.108   |
| Systemic therapy both before and after surgery      | 2605  | •            | 1.31 (0.81, 2.11)  | 0.276   |
| Systemic therapy before surgery                     | 1870  | •            | 1.05 (0.60, 1.86)  | 0.858   |
| No systemic chemo and/or surgical therapy           | 21613 | -            | 1.18 (0.97, 1.44)  | 0.09    |
|   |       |              |                    |         |
|   |       | 0 5 101520   |                    |         |

## **Condition-Related Factors**

Among condition-related factors in the previous chapters, I was able to retrieve disease characteristics and comorbidity factors among breast cancer patients in 2019. I conducted multivariate binary logistic regression analysis to calculate AOR with 129, 746 patient samples for stage of cancer in the SEER Cancer database (Table 4.16). Other available samples were described on each figure (Figure 4.15 and 4.16). The Stage I group variable and having no conditions were selected as a reference group due to the significant amount of data points compared to having these conditions to investigate these factors' effects on OET-NA except two conditions. Specifically, hypertension and hyperlipidemia conditions used not having these conditions as references since the majority of patients (more than 60%) were in having these conditions. Having cancer Stage II (AOR 1.1; 95% CI 1.051.15; p <0.001) and Stage IV (AOR 1.38; 95% CI 1.21-1.58; p <0.001) were identified as determinants of OET-NA. Unfortunately, Stage III cancer data was not statistically significant and therefore could not be concluded in my analysis (Table 4.16).

Almost all comorbidities had a positive effect on OET-NA. Especially, having a hip fracture (AOR 2.21; 95% CI 1.79-2.72; p <0.001) and acute myocardial infarction (AMI) (AOR 1.38; 95% CI 1.06-1.80; p =0.016) are the strongest OET-NA determinants.

## Table 4.16.

Condition- Related: Disease Characteristics Logistic Regression Results

|           | U                 | nivariate .        |                    | Multivariate Analysis |                    |                 |                    |         |
|-----------|-------------------|--------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|--------------------|-----------------|--------------------|---------|
| Factors   | Unadjuste<br>d OR | Lower<br>95%<br>CI | Upper<br>95%<br>CI | p-value               | Adjust<br>ed<br>OR | Lower<br>95% CI | Upper<br>95%<br>CI | p-value |
| Stage I   | 0.92              | 0.88               | 0.96               | < 0.001               | -                  | -               | -                  | -       |
| Stage II  | 1.09              | 1.04               | 1.14               | < 0.001               | 1.1                | 1.05            | 1.15               | < 0.001 |
| Stage III | 1.03              | 0.93               | 1.14               | 0.60                  | 1.07               | 0.96            | 1.18               | 0.21    |
| Stage IV  | 1.37              | 1.2                | 1.56               | < 0.001               | 1.38               | 1.21            | 1.58               | < 0.001 |

Figure 4.16.

Condition- Related: Disease Characteristics Logistic Regression Results



# Table 4.17.

|  |                      | Univaria           | te Analysi      | s           | Multivariate Analysis |                    |                 |         |  |
|--|----------------------|--------------------|-----------------|-------------|-----------------------|--------------------|-----------------|---------|--|
| Factors  | Unadj<br>usted<br>OR | Lower<br>95%<br>CI | Upper<br>95% CI | p-<br>value | Adjuste<br>d<br>OR    | Lower<br>95%<br>CI | Upper<br>95% CI | p-value |  |
| AMI (Y)  | 2.04                 | 1.61               | 2.59            | < 0.001     | 1.38                  | 1.06               | 1.8             | 0.02    |  |
| AMI (N)  | 0.97                 | 0.93               | 1.01            | 0.11        | -                     | -                  | -               | -       |  |
| Anemia (Y)   | 1.33                 | 1.27               | 1.39            | < 0.001     | 1.15                  | 1.08               | 1.22            | < 0.001 |  |
| Anemia (N)   | 0.84                 | 0.8                | 0.87            | < 0.001     | -                     | -                  | -               | -       |  |
| Asthma (Y)   | 1.23                 | 1.13               | 1.35            | < 0.001     | 1.06                  | 0.96               | 1.17            | 0.25    |  |
| Asthma (N)   | 0.95                 | 0.92               | 0.99            | 0.01        | -                     | -                  | -               | -       |  |
| CHF (Y)  | 1.44                 | 1.36               | 1.53            | < 0.001     | 1.13                  | 1.04               | 1.22            | < 0.01  |  |
| CHF (N)  | 0.87                 | 0.83               | 0.9             | < 0.001     | -                     | -                  | -               | -       |  |
| COPD (Y)   | 1.44                 | 1.35               | 1.55            | < 0.001     | 1.2                   | 1.1                | 1.3             | < 0.001 |  |
| COPD (N)   | 0.9                  | 0.86               | 0.93            | < 0.001     | -                     | -                  | -               | -       |  |
| CKD (Y)  | 1.32                 | 1.26               | 1.39            | < 0.001     | 1.06                  | 0.99               | 1.14            | 0.09    |  |
| CKD (N)  | 0.86                 | 0.83               | 0.9             | < 0.001     | -                     | -                  | -               | -       |  |
| Diabetes (Y)                                       | 1.22                 | 1.17               | 1.28            | < 0.001     | 1.08                  | 1.01               | 1.15            | 0.03    |  |
| Diabetes (N)                                       | 0.88                 | 0.84               | 0.91            | < 0.001     | -                     | -                  | -               | -       |  |
| Epilepsy (Y)                                       | 1.79                 | 1.53               | 2.09            | < 0.001     | 1.52                  | 1.28               | 1.81            | < 0.001 |  |
| Epilepsy (N)                                       | 0.94                 | 0.91               | 0.98            | < 0.01      | -                     | -                  | -               | -       |  |
| Fibromyalgia<br>Chronic Pain<br>and Fatigue<br>(Y) | 1.26                 | 1.2                | 1.33            | <0.001      | 1.2                   | 1.13               | 1.28            | <0.001  |  |
| Fibromyalgia<br>Chronic Pain<br>and Fatigue<br>(N) | 0.86                 | 0.83               | 0.9             | <0.001      | -                     | -                  | -               | -       |  |
| Hepatitis<br>(Viral) (Y)                           | 1.29                 | 0.99               | 1.69            | 0.06        | 1.17                  | 0.88               | 1.57            | 0.28    |  |
| Hepatitis<br>(Viral) (N)                           | 0.96                 | 0.93               | 1               | 0.05        | -                     | -                  | -               | -       |  |
| Hip Fracture<br>(Y)                                | 2.83                 | 2.33               | 3.44            | < 0.001     | 2.21                  | 1.79               | 2.72            | < 0.001 |  |
| Hip Fracture                                       | 0.96                 | 0.92               | 0.99            | 0.02        | -                     | -                  | -               | -       |  |

Condition-Related: Comorbidity Logistic Regression Results

| (N)                                   |      |      |      |         |      |      |      |        |
|---------------------------------------|------|------|------|---------|------|------|------|--------|
| HIV/AIDS<br>(Y)                       | 0.31 | 0.04 | 2.26 | 0.25    | 0.4  | 0.05 | 2.98 | 0.37   |
| HIV/AIDS<br>(N)                       | 0.97 | 0.93 | 1.01 | 0.09    | -    | -    | -    | -      |
| Hyperlipidem<br>ia (Y)                | 1.02 | 0.98 | 1.06 | 0.32    | -    | -    | -    | -      |
| Hyperlipidem<br>ia (N)                | 0.97 | 0.93 | 1.02 | 0.27    | 1.09 | 1.03 | 1.17 | < 0.01 |
| Hypertension<br>(Y)                   | 1.09 | 1.04 | 1.13 | < 0.001 | -    | -    | -    | -      |
| Hypertension<br>(N)                   | 0.9  | 0.86 | 0.96 | < 0.001 | 1.08 | 1    | 1.15 | 0.04   |
| Hypothyroid<br>(Y)                    | 1.12 | 1.06 | 1.18 | < 0.001 | 1.04 | 0.98 | 1.11 | 0.21   |
| Hypothyroid<br>(N)                    | 0.94 | 0.9  | 0.98 | < 0.01  | -    | -    | -    | -      |
| Leukemia<br>and<br>lymphomas<br>(Y)   | 1.2  | 1.01 | 1.43 | 0.04    | 1.03 | 0.85 | 1.24 | 0.79   |
| Leukemia<br>and<br>lymphomas<br>(N)   | 0.96 | 0.93 | 1    | 0.05    | -    | -    | -    | -      |
| Liver<br>Diseases (Y)                 | 1.25 | 1.15 | 1.37 | < 0.001 | 1.12 | 1.01 | 1.24 | 0.03   |
| Liver<br>Diseases (N)<br>Migraine and | 0.94 | 0.9  | 0.97 | <0.001  | -    | -    | -    | -      |
| Other<br>Chronic<br>Headache<br>(Y)   | 1.3  | 1.15 | 1.47 | <0.001  | 1.2  | 1.05 | 1.38 | 0.01   |
| Migraine and<br>Other<br>Chronic      | 0.95 | 0.92 | 0 99 | 0.01    | _    | _    | _    | _      |
| Headache<br>(N)                       | 0.70 | 0.72 | 5.22 | 0.01    |      |      |      |        |
| Obesity (Y)                           | 1.18 | 1.12 | 1.24 | < 0.001 | 1.1  | 1.04 | 1.18 | < 0.01 |

| Obesity (N)          | 0.89 | 0.86 | 0.93 | < 0.001 | -    | -    | -    | -       |
|----------------------|------|------|------|---------|------|------|------|---------|
| Osteoporosis<br>(Y)  | 1.02 | 0.97 | 1.08 | 0.45    | 1.01 | 0.95 | 1.08 | 0.73    |
| Osteoporosis<br>(N)  | 0.97 | 0.94 | 1.01 | 0.20    | -    | -    | -    | -       |
| PVD (Y)              | 1.42 | 1.33 | 1.51 | < 0.001 | 1.19 | 1.11 | 1.29 | < 0.001 |
| PVD (N)              | 0.87 | 0.84 | 0.9  | < 0.001 | -    | -    | -    | -       |
| Spinal Injury<br>(Y) | 1.69 | 1.34 | 2.12 | < 0.001 | 1.2  | 0.93 | 1.54 | 0.16    |
| Spinal Injury<br>(N) | 0.96 | 0.92 | 0.99 | 0.03    | -    | -    | -    | -       |
| Ulcers (Y)           | 1.94 | 1.76 | 2.14 | < 0.001 | 1.44 | 1.28 | 1.61 | < 0.001 |
| Ulcers (N)           | 0.91 | 0.87 | 0.94 | < 0.001 | -    | -    | -    | -       |

Abbreviations are acute myocardial infarction (AMI) hyperlipidemia (HLD) hypertension (HTN), human immunodeficiency virus/ acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (HIV/AIDS), congested heart failure (CHF), peripheral vascular disease (PVD)

## Figure 4.17.

| Field Name                            | Ν     |                     | OR(95% CI)        | p-value |
|---------------------------------------|-------|---------------------|-------------------|---------|
| Comorbidity                           |       |                     |                   |         |
| AMI                                   | 520   | ·                   | 1.38 (1.06, 1.80) | 0.016   |
| PVD                                   | 11560 | 1 <b>0</b> 1        | 1.19 (1.11, 1.29) | < 0.001 |
| Osteoporosis                          | 17354 | •                   | 1.01 (0.95, 1.08) | 0.728   |
| Obesity                               | 21448 | -                   | 1.10 (1.04, 1.18) | 0.002   |
| Migraine and Other Chronic Headache   | 2683  |                     | 1.20 (1.05, 1.38) | 0.009   |
| Liver Diseases                        | 5435  |                     | 1.12 (1.01, 1.24) | 0.029   |
| Leukemia and lymphomas                | 1465  | H <b>-</b> 1        | 1.03 (0.85, 1.24) | 0.791   |
| Hypothyroid                           | 18832 | -                   | 1.04 (0.98, 1.11) | 0.205   |
| No Hypertension                       | 20165 | -                   | 1.08 (1.00, 1.15) | 0.042   |
| No Hyperlipidemia                     | 27092 | -                   | 1.09 (1.03, 1.17) | 0.004   |
| Spinal Injury                         | 650   | h                   | 1.20 (0.93, 1.54) | 0.156   |
| HIV/AIDS                              | 37    | <b>-</b>            | 0.40 (0.05, 2.98) | 0.37    |
| Hepatitis (Viral)                     | 570   | ⊢ <b>_</b> ■i       | 1.17 (0.88, 1.57) | 0.282   |
| Fibromyalgia Chronic Pain and Fatigue | 19968 | -                   | 1.20 (1.13, 1.28) | < 0.001 |
| Epilepsy                              | 1370  |                     | 1.52 (1.28, 1.81) | <0.001  |
| Diabetes                              | 25387 | -                   | 1.08 (1.01, 1.15) | 0.026   |
| CKD                                   | 21393 | •                   | 1.06 (0.99, 1.14) | 0.094   |
| COPD                                  | 8825  | H <b>u</b> -1       | 1.20 (1.10, 1.30) | < 0.001 |
| CHF                                   | 12704 | x∎4                 | 1.13 (1.04, 1.22) | 0.002   |
| Asthma                                | 5646  | P∎-1                | 1.06 (0.96, 1.17) | 0.254   |
| Anemia                                | 24419 | H <b>H</b> I        | 1.15 (1.08, 1.22) | <0.001  |
| Hip Fracture                          | 642   | ⊢                   | 2.21 (1.79, 2.72) | <0.001  |
| Ulcers                                | 3368  |                     | 1.44 (1.28, 1.61) | <0.001  |
|                                       |       | 0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 3 |                   |         |

### Condition-Related: Comorbidity Logistic Regression Results

Multivariate analysis by utilizing all these possible condition-related factors were not able to be computed due to increased number of variables with poor sample distribution across each variable.

#### Health Care Team/System-Related Factors

Among health care team/system-related factors in the previous chapters, I was able to retrieve health care team/system issues. Unfortunately, only 275 patients' data were available in Comprehensive Medication Review (CMR) in the PDEMTM database, and 82,705 patients' data for provider's partnership status category, 84,269 for deductible insurance information, and 83,827 for co-insurance information were retrieved to see the healthcare

system issues from the NCH database. I calculated AOR based on available data, but it cannot be generalized to the entire breast cancer population in 2019. The CMR nurse practitioner, solo practitioner, having no coinsurance payments group variables and having no conditions were selected as a reference group due to the significant amount of data points compared to having these conditions to investigate these factors' effects on OET-NA.

The CMR provider data (Table 4.18) did not show any statistically significant results. Unfortunately, OET-NA patients' healthcare services were likely to subject to deductible (AOR 1.25; 95% CI 1.16-1.35; p <0.001), but this data cannot be generalized since it is coming from 84,269 out of entire 141,457 (Table 4.20). Type of provider's partnership is a status of the provider's working condition such as whether they work alone or in a group clinic or institution. Especially, identifying solo vs small or larger group practices were the main focus of this variable (Table 4.19). Patients seeing multiple providers from group practitioner type clinic (AOR 1.03; 95% CI 0.97-1.1; p =0.36) and institution (AOR 1.54; 95% CI 1.34-1.77; p <0.001) determinants that were 3% and 34%, respectively, were more likely to be present in OET-NA groups compared to the solo practitioner group (Table 4.19). Table 4.18.

|   | l                 | Jnivariate         | Analysis        |             | Multivariate Analysis |                 |                    |             |
|---|-------------------|--------------------|-----------------|-------------|-----------------------|-----------------|--------------------|-------------|
| Factors                                 | Unadjus<br>ted OR | Lower<br>95%<br>CI | Upper<br>95% CI | p-<br>value | Adjuste<br>d<br>OR    | Lower<br>95% CI | Upper<br>95%<br>CI | p-<br>value |
| CMR<br>provider-<br>Physician           | 0.67              | 0.09               | 5.11            | 0.70        | 0.6                   | 0.07            | 4.89               | 0.64        |
| CMR<br>provider-<br>Registered<br>Nurse | 0.73              | 0.29               | 1.83            | 0.51        | 0.65                  | 0.23            | 1.85               | 0.42        |

Health Care Team-Related: CMR Review Reviewer Type Logistic Regression Results

| CMR<br>provider-   |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
|--------------------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| Licensed practical | 0.9  | 0.21 | 3.82 | 0.88 | 0.73 | 0.16 | 3.41 | 0.69 |
| nurse<br>CMR       |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
| provider-          | 1.13 | 0.67 | 1.91 | 0.64 | -    | -    | -    | -    |
| practitioner       |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
| CMR<br>provider-   | 0.72 | 0.09 | 5.53 | 0.76 | 0.65 | 0.08 | 5.29 | 0.69 |
| Pharmacist         |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |

# Figure 4.18.

Health Care Team-Related: CMR Reviewer Type Logistic Regression Results

| Field Name                            | Ν  |             | OR(95% CI)        | p-value |
|---------------------------------------|----|-------------|-------------------|---------|
| CMR Reviewer Type                     |    |             |                   |         |
| CMR Provider-Physician                | 15 |             | 0.60 (0.07, 4.89) | 0.636   |
| CMR Provider-Registered Nurse         | 70 |             | 0.65 (0.23, 1.85) | 0.418   |
| CMR Provider-Licensed practical nurse | 25 |             | 0.73 (0.16, 3.41) | 0.693   |
| CMR Provider-Pharmacist               | 14 |             | 0.65 (0.08, 5.29) | 0.686   |
|                                       |    |             | ]                 |         |
|                                       |    | 0 1 2 3 4 5 | 5                 |         |

## Table 4.19.

Health Care Team-Related: Provider Partnership Status Logistic Regression Results

|                                      | 1                 | Univariate     | e Analysis      |         | Multivariate Analysis |                 |                |         |
|--------------------------------------|-------------------|----------------|-----------------|---------|-----------------------|-----------------|----------------|---------|
| Factors                              | Unadju<br>sted OR | Lower<br>95%CI | Upper<br>95% CI | p-value | Adjust<br>ed<br>OR    | Lower<br>95% CI | Upper<br>95%CI | p-value |
| Group<br>Practitioner<br>s in Clinic | 1.05              | 0.97           | 1.13            | 0.20    | 1.03                  | 0.97            | 1.1            | 0.36    |
| Solo                                 | 1.01              | 0.97           | 1.06            | 0.59    | -                     | -               | -              | -       |

| Practitioner                            |      |      |     |        |      |      |      |        |
|---|------|------|-----|--------|------|------|------|--------|
| s<br>Institution<br>providers<br>(share | 1.54 | 1.31 | 1.8 | <0.001 | 1.54 | 1.34 | 1.77 | <0.001 |
| patients)                               |      |      |     |        |      |      |      |        |

Figure 4.19.

# Health Care Team-Related: Provider Partnership Status Logistic Regression Results

| Field Name                             | Ν     |              |   | OR(95% CI)        | p-value |
|--|-------|--------------|---|-------------------|---------|
| Provider Partnership Status            |       |              |   |                   |         |
| Group Practitioners in Clinic          | 13400 |              |   | 1.03 (0.97, 1.10) | 0.356   |
| Institution Providers (share patients) | 1957  | ⊢ <b>■</b> ; |   | 1.54 (1.34, 1.77) | <0.001  |
|  |       | Γ            |   |                   |         |
|  |       | 1 1.5        | 2 |                   |         |

## Table 4.20.

Health Care System-Related: Co-insurance and Deductible Status Logistic Regression

## Results

|                                   | I                 | Univariate         | e Analysis      |         | Multivariate Analysis |                 |                     |         |
|-----------------------------------|-------------------|--------------------|-----------------|---------|-----------------------|-----------------|---------------------|---------|
| Factors                           | Unadjus<br>ted OR | Lower<br>95%<br>CI | Upper<br>95% CI | p-value | Adjust<br>ed<br>OR    | Lower<br>95% CI | Uppe<br>r 95%<br>CI | p-value |
| Coinsuranc<br>e amount<br>\$0-20  | 0.97              | 0.93               | 1.02            | 0.26    | -                     | -               | -                   | -       |
| Coinsuranc<br>e amount<br>\$20-40 | 1.42              | 1.25               | 1.62            | < 0.001 | 1.31                  | 1.19            | 1.45                | <0.001  |
| Coinsuranc<br>e amount<br>\$40-60 | 1.34              | 1.16               | 1.54            | <0.001  | 1.17                  | 1.05            | 1.3                 | 0.01    |
| Coinsuranc<br>e amount<br>\$60-80 | 0.97              | 0.76               | 1.25            | 0.84    | 0.93                  | 0.8             | 1.1                 | 0.41    |

| Coinsuranc  |      |      |      |         |      |      |      |         |
|-------------|------|------|------|---------|------|------|------|---------|
| e amount    | 0.94 | 0.72 | 1.24 | 0.66    | 1.01 | 0.86 | 1.19 | 0.90    |
| \$80-100    |      |      |      |         |      |      |      |         |
| Health care |      |      |      |         |      |      |      |         |
| service     |      |      |      |         |      |      |      |         |
| subject to  | 1.26 | 1.17 | 1.35 | < 0.001 | 1.25 | 1.16 | 1.35 | < 0.001 |
| deductible  |      |      |      |         |      |      |      |         |
| (Y)         |      |      |      |         |      |      |      |         |
| Health care |      |      |      |         |      |      |      |         |
| service     |      |      |      |         |      |      |      |         |
| subject to  | 0.8  | 0.74 | 0.86 | < 0.001 | -    | -    | -    | -       |
| deductible  |      |      |      |         |      |      |      |         |
| (N)         |      |      |      |         |      |      |      |         |

## Figure 4.20.

## Health Care System-Related: Co-insurance and Deductible Status Logistic Regression

### Results



Multivariate analysis by utilizing all these possible health care team/system-related factors were not able to be computed due to increased number of variables with poor sample distribution across each variable.

#### **Post-Hoc Analysis**

This section is constructed to present the joint influences between multi-level determinants that I have discussed in research question number 2. Previously, I focused on

each-level in detail to see which factors were impacting OET-NA among the chosen category of each patient-related, socioeconomic-related, therapy-related, condition-related and healthcare team/system-related levels. Hierarchical multivariate logistic regression is utilized to analyze the selected variables. I will present how these variables were selected into the final analysis to show the importance of each variable's influence even though it is classified in different multi-level systems.

### Selected Variables

A total of 40 variables were selected for this post-hoc analysis from the multi-levels. These variables were identified as the most important factors based on my previous analysis results and my literature review in Chapter 2.

#### **Patient-Related Variables**

**Patient's Ethnicity.** This variable has four categorical groups including White, Black, American Indian/Alaska Native, and Asian or Pacific Islander. Patients' ethnic groups were one of the most frequently recognized factors for medication-NA (Banegas et al., 2018; Cedillo-Couvert et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2009; Darkow et al., 2007; Halpern et al., 2009; Lee & Salloum, 2015; Mathes et al.,2014b; Molnar et al., 2016; Sheppard et al., 2019). The White group is selected as a reference group to capture the full range of potential effects on OET-NA that could exist. Also, the White group had the most significant amount of data points to support our analysis as a reference.

**Psychological Factors.** The two most frequently recognized psychological factors in previous review studies were anxiety and depression for breast cancer patients (Chew et al., 2015; Crawshaw et al., 2016; Mathes et al., 2014b; Santos et al., 2019; Yoon et al., 2018; Yussof et al., 2022). Not having these conditions (anxiety and depression) were selected as a

reference group due to the significant amount of data points compared to having these conditions to investigate these factors' effects on OET-NA.

#### Socioeconomic-Related Variables

**Marital Status.** This variable has five categorical groups: single, married, separated, divorced, and widowed. Marital status is also recognized as an important factor for medication-NA even with breast cancer populations (Geissler et al., 2017; Kaye, 2016; Mohamed & Elamin, 2020; Molnar et al., 2016; Tan et al., 2017; Xu & Wang, 2019). The Married variable was chosen for a reference due to the significant amount of data points that allow us to compare OET-NA effects more easily.

Lifestyle Factors. Using alcohol and drugs is a lifestyle factor that is frequently recognized as a significant determinant for general medication-NA (Fernandez-Lazaro et al., 2019; Mathes et al., 2014; Nonogaki et al., 2019); however, several cancer studies failed to show a strong relationship between this factor and cancer medication-NA (Mislang et al., 2017; Verbrugghe et al., 2013). Therefore, this is an important portion of our analysis since we have less supportive evidence for lifestyle factors especially in cancer populations. Not having these conditions (alcohol, drug, and tobacco respectively) is selected as a reference group due to the significant amount of data points compared to having these conditions to investigate these factors' effects on OET-NA.

**Living Status.** Living status is categorized as metro, urban and rural areas. This is another important factor that has been discussed across different types of diseases including breast cancer (Addidja et al., 2018; Al-Noumani et al., 2017; Daniel et al., 2013; Dennis et al. 2010; Hussein et al., 2020; Nonogaki et al., 2019). Living in Metro areas is selected as a

reference group due to the significant amount of data points compared to having these conditions to investigate these factors' effects on OET-NA.

#### **Condition-Related Variables**

**Disease Characteristics.** Stages of cancer were categorized as Stage I, Stage II, Stage III, and Stage IV. Several studies reported that certain stages of cancer were strongly related to medication-NA especially for breast cancer patients (Ali et al., 2022; Ma et al., 2021; Meneveau et al., 2020; Showalter et al., 2021; Tan et al., 2017). Stage I is selected as a reference group due to the significant amount of data points compared to having these conditions to investigate these factors' effects on OET-NA.

**Comorbidities.** Four popular comorbidities were selected specifically for breast cancer patients including hyperlipidemia, hypertension, obesity, and osteoporosis. These comorbidities were frequently recognized as an important factor across all chronic diseases (Adidja et al., 2018; Crawshaw et al., 2016; Hussein et al., 2020; Gast et al. 2019; Ma et al., 2021; Yussof et al., 2022). Especially, many breast cancer patients with osteoporosis were struggling more to take OET medication since this therapy increases risk of bone loss and exacerbates osteoporosis (Perez et al., 2006). Not having these conditions (hyperlipidemia, hypertension, obesity, and osteoporosis respectively) were selected as a reference group due to the significant amount of data points compared to having these conditions to investigate these factors' effects on OET-NA.

#### Therapy-Related Variables

In medication regimen category, two variables were included: (a) OET prescribed medication was changed, and (b) OET prescribed medication was not changed. These factors were more critically affecting cancer populations including breast cancer than other chronic

diseases (Marques & Pierin, 2008; Murphy et al., 2012; Yussof et al., 2022). Not switching OET medications (prescribed medication was not changed) is selected as a reference group due to the significant amount of data points compared to having these conditions to investigate these factors' effects on OET-NA.

#### Health Care Team/System-Related Variables

Health Care Team Practice Characteristics. Three variables were included: (a) group practitioners in clinic, (b) solo practitioners and (c) institution providers who share patients. in this category. The solo-practitioners were selected as a reference group due to the significant amount of data points compared to having these conditions to investigate these factors' effects on OET-NA. Having multiple providers for one patient tends to increase medication-NA across diverse settings on different chronic diseases due to decreased interaction and difficulty making a good relationship with the patient (Geissler et al., 2017; Lebovits, 1990; Marques & Pierin, 2008; Moon et al., 2017; Toivonen et al., 2020; Kimmick et al., 2015).

Health Care System Characteristics. Two variables were included: (a) health care service subject to deductible and (b) health care service not subject to deductible. If a patient does not meet the Medicare deductible, the actual cost of payment that patient would be responsible for would increase. Thus, it will increase the burden of patients taking OET correctly and they were likely to be OET-NA. This is critical information for researchers to understand health care issues regarding OET-NA effects and this was confirmed in small size of data earlier in all chronic disease patients including breast cancer (Chen et al., 2009; Halpern et al., 2009; Mathes et al., 2014b; Murphy et al., 2012; Streeter et al., 2011). The variable, health care service subject to deductible, is selected as a reference group due to the

significant amount of data points compared to having these conditions to investigate these factors' effects on OET-NA.

## **Results of Analysis**

The result of this analysis is available in Table 4.21. A total number of 3,930 patients were included in this analysis. Pseudo R-squared of this analysis was 0.023. Black ethnic group were identified as the most vulnerable populations (AOR 1.55; 95% CI 1.34-1.78; p <0.001). Moreover, patients who were obese (AOR 1.13; 95% CI 1.03-1.23; p =0.007), were diagnosed with Stage II cancer (AOR 1.12; 95% CI 1.02-1.22; p =0.013), were using alcohol (AOR 1.40; 95% CI 1.10-1.93; p =0.043), were using tobacco (AOR 1.41; 95% CI 1.22-1.63; p <0.001), were single (AOR 1.15; 95% CI 1.01-1.30; p =0.032), were divorced (AOR 1.17; 95% CI 1.04-1.32; p =0.01), switched prescribed OET medications (AOR 2.72; 95% CI 2.41-3.07; p <0.001), had multiple provider (AOR 1.26; 95% CI 1.01-1.56; p <0.001), and had depression (AOR 1.40; 95% CI 1.27-1.54; p <0.001) were more likely to be OET-NA. This post-hoc analysis result will be interpreted and discussed in detail in Chapter 5: Discussion section.

Table 4.21.

|                                  |                                  |             | Multivariate Analysis |        |         |       |  |  |
|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|-------------|-----------------------|--------|---------|-------|--|--|
|                                  |                                  | Variables   | Odd                   | Lower  | Upper   | p-    |  |  |
|                                  |                                  | v arraules  | Ratio                 | 95% CI | 95% CI  | value |  |  |
|                                  |                                  | White       | -                     | -      | -       | -     |  |  |
| Patient-<br>Related<br>Variables | Black                            | 1.55        | 1.34                  | 1.78   | < 0.001 |       |  |  |
|                                  | American<br>Indian/Alaska Native | 1.38        | 0.80                  | 2.38   | 0.25    |       |  |  |
|                                  | Asian or Pacific<br>Islander     | 0.94        | 0.78                  | 1.12   | 0.47    |       |  |  |
|                                  |                                  | Anxiety (Y) | 1.08                  | 0.98   | 1.19    | 0.10  |  |  |

Post-Hoc Analysis to Explore Joint Influences of Multi-Level Determinants.

|            | Psycholo   | Anxiety (N)               | _    | _    | _         | _       |
|------------|------------|---------------------------|------|------|-----------|---------|
|            | gical      | Depression (Y)            | 1.40 | 1.27 | 1.54      | < 0.001 |
|            | Factors    |                           | 1110 | 1.27 | 110 1     | 01001   |
|            | 1 401015   | Depression (N)            | -    | -    | -         | -       |
|            |            | Single                    | 1.15 | 1.01 | 1.30      | 0.03    |
|            |            | Married                   | -    | -    | -         | -       |
|            | Marriage   | Separated                 | 1 41 | 0.91 | 2 18      | 0.13    |
|            | Status     | Divorced                  | 1.11 | 1.04 | 1 32      | 0.01    |
|            |            | Widowed                   | 1.17 | 0.97 | 1.52      | 0.01    |
| Socioecono |            | Alcohol (V)               | 1.07 | 1.01 | 1.10      | 0.10    |
| mic        |            | Alcohol (N)               | 1.40 | 1.01 | 1.75      | 0.04    |
| Polated    | Lifectule  | $Drug(\mathbf{V})$        | -    | -    | -<br>1 40 | - 0.15  |
| Variablea  | Ellestyle  | Drug(1)                   | 1.10 | 0.94 | 1.49      | 0.15    |
| variables  | Factor     | Drug(N)                   | -    | -    | -         | -       |
|            |            | $\frac{10bacco(Y)}{T(1)}$ | 1.41 | 1.22 | 1.63      | <0.001  |
|            |            | Tobacco (N)               | -    | -    | -         | -       |
|            | Living     | Metro area                | -    | -    | -         | -       |
|            | Status     | Urban area                | 0.98 | 0.88 | 1.10      | 0.77    |
|            |            | Rural area                | 1.07 | 0.81 | 1.42      | 0.64    |
|            | Disease    | Stage I                   | -    | -    | -         | -       |
|            | characteri | Stage II                  | 1.12 | 1.02 | 1.22      | 0.01    |
|            | stics      | Stage III                 | 1.03 | 0.85 | 1.25      | 0.74    |
|            | 51105      | Stage IV                  | 1.28 | 0.90 | 1.83      | 0.17    |
| Condition- |            | Hyperlipidemia (Y)        | -    | -    | -         | -       |
| Related    |            | Hyperlipidemia (N)        | 1.04 | 0.96 | 1.13      | 0.38    |
| Variables  |            | Hypertension (Y)          | -    | -    | -         | -       |
| variables  | Comorbi    | Hypertension (N)          | 1.00 | 0.91 | 1.09      | 0.95    |
|            | dities     | Obesity (Y)               | 1.13 | 1.03 | 1.23      | 0.01    |
|            |            | Obesity (N)               | -    | -    | -         | -       |
|            |            | Osteoporosis (Y)          | 1.07 | 0.97 | 1.17      | 0.16    |
|            |            | Osteoporosis (N)          | -    | -    | -         | -       |
|            |            | OET medication            | 2 52 | 0.41 | 2 0 7     | 0.001   |
| Therapy-   | Medicati   | switched (Y)              | 2.72 | 2.41 | 3.07      | < 0.001 |
| Related    | on         | OET medication            |      |      |           |         |
| Variables  | Regimen    | switched (N)              | -    | -    | -         | -       |
| Health     | Healthcar  | Solo partitioner          | _    | _    | _         | _       |
| Care Team/ | e team     |                           | 0.07 | 0.07 | 1.07      | 0.52    |
| System-    | practice   | Group partitioner         | 0.97 | 0.8/ | 1.0/      | 0.53    |
| Related    | characteri | Institution providers     | 1 74 | 1.01 | 156       | 0.027   |
| Variables  | stice      | (share patients)          | 1.20 | 1.01 | 1.30      | 0.03/   |
| v arrautes | 51105      | /                         |      |      |           |         |

| Healthcar<br>e system<br>characteri<br>stics | Health care service<br>subject to deductible<br>(Y) | 1.15 | 0.94 | 1.40 | 0.17 |
|--|---|------|------|------|------|
|  | Health care service<br>subject to deductible<br>(N) | -    | -    | -    | -    |

<sup>a</sup>CMR = Comprehensive Medication Review

# Figure. 4.21.

# Post-Hoc Analysis to Explore Joint Influences of Multi-Level Determinants.

| Field Name                             | Ν     |                              | <b>OR(95% CI)</b> | p-value |
|--|-------|------------------------------|-------------------|---------|
| Coinsurance & Deductible Status        |       |                              |                   |         |
| Subject to Deductible                  | 8831  | ·                            | 1.15 (0.94, 1.40) | 0.172   |
| Comorbidity                            |       |                              |                   |         |
| No Hypertension                        | 20165 | ⊢ <b>≜</b> ⊣                 | 1.00 (0.91, 1.09) | 0.95    |
| No Hyperlipidemia                      | 27092 | H <b>=</b> H                 | 1.04 (0.96, 1.13) | 0.377   |
| Osteoporosis                           | 17354 | <b>∺■</b> -(                 | 1.07 (0.97, 1.17) | 0.16    |
| Obesity                                | 21448 | ⊢■→                          | 1.13 (1.03, 1.23) | 0.007   |
| Disease Characteristics                |       |                              |                   |         |
| Stage IV                               | 2416  |                              | 1.28 (0.90, 1.83) | 0.173   |
| Stage III                              | 4909  |                              | 1.03 (0.85, 1.25) | 0.744   |
| Stage II                               | 29971 | +                            | 1.12 (1.02, 1.22) | 0.013   |
| Ethnicity                              |       |                              |                   |         |
| Black                                  | 13852 | <b>⊢</b>                     | 1.55 (1.34, 1.78) | < 0.001 |
| American Indian/Alaska Native          | 459   |                              | 1.38 (0.80, 2.38) | 0.245   |
| Asian or Pacific Islander              | 8238  | <b>⊢</b> ∎ <mark>−−</mark> 1 | 0.94 (0.78, 1.12) | 0.469   |
| Lifestyle Status                       |       |                              |                   |         |
| Alcohol use                            | 776   |                              | 1.40 (1.01, 1.93) | 0.043   |
| Tobacco use                            | 4486  | <b>⊢</b> ∎i                  | 1.41 (1.22, 1.63) | < 0.001 |
| Drug use                               | 1541  |                              | 1.18 (0.94, 1.49) | 0.15    |
| Living Status                          |       |                              |                   |         |
| Completely Rural area                  | 1495  | <b>⊢</b>                     | 1.07 (0.81, 1.42) | 0.638   |
| Urban area                             | 14668 |                              | 0.98 (0.88, 1.10) | 0.771   |
| Marrital Status                        |       |                              |                   |         |
| Separated                              | 572   | <b></b>                      | 1.41 (0.91, 2.18) | 0.126   |
| Single (never married)                 | 9104  |                              | 1.15 (1.01, 1.30) | 0.032   |
| Divorced                               | 9923  | ⊢■                           | 1.17 (1.04, 1.32) | 0.01    |
| Widowed                                | 19487 | ⊬∎⊶                          | 1.07 (0.97, 1.18) | 0.162   |
| Medication Regimen                     |       |                              |                   |         |
| OET medication switched                | 7607  |                              | 2.72 (2.41, 3.07) | < 0.001 |
| Provider Partnership Status            |       |                              |                   |         |
| Group Practitioners in Clinic          | 13400 | H <b>-</b>                   | 0.97 (0.87, 1.07) | 0.529   |
| Institution Providers (share patients) | 1957  |                              | 1.26 (1.01, 1.56) | 0.037   |
| Psychological Symptoms                 |       |                              |                   |         |
| Depression                             | 16408 | ⊢∎                           | 1.40 (1.27, 1.54) | <0.001  |
| Anxiety                                | 17273 |                              | 1.08 (0.98, 1.19) | 0.1     |
|  |       | 1 1.5 2 2.5 3                |                   |         |
#### CHAPTER 5

### DISCUSSION

Chapter 5 will present the discussion of a descriptive, correlational research study completed using bivariate logistic regression analysis with odds ratio. The purpose of this study was to identify the rate of OET-NA and find the patient-related, socioeconomic-related, therapy-related, condition-related, and healthcare team/system-related determinants of OET-NA for breast cancer patients 65 years of age or older. Chapter 5 will be followed by interpretation of findings, strengths, limitations, implications, future research, and conclusions.

#### **Interpretation of Findings**

#### **Identifying OET-NA Rates**

Based on information from the 2019 SEER Medicare database, I found that the OET-NA rate was 6.35% and the OET adherence rate was 93.65% among breast cancer patients (average age 73.16). The rates of OET medication adherence were 98.06% when using MPR as a measure, and 93.65% when using PDC as a measure. The rates of OET-NA were 1.94% when using MPR as a measure, and 6.35% when using PDC as a measure. The MPR OET-NA rates were 4.41%, which is lower than the PDC method. This result indicates that the MPR method of measurement created extra dates to lower the NA rates than the PDC method. It was simple to identify over-adherence since I have calculated the same information with two different methods but just applied a different method that allows overlapped dates. This is often referred to as over-adherence of which corresponds that many breast cancer patients were likely to pick their medications up earlier than suggested dates.

For example, when a patient picks up their medications earlier than the correct refill date, there would be extra dates unintentionally added into our calculations as an over-adherence. My results also showed that OET-NA rates were better than those for other types of medication because medication-NA rates were ranged from 2-30%. The NA rate for oral home-cancer-medications ranges from 3-85% (Bouwman et al., 2017; Hansen, 2012). Specifically, cytotoxic medication-NA rate was 10-50% (Hirao et al., 2017; Ruddy et al., 2009). In leukemia cases, medication-NA rates were ranged 6-35% in patients with acute lymphoid leukemia (ALL), and 20-53% in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) (Bouwman et al., 2017). However, even when medication-NA rates were identified as low (e.g., 6%), this small percentage of medication-NA can cause poor patient outcomes (i.e., increased mortality) especially when it is critical medication for their disease (Lee et al., 2021). Marin et al. (2010) emphasized cancer patients taking ≤90% of prescribed medications had clearly inferior major molecular response rates compared to adherent patients. Optimal medication adherence was highly associated with positive health outcomes among cancer patients (Bouwman et al., 2017). While skipping a dose of OET may not have the immediate consequences of other types of critical cancer medications, it still can be a dangerous problem because breast cancer is a more widespread issue for a longer period of time. This indicates that researchers must study more about long term OET-NA determinants to help this large population. With grown older adult populations, it is critical to understand the issues of OET-NA since previous statistics showed that the majority of the breast cancer population is older, as the median is 62 years of age and it presents a higher risk of mortality, especially for older women.

## **Multilevel Influenced Determinants of OET-NA**

I will compare and contrast our findings to the available current studies in breast

cancer and general chronic disease populations.

Table 5.1.

| Patient-Rel | lated Di | iscussion |
|-------------|----------|-----------|
|             |          |           |

| Patient-<br>Related                 | My Findings  | Breast<br>Cancer                          | Chronic Disease   |
|-------------------------------------|--|---|---|
| Cognitive<br>issues                 | Alzheimer's (dementia)<br>disease<br>(OR 1.49)<br>(reference: not having these<br>conditions)                      | Dementia                                  | Forgetfulness<br>Knowledge<br>issues<br>Dementia<br>disease |
| Decreased<br>Sensor/Motor<br>skills | Hearing impairment<br>(OR 1.12)<br>Mobility impairment<br>(OR 1.24)<br>(reference: not having these<br>conditions) | -   | -   |
| Ethnicity                           | *Black (OR 1.57)<br>(reference: White)   | Black, Not<br>being<br>White              | Not being White   |
| Psychological<br>Disease            | ADHD (OR 1.46)<br>Bipolar Disorder (OR 1.25)<br>(reference: not having these<br>conditions)                        | Bipolar<br>(protective<br>for OET-<br>NA) | Bipolar   |
| Psychological<br>Symptoms           | Anxiety (OR 1.08)<br>*Depression (OR 1.33)<br>(reference: Not having these<br>conditions)                          | Anxiety<br>and<br>Depression              | Anxiety and Depression                                      |

Patient-related factors showed the way a patient's race, psychological symptoms and diseases, cognitive issues, and decreased sensory/motor skills affected their likelihood of OET-NA, which was in line with previous studies (Brett et al., 2018; Corter et al., 2018; Fleming et al., 2020; Hershman et al., 2016; Kimmick et al., 2015; Lambert et al., 2018;

Toivonen et al., 2020; Yussof et al., 2022). Concerning cognitive issues, Alzheimer's disease was one of the strongest factors for OET-NA, which had also been shown in breast cancer and chronic diseases studies with small sample sizes (Meneveau et al., 2020; Yussof et al., 2022). Cognitive issues were a major factor for medication-NA and were often correlated with forgetfulness (Al-Noumani et al., 2016; Bane et al., 2006; Colbert et al., 2013), knowledge issues (Fernandez-Lazaro et al., 2019), and all other dementia-related factors (Colbert et al., 2013; Seung et al., 2020).

In terms of decreased sensory/motor skills, hearing and mobility impairments were determinants of OET-NA in my findings; however, these specific impairments were not discussed in breast cancer and chronic disease populations in particular. Older patients have a higher risk of non-adherence due to decreased function in dexterity, mobility, hearing and vision (Arlt et al., 2008). These impairments are frequently ignored criteria: Jin et al. (2016) excluded older adults who had severe visual impairment and/or poor hearing because they were conducting a survey type of study that cannot be applied for patients with hearing and/or visual impairments.

Alternatively, some studies found that decreased sensory/motor skills can be investigated via focusing on the severity of impairment, and the complexity of selfmanagement tasks (Smith et al., 2017). However, these studies typically have a small amount of evidence due to the need for a healthcare professional to be able to observe and report the medication taking behaviors. This leads to limited sample sizes and incoherent research designs that use subjective measures. Also, Smith's (2017) team mentioned that previous articles often related these sensory/motor skill impairments to cognitive issues (i.e., dementia) because deficits in cognitive processes may decrease older adults' medication

taking skill due to impairment of abilities in planning, organizing and executing medication management tasks.

In the ethnicity category, my study showed that the Black ethnic group were 20% more likely to be non-adherent to their OET medication regimen than White and Asian patients. These results were consistent with other breast cancer studies focused on older women populations (Haskins et al., 2019; Yussof et al., 2022). Some other breast cancer studies found that not being White was a factor of OET-NA rather than identifying it as a problem specifically in the Black ethnicity population (Sheppard et al., 2019). This is not surprising information, since the disparity of breast cancer medication adherence among Black patients compared with White patients in the U.S. is a well-known statistic (Reeder-Hayes et al., 2021). Furthermore, many medication-NA studies with chronic disease populations identified not being White as a determinant (Chen et al., 2009; Molnar et al., 2016).

Concerning psychological symptoms and diseases, all previous studies explained both anxiety and depression as determinants of non-adherence (Mathes et al., 2014; Yussof et al. 2022); however, my study found that depression is a stronger factor than anxiety, specifically for older women with breast cancer. Also, many previous researchers did not extend their studies into psychological diseases, such ADHD, and bipolar disorders. In my findings, ADHD and bipolar disorders were determinants for OET-NA, but this issue is a less studied area in breast cancer and chronic disease populations. Still, there are some breast cancer studies that support bipolar disorders being an OET-NA factor (Haskins et al., 2019). However, one breast cancer study was against bipolar disorders being a factor for OET-NA in small sample study (Bagdadi et al., 2021). While ADHD itself creates medication

adherence issues for patients, Roberts et al. (2020) found that many psychological disease problems may come from the tendency to bring along other psychological issues. For example, ADHD patients usually also have anxiety disorder and depression diagnoses, which then compound OET-NA problems, as mentioned above.

Table 5.2.

| Socioeconomic-<br>Related | My Findings   | Breast Cancer                   | Chronic<br>Disease                          |
|---------------------------|---|---------------------------------|---|
| Marital status            | *Single (OR 1.22),<br>Separated (OR 1.54),<br>*Divorced (OR 1.28),<br>Widowed (OR 1.12) | Single,<br>Divorced,<br>Widowed | Non-married or<br>no cohabitation<br>status |
| Lifestyle Factor          | *Alcohol use (OR 1.67),<br>Opioid drug use (OR 1.85),<br>*Tobacco use (OR 1.48)         | Smoker (vs<br>never smoked)5    | Alcohol and drug use                        |

Socioeconomic-Related Discussion

Socioeconomic-related factors included marital status, lifestyle status, and living status, which is in line with previous studies (Bright & Stanton, 2018; Mohamed & Elamin, 2020; Peh et al., 2021; Pranjpe et al., 2019; Sabaté, 2003; Xu & Wang, 2019). My findings confirmed that patients who are not married and have lifestyles that involve drugs, alcohol and/or tobacco use have an increased risk of OET-NA, which is already known from previous studies with small sample sizes for breast cancer and chronic diseases (Gast & Mathes, 2019; Molnar et al., 2016; Seng et al., 2020; Yussof et al. 2022).

I found that married patients had better OET adherence than non-married (single, separated, divorced, and widowed) patients. Most medication-NA literature suggests that the support of a spouse encourages medication adherence through the social support that they provide (Addidja et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2018; Crawshaw et al., 2016; Hansen et al., 2015;

Mathes et al., 2014). These findings can be related back to psychological symptoms in the patient-related factor analysis. For example, Xu and Wang (2019) mentioned that there is an increase in depression and anxiety among divorced breast cancer patients (which compounds the lack of spousal support). Moreover, recent systematic reviews showed that medication-NA is highly associated with the non-married group in chronic disease (Chen et al., 2023).

Concerning lifestyle factors, all patients with lifestyles that included alcohol, drug and tobacco use showed higher rates of OET-NA in the patient-related factor analysis. Also, I confirmed that using alcohol and tobacco are strongly related to OET-NA and these findings were confirmed again in my post-hoc analysis. Interestingly, previous studies were more focused on tobacco usage (smoking status) rather than other types of lifestyle factors (Sella et al., 2019). Also, there was an association between psychological symptoms (e.g., anxiety and depression) and using drug, alcohol, and tobacco (Gellad et al., 2011). Gellad's (2011) research team also demonstrated that these lifestyle factors and psychological symptoms are affecting OET-NA more strongly than not having these issues.

Unlike the other socioeconomic-related factors, living in a rural or urban area had no impact on a patient's OET-NA from univariate analysis. Even the multivariate analysis did not show any statistically significant data to make any conclusions about the effect of living status on OET-NA. Fewer studies were conducted on identifying living status, but some recent review studies suggested that there is an association between living in rural areas and medication-NA in chronic diseases (Chen et al., 2023). Another study discussed that living in a rural area might increase medication-NA due to healthcare facilities not being easily accessible (Rahmawati & Bajorek, 2018). These findings may be discovered and supported

when we work on different types of analysis in the future; for this study, the "living in rural area" sample size was too small to work with in my bigger analysis.

Table 5.3.

Therapy-Related Discussion

| Therapy-Related                      | My Findings   | Breast Cancer   | Chronic<br>Disease                                    |
|--------------------------------------|---|---|---|
| Drug therapy<br>problems             | Having 4th drug<br>therapy problems<br>(OR 2.94)  | Drug taking<br>behavior/ attitude   | Drug taking<br>behavior/<br>attitude                  |
| Lifestyle Factor                     | *OET prescribed<br>medication is switched<br>(OR 2.65)  | Switching medications   | Switching<br>medications<br>(Only found<br>in Cancer) |
| Therapy Types<br>and<br>Combinations | Radiation before<br>Surgery (OR 2.00)<br>(Reference: no radiation<br>and/or surgery)<br>No systemic & surgical<br>therapy (OR 1.14)<br>Systemic therapy before<br>surgery (OR 1.19)<br>(Reference: having<br>systemic therapy after<br>surgery) | (Without specific<br>sequence)<br>No surgery<br>therapy1<br>No radiation<br>therapy1<br>No systemic<br>chemo therapy1 | -   |

My analysis of therapy-related factors showed the effects of changes in prescribed medication, different therapy types utilized by patients, and the number of drug therapy problems experienced by a patient on OET-NA, which is in line with previous studies (Adidja et al., 2019; Chew et al., 2009; Dashputre et al., 2020; Mathes et al., 2014a, Molnar et al., 2016; Murphy et al., 2012; Sabaté, 2003; Yussof et al., 2022).

Out of all possible medication regimens and/or therapy combinations, I found that changing a patient's prescribed medication during a regimen had the greatest impact on

OET-NA. I confirmed that switching medications was still the most critical variable in my post-hoc analysis. Many previous studies recognized this increased non-adherence risk factor, but they were only focused on either breast cancer or other cancer medications (Fernandez-Lazaro et al., 2019; Yussof et al., 2022). This switching of OET medications is frequently caused by a patient's desire to avoid side effects of their current OET medication; these side effects might have already been impacting medication adherence. Several articles discussed that medication side effects are determinants in cancer patients (Noens et al., 2009) and other chronic diseases (Adidja et al. (2018; Chew et al., 2009). Interestingly, these side effects can also lead to drug therapy problems.

In terms of drug therapy problems, I have found that patients with an increased number of DTP were likely to be in the OET-NA group compared to those not having DTP issues. Again, DTP indicates that a patient had drug therapy resolution interventions, and this can be initiated by healthcare providers or pharmacists when they were concerned about the patient's medication taking behavior (Westberg et al., 2017). Many previous studies discussed patients' attitudes by considering their past drug management/therapy problems-adherence (Finitsis et al., 2019; Lambert et al., 2018; Moon et al., 2017; Paranjpe et al., 2019; Peh et al., 2021). They found that having more drug problems in the past is associated with medication-NA in chronic diseases, indicating past behaviors may impact patients' future medication adherence issues in other circumstances as well. Often these past drug therapy problems were related to a patient's medication taking behavior, even if it started from the side-effects of medications (MacDonald et al., 2018). Several articles also discussed patients' attitudes due to past drug therapy and categorized it into the patient-related factor (Chen et al., 2018; Crawshaw et al., 2016; Mathes et al., 2014). However, this is a less studied area

and previous studies have used fewer objective measures, leading to a lack of evidence to support these conclusions. In my analysis, these DTP data were statistically significant, especially in multivariate analysis with the other therapy factors (See Figure 4.13). Other factors may have been attenuated with the other therapy-related variables when it all comes together in a big analysis. However, the odd ratio error bar is quite large and due to a small number of sample sizes, this result cannot be concluded. This means that we need to study more about this variable in the future in detail. Still, my finding is beneficial to increase more evidence about therapy-related factor in older women with breast cancer populations.

Lastly, different types of therapy are reported in older women with breast cancer populations. My study results identified that patients who had radiation before surgery are 100% more likely to be OET-NA compared to those who did not have radiation and/or surgery. This result indicates that patients who had radiation tend to be more non-adherent due to radiation side effects. For example, side effects of radiation such as extreme fatigue might make it more difficult for women who are starting their OET medication to be adherent (Dhruva et al., 2010). Also, my result found that patients who did not have systemic chemotherapy and/or surgical therapy had 14 % more OET-NA compared to patients who had systemic chemotherapy after surgery. Similarly, patients who had systemic chemotherapy before surgery were 19% more likely to be non-adherent to their OET medications compared to patients who had systemic chemotherapy after surgery. These results suggest that the combination/sequencing of systemic chemotherapy with other therapies can be less critical than the inclusion and timing of radiation therapy when it comes to OET-NA; this is important for patients considering this form of treatment. There are fewer studies that are focused on specific sequences of these types of therapy, so my finding can be

useful to understand older breast cancer populations. Previous studies were more focused on

either having specific therapy or not, rather than combining it with different therapy

sequences (Yussof et al., 2022).

### Table 5.4.

#### Condition-Related Discussion

| Condition-    | My Findings   | Breast   | Chronic   |
|---------------|---|--|---|
| Related       |   | Cancer   | Disease   |
| Disease       | *Stage II (OR 1.10)   | Stage IV,  | -   |
| Characteristi | Stage IV (OR 1.38)  | Earlier stage  |   |
| c             | (reference: Stage I)  | (I or II)  |   |
| Comorbidity   | AMI (OR 1.38), PVD (OR 1.19), *Obesity<br>(OR 1.10), Migraine (OR 1.20), Liver<br>disease (OR 1.12), No HTN (OR 1.08), No<br>HLD (OR 1.09), Fibromyalgia (OR 1.20),<br>Epilepsy (OR 1.52), Diabetes (OR 1.08),<br>COPD (OR 1.20), CHF (OR 1.13), Anemia<br>(OR 1.15), Hip Fracture (OR 2.21),<br>Ulcers (OR 1.44) | Overweight<br>or obese<br>No HTN<br>Cardiopulmo<br>nary<br>comorbidities | CVD-<br>risk<br>(CAD,<br>HTN,<br>diabetes,<br>and<br>HLD) |

Abbreviations are acute myocardial infarction (AMI) hyperlipidemia (HLD) hypertension (HTN), human immunodeficiency virus/ acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (HIV/AIDS), coronary artery disease (CAD), congested heart failure (CHF), cardiovasicular disease (CVD), peripheral vascular disease (PVD)

Condition-related factors included disease characteristics and comorbidity factors.

Comorbidities were all positively related with medication-NA in any chronic disease

population throughout all the studies (Bosco-Levy et al., 2016; Farias et al., 2018b; Hagen et

al., 2019; Halli-Tierney et al., 2019; Tan et al., 2021; Ma et al., 2020; Peh et al., 2021;

Pranjpe et al., 2019; Sabaté, 2003; Wulaningsih et al., 2018; Yussof et al., 2022).

Concerning disease characteristics, I investigated patient's cancer stage. From my

analysis, I found that patients with Stage II and Stage IV cancer were more likely to be non-

adherent than Stage I. Stage III cancer was not statistically significantly correlated with OET-NA, but individuals in Stage II were less likely to be OET-NA when compared to individuals in Stage I of their cancer. I compared these results with previous studies with divided trends of OET-NA; Stage II and IV are both stronger OET-NA determinants for older women with breast cancer populations (Haskins et al., 2019; Hagen et al., 2022; Wang & Du, 2015; Wulaningsih et al., 2018; Yussof et al., 2022).

When it comes to comorbidity factors, almost all comorbidities were a risk factor for OET-NA; however, obesity was a significant determinant of OET-NA in both comorbidity category analysis (Table 4.17) and post-hoc analysis (Table 4.21). In comorbidity analysis, hip-fractures had by far the worst rates of non-adherence. Patients with hip fractures were twice as likely to be non-adherent. Also, the cardiovascular, and cardiopulmonary disease groups were recognized as having a risk factor (e.g., AMI, CHF, COPD, and PVD). Specifically, about 40% of AMI patients were more likely to be non-adherent than patients without this condition. Interestingly, patients who did not have hypertension or hyperlipidemia were more likely to be non-adherent than those experiencing those symptoms. This result may be affected by the fact that the majority of breast cancer patients (more than 60%) have hypertensions and hyperlipidemia. All other comorbidities showed only a 10-30% increase in a patient's likelihood of non-adherence.

These comorbidity results corresponded with several breast cancer studies focused on comorbidity factors such as having obesity, and cardiopulmonary disease risk (Yussof et al., 2022), and no hypertension (Sella et al., 2020). Furthermore, several previous studies emphasized that cardiovascular disease (CVD), diabetes, and hyperlipidemia are common comorbidities, and these are common comorbidities for cancer patients as well (Cho et al.,

2018; Zullig et al., 2022). Specifically, cancer patients with CVD or CVD risk factor-related comorbidities (i.e., diabetes, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia) had an increase medication-NA in general (Zullig et al., 2022). Specifically for breast cancer patients, osteoporosis is counted as another important comorbidity since OET increases risk of bone loss and exacerbates osteoporosis (Perez et al., 2006). Our data did not show associations on OET-NA with osteoporosis or hyperlipidemia, but CVD related factors were recognized as a strong determinant. Several previous literatures discussed that CVD risk is related with OET-NA due to alteration of gynecological effects with it (Lacrossi et al., 2018; Ma et al., 2021, Meneveau et al., 2020; Yussof et al., 2022).

Table 5.5.

| Healthcare<br>team/system -<br>Related      | My Findings   | Breast Cancer               | Chronic Disease   |
|---|---|-----------------------------|---|
| Healthcare<br>team<br>characteristi<br>cs   | *Institution provider (shares<br>patients) (OR 1.54)<br>(reference: solo practitioner)  | -                           | Increased<br>complexity in the<br>provider team (only<br>found in Cancer<br>study)  |
| Healthcare<br>system<br>characteristi<br>cs | Subject to deductible<br>(OR 1.25),<br>Coinsurance \$20-40 (OR 1.31),<br>Coinsurance \$20-40 (OR 1.17)<br>(Reference: having no<br>coinsurance payments group<br>variables, and not subject to<br>deductible) | Increased out-<br>of-pocket | Insurance types,<br>increased<br>coinsurance,<br>copayments,<br>deductibles or caps |

Healthcare Team/System -Related Discussion

Health care team/system-related factors included CMR provider types, provider partnership status, and co-insurance amount with deductible status. Two factors are consistently recognized as important health care team factors in chronic diseases: (a) the historical amount of patient sharing among providers and (b) prescribing provider's practice area or medication reviewing healthcare professionals (Bosco-Levy et al., 2016; Guedes et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2020; Moon et al., 2017; Lambert -Côté et al., 2020; Lin et al., 2017; Peh et al., 2021; Paranjpe et al., 2019; Sabaté, 2003; Trabulsi et al., 2014).

In terms of healthcare team characteristics, I have found that patients having multiple providers can increase the risk of OET-NA. This understudied risk factor may be due to the increased communication required between providers when many are involved in a patient's care (Lambert-Kerzner et al., 2015; Marques & Pierin, 2008). For example, some studies discovered that patients with chronic diseases feel unable to discuss their medication concerns with healthcare providers due to a limited trust-based patient-provider communication relationship and the same trends were also recognized in cancer studies (Lin et al., 2017; Moon et al., 2017). These lower levels of trust between patient and provider may come from the fact that patients are not consistently interacting with the same provider and therefore cannot build a stable relationship. While this is a very important issue, it remains understudied because of the difficulty of observing patient-provider relationships, leading to limited sample sizes and incoherent research designs that use subjective measures. Also, there was an insignificant statistical result that when physician review medication, patients are likely to be OET-NA compared to when nurses and nurse practitioners review patient's medications. It is important to continue investigate these correlations in the future, since several literatures discussed that nurses tend to provide more effective educations than other professions including medication educations (Hesshmati Nabavi et al., 2016).

Concerning healthcare system characteristics, my results indicated that Medicare insurance is associated with OET-NA; this was found in other breast cancer and chronic

disease studies as well (Mathes et al., 2014b). My study concurs with existing studies, but increases generalizability due to larger sample sizes Also, there were trends that patients with lower amounts of co-insurance or those who were subject to meet deductibles are more likely to be OET-NA compared to patients who have no coinsurance or their payment was covered by Medicare after deductible. Coinsurance is defined as a percentage of the cost that a patient needs to pay (Schmidt & Hogan, 2000). Some studies suggested that patients were likely to have secondary insurance coverage, such as other private insurance, when their coinsurance payments were higher than usual amount (Schmidt & Hogan, 2000). Unfortunately, I did not have secondary insurance information in the Medicare dataset, but these results suggested that patients who have lower coinsurance may not have secondary insurance. These patients may struggle to pay their bills out of pocket, and this can eventually increase their risk of OET-NA, as our data shows. Moreover, Mathes (2014b) found that higher co-payments with Medicare or private insurance always positively impacts medication-NA in chronic disease (Bosco-Levy et al., 2016; Ma et al., 2020; Yussof et al., 2022). The data collected on CMR provider types did not show any statically significant results, making it difficult to have any conclusions about this factor's effect on OET-NA. Sample sizes were too small (e.g., 151 Nurse practitioners, 15 Physicians, 14 pharmacists) to conclude the relationship between CMR provider's characteristics and patients' OET-NA. Provider partnership status analyzed the way patients being seen by multiple providers (e.g., multiple providers working in the same group clinic or institution) effected the likelihood of OET-NA. I found a positive correlation between instances where a patient does not consistently receive care from the same provider and OET-NA. Moreover, OET-NA patients were likely to be qualified for the deductible before Medicare starts helping to pay their bills. Finally, no statistically

significant data were found concerning co-insurance-related variables based on information from the NCH database. This indicates that even these results of health care system may impact on OET-NA; however, we cannot conclude this in my study. Previous study has found some positive relationship with these factors; however, all the studies utilized less than 1,000 samples to investigate this problem (Dashputre et al., 2020; Lafeuille et al., 2014; Sheppard et al., 2019; Tang et al., 2018).

My post-hoc analysis result confirmed the same trends of finding from univariate and small group of multivariate analysis. I found obesity, Stage II, Black ethnic group, alcohol or tobacco users, non-married status, switched OET medications, having multiple providers, and depressions to be determinants of OET-NA. Interestingly, obesity, Stage II cancer, and being in the Black ethnic group remained the strongest factors of OET-NA, in keeping with prior analyses. However, some other factors were stronger determinants of OET-NA in conjunction with each other than alone, even when the followed the same trends as previous analyses. For example, while non-married status is a known factor of OET-NA, patients who were single or divorced were more likely to be OET-NA when looking at all factors together than those who were widowed or separated. I have also found that if the univariate of variables were not statistically significant due to small sample sizes, post-hoc analysis showed the same results on those small sample variables. For example, American Indian/Alaskan Natives group (0.32%) and living in the rural areas (1.06%) in the category of race and living status respectively. It is valuable to understand the data characteristics in one category; however, we cannot ignore the variance and other confounder effects when we analyze together amongst larger groups of other categorical data (Pourhoseingholi et al., 2012). In terms of fitting, pseudo-R squared was 0.023, which indicates that it may have

more variance in the independent variable associated with the dependent variables (IBM, n.d.). Small sample sizes of the American Indian/Alaskan Natives group (0.32%) and living in the rural areas (1.06%) in the category cause this big variance on certain variables. Many clinical studies likely to have low pseudo-R squared such as 0.02 value because the focus of the result is identifying significant relationship (p<0.05) rather than providing better prediction in this case by using logistic regression (Desai et al., 2018; Grace-Martin, 2019). Even though some categories had small sample sizes compared to others, it is critical to include those data into our study as long as it had statistically significant results (i.e., therapy-related and healthcare team/system-related determinants), since these factors were less studied compared to other factors in previous literature. From this reason, we cannot generalize this result.

Surprising facts that I have found from this study were that switching OET medications consistently were shown as a strong factor of OET-NA. Also, many patientrelated factors are more strongly linked back with condition-related problems in older women with breast cancer. For example, mobility issues were significantly related to certain comorbidities such as ulcers. This suggests that it is beneficial to perform a future network analytics study which can explain the strength and flow of interrelationships between variables. It was also confirmed that previous studies' trends of OET-NA were valid, and that new factors were discovered (i.e., Bipolar disorder, ADHD, hearing impairments, and mobility impairments, alcohol use and opioid drug use, multiple providers, comorbidities).

### Strengths

A strength of my study is that I used both the MPR and the PDC methods, unlike many other studies that used just the MPR method to calculate medication adherence rates.

This PDC method compensates for the several issues that come with only using the MPR method and it is a newer method to calculate medication adherence rates. Furthermore, the PDC method provides more accurate adherence rates than the MPR method by reducing errors that were often shown as over-adherence in the MPR method by adding all up the overlapped prescription dates as extra dates of adherence. Since many previous older studies (published before 2015) utilized the MPR method most frequently, it benefited my study to compare results of OET-NA rates in the last ten years. I confirmed that the MPR methods created over-adherence of OET, which corresponds that many breast cancer patients were likely to pick their medications up earlier than suggested dates.

Moreover, our study results were more generalizable since it matches with national breast cancer samples. For example, national data of breast cancer ethnicity were 60.43% Non-Hispanic White, 13.70 % Non-Hispanic African American, 6.70% Non-Hispanic Asian and Pacific Islander and 18.33% as Hispanics (CDC, 2020). Our sample's ethnicity was 82.62% White, 11.06 % African American, 5.97% Asian or Pacific Islander, and 0.35% American Indian/Alaska Native. Considering Hispanics into White group, as many previous studies showed that Hispanic mostly identify them as White (Liu, 2014), national data of White would become 79%, which is very similar as our sample of percentage. Other ethnic groups percentages are very similar as national data.

Previously, the biggest sample sizes were identified as less than 20,000 patients in my literature review in Chapter 2. This is critical research since no other studies worked on big data analysis to understand OET-NA phenomena as a comprehensive study.

Lastly, this study utilized binary logistic statistical regression to analyze OR via Python computing programs with MongoDB. This regression modeling was able to compute

big data quickly by using flexible databases, which is a NoSQL system. The SQL is created in the 1970's to optimize storage and stability but has a too rigid structure that needs high maintenance for expertise; however, NoSQL databases have developed in flexible structures around 2000 to allow different types of data models, scale horizontally, and have incredibly fast queries (Ali et al., 2019). No previous studies worked on this OET-NA analysis in the nursing science field utilizing these powerful tools to understand big data collections.

#### Limitations

Several limitations were noted in this study. First, the results may not be generalized to other patients or those not enrolled in Medicare Part D. According to the Department of Health and Human Services in USA (2022), 74% of 63 million Medicare beneficiaries enrolled in Medicare Part D in 2019. This is still a very large number compared to other previous studies. Second, some missing data may increase the risk of bias on multivariate analysis across the different multi-level factors. Unfortunately, some multi-level data (e.g., marriage status, therapy combinations, insurance claims directly link with prescriptions) have about 40% missing data. This missing data may increase the risk of bias to interpretate the result. To avoid any other risks of understanding this data, I utilized the Phyton program to run the completeness test of entire samples and removed any missing data to calculate the accurate information rather than making imputation from unknown data. For these reasons, I only retrieved about 35,326 patients' data for my post-hoc analysis from all multi-level systems such as patient-related, socioeconomic-related, therapy-related, condition-related and health care team/system-related level systems. Third, there could be some potential unmeasured confounders that affected the study's findings. For example, provider's specialty was found to be a significant factor affecting OET-NA from the literature review; however, it

was inconclusive due to a large number of missing linkages between Medicare Part D data and insurance claims (NCH) databases, where the provider's specialty information was saved. Also, the NCH database didn't share what type of co-insurance the patients used. Moreover, there was no information to track the patient's provider for medication prescriptions and its exact insurance claims. Unfortunately, the NCH database includes all insurance data together without the type of detail breakdown needed for my study. Fourth, this study did not include each phase of medication adherence in relation to an individual's initiation, implementation, and discontinuation. This was not included in our research question, but it can provide more information to investigate what adherence phase has the greatest OET-NA. Lastly, prescription refill data is an indirect method, and it cannot accurately capture the real-time medication administration data. One of the biggest biases of this method assumes that prescription-refilling data correspond to the patient's medicationtaking behavior (Lam & Fresco, 2015). For example, this method assumes initiation phase of medication adherence from ABC taxonomy. Specifically, we do not know that when the medication is taken exactly as prescribed as long as patients are picking up their medication. This method could not discover partial NA during the prescription supply period.

### Implications

### **Nursing Practice**

There are several possible implications for nursing clinical practice related to OET-NA determinants with breast cancer. It is critical to have these results because no previous studies focused on identifying ten years of OET-NA rates, partially since it is a new recommendation of treatment. While this ten-year recommendation is not yet the standard for OET use by international guidelines, some patients are already taking the OET for up to ten years. Our study found that about 40% of breast cancer patients in 2019 were taking OET for five to ten years. This suggests that health care professionals, including nurses, need more information to support patients' new treatment recommendation, especially since almost half of the breast cancer patients are already taking OET for more than five years.

Also, our study used most recent breast cancer patient data compared to previous studies; we focused on data from 2019, which is the most updated available from the SEER Medicare database (released early 2023). This allows nurse researchers and nurses to see the most recent trends of OET-NA in a large sample that can be applied to nursing practices. Moreover, this study allows nurse researchers and nurses to understand OET-NA determinants quickly by breaking down the information into categories so that it can easily be applied back to nursing interventions and practices. Identifying OET-NA rates and multi-level determinants of OET-NA will be the first step in developing and testing interventions to improve OET adherence in breast cancer patients, which has the potential to decrease morbidity and mortality, and increase QOL. This study identified that five categorizes of OET-NA determinants to support building more robust nursing interventions. By utilizing these known determinants, nurse researchers and nurses can utilize tailored OET-NA interventions for breast cancer patients, including patients whose treatment regimens have been extended from five to ten years.

Moreover, my statistical analysis tool can provide prediction modelling from logistic regression analysis. This prediction modeling tool can support building tailored nursing interventions by providing three to four predicted determinants when researchers enter one factor. For example, if a researcher submits that a patient is of American Indian/Alaska Native ethnic group, the prediction modeling tool might suggest that the patient may also be

living in a rural area, be diagnosed with anxiety and/or have comorbidities, specifically diabetes and/or hypertension. Therefore, it will be possible to adopt tailored nursing interventions more widely and in bigger samples quicker.

Emphasizing multi-level influences is critical for nursing research because nurses are uniquely positioned to assist patients in changing medication adherence behaviors to improve QOL and outcomes. Nurses can coach patients at each of the factor levels (patient-related, condition-related, therapy-related, socioeconomic-related, and health care team/systemrelated factors) to influence their behavior changes. When it comes to older woman with breast cancer specifically, nurses can promote OET adherence behavior, leading more breast cancer patients to eventually enhance their QOL and decrease recurrence rates, mortality, and medical costs.

#### Nursing Theory

Existing studies have commonly overlooked multi-level determinants, even though medication-NA is a complex problem that is influenced by multi-level determinants like patient-related, socio-economic-related, therapy-related, condition-related, and healthcare team/system-related factors. Specifically, no previous OET-NA studies utilized theoretical frameworks such as the WHO's FDM or Bronfenbrenner's EST. This study utilized both of these frameworks to better understand potential multi-level influences of OET-NA determinants. Bronfenbrenner's EST supported the use of FDM to enhance our understanding of OET-NA determinants. Investigating FDM factors will help nurses understand the current issue of OET-NA among breast cancer patients more clearly. The blueprint I have created of multi-level determinants can guide nurses to educate their patients on the importance of medication adherence to treat breast cancer. This blueprint can be

utilized to create tailored nursing interventions for specific vulnerable populations. These results will be especially useful to nurse researchers who create their OET-NA interventions using Bronfenbrenner's EST and/or WHO's FDM because that will build upon the existing foundation of the theoretical framework.

## **Nursing Policy**

Two of the health care team/system subfactors analyzed in this study have meaningful implications for nursing policy. First, this study attempted to find a trend that when nurses or nurse practitioners reviewed patients' medications with them, their OET-NA rates were lower because patients are more adherent with OET when it is the nurses and/or nurse practitioners who review their medication with them as opposed to other healthcare professionals such as physicians and pharmacists (Hesshmati Nabavi et al., 2016). These finding would be critical to support nurses' efforts to education and guide patients concerning their medications. It would be beneficial to implement a nursing policy to reinforce patient education and guidance in nursing practices because it would increase adherence not only among breast cancer patients taking OET but across the board.

Second, this study found an association between fewer Medicare claims support and increased OET-NA. When reviewing the insurance claim (NCH) and medication management (PDEMTM) database, I found there was no specific field or variable where nurses, or other healthcare professionals, could record or confirm to support patients' insurance claims in any form. It would be beneficial if nursing policy could allow for nurses to access and document insurance claim issues for non-adherent patients so that they could identify potential determinants for medication-NA. Sometimes, breast cancer patients are struggling to pay for medication or have other concerns that involve insurance that led them

to be non-adherent. If nurses could work with these patients to fill out claims and answer questions, there would be an increase in OET adherence.

### **Future Research**

First, I would like to have an ethnic group focused study to pinpoint links between Black ethnic group patients and other determinants for OET-NA. This is important information to discover; however, there was no clear previous study research about this topic in a large sample. Second, if in the future, the SEER Medicare team would be interested in linking the two sets of database information together, I would use that new dataset to do a trajectory analysis of medication adherences and create more conclusive data. Third, I would like to apply the statistical physics network analytic tool to see the interactions between all of the determinants. I wish to find why several determinants were more strongly related than others and how they interact in order to cause higher rates of OET-NA (i.e., divorce with psychological symptoms, which is known in previous small size sample study (Xu & Wang, 2019). Fourth, I would like to conduct a more detailed medication adherence study in relation to the effects of individuals' initiation, implementation, and discontinuation of medication-NA. I want to work on finding determinants with these different types of adherences. Lastly, I would like to apply our study to ten years' or more worth of medication adherence data and compare the results concerning the determinants identified in this study since this study focused on the most recent year of OET-NA determinants.

#### Conclusions

The OET-NA rates in 2019 SEER Medicare database was 6.35% among breast cancer populations. The study found that ethnicity, marital status, lifestyle (using drug and tobacco), changed prescribed medication, having psychological symptoms and diseases, having cognitive issues, having comorbidities, having more drug therapy problems, and having insurance issues significantly affected OET-NA among breast cancer patients, which aligned with my Chapter 2: Literature Review. My result confirmed previous literature that has conducted studies with small sample sizes among breast cancer patients. These results were more generalizable than previous studies since this study used much larger samples. My study confirmed that breast cancer patient's medication-NA determinants were different than other chronic disease. This indicates that it is critical to investigate different factors on specific diseases and have tailored nursing interventions to increase medication adherence. This study is critical since it also suggests that we can expand this study to build a program to have predicting modeling analysis for tailored nursing intervention on specific keywords. Future studies will confirm how strongly these determinants were linked and related to each other to provide better information about OET-NA factors depending on their medication adherence phase.

# APPENDIX

# APPENDIX A: Literature Review Articles

# Matrix 1: Medication Adherence in Chronic Disease (20 articles)

| Author/Year/  | Sample/Satting               | Instruments/ Methods                  | Posults                                | Kov Findings                             |
|---------------|------------------------------|---------------------------------------|--|--|
| Design        | Sample/ Setting              | Instruments/ Wiethous                 | Kesuits                                | Key Findings                             |
| Adidja et al. | • N=183                      | Adherence measure: Morisky            | Non-adherence rate: 66.6%              | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
| (2018)        | hypertensive                 | medication adherence scale            | • Forgetfulness, multiple daily doses, | non-adherence:                           |
|               | patients (Mean age =         |                                       | lack of finances, and side effects of  | financial constraints,                   |
| • Design:     | 60 years old, Female         | • Focused on patient, therapy and     | drugs were                             | medication side                          |
| cross-        | 65%)                         | socioeconomic-related factors         | associated with non-adherence.         | effects                                  |
| sectional     |                              |                                       |  |  |
|               | <ul> <li>Cameroon</li> </ul> | • No theory utilized                  |  |  |
|               |                              |                                       |  |  |
|               |                              |                                       |  |  |
| Al-Noumani et | • N= 45 hypertensive         | Adherence measure: Morisky            | • Non-adherence rate: about 50% of     | Higher self-efficacy                     |
| al. (2016)    | patients (Mean               | medication adherence scale            | antihypertensive medicine.             | and stronger health                      |
|               | age=52, Female               | • Other measure: Beliefs about        |  | beliefs regarding                        |
| • Design:     | 64%)                         | Medicines Questionnaire, Brief        |  | medication necessity                     |
| cross-        |                              | Illness Perception Questionnaire and  |  | were significantly                       |
| sectional     | • Oman                       | the revised Medication Adherence      |  | related to adherence                     |
|               |                              | Self-Efficacy Scale                   |  |  |
|               |                              | • Focused on patient-related factors  |  |  |
|               |                              | (health belief such as effectiveness, |  |  |
|               |                              | concerns of medication, self-         |  |  |
|               |                              | efficacy)                             |  |  |
|               |                              | • Utilized the common-sense self-     |  |  |
|               |                              | regulation model                      |  |  |

| Bane et al.    | • N= 139                             | • Adherence measure: some data (n=      | • Non-adherence rate: $20.9\%$ (n = 29)        | <ul> <li>Adherent patients</li> </ul>    |
|----------------|--------------------------------------|---|--|--|
| (2006)         | hypertensive                         | 40) from past medication records in     | (Definition of non-adherence: patients         | have higher levels of                    |
| • Design:      | patients (Mean                       | the Belfast City Hospital between       | are taking of medication less than             | self-efficacy                            |
| cross-         | age=52, Female                       | June 2000 to October 2001, other        | 80% in recommended regimens)                   | <ul> <li>Experiencing</li> </ul>         |
| sectional      | 50%)                                 | data (n=99) from Morisky                | • Adherence was related to intentions          | symptoms                                 |
|                |                                      | medication adherence scale              | (the effect size, $b = 0.54$ ) and by the      | (headaches,                              |
|                | <ul> <li>Northern Ireland</li> </ul> | • Other measure: Self-efficacy scale,   | measure of subjective norms (b =               | dizziness) of                            |
|                |                                      | Theory of Planned Behavior              | 0.19), which is the person's                   | hypertension are                         |
|                |                                      | questionnaire                           | perception of social pressure from             | positively associated                    |
|                |                                      | • Focused on patient-related factors    | significant others to perform the              | with adherent with                       |
|                |                                      | Self-efficacy Theory of planned         | behavior.                                      | their prescribed                         |
|                |                                      | behavior                                |  | medication                               |
| Broekmans et   | • N= 14 articles of                  | • Adherence measure: self-report,       | • Pain intensity (measured with a              | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
| al. (2008)     | adult patients with                  | questionnaires, MEMS, pill count,       | numeric rating scale), pain duration           | non-adherence:                           |
|                | chronic non-                         | refill data, urine screening.           | and  | younger age, duration                    |
| • Design:      | malignant pain and                   |   | educational level did not correlate with       | of disease, male                         |
| systematic     | taking prescribed                    |   | adherence (Berndt et al., 1993).               | gender, different                        |
| review         | pain medication, all                 |   | • The pain medication non-adherence            | medications                              |
| (quantitative  | published before                     |   | ranges from 7.7% to 52.9%.                     |  |
| studies)       | 2006.                                |   |  |  |
| Cedillo-       | • N=3,305 chronic                    | Adherence measure: Self-reported        | • 32% of the patients were non-                | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
| Couvert et al. | kidney disease                       | medication adherence                    | adherent                                       | non-adherence:                           |
| (2018)         | patients from 2003                   | • 3 items as high, medium (only         | <ul> <li>Strong association between</li> </ul> | greater comorbidity                      |
|                | to 2008 (Mean                        | forgetting a pill at least 1 day in the | intentional nonadherence and adverse           | burden, racial/ethnic                    |
| • Design:      | age=59, Female                       | past week were categorized), low        | outcomes.                                      | minorities                               |
| Prospective    | 45%) in the USA                      | adherence. (Purposefully adding or      | • Low medication adherence is an               |  |
| observational  | (multicenter)                        | missing a pill 1 day or more in the     | underrecognized but important risk             |  |
|                |                                      | past week)                              | factor for CKD progression.                    |  |
|                |                                      | • No theory utilized                    |  |  |

| Chen et al.    | • N=277 Taiwanese   | • Adherence measure: The             | • 17.7% of the patients were non-    | Symptoms                                 |
|----------------|---------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--|
| (2009)         | hypertensive        | Medication Adherence Inventory       | adherent (taking less than 80% of    | experienced after a                      |
| • Design:      | patients (Mean      | • Other measure: Illness perception  | their antihypertensive medications). | hypertension                             |
| cross-         | age=66, Female      | questionnaire                        |                                      | diagnosis, symptoms                      |
| sectional      | 40%)                | • Focused on patient-related factors |                                      | for blood pressure                       |
|                |                     |                                      |                                      | prediction, personal                     |
|                |                     |                                      |                                      | control, balance and                     |
|                |                     |                                      |                                      | cultural causal                          |
|                |                     |                                      |                                      | attribution were                         |
|                |                     |                                      |                                      | significant predictors                   |
|                |                     |                                      |                                      | of adherence to self-                    |
|                |                     |                                      |                                      | management                               |
| Chew et al.    | • N=700 Malaysian   | Adherence measure: Morisky           | • 43.53% of the patients were non-   | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
| (2015)         | type 2 diabetes     | medication adherence scale           | adherent (MMAS <6)                   | non-adherence: being                     |
| • Design:      | patients (Age older | • Other measure: Diabetes Distress   | • Older patients (over 60) were more | a younger adult with                     |
| cross-         | 60=26.1%, Age 51-   | Scale, The World Health              | non-adherent than younger patients.  | T2D, higher income,                      |
| sectional      | 60= 39%, Age        | Organization Quality of Life-Brief   | • most of the patients were non-     | and depressive                           |
|                | younger then $50 =$ | score, Patient Health Questionnaire  | smokers and undertook some           | symptoms were                            |
|                | 26.1%, Female       |                                      | exercise; about 80% reported having  | significant                              |
|                | 52.8%)              |                                      | hypertension but antihypertensive    | independent                              |
|                |                     |                                      | usage was almost 90%                 | determinants                             |
| Colbert et al. | • N= 302 (Mean      | • Adherence measure: data from       | •The mean adherence based on         | <ul> <li>Higher medication-</li> </ul>   |
| (2013)         | age=68, Female      | electronic event monitoring from     | electronic event monitoring was      | taking self- efficacy                    |
| • Design:      | 63%) African        | January 2004-December 2007 in        | 67.71 %.                             | was associated with                      |
| cross-         | American and White  | clinical study (2R01NR04749), Self-  | •About 80% (n=241) of participants   | higher medication                        |
| sectional,     | American            | Efficacy Beliefs subscale of the HIV | are recorded as non-adherent (HIV    | adherence; however,                      |
| retrospective  | HIV/AIDS patients   | Self-Efficacy Scale for Medication   | studies generally considers cut-off  | functional health                        |
| secondary      | (Mean age=52,       | Taking (Cronbach's alpha of 0.95)    | point is 95% or higher)              | literacy was not                         |
| data analysis  | Female 56%)         | (Erlen et al. 2010).                 |                                      | significantly related                    |
|                |                     |                                      |                                      | to either medication                     |

|  | • Western<br>Pennsylvania and<br>eastern Ohio, U. S.<br>A   | <ul> <li>Focused on patient and<br/>socioeconomic-related factors</li> <li>Social Cognitive Theory</li> </ul> |   | adherence or self-<br>efficacy beliefs.  |
|--|---|---|---|--|
| Crawshaw et<br>al. (2016)                            | • N= 17 articles, adult<br>patients (> 18 years<br>old) after acute   | • Adherence measure: self-report,<br>questionnaires (Brief Medication<br>Questionnaire, MMAS, MEMS            | • 8 out of 10 studies found an association between depression and non-adherence.  | • Factors related with<br>non-adherence:<br>Cognitive-related  |
| • Design:<br>systematic<br>review &<br>meta-analysis | coronary syndrome<br>(myocardial<br>infarction and/or<br>unstable angina)<br>between 2000 and<br>2014<br>• USA (n=9), Europe<br>(n=6), Israel (n=1),<br>China (n=1),<br>Argentina & Brazil<br>(n=1) | (80% cutoff), medication adherence<br>report scale, and medical outcome<br>study specific adherence scale).   | <ul> <li>A meta-analysis result showed that<br/>depressed patients were twice as<br/>likely to be non-adherent compared to<br/>patients without depression.</li> <li>3 out of 3 studies reported that<br/>treatment medication beliefs-related,<br/>and social support were associated<br/>with better adherence.</li> <li>Insufficient data for meta-analyses</li> </ul> | factors (i.e., Beliefs,<br>perceptions, and<br>attitudes) towards<br>cardiac treatment,<br>mood-related factors<br>(i.e., depression,<br>comorbidities with<br>psychosocial<br>symptoms, and social<br>support |
| Dennis et al.  | • N =608 Urban  | Adherence measure: Brief Medication Questionnaire   | • About 50% of patients were non-   | • Finical reasons and  |
| • Design:  | patients (Mean<br>age=58, Female  | Focused on patient and<br>socioeconomic-related factors   | • Non-adherent factors: Belief barrier<br>(39.14%), access barrier (82.57%),  | forgetfulness) are<br>most cited factors   |
| cross-<br>sectional                                  | 49%)  | • No theory utilized  | recall barrier (62.17%), financial<br>related reasons (54.93%)  | without considering<br>rural and<br>demographic<br>backgrounds in<br>hypertension<br>management  |

| Fernandez-    | • N =299 adult        | Adherence measure: Morisky-                       | • 44.5% of participants were non-       | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
|---------------|-----------------------|---|---|--|
| Lazaro et al. | patients with chronic | Green-Levine questionnaire                        | adherent                                | non-adherence:                           |
| (2019)        | condition(s) who are  |   | • Patient-related (functional indecency | younger age (mean                        |
|               | prescribed            | • Focused on patient, socioeconomic,              | using the Barthel index, the use of     | age 62) than older                       |
| • Design:     | medication in         | healthcare team and healthcare                    | aids such as reminders, knowledge of    | age (mean age 69),                       |
| cross-        | primary healthcare    | system-related factors                            | medications, quality of life),          | higher number of                         |
| sectional     | centers of Spain      |   | socioeconomical-related (gender, age,   | pharmacies used for                      |
|               | (Mean age=66,         | <ul> <li>WHO's multi-dimensional model</li> </ul> | immigration status, income, living      | medication refills,                      |
|               | Female =48.5%)        | (FDM)   | alone, education level), condition-     | less having treatment                    |
|               |                       |   | related (# of chronic conditions,       | information, less                        |
|               |                       |   | adjusted morbidity group, lifestyle     | having adequate                          |
|               |                       |   | behavior such as alcohol, tobacco use,  | knowledge about                          |
|               |                       |   | levels of physical activity), therapy-  | medication regimen,                      |
|               |                       |   | related (# of prescriptions, pills,     | and less self-                           |
|               |                       |   | injection use, inhaler use), healthcare | perception of a good                     |
|               |                       |   | team and system-related (frequency      | quality of life                          |
|               |                       |   | of follow up, patient-provider          |  |
|               |                       |   | communication, perceived quality of     |  |
|               |                       |   | healthcare delivery, educational        |  |
|               |                       |   | pamphlets were received) related        |  |
|               |                       |   | factors                                 |  |
|               |                       |   |   |  |
| Gast &        | • N =21 systematic    | • Adherence measure: direct (level in             | • Higher education, employment,         | • Factors related with                   |
| Mathes        | reviews which         | the blood) and indirect (self-report,             | higher financial status and             | non-adherence: less                      |
| (2019)        | include adult         | PDC, MEMS, pill count, MPR)                       | marriage/partnership                    | socioeconomic status,                    |
|               | patients (≥16 years)  | measures.   | mostly showed a positive effect on      | less social support, an                  |
| • Design:     | with chronic disease  |   | adherence, the impact was unclear       | ethnic minority,                         |
| systematic    |                       |   | because of the high uncertainty of the  | depressions, Co-                         |
| review        |                       |   | underlying evidence                     | payments (any or                         |
|               |                       |   |   | higher)                                  |

|  |   |  | <ul> <li>Therapy-related factors (e.g., intake regime) and disease-related factors (e.g., duration) mostly showed no impact on adherence.</li> <li>Analysis of gender showed inconsistent.</li> <li>Impacts of other mental and physical comorbidities were uncertain.</li> <li>The impacts of medication costs and insurance status were uncertain</li> </ul> |   |
|--|---|--|--|---|
| Hansen et al.<br>(2015)<br>• <b>Design:</b><br>retrospective<br>secondary<br>data analysis | • N =7,933<br>cardiometabolic<br>conditioned U.S.<br>veterans (including<br>diabetes,<br>hypertension,<br>dyslipidemia, and<br>heart failure) from<br>2008 to 2010 (Mean<br>age=66, Female<br>=48.5%) | <ul> <li>Adherence measure: veteran<br/>administrative claim data using<br/>continuous multiple-interval gap<br/>(non-adherence was defined as a gap<br/>≥20% or, refill adherence &gt;80%)</li> <li>The number of cardiometabolic<br/>conditions at baseline was a sum of<br/>the 4 conditions examined<br/>(hypertension, diabetes,<br/>dyslipidemia, and heart failure).</li> <li>No theory utilized</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>The measured tools of administrative claims—based continuous multiple-interval gap was effective with identifying adherence tendency.</li> <li>The refill adherence improved with the number of cardiometabolic conditions.</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Patient's<br/>cardiometabolic<br/>conditions may not<br/>be a significant factor<br/>of medication<br/>adherence.</li> <li>Number of<br/>prescribers were not<br/>significant predictors<br/>of refill adherence in<br/>this study.</li> </ul> |
| Hiko et al.<br>(2012)  | • N =9 articles<br>include adults living<br>with HIV/AIDS   | • Meta-analysis was conducted using fixed and random effects model with mantel Haenszel method.  | • White adults were 1.38 times more<br>likely to non-adherent when<br>compared with black adults living<br>with HIV/ AIDS.   | • Factors related with<br>non-adherence: Being<br>White, Non-<br>depressed, using   |

| • Design:      | (aged ≥18 years)       | • Studies identifying determinants of | Non-depressed adults were 1.77           | substances, and                          |
|----------------|------------------------|---------------------------------------|--|--|
| systematic     | who                    | non-compliance regarding              | times more likely to non-adherent        | higher CD4 counts                        |
| review and     | receiving              | antiretroviral therapy                | when compared with depressed adults      |  |
| meta analysis  | antiretroviral         | (socioeconomic-related,               | living with HIV/AIDS.                    |  |
| (prospective   | therapy between        | health service-related, psychosocial- | • Substance non-user were 2.04 times     |  |
| &              | 1997 to 2011           | and behavioral-related and clinical-  | more likely to non-comply when           |  |
| retrospective  | • USA, Dominican       | related outcome measures)             | compared with substance user adults      |  |
| studies, case- | republic, Ethiopia,    |                                       | living with HIV/ AIDS                    |  |
| control and    | Bostswana, India,      |                                       |  |  |
| comparative    | Kenya, Switzerland,    |                                       |  |  |
| cross-         | Spain                  |                                       |  |  |
| sectional      |                        |                                       |  |  |
| studies)       |                        |                                       |  |  |
| Hussein et al. | • N =2,420             | Adherence measure: Modified           | • 53.88% of participants were non-       | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
| (2020)         | hypertensive           | Morisky medication adherence scale    | adherent                                 | non-adherence:                           |
|                | patients from the      | • Other measures: data from past      | • In the elderly, fewer patients were    | Illiterate patients (low                 |
| • Design:      | outpatient cardiac     | medication records between            | adherent to take medications (67.4%      | education level), low                    |
| cross-         | clinics in Egypt       | September 2015 to September 2019      | non-adherent for adults older than       | income, # of                             |
| sectional,     | (Age older             | • Focused on patient and              | 65).                                     | comorbidities,                           |
| retrospective  | 65=66.7%, Age 40-      | socioeconomic-related factors         |  | polypharmacy, and                        |
| secondary      | 65=45.6%, Age          |                                       |  | living in rural area.                    |
| data analysis  | younger then $40 =$    | • No theory utilized                  |  |  |
|                | 14.3%, Female=         |                                       |  |  |
|                | 66.7%)                 |                                       |  |  |
| Krueger et al. | • N =17 articles       | • Adherence measure: direct (serum    | • 7 studies: statistically significant   | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
| (2015)         | which include adult    | digoxin concentration) and indirect   | relationship between age and             | non-adherence:                           |
|                | patients with chronic  | (self-report, PDC, MEMS, pill         | medication adherence.                    | younger age                              |
| • Design:      | heart failure in Asia, | count, MPR) measures (cutoff ≥75%     | • 6 studies: increased age is correlated |  |
| systematic     | Australia, Europe,     | $(n=3), or \ge 80\% (n=4)).$          | with higher medication adherence         |  |
| review (all    |                        |                                       |  |  |

| quantitative  | USA, and West-        |  | • 1 study: age range of 57 to 64 years               |  |
|---------------|-----------------------|--|--|--|
| studies)      | Africa                |  | are affected by non-adherence to                     |  |
|               |                       |  | angiotensin-converting enzyme                        |  |
|               |                       |  | inhibitors.  |  |
|               |                       |  | • 10 studies: no significant                         |  |
|               |                       |  | relationship.  |  |
| Mannan et al. | • N =2,061 type 2     | <ul> <li>Adherence measure: Morisky</li> </ul> | • 53.7% of participants were non-                    | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
| (2020)        | diabetic patients in  | medication adherence scale                     | adherent   | non-adherence: male                      |
|               | Bangladesh (Mean      | • Other measures: data from past               | • Personal medical history data: co-                 | gender, less family                      |
| • Design:     | age = 50.6, Female=   | medical histories                              | morbidities (hypertension, heart                     | income, diabetic                         |
| cross-        | 40.2%)                | <ul> <li>Focused on patient and</li> </ul>     | diseases, eye diseases, kidney                       | ulcers, and                              |
| sectional     |                       | socioeconomic-related factors                  | diseases, neurological diseases,                     | lower consumption of                     |
|               |                       |  | diabetic ulcer, cancer, asthma, TB),                 | fruits and vegetables                    |
|               |                       | • No theory utilized                           | Fasting blood sugar, body mass index,                | (less than 3 times a                     |
|               |                       |  | behavioral characteristics (tobacco                  | day).                                    |
|               |                       |  | use, consumption of fruits and                       |  |
|               |                       |  | vegetables)  |  |
| Mathes et al. | • $N = 9$ studies     | • Adherence measure: self-report               | <ul> <li>No general conclusions were made</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
| (2014)        | including adult       | (questionnaires such as Morisky                | due to the heterogeneity (e.g., patient              | non-adherence:                           |
| • Design:     | patients with         | scale, VAS, BMQ), MEMS, pill                   | characteristics, regimes, settings,                  | psychiatric disorders                    |
| systematic    | hepatitis C who are   | count  | countries).  | (n=5), higher dose of                    |
| review        | taking ribavirin      |  | • Alcohol consumption, education,                    | medication (n=3),                        |
|               | (prospective and      |  | employment status, ethnic group,                     | comorbidity (HIV                         |
|               | retrospective cohort  |  | and weight showed no effect on                       | (n=2), hemoglobin                        |
|               | studies, cross-       |  | adherence.   | level (n=2)), being                      |
|               | sectional studies) in |  |  | female patient (n=6),                    |
|               | the U.S.A., Europe,   |  |  |  |
|               | and Japan.            |  |  |  |
| Molnar et al. | • N =32,348 U.S.      | Adherence measure: cardiovascular              | • Patients with MPR less than 80%                    | • Similar trends in                      |
| (2016)        | veterans who          | drugs data from database (US Renal             | (non-adherent group) had                             | PDC, MPR and non-                        |

|               | transitioned to   | Data System, Medicare, US            | significantly higher risk for all-cause        | persistence with                         |
|---------------|-------------------|--------------------------------------|--|--|
| • Design:     | dialysis during   | department of Veteran Affairs        | mortality.                                     | mortality risk                           |
| Secondary     | 2007–2011 (Mean   | pharmacy dispensation record)        | <ul> <li>Comorbidity list (Charlson</li> </ul> | analysis                                 |
| data-analysis | age = 72, Female= | records using proportion of days     | comorbidity index, diabetes,                   | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
|               | 4%)               | covered (PDC) and persistence        | cardiovascular/ cerebro-vascular               | non-adherence:                           |
|               |                   | during the pre-dialysis year.        | diseases, myocardial Infarction,               | younger age, not                         |
|               |                   | • Persistence was coded as being 1   | congestive heart failure, peripheral           | married; African                         |
|               |                   | (present) if a patient refilled each | vascular disease, hypertension,                | American compared                        |
|               |                   | subsequent prescription with gaps    | cerebrovascular diseases, dementia,            | to White, not on                         |
|               |                   | not exceeding 60 days; otherwise, it | chronic pulmonary diseases,                    | cardiovascular related                   |
|               |                   | was coded as 0 (absent, or non-      | connective tissue diseases, peptic             | medications (i.e.,                       |
|               |                   | persistent).                         | ulcer diseases, mild liver diseases,           | statin, angiotensin-                     |
|               |                   |                                      | moderate to severe liver diseases,             | converting enzyme                        |
|               |                   |                                      | paraplegia and hemiplegia,                     | inhibitor/ angiotensin                   |
|               |                   |                                      | malignancy, metastatic carcinoma,              | receptor blocker);                       |
|               |                   |                                      | depression, anxiety, AIDS/HIV)                 | less diagnosed with                      |
|               |                   |                                      |  | hypertension; high                       |
|               |                   |                                      |  | cholesterol levels,                      |
|               |                   |                                      |  | and less favorable                       |
|               |                   |                                      |  | metabolic and anemia                     |
|               |                   |                                      |  | markers                                  |
|               |                   |                                      |  | • Poor pre-dialysis                      |
|               |                   |                                      |  | medication adherence                     |
|               |                   |                                      |  | and persistence in the                   |
|               |                   |                                      |  | year preceding ESRD                      |
|               |                   |                                      |  | onset are associated                     |
|               |                   |                                      |  | with increased all-                      |
|               |                   |                                      |  | cause and                                |
|               |                   |                                      |  | cardiovascular                           |
|               |                   |                                      |  | mortality.                               |

| Nonogaki et | • N =773 type 2       | Adherence measure: Modified                       | • 53.7% of participants were non-      | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
|-------------|-----------------------|---|--|--|
| al. (2019)  | diabetic patients in  | Morisky medication adherence scale                | adherent                               | non-adherence:                           |
|             | Cambodia (less than   | • Other measures: modified diabetes               | • Being female, were not married, and  | family income,                           |
| • Design:   | 44 years old=9.2%,    | mellitus knowledge, attitudes,                    | higher monthly family income tends     | diabetes mellitus-                       |
| cross-      | 45-54 = 26%, 55-      | practices test                                    | to have higher medication adherence.   | related complications,                   |
| sectional   | 64=38.4%, older       | <ul> <li>Focused on patient and</li> </ul>        | • Scores of knowledges, attitudes, and | less use of health                       |
|             | than 65=26.3%)        | socioeconomic-related factors                     | practices had significantly higher for | services, alcohol                        |
|             |                       |   | adherent patient group than non-       | consumption, and                         |
|             |                       | • No theory utilized                              | adherent group                         | following special                        |
|             |                       |   |  | diet.                                    |
| Unni et al. | • N1 =2,983 in 2017   | <ul> <li>Adherence measure: Medication</li> </ul> | • 24.3% of participants were non-      | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
| (2021)      | (Mean age $= 61.6$ ,  | Adherence Reasons scale                           | adherent                               | non-adherence:                           |
|             | Female= 40.6%)        |   |  | forgetfulness, not                       |
| • Design:   | • N2 = 5,416 in 2018  | • Other measures: National Health                 |  | know how to take their                   |
| cross-      | (Mean age $= 61.05$ , | and Wellness Survey from 2017 to                  | •No significant improvement in         | medicines, cost, and                     |
| sectional   | Female= 53.03 %),     | 2019  | adherence with type 2 diabetic         | concerns about the                       |
|             | • N3 =5,268 in 2019   | <ul> <li>Focused on patient and</li> </ul>        | medicines over time, regardless of     | long-term effects of                     |
|             | (Mean age $= 60.38$ , | socioeconomic-related factors                     | better awareness and extensive         | the medicines.                           |
|             | Female= 47.3%)        |   | diabetes education                     |  |
|             | type 2 diabetic       | • No theory utilized                              |  |  |
|             | patients in the U.S.  |   |  |  |
|             | А.                    |   |  |  |

Matrix 2: Medication Adherence in Cancer (20 articles)

| Author/Year/<br>Design | Sample/ Setting     | Instruments/ Methods | Results                                      | Key Findings         |
|------------------------|---------------------|----------------------|--|----------------------|
| Al-Dewik et            | N =36 adult chronic | • Adherence measure: | • 14.3% were non-adherent per MEMS, 16% were | Adherent gets higher |
| al. (2016)             | myeloid leukemia    | MEMS, Morisky        | non-adherent per MPR, and 31% were non-      | adherence when it    |
|                        | (CML) patients who  | Medication Adherence | adherent per MMAS,                           | measured by MEMS     |

| • Design:      | are taking Imatinib              | Scale (MMAS), MPR                         | • The MPR results revealed that 16% of patients   | and MPR, but not                         |
|----------------|----------------------------------|---|---|--|
| Prospective    | (Mean age =42,                   | $(MEMS \le 90\% =$                        | had poor access to treatment through the hospital | significant using                        |
| cohort study   | Female=22%) in                   | nonadherent, MMAS score                   | pharmacy.   | MMAS                                     |
|                | Qatar.                           | of $\geq 11 =$ good adherence,            |   |  |
|                |                                  | $MPR \ge 80\% = high$                     |   |  |
|                |                                  | Adherence)                                |   |  |
|                |                                  | • Other measures:                         |   |  |
|                |                                  | electronic                                |   |  |
|                |                                  | medical records using                     |   |  |
|                |                                  | 2013 ELN milestones                       |   |  |
|                |                                  | adherent and 39%                          |   |  |
|                |                                  | nonadherent                               |   |  |
| Banegas et al. | • N =10,177 cancer               | • Adherence measure: PDC                  | • 6.0% were non-adherent, 24.4% were partially    | Adherence to statins                     |
| (2018)         | (breast, prostate,               | -adherent (PDC≥0.80);                     | adherent and 69.7% of all patients were adherent. | was generally higher                     |
| • Design:      | colorectal cancer)               | partially-adherent                        | • Breast cancer: lowest pre-cancer diagnosis      | among non-Hispanic                       |
| Retrospective  | patient who are                  | (PDC=0.20-0.79),                          | adherence, with 67.1% adherent in both two        | whites.                                  |
| , secondary    | taking statin drugs              | non-adherent (PDC<0.20)                   | years   |  |
| data analysis  | between 2000-2012                | <ul> <li>Focused on evaluating</li> </ul> | • Colorectal cancer (AdherentYear-2=70.8% and     |  |
|                | (Female 39%)                     | NA on different ethnic                    | AdherentYear-1=69.7%)                             |  |
|                | <ul> <li>SEER, Kaiser</li> </ul> | groups                                    | • Prostate cancer patients (AdherentYear-         |  |
|                | Permanente                       |   | 2=70.8% and AdherentYear-1=70.9%).                |  |
|                | Northern California              |   | • Statin adherence decreased from pre- to post-   |  |
|                |                                  |   | cancer diagnosis among breast and colorectal      |  |
|                |                                  |   | cancer patients.                                  |  |
| Clarks et al.  | • N =2,049 chronic               | • Adherence measure: PDC                  | • Average PDC = 87%                               | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
| (2021)         | myeloid leukemia                 | using the Truven Health                   | • Never adherent (n = 145)                        | non-adherence:                           |
|                | between Jan 2007-                | MarketScan Commercial                     | • Initially non-adherent becoming adherent (n =   | female gender,                           |
| • Design:      | Dec2017 in the U.S.              | and Medicare                              | 214)  | younger age, less                        |
| Retrospective  | (Mean age =47.9,                 | Supplemental Databases                    | • Initially adherent becoming nonadherent (n =    | concomitant                              |
|                | Female=46s%)                     |   | 181)  | medication, longer                       |
| , secondary   |                      | • PDC was chosen instead                   | • Stable adherent behavior (n = 1,509)             | time on treatment,                       |
|---------------|----------------------|--|--|--|
| data analysis |                      | of MPR because it                          | • Factors are not related to non-adherence: Co-    | delayed initiation of                    |
|               |                      | provides a more                            | morbidity, financial burden, insurance type,       | treatment, or on a                       |
|               |                      | conservative estimate of                   | relationship of patient to policyholder, and       | second-generation of                     |
|               |                      | adherence and has been                     | medication starting time                           | tyrosine kinase                          |
|               |                      | endorsed by the Pharmacy                   |  | inhibito (cancer                         |
|               |                      | Quality Alliance/National                  |  | medication)                              |
|               |                      | Quality Forum                              |  |  |
|               |                      |  |  |  |
| Darkow et al. | • N =267 Patients    | Adherence measure:                         | • Mean MPR was 77.7%, with 31% of patients         | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
| (2007)        | with chronic         | Refill data from an                        | having a treatment interruption. However, all of   | non-adherence:                           |
|               | myeloid leukaemia    | anonymous                                  | these patients resumed imatinib within the study   | increased amount of                      |
| • Design:     | (CML) (taking        | database including                         | period. In this population                         | different                                |
| Retrospective | imatinib) in the     | electronic                                 | • MPR was found to be inversely associated with    | medication, starting                     |
| analysis of   | U.S.A.               | pharmacy records and                       | healthcare costs excluding imatinib and medical    | with higher                              |
| data          |                      | medical claims using MPR                   | costs  | dose, female gender,                     |
|               |                      | <ul> <li>Focused on patient and</li> </ul> |  | high cancer                              |
|               |                      | condition-related factors                  |  | complexity (difficulty                   |
|               |                      | <ul> <li>No theory utilized</li> </ul>     |  | of managing the                          |
|               |                      |  |  | patient because of                       |
|               |                      |  |  | comorbidities)                           |
| Dashputre et  | • N =701 (Mean age=  | • Adherence measure: PDC                   | • PDC= 87.9 (90days), 81.8 (180days), and 78.2     | • Factors related with                   |
| al. (2020)    | 67.1, Female =35%)   | from Refill data in the                    | (270 days), and 75.3 (365 days) for CLL/SLL        | non-adherence:                           |
| • Design:     | and 2,385 (Mean      | IBM MarketScan                             |  | younger age,                             |
| Retrospective | age =63.5, Female=   | Commercial Claims and                      | • PDC= 83.3 (90 days), 69.2 (180days), 60.9 (270   | increased                                |
| analysis of   | 44.1%) patients with | Medicare Supplement                        | days), and 57.6 for MM                             | comorbidity burden,                      |
| data          | chronic lymphocytic  | databases between 2013                     |  | previous cancer                          |
|               | leukemia/small       | and 2016 (PDC $\ge$ 80%                    | • Adherent patients with CLL/SLL were aged 65      | therapy, health                          |
|               | lymphocytic          | were considered adherent)                  | years and older (vs. aged 18-64 years), resided in | insurance type, and                      |
|               |                      |  | the Northeast U.S. (vs. the Southern), and had     |  |

|                | lymphomo                              | • Ecourad on nationt          | more amorganou department vigita in the baseline   | higher outpatient                        |
|----------------|---------------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|--|
|                | lymphoma                              | • Focused on patient          | more emergency department visits in the baseline   | nigner outpatient                        |
|                | (CLL/SLL) and                         | healthcare system, and        | period.  | visits.                                  |
|                | multiple myeloma                      | therapy-related factors       |  |  |
|                | (MM) respectively                     |                               |  |  |
|                | who are taking                        |                               |  |  |
|                | oncolytic agents                      |                               |  |  |
| De Figueierdo  | • N =30 breast and                    | • Adherence measure: pill     | • 3.8% of breast cancer participants and 11.7%     | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
| Jr. et al.     | colorectal cancer                     | counting by researcher in     | colorectal cancer patients were non-adherent       | non-adherence:                           |
| (2014)         | patients who are                      | front of patient              | • Their methods may have overestimation of         | dyspnea severity                         |
|                | taking capecitabine                   | • Other measures: the         | adherence, since patients may conceal from the     |  |
| • Design:      | (Mean age $= 60.2$ ,                  | quality-of-life               | interviewer that they have disregarded some        |  |
| prospective    | Female= $40.2\%$ )                    | questionnaire QLQ-C30 at      | pills.   |  |
| cohort         | ,                                     | the initial visit and 8 or 12 | • No strong correlation between medication         |  |
|                | <ul> <li>São Paulo, Brazil</li> </ul> | weeks after the beginning     | adherence and functional or symptom scale rates    |  |
|                | ,                                     | of the treatment              | had been found.                                    |  |
|                |                                       | • Focused on patient and      |  |  |
|                |                                       | socioeconomic-related         |  |  |
|                |                                       | factors                       |  |  |
|                |                                       | No theory utilized            |  |  |
| Geissler et al | • N = 2 546 CMI                       | • A dherence measure:         | • More than 2 years since diagnosis significantly  | • Factors related with                   |
| (2017)         | natients from 81                      | Modified Morisky              | lowered chance of being highly adherent            | non-adherence: high                      |
| (2017)         | Countries (Western                    | medication adherence          | No significant relationship between adherence      | nersonal navments                        |
| • Design:      | and Eastern Europe                    | scale for Imatinih            | and phase of disease taking part in a clinical     | female                                   |
| - Design.      | Angle American                        | desetinih nilotinih (-6       | trial having a routing and information provided    | conder younger age                       |
| reuospecuve    | Aligio Aliencali                      | law adharan ag                | an the right of non-other and information provided | gender, younger age,                     |
| secondary      | Lotin America Noon                    | Tow adherence, 6-             | on the risk of nonadherence.                       | concomitant                              |
| data analysis  | Latin-America, Near                   | /./Smedium adherence, 8       |  | medication, not living                   |
|                | and Middle East)                      | high adherence)               |  | with family or                           |
|                | between Sep 2012 -                    | • Focused on patient,         |  | partner, side effects,                   |
|                | Jan 2013                              | therapy, and                  |  | more than one dose                       |
|                |                                       |                               |  | per day, medication                      |

|                         |                        | socioeconomic-related    |  | type, less satisfaction |
|-------------------------|------------------------|--------------------------|--|-------------------------|
|                         |                        | factors                  |  | with information        |
| Correction of the set   | N 1406 magnetata       |                          | 400/ - f t t                                       | Fortune volution        |
| Grundmark et            | • $N = 1,406$ prostate | • Adherence measure:     | • 40% of patients were non-adherent                | • Factors related with  |
| al. (2012)              | cancer patients who    | pharmacy registry        | • Discontinuation reasons differed with disease    | non-adherence: Age      |
|                         | are taking             | databases from January   | severity.  | above 75 years and      |
| • Design:               | bicalutamide (Age      | 1997 to December 2006,   | • Neither marital status, socio- economic status,  | less severe disease.    |
| retrospective           | over 65 were 11.6%,    | data measured by         | co-morbidity according to the Charlson co-         |                         |
| secondary               | less than 65 were      | calculating the medical  | morbidity index nor the medical specialty of       |                         |
| data analysis           | 88.4%)                 | possession ratio using a | physician initiating the treatment had a           |                         |
|                         |                        | flexible starting period | significant impact on the adherence.               |                         |
|                         | • Sweden               | (MPRI)                   |  |                         |
|                         |                        |                          |  |                         |
|                         |                        | • Focused on patient and |  |                         |
|                         |                        | socioeconomic-related    |  |                         |
|                         |                        | factors                  |  |                         |
|                         |                        |                          |  |                         |
|                         |                        | • No theory utilized     |  |                         |
| II.a.l.a.a.a.a.t.a.l    | N = 465 showing        | A dlamar og mangen NDD   | 22.40/ of action to many parts all amount          | Detients with CIST      |
| Halpern et al. $(2000)$ | • N =465 chronic       | • Adherence measure: MPR | • 23.4% of patients were non-adherent              | • Patients with GIST    |
| (2009)                  | myelold leukemia       | data from June 2001 to   | • Good adherence to imatinib, on average, was      | (vs. CIVIL) and those   |
| Destant                 | (CIVIL) or             | March 2005               | associated with $5121,247$ lower medical costs,    | With higher Charlson    |
| • Design:               | gastrointestinal       |                          | \$57,266 lower health care costs, 31.3 times lewer |                         |
| retrospective           | stromal tumors         | • Focused on patient and | inpatient hospitalizations, and 9.1 times shorter  | scores had              |
| cohort                  | (GIST) patients in     | socioeconomic-related    | LOS as compared with poor adherence.               | significantly higher    |
|                         | large national U.S.    | factors                  |  | medical and health      |
|                         | health plan data       |                          |  | care costs.             |
|                         |                        |                          |  | • Good adherence to     |
|                         |                        | • No theory utilized     |  | 1matinib was            |
|                         |                        |                          |  | associated with         |

|                 |                        |                             |  | substantially lower                      |
|-----------------|------------------------|-----------------------------|--|--|
|                 |                        |                             |  | follow-up medical                        |
|                 |                        |                             |  | and health care costs                    |
|                 |                        |                             |  | relative to poor                         |
|                 |                        |                             |  | adherence,                               |
|                 |                        |                             |  | controlling for                          |
|                 |                        |                             |  | condition (ie, CML or                    |
|                 |                        |                             |  | GIST) and                                |
|                 |                        |                             |  | demographic and                          |
|                 |                        |                             |  | health factors.                          |
| Hirao et al.    | • N =117 (Mean age     | • Adherence measure: self-  | •Medication non-adherence was 43.6% for GI           | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
| (2017)          | =64.5,                 | report                      | cancer patients.                                     | non-adherence:                           |
|                 | Female=27%)            | • Other measures: patient's | • The adherence for oral cancer medication as:       | worsening of                             |
| • Design:       | gastroenterological    | past medical histories,     | XELODA= 82.6%; Nexavar =75.0%; TS-1=                 | symptoms, having                         |
| cross-sectional | (colorectal, gastric,  | trust in physician scale    | 62.9%; Glivec= 40.0%; and UFT =37.0%.                | diarrhea,                                |
|                 | pancreatic,            |                             | • Patient-related (age, gender, marital status,      | experiencing pain,                       |
|                 | gallbladder, GIST,     | • WHO's multi-              | cohabitation status), socioeconomical-related        | taking oral                              |
|                 | liver) cancer patients | dimensional model (FDM)     | (employment status, educational status, financial    | chemotherapy                             |
|                 |                        |                             | leeway), condition-related time since diagnosis,     | medication every 8                       |
|                 | • Japan                |                             | type of cancer, involved in metastatic cancer,       | hour (vs. after meal)                    |
|                 |                        |                             | subjective symptoms like pain, Anxiety and           | and a decreased sense                    |
|                 |                        |                             | depression), therapy-related (Cytotoxic and          | of priority for                          |
|                 |                        |                             | Molecularly target medications, total body           | medication                               |
|                 |                        |                             | chemotherapy, post-operative adjuvant                |  |
|                 |                        |                             | chemotherapy, preoperative chemotherapy, # of        |  |
|                 |                        |                             | times to take oral chemotherapy, timing of taking    |  |
|                 |                        |                             | medications), healthcare team and system-related     |  |
|                 |                        |                             | (place of the initial treatment such as inpatient or |  |
|                 |                        |                             | outpatient, trust in physician scale) related        |  |
|                 |                        |                             | factors  |  |

| Klein et al.     | • N =90                  | Adherence measure:        | • Adherence did not differ in two regimens and      | MDS patient's oral                   |
|------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|---|--------------------------------------|
| (2006)           | myelodysplastic          | Electronic monitoring     | the rate was excellent, with 90%.                   | topotecan adherence                  |
|                  | syndromes (MDS)          | devices                   | • Topotecan pharmacokinetics were characterized     | was high for both the                |
| • Design:        | who are taking           | • No theory utilized      | with first-order absorption and elimination.        | drug is prescribed                   |
| Quantitative     | topotecan.               |                           | • Pharmacokinetic parameter assessments did not     | once or twice daily                  |
| study            | I                        |                           | alter between the once a day and twice a day        | ,                                    |
| 5                |                          |                           | dosing groups.                                      |                                      |
|                  |                          |                           | • Topotecan exposure was higher in the twice a      |                                      |
|                  |                          |                           | day than once a day.                                |                                      |
|                  |                          |                           |   |                                      |
| Lafeuille et al. | Prostate cancer          | • Adherence measure: MPR  | • 7 % of patients were non-adherent                 | Patients with                        |
| (2014)           | patients who are         | data (databases—Dataset   | 1   | Medicare insurance                   |
| • Design:        | taking Abiraterone       | 1: Truven Health          | • Similar adherence patterns were observed for      | had slightly higher                  |
| retrospective    | acetate                  | Analytics MarketScan      | patients in different age groups, for patients with | adherence than                       |
| secondary        | • N =515 from            | (December                 | commercial health care plans versus patients        | having commercial                    |
| data analysis    | dataset1 and 3,228       | 2010 to August 2012) and  | with Medicare coverage, and for patients with       | health insurance.                    |
|                  | from dataset2 (Mean      | Dataset 2: Symphony       | recent chemotherapy (within 180 days before         |                                      |
|                  | age = $72.2$ ) in the U. | Health Solutions'         | initiation of abiraterone acetate) compared with    | <ul> <li>Patients without</li> </ul> |
|                  | S. A.                    | ProMetis                  | patients without.                                   | recent chemotherapy                  |
|                  |                          | Lx (June 2009 to March    |   | had slightly higher                  |
|                  |                          | 2013).                    |   | adherence than                       |
|                  |                          | • No theory utilized      |   | patients with recent                 |
|                  |                          |                           |   | chemotherapy.                        |
| Lee &            | • N =1,397 adult         | Adherence measure:        | • Medication-NA rate was 12.70 %.                   | Significant racial and               |
| Salloum          | (older than 18 years)    | Using the 2006-2013       | •African-Americans were 2.64 times more likely      | ethnic disparities in                |
| (2015)           | cancer patients in       | National Health Interview | (95 % confidence interval (CI), 1.73 to 4.01) and   | medication NA were                   |
|                  | the U.S. (Less than      | Survey                    | Hispanics 2.07 times more likely (95 % CI, 1.32     | evident among cancer                 |
|                  | 40 years                 |                           | to 3.24) than whites to report CRN. Among           | survivors. Older                     |
|                  | (1124/10998=10.2%)       |                           | younger cancer survivors, Hispanics were 1.61       | African-American                     |
|                  | )                        |                           |   | and Hispanic overall                 |

| • Design:     | 40-64                 |  | times more likely (95 % CI, 1.23 to 2.10) than    | survivors were more                      |
|---------------|-----------------------|--|---|--|
| Secondary     | (5,168/10998=47%)     |  | whites to report medication NA.                   | likely to report NA in                   |
| data-analysis | 65-70                 |  |   | the past year                            |
|               | (3814/10998=34.7%)    |  |   | compared with non-                       |
|               | )                     |  |   | Hispanic whites.                         |
|               | Older than 80         |  |   |  |
|               | (892/10998=8.1%)      |  |   |  |
| Marques &     | • N =61 Brazil cancer | Adherence measure:                         | • 28% of patients were non-adherent               | • Factors related with                   |
| Pierin        | patients under anti-  | Morisky and Green Test                     | • All the patients using Temozolamide and         | non-adherence:                           |
| (2008)        | neoplastic oral       | (non-adherent when it is                   | Mercaptopurine reported the lack of health team   | longer treatment                         |
|               | therapy               | lower than graded as 3).                   | support regarding treatment.                      | time, type of                            |
| • Design:     | (Capecitabine,        | • Other measures:                          | • Concerning other drugs (Thalidomide/            | medication                               |
| cross-        | Mercaptopurine,       | outpatient past medical                    | Dexamethasone), patients referred to health       | (mercaptopurine,                         |
| sectional     | Dexamethasone,        | histories obtained                         | professionals' lack of support.                   | dexamethasone,                           |
|               | Thalidomide and       | <ul> <li>Focused on patient and</li> </ul> | • Most studied patients were white, married, with | thalidomide, and                         |
|               | hormone therapy       | socioeconomic-related                      | higher education and performing administrative    | hormone therapy                          |
|               | drugs) (Mean age=     | factors                                    | or commercial activities, followed by self-       | drugs), patients                         |
|               | 54.8, Female=64%)     |  | employed  | who had alternative                      |
|               |                       |  | individuals                                       | treatment                                |
|               |                       |  |   | (massage), did not                       |
|               |                       |  |   | have radiotherapy                        |
| Mathes et al. | • $N = 22$ studies    | • Adherence measure: self-                 | • Low age and very high age seem to be            | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
| (2014)        | including adult       | report (questionnaires such                | associated with lower adherence.                  | non-adherence:                           |
| • Design:     | patients (≥18 years)  | as Morisky scale, VAS,                     | • Social support, intake of aromatase inhibitors, | younger age (n=7),                       |
| systematic    | with malignant        | BMQ), MEMS, pill count                     | and lower out-of-pocket costs for medication      | older age (n=12),                        |
| review        | neoplasms who are     |  | seem to have a positive effect on adherence.      | ethnic status (being                     |
| (quantitative | taking oral           |  | • Depression and the number of different          | non-white (i.e.,                         |
| studies)      | anticancer agents     |  | medications seem to have a negative effect on     | black) (n=2)), social                    |
|               |                       |  | adherence.  | support (n=3),                           |
|               |                       |  |   | depression (n=4),                        |

|               |                      |  |   | number of different      |
|---------------|----------------------|--|---|--------------------------|
|               |                      |  |   | medications (n=4),       |
|               |                      |  |   | and less out of-pocket   |
|               |                      |  |   | costs (n=2)              |
| Noens et al.  | • N =169 Patients    | • Adherence measure:                       | • 85.8% of patients were non-adherent of          | • Factors related with   |
| (2009)        | with                 | Patient Visual Analog                      | prescribed imatinib taken.                        | non-adherence:           |
|               | CML in Belgium       | Scale                                      | • Factors related with adherence: Knowledge of    | Bothersome of            |
| • Design:     | (Mean age = $57.2$ , | (VAS) rating, Basel                        | disease and treatment, more medications to be     | symptoms, number of      |
| Prospective   | Female 45 %)         | Assessment of Adherence                    | taken daily, secondary school or higher           | symptoms, number of      |
| observational |                      | Scale (less than 1 is non-                 | education, self-efficacy in long-term             | adverse events, third    |
| study         |                      | adherent), pill count: other               | medication behavior, physicians' higher number    | person perceptions of    |
|               |                      | dose taken than prescribed                 | of active patients with CML seen in the past      | adherence, higher        |
|               |                      | during 90-day period                       | year, median duration of the first visit with a   | age, longer time since   |
|               |                      |  | patient newly                                     | CML diagnosis,           |
|               |                      | <ul> <li>Focused on patient and</li> </ul> | diagnosed with CML (practicing in a university or | living alone, male       |
|               |                      | socioeconomic, condition,                  | teaching hospital, holding specialization in      | sex, longer time on      |
|               |                      | therapy, healthcare                        | hematology)                                       | imatinib, imatinib       |
|               |                      | professionals -related                     |   | dose more than or        |
|               |                      | factors                                    |   | equal to                 |
|               |                      |  |   | 600 mg/day, higher       |
|               |                      |  |   | degrees of               |
|               |                      |  |   | chronic care received,   |
|               |                      |  |   | higher (self-)reported   |
|               |                      |  |   | functional status and    |
|               |                      |  |   | quality of life, shorter |
|               |                      |  |   | median duration of       |
|               |                      |  |   | treatment                |
|               |                      |  |   | follow-up visits         |
|               |                      |  |   | (presumably a            |

|                 |                                   |  |   | proxy of vigilance),                   |
|-----------------|-----------------------------------|--|---|--|
|                 |                                   |  |   | years of                               |
|                 |                                   |  |   | physicians'                            |
|                 |                                   |  |   | professional                           |
|                 |                                   |  |   | experience                             |
| Santos et al.   | • N=129 adult                     | • Adherence measure: self-             | • The researcher showed that non-adherence of     | <ul> <li>Strong association</li> </ul> |
| (2019)          | prostate cancer                   | report questionnaires at 1             | oral anticancer therapy was highly related to     | between depressive                     |
|                 | patients initiating a             | and 3 months after                     | depression  | symptoms and non-                      |
|                 | first oral therapy in             | treatment.                             |   | adherence                              |
| • Design:       | (median age was 70                |  | • About 10 % participants were non-adherent after |  |
| cross-          | years) and 81% of                 | • Other measures: Montreal             | 1 month of treatment and 13% after 3 months.      |  |
| sectional       | patients were treated             | Cognitive assessment                   |   |  |
|                 | for metastatic                    | (MoCA) tool.                           |   |  |
|                 | cancer.                           | • Focused on patient-related           | • Short-term memory can affect non-adherence      |  |
|                 |                                   | factors                                | among elderly population.                         |  |
|                 | <ul> <li>Comprehensive</li> </ul> |  |   |  |
|                 | Cancer Centre                     | <ul> <li>No theory utilized</li> </ul> |   |  |
|                 | François                          |  |   |  |
|                 | Baclesse, Caen,                   |  |   |  |
|                 | France.                           |  |   |  |
| Streeter et al. | • N= 10,508 U.S. any              | Refill data extracted from             | • 10% of abandonment rate (type of non-           | • High cost, increased                 |
| (2011)          | cancer patients who               | administrative claims from             | adherence) was observed                           | prescription activity,                 |
|                 | are on any oncolytic              | the Wolter Kluwer                      |   | lower income, type of                  |
| • Design:       | (oral or intravenous)             | Dynamic Claims Lifecycle               | • Medicare coverage were associated with a        | drug (imatinib,                        |
| Retrospective   | within the ensuing                | Database (pharmacy                     | higher abandonment rate. Claims with cost         | sorafenib, sunitinib,                  |
| analysis of     | 90 days using                     | utilization data)-                     | sharing greater than \$500 were four times more   | erlotinib, lapatinib                   |
| data            | capecitabine,                     | abandonment rate is                    | likely to be abandoned than claims with cost      | compared with                          |
|                 | imatinib, sorafenib,              | defined as pharmacy claim              | sharing of \$100 or less                          | capecitabine)                          |
|                 | lenalidomide,                     | without a subsequent paid              |   |  |

|  | sunitinib, erlotinib,<br>temozolomide, and<br>lapatinib  | claim for oncolytic within<br>the<br>ensuing 90 days) between<br>2007 and 2009.<br>• No theory utilized   |  |  |
|--|--|---|--|--|
| Timmers et al.<br>(2015)<br>• <b>Design:</b><br>Multicentre<br>prospective<br>observational<br>study | • N =515 62 patients<br>(median age 63.5<br>years; 53 % male) in<br>VU University<br>Medical<br>Center (Amsterdam,<br>Netherlands),<br>between October<br>2009 and<br>July 2011 in 12<br>Dutch hospitals | <ul> <li>Adherence measure:<br/>Medication Event<br/>Monitoring System<br/>(MEMS: SIMpill®,<br/>Evalan, Amsterdam,<br/>Netherlands), Steady-state<br/>blood sample after 1, 2<br/>and 4 months of treatment<br/>in those patients taking</li> <li>Focused on patient and<br/>socioeconomic-related<br/>factors</li> <li>No theory utilized</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Most patients (55/62, 89 %) used MEMS during the observation period.</li> <li>MEMS data showed that over one-third of patients had a non-adherence rate about 5 %.</li> <li>At 1 month, 21 % of patients did not take erlotinib correctly without food symptoms and stomatitis</li> <li>Fatigue (91%) and rash (86%) were the common symptoms, after 1 month of treatment.</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Risk factors<br/>identified as older<br/>age, suboptimal<br/>adherence, ocular</li> <li>Adherence to<br/>erlotinib is<br/>generally high due to<br/>using MEMs device<br/>and possible<br/>Hawthorne effect.</li> </ul> |

Matrix 3: Medication Adherence in Breast Cancer with OET (16 articles)

| Author/Ye<br>ar/<br>Design | Sample/ Setting      | Instruments/ Methods       | Results  | Key Findings                               |
|----------------------------|----------------------|----------------------------|--|--|
| Ali et al.                 | • N=363 male breast  | • Adherence measure: a gap | • Non-adherent rate was 41% for male 48.1% for | <ul> <li>Men were significantly</li> </ul> |
| (2022)                     | cancer patients and  | of less than 90 days in-   | female.  | more adherent than                         |
|                            | 20,722 female breast |                            |  | women (p = 0.008),                         |

| • Design:<br>Secondary<br>data-<br>analysis                 | cancer patients who<br>are taking OET from<br>2007 to 2015 in the<br>Surveillance,<br>Epidemiology, and<br>End Results<br>(SEER)-Medicare<br>registry.<br>• U. S. A                        | <ul> <li>between Medicare<br/>prescriptions.</li> <li>Drug discontinuation: a<br/>gap of greater than 12<br/>months in-between<br/>Medicare prescriptions.</li> <li>Focused on patient-related<br/>factors</li> <li>No theory utilized</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>39 male patients (10.7%) discontinued therapy, while 324 (89.3%) did not discontinue therapy.</li> <li>1849 female patients (8.9%) discontinued therapy, while 18,873 (91.1%) patients did not.</li> </ul>                                  | but there was no<br>significant difference in<br>discontinuation among<br>men and women  |
|---|--|---|--|--|
| Brett et al.<br>(2016).<br>• Design:<br>cross-<br>sectional | <ul> <li>N =292 women 2-4<br/>years post breast<br/>cancer diagnosis.</li> <li>Joint Aches Cohort<br/>study (JACS)<br/>(Fenlon et al, 2014)<br/>were invited to<br/>participate</li> </ul> | • Adherence measure:<br>Beliefs about Medicine<br>Questionnaire (BMQ),<br>Medical Adherence Report<br>Scale (MARS-5)  | <ul> <li>Non-adherent rate was 22%</li> <li>14% was intentional non-adherers and 8% was unintentional non-adherers</li> <li>More than 50% participants reported that side effects had a moderate or high impact on their quality of life.</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Factors related with<br/>(intentional) non-<br/>adherence: the presence<br/>of side effects (p&lt;0.03),<br/>greater concerns about<br/>medications (p&lt;0.001),<br/>and a lower perceived<br/>necessity to take OET<br/>(p&lt;0.001).</li> <li>Factors associated with<br/>(unintentional) non-<br/>adherence: younger age<br/>(&lt;65), (p&lt;0.001), post-<br/>secondary education<br/>(p=0.046), and paid<br/>employment (p=0.031).</li> </ul> |
| Fleming et  | • N =62 articles   | • Adherence measure: self-  | • Only one study showed positive relationship  | • No relationship between  |
| al. (2022)  | include adult (over  | report measures (MMAS,  | between side effects (anxiety/nervousness, sleep   | side effects and   |
|   | 18 years old) breast   | MARS), pill count,  |  |  |

| • Design:     | cancer patients who                   | medication chart reviews,              | problems/ insomnia, and mood disturbance/           | adherence/persistence                    |
|---------------|---------------------------------------|--|---|--|
| Α             | were prescribed                       | MEMS, MPR, Gap                         | depression) and OET adherence.                      | mostly                                   |
| quantitativ   | OET                                   | measure from hospital                  | mood disturbance/depression,                        |  |
| e             | <ul> <li>Search period: no</li> </ul> | records, or Medicare                   | • Several studies found no significant relationship |  |
| systematic    | limit- September                      | claims (cut off >80%                   | between OET adherence and persistence,              |  |
| review        | 2021.                                 | mostly)                                | indicating hot flashes do not seem to have an       |  |
|               |                                       |  | impact.   |  |
| Harrell et    | • N=1,587 adult                       | • Adherence measure: PDC               | • Non-adherent rate was 49% (patients were lost     | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
| al. (2017)    | breast cancer                         | (cut off >80% mostly)                  | to follow up or did not complete 5 years of         | non-adherence: older                     |
|               | patients who are                      | from patients' electronic              | therapy)  | age, side effect                         |
|               | taking OET from                       | health records in National             | • 52% of patients changed their medication          |  |
| • Design:     | 1998 to 2011 (Mean                    | Cancer Institute                       | • Switching medication can help to adhere the       |  |
| Secondary     | age =56.9).                           | • Focused on patient-related           | treatment plan                                      |  |
| data-         | • Tennessee, U. S. A                  | factors                                |   |  |
| analysis      |                                       |  |   |  |
|               |                                       | <ul> <li>No theory utilized</li> </ul> |   |  |
|               |                                       |  |   |  |
| Inotai et al. | • N =12 secondary                     | <ul> <li>Adherence measure:</li> </ul> | • Adherence ranged between 52.4% and 84.8%,         | <ul> <li>Medication non-</li> </ul>      |
| (2021)        | data-analysis articles                | MPR, PDC, Gap from                     | and between 47 and 97% over 5 years                 | adherence are positively                 |
|               | including patients                    | hospital records (cut off              | Positive association between medication non-        | associated with                          |
| • Design:     | with non-metastatic                   | >80% mostly)                           | adherence and mortality                             | mortality, the recurrence                |
| systematic    | breast cancer who                     |  |   | of breast cancer, and                    |
| review        | are taking OET                        | • No theory framework was              |   | non-persistence.                         |
|               | • Spain, New                          | reported in articles                   |   |  |
|               | Zealand, Republic of                  |  |   |  |
|               | Korea, USA, China,                    |  |   |  |
|               | Canada, Brazil, and                   |  |   |  |
|               | Sweden.                               |  |   |  |

| Kimmick   | • N =112 breast                     | • Adherence measure:  | •58.9% reported unintentional and 33.9% reported   | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
|-----------|-------------------------------------|---|--|--|
| et al.    | cancer patients                     | MMAS-8 intentional non-adherent medication-taking             |  | non-adherence: the                       |
| (2015)    | (post-menopausal)                   |   | behaviors  | presence of symptoms                     |
|           | who are taking OET                  | • Other measures:   | • 81% white; mean time from surgery 40 (SD=28)     | (p=0.03) and lower self-                 |
| • Design: | (Mean age 64).                      | symptoms (BPI-SF, BFI, months; 49% received chemotherapy (39% |  | efficacy for physician                   |
| cross-    | <ul> <li>North Carolina,</li> </ul> | MENQOL-VS, FACT-T);   | including a taxane); mean time on endocrine        | communication                            |
| sectional | U.S.A.                              | Self-efficacy for taking                                      | therapy, 35 (SD=29.6) months; 82% taking an        | (p=0.009)                                |
|           |                                     | medication (modified  | aromatase inhibitor. Intentional and unintentional |  |
|           |                                     | SEAMS); Self-efficacy for                                     | non-adherent behaviors were described in 33.9%     |  |
|           |                                     | communication with  | and 58.9% of participants, respectively.           |  |
|           |                                     | clinicians (PEPPI); Beliefs                                   | Multivariate analysis showed that higher self-     |  |
|           |                                     | about Medicines (BMQ)   | efficacy for taking medication was associated      |  |
|           |                                     |   | with lower levels of unintentional (p=0.002) and   |  |
|           |                                     |   | intentional (p=0.004) non-adherent behaviors       |  |
| Ma et al. | • N=6,045 adult                     | Adherence measure:  | • SEER covered 34.6% of the US population.         | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
| (2021)    | breast cancer                       | MPR, from hospital  | • The percentage of patients who were adherent in  | non-adherence: Less                      |
|           | patients who are                    | records (cut off >80%   | each of the 5 years (i.e., MPR>=80%) ranged        | healthcare utilization of                |
|           | taking OET from                     | mostly)   | from 39.4% to 64.2%.                               | all kinds, increased                     |
| • Design: | 2007 to mid 2009                    |   | • On average, Medicare paid US\$2314 (p<0.001)     | health care costs (except                |
| Secondary | (Mean age =74.6).                   |   | more on medications for adherent beneficiaries,    | pharmacy cost)                           |
| data-     | • SEER- Medicare,                   |   | but US\$2242 (p<0.001) less on total non-drug      |  |
| analysis  | U. S. A                             |   | medical costs                                      |  |
| Meneveau  | • N=11,037 adult                    | Adherence measure:  | • Non-adherence rate: 39.4% over one year          | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
| et al.    | breast cancer                       | MPR, from hospital  | • Majority of the patients were Caucasian (89%)    | non-adherence:                           |
| (2020)    | patients who are                    | records in the SEER-  | • Factors associated with lower initiation of AET  | socioeconomic factors,                   |
|           | taking OET from                     | Medicare whose clinical                                       | included increasing age with a risk-ratio (RR) of  | social determinants of                   |
|           | 2007 to 2015 (Mean                  | characteristics matched                                       | 0.84 (95% CI 0.83–0.86), single marital status     | health, comorbidities,                   |
| • Design: | age =76.5).                         | with the C9343 trial (cut                                     | (RR 0.95, 95% CI 0.93–0.97), white race (RR        | lower radiation facility,                |
| Secondary | • U. S. A                           | off >80% mostly)  | 0.96, 95%CI 0.93–0.99), lower primary care         | substance abuse history,                 |
|           |                                     |   | practitioner density (RR 0.96, 95%CI 0.93–0.98),   |  |

| data-<br>analysis |                        |                            | lower radiation oncologist practitioner density<br>(RR 0.95, 95%CI 0.92–0.97), second tumor<br>diagnosis (RR 0.94, 95%CI 0.91–0.97), and a<br>number of comorbid conditions | COPD history and<br>cancer-specifics |
|-------------------|------------------------|----------------------------|---|--------------------------------------|
| Mohamed           | • N=172 breast         | • Adherence measure: self- | • Non-adherence rate: 7%  | • Factors related with               |
| & Elamin,         | cancer patients who    | report                     | • The majority of patients were stage III (45.9%)   | non-adherence: patient               |
| 2020              | (Mean age 53 years)    | • other measure:           | and grade II ( $48\%$ ). Positinenopausal ( $49.4\%$ ) and premenopausal ( $47.7\%$ )   | $(\mathbf{P} = 0.06)$ and the        |
| • Design:         | (Mean age 55 years)    | hospital records           | Pagarding hormonal recentors, shout 68% were  | (r = .000), and the                  |
| data-             | Oncology Hospital      | nospital records           | oestrogen (FR)+/progesterone (PR)+  | married"                             |
| analysis          | Sudan between 2015     |                            | and 23.3% were ER+/PR Studying adherence.   | married                              |
|                   | and 2016)              |                            | almost (93%) of the studied group   |                                      |
|                   |                        |                            | were $\geq 80\%$ adherent to TAM and AIs. The   |                                      |
|                   |                        |                            | hormonal therapy persistence mean was   |                                      |
|                   |                        |                            | $27.2 \pm 22.5$ months  |                                      |
| Moon et al.       | • N =61 retrospective, | • Adherence measure:       | <ul> <li>Most studies focused on clinical and</li> </ul>  | • The results from this              |
| (2017)            | prospective, cross-    | MPR, PDC, Gap from         | demographic factors ==> inconsistent result   | review suggest that there            |
| • Design:         | sectional articles     | hospital records (cut off  | • Social supports were related to increased   | are no strong predictors             |
| systematic        | including patients     | >80% mostly)               | persistence   | of OET adherence or                  |
| review            | with non-metastatic    | • Non-persistence was      | • A small amount of evidence suggested that   | persistence.                         |
|                   | breast cancer who      | defined as gaps in         | medication beliefs were associated with   | • Factors related with               |
|                   | are taking OET         | treatment of 45 days       | adherence.  | non-adherence: (from                 |
|                   | between 1998           | (n=3), 60 days (n=8), 90   |   | reviewing high-quality               |
|                   | through 2012           | days (n=2) and 180 days    |   | studies in isolation                 |
|                   | • North America        | (n=6).                     |   | (n=22)) older women, in              |
|                   | (n=34), Europe         |                            |   | black women vs. white                |
|                   | (n=17), Japan (n=1),   |                            |   | women                                |
|                   | Taiwan (n=1), Brazil   |                            |   | Psychosocial variables               |
|                   |                        |                            |   | were associated with                 |

|                                      | (n=1), and New<br>Zealand (n=1)  |   |  | better adherence and<br>persistence, but the<br>results are currently<br>tentative   |
|--------------------------------------|--|---|--|--|
| Murphy et<br>al. (2012)<br>• Design: | • N =29 correlational<br>articles including<br>patients with non-<br>metastatic breast | • Adherence measure:<br>MPR, PDC, Gap from<br>hospital records (cut off<br>>80% mostly) | • Prevalence of adherence ranged from 41–<br>72% and discontinuation (i.e., non-persistence)<br>ranged from 31–73%, measured at the end of 5<br>years of treatment                                   | • Factors related with<br>non-adherence:<br>Extremes of age (older<br>or younger), increasing  |
| systematic<br>review                 | cancer who are<br>taking OET between<br>1998 through 2012                              | • No theory utilized  | • None of the studies discussed how MPR values<br>greater than 1 or negative gap values were<br>controlled in their analysis, and only a few<br>reported how changes in medications were<br>analyzed | out-of-pocket costs,<br>follow-up care with a<br>general practitioner (vs.<br>oncologist), higher<br>CYP2D6 activity,<br>switching from one form<br>of therapy to another,<br>treatment side effects,<br>taking less medications<br>at baseline, no referral to<br>an oncologist, and later<br>year at diagnosis |
| Pourcelot                            | • N =280 early-stage   | • Adherence measure:  | • Non-adherent rate was 31.4%  | • Factors related with   |
| et al.                               | breast cancer  | MMAS 4  | • Having a support (from caregiver), marital   | non-adherence: > 2   |
| (2018)                               | patients who are   | • Other measure: self-report  | status, educational level, disease severity were   | medications to treat   |
| • Design:                            | taking OET between   | questionnaire for socio-  | not significant to medication NA   | comorbidities (p =   |
| cross-                               | 2010-2015. (Mean   | demographic   |  | (0.003), age less than 65  |
| sectional                            | age = 59.7   | characteristics, turner&  |  | years ( $p = 0.008$ ), and   |
|                                      |  | treatment characteristics,  |  | patient management in a  |
|                                      | • France   | health status.  |  |  |

|                              |  |   |   | university hospital  |
|------------------------------|--|---|---|--|
|                              |  |   |   | setting ( $p = 0.014$ ).   |
| Sheppard<br>et al.<br>(2019) | • N=1,925 adult<br>breast cancer<br>patients who are | • Adherence measure: PDC<br>(cut off >80% mostly)<br>from patients' medical | <ul> <li>Non-adherent rate was 20%</li> <li>44% had a medication gap of ≤10 days; and 24% had no medication gap days</li> </ul> | • Factors related with<br>non-adherence: Black<br>women than white |
|                              | taking OET from<br>1998 to 2012 (Mean                | records and claims in<br>Henry Ford Health System                           | • Race and age were significant in all multivariable models   | women, younger women<br>(25-49 years old) than                     |
| • Design:<br>Secondary       | age =59.5).<br>• Michigan and                        | (HFHS) and Kaiser<br>Permanente-Georgia                                     | • Women were without their medication for an average of 37 days   | older age (65-93 years old), non-HMO plan                          |
| data-<br>analysis            | Georgia, U. S. A                                     | <ul><li>(KPGA).</li><li>Focused on patient-related factors</li></ul>        |   | (risk of having greater<br>out-of-pocket cost)                     |
|                              |  | • No theory utilized  |   |  |
| Tan et al.                   | • N=428 adult breast                                 | • Adherence measure: MPR  | • Average MPR of 0.68 in the cold spots (poor   | <ul> <li>Persons living in a</li> </ul>                            |
| (2017)                       | cancer patients who                                  | (cut off >80% mostly)   | adherence area) and 0.92 in the only hot spot   | county that belonged, to   |
| • Design:                    | received OET   | from Medicare claims data   | (good adherence area), compared to the regional   | a larger degree, in a  |
| Retrospect                   | (average age =74.8)                                  | linked with cancer  | average of 0.83   | health professional  |
| ive                          |  | registries from four  |   | shortage area were less  |
| secondary                    |  | Appalachian states (PA,   |   | likely to adhere to AET  |
| data-                        |  | OH, KY, and NC) in  |   |  |
| analysis                     |  | 2006–2008   |   |  |
| Tang et al.                  | • N=279 adult breast                                 | • Adherence measure: MPR  | • Medication adherence rate: 100.0% (1 <sup>st</sup> year),   | •Adherence getting worse   |
| (2018)                       | cancer patients who                                  | (cut off >80% mostly)   | 94.3% ( $2^{nd}$ year), 79.9% ( $3^{nd}$ year), 52.0% ( $4^{nd}$  | with the extension of  |
|                              | received modified                                    | • Focused on patient-related  | year), 28.7% (5 <sup></sup> year)   | time   |
|                              | radical mastectomy                                   | factors   |   | т. :C  |
| • Design:                    | or breast conserving                                 |   | • 1 amoxiten non-adherence (100%) is worse than $A_{1}$ (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)                                 | • Lamoxiten group was  |
| cross-                       | surgery from 2010                                    | • No theory utilized  | Als (letrozole, Anastrozole) $(43.6\%)$ and   | the worst and  |
| sectional                    | to 2011 (Less then                                   |   | changing drugs (42.5%)  |  |

| Toivonen<br>et al.<br>(2020)<br>• Design:<br>systematic<br>review<br>(Prospecti<br>ve, cross-<br>sectional,<br>retrospecti<br>ve studies) | age 35 (n=5), age<br>35-60 (n=54), age<br>over 60 (n=22)).<br>• China<br>• N =68 articles<br>which include<br>potentially<br>modifiable factors<br>associated with<br>adherence to<br>OET among breast<br>cancer | <ul> <li>Adherence measure:<br/>MEMS, MPR, PDC,<br/>physician report, and self-<br/>report.</li> <li>23% of articles utilized<br/>theory (i.e., Social<br/>cognitive theory, theory of<br/>planned behavior,<br/>Protection motivation<br/>theory)</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Adherence ranging from 25.7% to 98%</li> <li>Self-efficacy (psychological factor) and positive decisional balance (attitude toward OET) were the only potentially modifiable factors (n=10)</li> <li>Side effects were frequently reported to be associated with intentional non-adherence (n = 4)</li> <li>Sociodemographic factors (i.e., income and insurance status) were beyond the scope of the present review, they may have impacted the potentially modifiable factors examined</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>anastrozole group was<br/>the best</li> <li>Potentially modifiable<br/>factors related with non-<br/>adherence:<br/>side effects, attitudes<br/>toward OET,<br/>psychological factors,<br/>healthcare provider-<br/>related factors,<br/>sociocultural factors,<br/>and general/quality of<br/>life factors</li> </ul> |
|---|--|---|--|---|
| Yussof et<br>al.<br>(2020)<br>• Design:<br>systematic<br>review   | • N =26 articles<br>which include<br>factors associated<br>with adherence to<br>OET among breast<br>cancer   | <ul> <li>Adherence measure:<br/>MEMS, MPR, PDC,<br/>physician report, and self-<br/>report</li> <li>No theory framework was<br/>reported in articles</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>Mean rate of adherence at five-year for<br/>implementation phase was 66.2%, and mean<br/>persistence was 66.8%</li> <li>On average, adherence decreased by 25.5% from<br/>the first to fifth year. Higher rate of adherence<br/>was observed through self-report in comparison<br/>to database or medical record</li> <li>Treatment with aromatase inhibitors (AI),<br/>received chemotherapy, and prior medication use<br/>were associated with improved adherence</li> </ul>                      | <ul> <li>Factors related with<br/>non-adherence: older<br/>age, higher comorbidity<br/>index, depression and<br/>adverse effects were<br/>associated with lower<br/>adherence</li> <li>Younger age has more<br/>persistent issue</li> </ul>   |

Matrix 4: Medication Adherence in Breast Cancer with Other Oncolytic Medications

| Lebovits et al. | • N =51 breast cancer   | • Adherence measure: self- | • 37% of those patients prescribed the drug | <ul> <li>Factors related with</li> </ul> |
|-----------------|-------------------------|----------------------------|---|--|
| (1990)          | patients who are taking | report (Taking <90% or     | were noncompliant with oral Cytoxan         | non-adherence:                           |
|                 | Cytoxan                 | taking >110% of oral       | either by dosage or behaviorally, and 38%   | Treatment location                       |
| • Design:       | (cyclophosphamide)      | anticancer drugs)          | of those prescribed prednisone did the      | (private                                 |
| Prospective     | and/or prednisone were  | • No theory utilized       | same  | and clinic settings                      |
| cohort study    | interviewed and         |                            | • Two patients (3.9%) non-complied by       | rather than                              |
|                 | assessed at five points |                            | over ingestion and under- ingestion         | academic setting),                       |
|                 | in time over a 6-month  |                            |   | lower income                             |
|                 | period                  |                            |   | (and lower                               |
|                 |                         |                            |   | socioeconomic                            |
|                 |                         |                            |   | status)                                  |

#### APPENDIX B: Data Dictionary Lists of Codes

#### 1. MBSF\_OTH\_CC (MBSF Other Chronic Condition database)

1.1 ACP MEDICARE 1.2. ALCO\_MEDICARE **1.3.ANXI MEDICARE** 1.4. BIPL\_MEDICARE 1.5. BRAINJ MEDICARE 1.6. DEPSN MEDICARE 1.7.DRUG MEDICARE **1.8.EPILEP MEDICARE** 1.9. FIBRO MEDICARE 1.10. HEARIM MEDICARE 1.11. HEPVIRAL MEDICARE 1.12. HIVAIDS MEDICARE 1.13. INTDIS MEDICARE 1.14. LEADIS MEDICARE 1.15. LEUKLYMPH MEDICARE 1.16. LIVER MEDICARE 1.17. MIGRAINE MEDICARE 1.18. MOBIMP MEDICARE 1.19. OBESITY MEDICARE 1.20. OUD ANY MEDICARE 1.21. OUD MAT MEDICARE 1.22. PSDS MEDICARE 1.23. PTRA MEDICARE 1.24. PVD MEDICARE 1.25. SCHIOT MEDICARE 1.26. SPIINJ MEDICARE 1.27. TOBA MEDICARE 1.28. ULCERS MEDICARE 1.29. VISUAL\_MEDICARE

#### 2. MBSF\_CC (MBSF Chronic Condition database)

- 2.1. ALZH DEMEN
- 2.2. AMI
- 2.3. ANEMIA
- 2.4. ASTHMA
- 2.5. CHF

2.6. CHRONICKIDNEY
2.7. COPD
2.8. DIABETES
2.9. HIP\_FRACTURE
2.10. HYPERL
2.11. HYPERT
2.12.HYPOTH

### 2.13. OSTEOPOROSIS

#### 3. NCH\_LIne (Insurance Claim Database)

3.1. LINE\_COINSRNC\_AMT3.2. SERVICE\_DEDUCTIBLE3.3. CARR LINE PRVDR TYPE CD

### 4. PDEMTM (Medicare Part D Medication Therapy Datatbase)

4.1. CMR\_PROVIDER4.2. DRUG THER CHG NUM

### 5. PDESAF (Medicare Part D Event and Drug Characteristics Database)

5.1. BENE\_ID
5.2. BN
5.3. FILL\_NUM
5.4. FRMLRY\_RX\_ID
5.5. DAYS\_SUPLY\_NUM
5.6. GNN
5.7. SRVC\_DT
6. SEER\_CANCER

6.1. COMBINED\_SUMMARY\_STAGE\_2004
6.2. MARITAL\_STATUS\_AT\_DIAGNOSIS
6.3. RACE RECODE (W, B, AI, API)
6.4. RURAL\_URBAN\_CONTINUUM\_CODE\_2003
6.5. RX SUMM-SYSTEMIC SUR SEQ
6.6. RX SUMM--SURG/RAD SEQ

### 1. MBSF\_OTH\_CC (MBSF Other Chronic Condition database)

### 1.1 ACP\_MEDICARE

LABEL: ADHD and Other Conduct Disorders Indicator – Medicare Only Data DESCRIPTION: This code specifies whether the enrollee met the chronic condition algorithm criteria, considering only Medicare data, for having attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) or other conduct disorders as of the end of the calendar year. SHORT NAME: ACP MEDICARE

LONG NAME: ACP MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The CCW's other chronic or potentially disabling condition variables require enrollees to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (FFS Medicare Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period). For ADHD and other conduct disorders, beneficiaries must have at least one inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

1.2. ALCO\_MEDICARE

LABEL: Alcohol Use Disorders Indicator — Medicare Only Data DESCRIPTION: This code specifies whether the enrollee met the chronic condition algorithm criteria, considering only Medicare data, for having alcohol use disorder as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: ALCO\_MEDICARE LONG NAME: ALCO\_MEDICARE TYPE: NUM LENGTH: 1 SOURCE: CCW (derived) **VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

- 1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage
- 2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage
- 3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The CCW's other chronic or potentially disabling condition variables require enrollees to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (FFS Medicare Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period). For alcohol use disorders, beneficiaries must have at least one inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

## 1.3.ANXI\_MEDICARE

LABEL: Anxiety Disorders Indicator — Medicare Only Data

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether the enrollee met the chronic condition algorithm criteria, considering only Medicare data, for anxiety disorders as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: ANXI\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: ANXI\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The CCW's other chronic or potentially disabling condition variables require enrollees to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period). For anxiety disorders, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the twoyear reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

# 1.4. BIPL\_MEDICARE

LABEL: Bipolar Disorder Indicator — Medicare Only Data

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether the enrollee met the chronic condition algorithm criteria, considering only Medicare data, for bipolar disorders as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: BIPL\_MEDICARE LONG NAME: BIPL\_MEDICARE TYPE: NUM LENGTH: 1 SOURCE: CCW (derived) VALUES: 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage 1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient EES coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The CCW's other chronic or potentially disabling condition variables require enrollees to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period). For bipolar disorders, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the twoyear reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

## 1.5. BRAINJ\_MEDICARE

**LABEL:** Traumatic Brain Injury and Nonpsychotic Mental Disorders due to Brain Damage End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for traumatic brain injury and nonpsychotic mental disorders as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: BRAINJ\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: BRAINJ\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

- 1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage
- 2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage
- 3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred

within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For traumatic brain injury and nonpsychotic mental disorders, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

1.6. DEPSN\_MEDICARE

**LABEL:** Major Depressive Affective Disorder End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for major depressive affective disorder as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: DEPSN\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: DEPSN\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For major depressive affective disorder, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

**NOTE:** This depressive affective disorder condition definition is slightly different than the CCW depression condition; this depressive affective disorder condition was specified by CMS to enhance research of the Medicare-Medicaid dually enrolled population.

1.7.DRUG\_MEDICARE

**LABEL:** Drug Use Disorder End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims **DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for drug use disorder as of the end of the calendar year.

## SHORT NAME: DRUG\_MEDICARE LONG NAME: DRUG\_MEDICARE TYPE: NUM LENGTH: 1 SOURCE: CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For drug use disorder, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the twoyear reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

#### 1.8. EPILEP\_MEDICARE

LABEL: Drug Use Disorder End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for drug use disorder as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: DRUG\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: DRUG\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For drug use disorder, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the twoyear reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

### 1.9. FIBRO\_MEDICARE

**LABEL:** Fibromyalgia, Chronic Pain and Fatigue End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for fibromyalgia, chronic pain, and fatigue as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: FIBRO\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: FIBRO\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For fibromyalgia, chronic pain and fatigue, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

1.10. HEARIM\_MEDICARE

LABEL: Sensory — Deafness and Hearing Impairment End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for a sensory (deafness and hearing) impairment as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: HEARIM\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: HEARIM MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For sensory (deafness and hearing) impairment, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

## 1.11. HEPVIRAL\_MEDICARE

**LABEL:** Viral Hepatitis (General) End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims **DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for viral hepatitis (general) as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: HEPVIRAL\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: HEPVIRAL\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For viral hepatitis (general), beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

1.12. HIVAIDS\_MEDICARE

**LABEL:** Human Immunodeficiency Virus and/or Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (HIV/AIDS) End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for human immunodeficiency virus and/or acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (HIV/AIDS) as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: HIVAIDS\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: HIVAIDS\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For human immunodeficiency virus and/or acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (HIV/AIDS), beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other nondrug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

# 1.13. INTDIS\_MEDICARE

**LABEL:** Intellectual Disabilities and Related Conditions End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for intellectual disabilities and related conditions as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: INTDIS\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: INTDIS\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

- 1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage
- 2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage
- 3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred

within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For intellectual disabilities and related conditions, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

### 1.14. LEADIS\_MEDICARE

LABEL: Learning Disabilities End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for learning disabilities as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: LEADIS\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: LEADIS\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For learning disabilities, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the twoyear reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

## 1.15. LEUKLYMPH\_MEDICARE

**LABEL:** Leukemias and Lymphomas End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims **DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for leukemias and lymphomas as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: LEUKLYMPH\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: LEUKLYMPH\_MEDICARE TYPE: NUM LENGTH: 1 SOURCE: CCW (derived) **VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

- 1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage
- 2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage
- 3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For leukemias and lymphomas, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

## 1.16. LIVER\_MEDICARE

**LABEL:** Liver Disease, Cirrhosis and Other Liver Conditions (excluding Hepatitis) End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for liver disease, cirrhosis, and other liver conditions (excluding hepatitis) as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: LIVER\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: LIVER\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For liver disease, cirrhosis, and other liver conditions (excluding hepatitis), beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

### 1.17. MIGRAINE\_MEDICARE

LABEL: Migraine and other Chronic Headache End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for migraine and other chronic headache as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: MIGRAINE\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: MIGRAINE\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For migraine and other chronic headache, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

1.18. MOBIMP\_MEDICARE

**LABEL:** Mobility Impairments End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims **DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for mobility impairments as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: MOBIMP MEDICARE

LONG NAME: MOBIMP MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For mobility impairments, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

# 1.19. OBESITY\_MEDICARE

LABEL: Obesity End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for obesity as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: OBESITY\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: OBESITY\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For obesity, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other nondrug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

# 1.20. OUD\_ANY\_MEDICARE

**LABEL:** Overarching OUD Disorder (Any of the Three Sub-Indicators) — Medicare Only Claims

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable is the Overarching Opioid Use Disorder (OUD) indicator, which identifies whether a beneficiary met any of the three opioid-related sub-Indicators as of the end of the calendar year. Beneficiaries who were identified as meeting the criteria for any of the following, also meet the criteria for this overarching indicator:

OUD\_DX\_MEDICARE, OUD\_HOSP\_MEDICARE, or OUD\_MAT\_MEDICARE.

### SHORT NAME: OUD\_ANY\_MEDICARE LONG NAME: OUD\_ANY\_MEDICARE TYPE: NUM

## I YPE: NUN

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For the overarching opioid use disorder indicator, beneficiaries must have met the criteria for at least one of the three opioid-use disorder sub-category conditions:

Diagnosis and Procedure Basis for

## 1.21. OUD\_MAT\_MEDICARE

**LABEL:** Use of Medication-Assisted Treatment (MAT) — Medicare Only Claims **DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the criteria for the Use of Medication-Assisted Treatment (MAT) as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: OUD\_MAT\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: OUD\_MAT \_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For use of Medication-Assisted Treatment (MAT), beneficiaries must have one or more drug claim (Medicare Part B, Medicare Part D, and/or Medicaid) with an NDC (national drug code) for opioid-MAT or one or more non-drug claim (Medicare Part B or Medicaid non-drug claim) with a HCPCs code during the two-year period.

### 1.22. PSDS\_MEDICARE

LABEL: Personality Disorders End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for personality disorders as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: PSDS\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: PSDS\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For personality disorders, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

## 1.23. PTRA\_MEDICARE

**LABEL:** Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims **DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for post-traumatic stress disorder as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: PTRA\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: PTRA\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For post-traumatic stress disorder, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

## 1.24. PVD\_MEDICARE

**LABEL:** Peripheral Vascular Disease End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims **DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for peripheral vascular disease as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: PVD\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: PVD\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For peripheral vascular disease, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

1.25. SCHIOT\_MEDICARE

**LABEL:** Schizophrenia and Other Psychotic Disorders End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders as of the end of the calendar year. **SHORT NAME:** SCHIOT\_MEDICARE

### LONG NAME: SCHIOT\_MEDICARE

# TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

## 1.26. SPIINJ\_MEDICARE

LABEL: Spinal Cord Injury End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for spinal cord injury as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: SPIINJ\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: SPIINJ\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

SOURCE: CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For spinal cord injury, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the twoyear reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

### 1.27. TOBA\_MEDICARE

**LABEL:** Tobacco Use Disorders End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims **DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for tobacco use disorders as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: TOBA\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: TOBA\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For tobacco use disorders, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

1.28. ULCERS\_MEDICARE

**LABEL:** Pressure Ulcers and Chronic Ulcers End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for pressure ulcers and chronic ulcers as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: ULCERS\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: ULCERS\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage
3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For pressure ulcers and chronic ulcers, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

## 1.29. VISUAL\_MEDICARE

**LABEL:** Sensory — Blindness and Visual Impairment End-of-Year Indicator — Medicare Only Claims

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the condition criteria for sensory (blindness and visual) impairment as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: VISUAL\_MEDICARE

LONG NAME: VISUAL\_MEDICARE

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The condition variable requires beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of Medicare claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (Medicare FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For sensory (blindness and visual) impairment, beneficiaries must have at least one Medicare inpatient claim or two other non-drug claims of any service type with a related code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

# 2. MBSF\_CC (MBSF Chronic Condtion database)

# 2.1. ALZH\_DEMEN

LABEL: Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders or Senile Dementia End-of-Year Indicator

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the Chronic Condition Warehouse (CCW) criteria for Alzheimer's disease and related disorders or senile dementia as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: ALZHDMTA

LONG NAME: ALZH DEMEN

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The CCW's chronic condition flags require beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For Alzheimer's disease and related disorders or senile dementia, beneficiaries must have at least one inpatient, SNF, home health, Part B institutional, or Part B non-institutional (carrier) claim with a related code in any position during the three-year reference period.

# 2.2. AMI

LABEL: Acute Myocardial Infarction End-of-Year Indicator

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the Chronic Condition Warehouse (CCW) criteria for an acute myocardial infarction (AMI; heart attack) as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: AMI

LONG NAME: AMI

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

SOURCE: CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The CCW's chronic condition flags require beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and

occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For heart attack, beneficiaries must have at least one inpatient claim with a heart attack diagnosis code in the first or second position during the one-year reference period.

2.3. ANEMIA

LABEL: Anemia End Year Indicator

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the Chronic Condition Warehouse (CCW) criteria for anemia as of the end of the calendar year.

**SHORT NAME:** ANEMIA

LONG NAME: ANEMIA

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The CCW's chronic condition flags require beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For anemia, beneficiaries must have at least one inpatient, SNF, home health, Part B institutional, or Part B non-institutional (carrier) claim with an anemia code in any position during the one-year reference period.

2.4. ASTHMA

LABEL: Asthma End Year Indicator

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the Chronic Condition Warehouse (CCW) criteria for asthma as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: ASTHMA LONG NAME: ASTHMA TYPE: NUM LENGTH: 1 SOURCE: CCW (derived) VALUES: 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage 1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The CCW's chronic condition flags require beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For asthma, beneficiaries must have at least one inpatient, SNF, or home health claim, or two-Part B (institutional or non-institutional) claims with an asthma code in any position during the one-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

2.5. CHF

LABEL: Heart Failure End-of-Year Indicator

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the Chronic Condition Warehouse (CCW) criteria for congestive heart failure (CHF) as of the end of the calendar year.

## SHORT NAME: CHF LONG NAME: CHF TYPE: NUM LENGTH: 1 SOURCE: CCW (derived) VALUES: 0 = Beneficiary

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The CCW's chronic condition flags require beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For congestive heart failure, beneficiaries must have at least one inpatient or Part B (institutional or non-institutional) claim with a heart failure code in any position during the two-year reference period.

2.6. CHRONICKIDNEY

LABEL: Chronic Kidney Disease End-of-Year Indicator

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the Chronic Condition Warehouse (CCW) criteria for chronic kidney disease (CKD) as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: CHRNKIDN LONG NAME: CHRONICKIDNEY TYPE: NUM LENGTH: 1 SOURCE: CCW (derived) VALUES: 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage 1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FES acverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The CCW's chronic condition flags require beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For chronic kidney disease, beneficiaries must have at least one inpatient, SNF, or home health claim, or two-Part B (institutional or non-institutional) claims with a chronic kidney disease code in any position during the two-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

2.7. COPD

LABEL: Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease End-of-Year Indicator

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the Chronic Condition Warehouse (CCW) criteria for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and bronchiectasis as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: COPD

LONG NAME: COPD

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The CCW's chronic condition flags require beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and

occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For COPD and bronchiectasis, beneficiaries must have at least one inpatient, SNF, or home health claim, or two-Part B (institutional or non-institutional) claims with a COPD code in any position during the one-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

2.8. DIABETES

LABEL: Diabetes End-of-Year Indicator

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the Chronic Condition Warehouse (CCW) criteria for diabetes as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: DIABETES

LONG NAME: DIABETES

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The CCW's chronic condition flags require beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For depression, beneficiaries must have at least one inpatient, SNF, home health, or Part B (institutional or non-institutional) claim with a depression code in any position during the one-year reference period.

# 2.9. HIP\_FRACTURE

LABEL: Hip/Pelvic Fracture End-of-Year Indicator

DESCRIPTION: This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the Chronic Condition Warehouse (CCW) criteria for a hip/pelvic fracture as of the end of the calendar year. SHORT NAME: HIPFRAC LONG NAME: HIP\_FRACTURE TYPE: NUM LENGTH: 1 SOURCE: CCW (derived) **VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

- 1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage
- 2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage
- 3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The CCW's chronic condition flags require beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For hip/pelvic fractures, beneficiaries must have at least one inpatient or SNF claim with a hip/pelvic fracture code in any position during the one-year reference period.

2.10. HYPERL

LABEL: Hyperlipidemia End Year Indicator

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the Chronic Condition Warehouse (CCW) criteria for hyperlipidemia as of the end of the calendar year.

### SHORT NAME: HYPERL

LONG NAME: HYPERL

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The CCW's chronic condition flags require beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For hyperlipidemia, beneficiaries must have at least one inpatient, SNF, or home health claim, or two-Part B (institutional or non-institutional) claims, with a hyperlipidemia code in any position during the one-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

# 2.11. HYPERT

LABEL: Hypertension End Year Indicator

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the Chronic Condition Warehouse (CCW) criteria for hypertension (high blood pressure) as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: HYPERT LONG NAME: HYPERT TYPE: NUM LENGTH: 1 SOURCE: CCW (derived) VALUES: 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service

(FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The CCW's chronic condition flags require beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For hypertension, beneficiaries must have at least one inpatient, SNF, or home health claim, or two-Part B (institutional or non-institutional) claims, with a hypertension code in any position during the one-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

## 2.12.HYPOTH

LABEL: Acquired Hypothyroidism End Year Indicator

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the Chronic Condition Warehouse (CCW) criteria for acquired hypothyroidism as of the end of the calendar year. **SHORT NAME:** HYPOTH

LONG NAME: HYPOTH

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

- 2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage
- 3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The CCW's chronic condition flags require beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and

occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For acquired hypothyroidism, beneficiaries must have at least one inpatient, SNF, or home health claim, or two-Part B (institutional or non-institutional) claims with an acquired hypothyroidism code in any position during the one-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

#### 2.13. OSTEOPOROSIS

LABEL: Osteoporosis End-of-Year Indicator

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates whether a beneficiary met the Chronic Condition Warehouse (CCW) criteria for osteoporosis as of the end of the calendar year.

SHORT NAME: OSTEOPRS

LONG NAME: OSTEOPOROSIS

TYPE: NUM

LENGTH: 1

**SOURCE:** CCW (derived)

**VALUES:** 0 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria or have sufficient fee-for-service (FFS) coverage

1 = Beneficiary met claims criteria but did not have sufficient FFS coverage

2 = Beneficiary did not meet claims criteria but had sufficient FFS coverage

3 = Beneficiary met claims criteria and had sufficient FFS coverage

**COMMENT:** The CCW's chronic condition flags require beneficiaries to satisfy both claims criteria (a minimum number/type of claims that have the proper diagnosis codes and occurred within a specified time period) and coverage criteria (FFS Part A and Part B coverage during the entire specified time period).

For osteoporosis, beneficiaries must have at least one inpatient, SNF, or home health claim, or two-Part B (institutional or non-institutional) claims, with an osteoporosis code in any position during the one-year reference period. When two claims are required, they must occur at least one day apart.

# 3. NCH\_LIne (Insurance Claim Database)

# 3.1. LINE\_COINSRNC\_AMT

LABEL: Line Beneficiary Coinsurance Amount

**DESCRIPTION:** The beneficiary coinsurance liability amount for this line-item service on the non-institutional claim.

This variable is the beneficiary's liability for coinsurance for the service on the line-item record.

Beneficiaries only face coinsurance once they have satisfied Part B's annual deductible, which applies to both institutional (e.g., Hospital Outpatient) and non-institutional (e.g., Carrier and DME) services.

For most Part B services, coinsurance equals 20 percent of the allowed amount.

SHORT NAME: COINAMT

LONG NAME: LINE\_COINSRNC\_AMT

TYPE: NUM LENGTH: 12 SOURCE: NCH

VALUES: XXX.XX

**COMMENT:** Medicare payments are described in detail in a series called the Medicare Learning Network (MLN) "Payment System Fact Sheet Series" (reference the list of MLN publications at: http://www.cms.gov/Outreach-and-Education/Medicare-Learning-Network-MLN/MLNProducts/MLN-Publications.html).

3.2. SERVICE\_DEDUCTIBLE

LABEL: Line Service Deductible Indicator Switch

**DESCRIPTION:** Switch indicating whether or not the line-item service on the non-institutional claim is subject to a deductible.

SHORT NAME: DED\_SW

LONG NAME: LINE\_SERVICE\_DEDUCTIBLE

TYPE: CHAR

LENGTH: 1

SOURCE: NCH

**VALUES:** 0 = Service Subject to Deductible

1 = Service Not Subject to Deductible

3.3. CARR\_LINE\_PRVDR\_TYPE\_CD

LABEL: Carrier Line Provider Type Code

**DESCRIPTION:** Code identifying the type of provider furnishing the service for this line item on the carrier claim.

SHORT NAME: PRV\_TYPE

LONG NAME: CARR LINE PRVDR TYPE CD

TYPE: CHAR

LENGTH: 1

SOURCE: NCH

VALUES: For Physician/Supplier Claims:

0 =Clinics, groups, associations, partnerships, or other entities

1 = Physicians or suppliers reporting as solo practitioners

2 = Suppliers (other than sole proprietorship)

3 = Institutional provider

4 = Independent laboratories

5 =Clinics (multiple specialties)

6 = Groups (single specialty)

7 =Other entities

**COMMENT:** PRIOR TO VERSION H, DME claims also used this code; the following were valid codes:

0 =Clinics, groups, associations, partnerships, or other entities for whom the carrier's own ID number has been assigned.

1 = Physicians or suppliers billing as solo practitioners for whom SSN's are shown in the physician ID code field.

2 = Physicians or suppliers billing as solo practitioners for whom the carrier's own physician ID code is shown.

3 = Suppliers (other than sole proprietorship) for whom EI numbers are used in coding the ID field.

4 = Suppliers (other than sole proprietorship) for whom the carrier's own code has been shown.

5 = Institutional providers and independent laboratories for whom EI numbers are used in coding the ID field.

6 = Institutional providers and independent laboratories for whom the carrier's own ID number is shown.

7 = Clinics, groups, associations, or partnerships for whom EI numbers are used in coding the ID field.

8 = Other entities for whom EI numbers are used in coding the ID field or proprietorship for whom EI numbers are used in coding the ID field.

## 4. PDEMTM (Medicare Part D Medication Therapy Datatbase)

4.1. CMR\_PROVIDER

LABEL: Comprehensive Medication Review (CMR) provider type DESCRIPTION: This variable indicates the type of qualified provider who performed the initial comprehensive medication review (CMR) TYPE: CHAR LENGTH: 2 SOURCE: CMS (HPMS files) VALUES: 01 = Physician 02 = Registered Nurse 03 = Licensed Practical Nurse 04 = Nurse Practitioner

05 = Physician's Assistant

06 = Local Pharmacist

07 = LTC Consultant Pharmacist

08 = Plan Sponsor Pharmacist

09 = Plan Benefit Manager (PBM) Pharmacist

10 = MTM Vendor Local Pharmacist

11 = MTM Vendor In-house Pharmacist

12 = Hospital Pharmacist

13 = Pharmacist - other

14 = Supervised pharmacy intern (new in 2016)

99 = Other

Null/missing = beneficiary did not receive a CMR

**COMMENT:** CMS created the MTM file from information submitted by Part D plan sponsors to CMS's Health Plan Management System (HPMS). If more than one CMR is received, this applies to the initial CMR.

# 4.2. DRUG\_THER\_CHG\_NUM

**LABEL:** Number of drug therapy problem resolutions with prescribers **DESCRIPTION:** This variable indicates the number of drug therapy problem resolutions with prescribers resulting from recommendations made to beneficiary's prescriber(s) as a result of Medication Therapy Management (MTM) services

TYPE: NUM LENGTH: 8 SOURCE: CMS (HPMS files) VALUES: 0-xx COMMENT: CMS created the MTM file from information submitted by Part D plan sponsors to CMS's Health Plan Management System (HPMS).

## 5. PDESAF (Medicare Part D Event and Drug Characteristics Database)

5.1. BENE\_ID

LABEL: CCW Encrypted Beneficiary ID Number

**DESCRIPTION:** The unique CCW identifier for a beneficiary.

The CCW assigns a unique beneficiary identification number to each individual who receives Medicare and/or Medicaid, and uses that number to identify an individual's records in all CCW data files (e.g., Medicare claims, MAX claims, MDS assessment data). This number does not change during a beneficiary's lifetime and each number is used only once.

The BENE\_ID is specific to the CCW and is not applicable to any other identification system or data source.

SHORT NAME: BENE\_ID LONG NAME: BENE\_ID TYPE: CHAR LENGTH: 15 SOURCE: CCW VALUES: — COMMENT: —

5.2. BN

LABEL: Brand Name

**DESCRIPTION:** This is the brand name of the dispensed PDE, according to the First DataBank (FDB) reference files.

The name that appears on the package label provided by the manufacturer.

When this variable appears in the Formulary file, it is the FDB brand name for a drug product on the formulary.

SHORT NAME: BN

LONG NAME: BN

TYPE: CHAR

LENGTH: 30

**SOURCE:** First DataBank

VALUES: text description; DIABETIC SUPPLY for all diabetic supplies

**COMMENT:** In the PDE file, this variable is populated by linking to the proprietary First DataBank MedKnowledge database by matching on the National Drug Code (NDC; variable in the PDE files called the product service identifier PROD\_SRVC\_ID).

In the Formulary file, this variable is populated by matching the drug products on the Part D Plan submitted formulary to FDB. Part D plan sponsors submit the formulary to the CMS Health Plan Management System (HPMS). Plans identify the drug products on their formularies using the National Library of Medicine RxNorm Concept Unique Identifiers (RXCUIs). Each RXCUI corresponds to a unique brand name and clinical formulation (same ingredients, strength, and dosage form).

5.3. FILL\_NUM

LABEL: Number of drug fills

**DESCRIPTION:** This field indicates the number fill of the current dispensed supply.

SHORT NAME: FILL\_NUM LONG NAME: FILL\_NUM TYPE: NUM LENGTH: 3 SOURCE: PDE VALUES: Possible values are 0–99 COMMENT: The number of days of a drug that are supplied vary considerably across PDEs.

5.4. FRMLRY\_RX\_ID

**LABEL:** Formulary identification number

**DESCRIPTION:** This variable is the unique identification number assigned to each formulary. Part D plans submit their formularies to CMS and identify the drug products that are covered using the National Library of Medicine's RxNorm Concept Unique Identifiers (RXCUIs).

The same formulary may be used by more than one plan benefit package (PBP) within a contract.

SHORT NAME: FORMULARY\_ID LONG NAME: FORMULARY\_ID TYPE: CHAR LENGTH: 8 SOURCE: PDE and CMS HPMS (derived) VALUES: 8-digit numeric value COMMENT: The CCW constructs a Formulary Characteristics File from the CMS Approved Formulary Data found in the CMS's Health Plan Management System (HPMS). This variable is first available in 2010. This variable was always encrypted from 2010–2012 to comply with CMS privacy rules.

5.5. DAYS\_SUPLY\_NUM

LABEL: Days Supply DESCRIPTION: This field indicates the number of days' supply of medication dispensed by the pharmacy and consists of the amount the pharmacy enters for the prescription. SHORT NAME: DAYSSPLY LONG NAME: DAYS\_SUPLY\_NUM TYPE: NUM LENGTH: 3 SOURCE: PDE VALUES: Possible values are 0–999. **COMMENT:** CMS accepts blanks in PDEs where NON-STANDARD FORMAT CODE IS B, X, or P.

5.6. GNN

#### LABEL: Generic Name

**DESCRIPTION:** This is the generic name of the dispensed PDE, according to the First DataBank (FDB) reference files. It is the drug ingredient name adopted by United States Adopted Names (USAN).

When this variable appears in the Formulary file, it is the FDB generic name for a drug product on the formulary.

SHORT NAME: GNN

LONG NAME: GNN

TYPE: CHAR

**LENGTH: 30** 

**SOURCE:** First DataBank

**VALUES:** text description of drug (e.g., RISEDRONATE SODIUM, MEMANTINE HCL) **COMMENT:** FDB uses the chemical name when the USAN name is not available. For multi-ingredient products, abbreviations may be used (e.g., HCTZ [Hydrochlorothiazide] and PP [Phenylpropanolamine]).

In the Formulary file, this variable is populated by matching the drug products on the Part D Plan submitted formulary to FDB. Part D plan sponsors submit the formulary to the CMS Health Plan Management System (HPMS). Plans identify the drug products on their formularies using the National Library of Medicine RxNorm Concept Unique Identifiers (RXCUIs). Each RXCUI corresponds to a unique brand name and clinical formulation (same ingredients, strength, and dosage form).

In the PDE file, this variable is populated by linking to the proprietary First DataBank MedKnowledge database by matching on the National Drug Code (NDC; variable in the PDE files called the product service identifier PROD\_SRVC\_ID).

#### 5.7. SRVC\_DT

LABEL: RX Service Date DESCRIPTION: This field contains the date on which the prescription was filled. SHORT NAME: SRVC\_DT LONG NAME: SRVC\_DT TYPE: DATE LENGTH: 8 SOURCE: PDE VALUES: Date formatted as CCYYMMDD

## COMMENT: —

### 6. SEER\_CANCER

#### 6.1. COMBINED\_SUMMARY\_STAGE\_2004

#### NAACCR Item #: N/A

## SAS Variable Name: Combined\_Summary\_Stage\_2004

#### **Research Plus Limited-Field: Yes**

*Field Description:* Combined Summary Stage field to facilitate stage analyses over time. Created from SEER Combined Summary Stage 2000 (2004-2017) & Derived Summary Stage 2018 (2018+). For more information including sites, years and registries for which it isn't calculated, see https://seer.cancer.gov/seerstat/variables/seer/lrd-stage/

#### SUMMARY STAGE

#### 0 In situ, intraepithelial, noninvasive (Stage 0)

- In situ: noninfiltrating; intraepithelial
- Intraductal WITHOUT infiltration
- Lobular neoplasia, grade 3 (LIN 3)
- Paget disease, in situ

#### 1 Localized only (localized, NOS) (Stage I)

- Confined to breast tissue and fat including nipple and/or areola
- Paget disease WITH or WITHOUT underlying tumor

#### 2 Regional by direct extension only (Stage II)

- Attachment or fixation to pectoral muscle(s) or underlying tumor
- Chest wall
- Deep fixation

• Extensive skin involvement WITH or WITHOUT dermal lymphatic filtration o Edema of skin

- o En cuirasse
- o Erythema

o Inflammation of skin

#### 3 Regional lymph node(s) involved only (Stage II)

• Axillary, NOS (ipsilateral) o Level I (low-axilla) (low) (superficial), NOS [adjacent to tail of breast] Anterior (pectoral)

Lateral (brachial)

Posterior (subscapular)

o Level II (mid-axilla) (central), NOS Interpectoral (Rotter's)

o Level III (high) (deep), NOS Apical (subclavian)

Axillary vein

• Fixed/matted axillary (level I and II) (ipsilateral)

• Infraclavicular (subclavicular) (ipsilateral)

• Internal mammary (parasternal) (ipsilateral)

• Intramammary (ipsilateral)

• Regional lymph node(s), NOS o Lymph node(s), NOS

#### 4 Regional by BOTH direct extension AND regional lymph node(s) involved (Stage II) • Codes (2) + (3)

• Codes (2) + (3)

## 7 Distant site(s)/lymph node(s) involved (Stage III)

• Distant site(s) (including further contiguous extension) o Adrenal (suprarenal) gland

o Bone, including contralateral ribs

o Contralateral (opposite) breast-if stated as metastatic

o Ipsilateral rib(s) (discontiguous extension only, see code 2 for contiguous extension)

o Lung

o Ovary

o Satellite nodule(s) in skin other than primary breast

o Skin over Axilla

Contralateral (opposite) breast

Sternum

Upper abdomen

• Distant lymph node(s), NOS o Axillary (contralateral or bilateral)

o Cervical, NOS

o Fixed/matted axillary (level I and II) (contralateral or bilateral)

o Infraclavicular (subclavicular) (contralateral or bilateral)

o Internal mammary (parasternal) (contralateral or bilateral)

o Intramammary (parasternal) (contralateral or bilateral) f

o Supraclavicular (transverse cervical) (ipsilateral, contralateral or bilateral)

• Distant metastasis, NOS o Carcinomatosis

o Distant metastasis WITH or WITHOUT distant lymph node(s)

9 Unknown if extension or metastasis (STAGE IV)

# 6.2. MARITAL\_STATUS\_AT\_DIAGNOSIS

## NAACCR Item #: 150

# SAS Variable Name: Marital\_status\_at\_diagnosis

## **Research Plus Limited-Field: No**

*Field Description:* This data item identifies the patient's marital status at the time of diagnosis for the reportable tumor.

### Co Description

## de

- 1 Single (never married)
- 2 Married (including common law)
- 3 Separated
- 4 Divorced
- 5 Widowed
- 6 Unmarried or domestic partner (same sex or opposite sex or unregistered)
- 9 Unknown
- 14 Blank

# 6.3. RACE RECODE (W, B, AI, API)

# NAACCR Item #: N/A

# SAS Variable Name: Race\_recode\_W\_B\_AI\_API Research Plus Limited-Field: Yes

*Field Description:* Caution should be exercised when using this variable. For more information, see http://seer.cancer.gov/seerstat/variables/seer/race\_ethnicity.

# Co Description

de

- 1 White
- 2 Black
- 3 American Indian/Alaska Native
- 4 Asian or Pacific Islander
- 7 Other unspecified (1991+)
- 9 Unknown

# 6.4. RURAL\_URBAN\_CONTINUUM\_CODE\_2003

# NAACCR Item #: 3310

SAS Variable Name: Rural\_Urban\_Continuum\_Code\_2003 Research Plus Limited-Field: Yes *Field Description*: The Rural-Urban Continuum (2003) codes (usually known as the Beale Codes) separate counties into four metropolitan and six non-metropolitan categories, based on the size their populations and form a classification scheme that distinguishes metropolitan counties by size and non-metropolitan counties by degree of urbanization and proximity to metro areas. These codes can be derived electronically, using patients' state and county at diagnosis, so registrars do not need to provide them. FIPS state and county code mappings to Beale Codes can be obtained in an Excel file at http://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/rural-urban-continuum-codes.aspx

**Metropolitan Counties (01-03)** 

#### Description

Counties in metro areas of 1 million population or more Counties in metro areas of 250,000 to 1 million population Counties in metro areas of fewer than 250,000 population

#### Nonmetropolitan Counties (04-09)

Code

#### Description

Urban population of 20,000 or more, adjacent to a metro area

Urban population of 20,000 or more, not adjacent to a metro area

Urban population of 2,500 to 19,999, adjacent to a metro area

Urban population of 2,500 to 19,999, not adjacent to a metro area

Completely rural or less than 2,500 urban population,

adjacent to a metro area

Completely rural or less than 2,500 urban population, not adjacent to a metro area

, but: ( Program run, but: (1) area is not included in Rural-Urban Continuum code table, or (2) record is for resident outside of state of reporting institution

Unknown

Program not run; record not coded

#### 6.5. RX SUMM-SYSTEMIC SUR SEQ

### NAACCR Item #: 1639

## SAS Variable Name: RX\_Summ\_Systemic\_Sur\_Seq Research Plus Limited-Field: No

*Field Description:* This data item records the sequencing of systemic therapy and surgical procedures given as part of first course of treatment.

### **Cod Description**

- e
- 0 No systemic therapy and/or surgical procedures; unknown if surgery and/or systemic therapy given
- 2 Systemic therapy before surgery
- 3 Systemic therapy after surgery
- 4 Systemic therapy both before and after surgery
- 5 Intraoperative systemic therapy
- 6 Intraoperative systemic therapy with other therapy administered before and/or after surgery
- 7 Surgery both before and after systemic therapy
- 9 Sequence unknown, but both surgery and systemic therapy given

# 6.6. RX SUMM--SURG/RAD SEQ

## NAACCR Item #: 1380

### SAS Variable Name: RX\_Summ\_Surg\_Rad\_Seq Research Plus Limited-Field: No

*Field Description:* This field records the order in which surgery and radiation therapies were administered for those patients who had both surgery and radiation.

## Co Description

#### de

- 0 No radiation and/or surgery as defined above
- 2 Radiation before surgery
- 3 Radiation after surgery
- 4 Radiation both before and after surgery
- 5 Intraoperative radiation
- 6 Intraoperative radiation with other radiation given before and/or after surgery
- 7 Surgery both before and after radiation
- 9 Sequence unknown, but both surgery and radiation were given

#### REFERENCES

- Adidja, N. M., Agbor, V. N., Aminde, J. A., Ngwasiri, C. A., Ngu, K. B., & Aminde, L. N. (2018). Non-adherence to antihypertensive pharmacotherapy in Buea, Cameroon: A cross-sectional community-based study. *BMC Cardiovascular Disorders*, *18*(1), 150. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12872-018-0888-z
- Al-Dewik, N. I., Morsi, H. M., Samara, M. M., Ghasoub, R. S., Gnanam, C. C., Bhaskaran,
  S. K., Nashwan, A. J., Al-Jurf, R. M., Ismail, M. A., Alsharshani, M. M., Alsayab, A.
  A., Ben-Omran, T. I., Khatib, R. B., & Yassin, M. A. (2016). Is Adherence to
  Imatinib mesylate treatment among patients with chronic myeloid leukemia
  associated with better clinical outcomes in Qatar? *Clinical Medicine Insights: Oncology*, *10*, CMO.S32822. https://doi.org/10.4137/CMO.S32822
- Al-Hassany, L., Kloosterboer, S. M., Dierckx, B., & Koch, B. C. (2019). Assessing methods of measuring medication adherence in chronically ill children-a narrative review.
   *Patient Preference and Adherence, 13*, 1175–1189.
   https://doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S200058
- Ali, W., Shafique, M. U., Majeed, M. A., & Raza, A. (2019). Comparison between SQL and NoSQL databases and their relationship with big data analytics. *Asian Journal of Research in Computer Science*, 4(2), 1-10.
- Ali, A., Xie, Z., Stanko, L., De Leo, E., Hong, Y. R., Bian, J., & Daily, K. C. (2022).
   Endocrine adherence in male versus female breast cancer: A SEER-Medicare review.
   *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 192*(3), 491-499.
- Alkabban, F. M., & Ferguson, T. (2021). *Statpearls: Breast cancer*. Stat Pearls Publishing https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK482286/

- Al-Noumani, H., Wu, J.-R., Barksdale, D., Sherwood, G., AlKhasawneh, E., & Knafl, G.
  (2019). Health beliefs and medication adherence in patients with hypertension: A systematic review of quantitative studies. *Patient Education and Counseling*, *102*(6), 1045–1056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2019.02.022
- Altekruse, S. F. (2009). SEER cancer statistics review, 1975-2007. http://seer. cancer. gov/csr/1975\_2007/results\_merged/sect\_13\_leukemia. pdf.
- Alqarni, A. M., Alrahbeni, T., Qarni, A. A., & Qarni, H. M. A. (2018). Adherence to diabetes medication among diabetic patients in the Bisha governorate of Saudi Arabia - a cross-sectional survey. *Patient Preference and Adherence*, 13, 63–71. https://doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S176355
- American Cancer Society. (2015). Cancer facts & figures.

https://www.cancer.org/research/cancer-facts-statistics/all-cancer-facts-

figures/cancer-facts-figures-2015.html

American Cancer Society. (ACS). (2019). Managing cancer as a chronic illness.

https://www.cancer.org/treatment/survivorship-during-and-after-treatment/long-termhealth-concerns/cancer-as-a-chronic-illness.html

- American Cancer Society. (ACS). (2021). About breast cancer. https://www.cancer.org/cancer/breast-cancer/about.html
- Andrade, S. E., Kahler, K. H., Frech, F., & Chan, K. A. (2006). Methods for evaluation of medication adherence and persistence using automated databases.

Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety, 15(8), 565-574.

- Anghel, L. A., Farcas, A. M., & Oprean, R. N. (2019). An overview of the common methods used to measure treatment adherence. *Medicine and Pharmacy Reports*, 92(2), 117– 122. https://doi.org/10.15386/mpr-1201
- Arlt, S., Lindner, R., Rösler, A., & von Renteln-Kruse, W. (2008). Adherence to medication in patients with dementia: predictors and strategies for improvement. *Drugs & Aging*, 25, 1033-1047. https://doi.org/10.2165/0002512-200825120-00005

Bandura, A., & Walters, R. H. (1977). Social learning theory. (Vol. 1). Prentice Hall.

- Bane, C., Hughe, C. M., & McElnay, J. C. (2006). Determinants of medication adherence in hypertensive patients: An application of self-efficacy and the theory of planned behaviour. *International Journal of Pharmacy Practice*, *14*(3), 197–204. https://doi.org/10.1211/ijpp.14.3.0006
- Banegas, M. P., Emerson, M. A., Adams, A. S., Achacoso, N. S., Chawla, N., Alexeeff, S., & Habel, L. A. (2018). Patterns of medication adherence in a multi-ethnic cohort of prevalent statin users diagnosed with breast, prostate, or colorectal cancer. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, 12(6), 794-802. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-018-0716-6
- Bao, Y. K., Weide, L. G., Ganesan, V. C., Jakhar, I., McGill, J. B., Sahil, S., Cheng, A., Gaddis, M. & Drees, B. M. (2019). High prevalence of comorbid autoimmune diseases in adults with type 1 diabetes from the HealthFacts database. *Journal of Diabetes*, 11(4), 273-279. https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-0407.12856
- Barrett, J. E., Plotnikoff, R. C., Courneya, K. S., & Raine, K. D. (2007). Physical activity and type 2 diabetes. *The Diabetes Educator*, 33(1), 128–143. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145721706297453

Bartlett Ellis, R. J. (2015). Medication-taking across the care continuum and adherencerelated outcomes (MACO) framework. Indiana University School of Nursing. https://hdl.handle.net/1805/9015

Bartlett Ellis, R. J., & Welch, J. L. (2017). Medication-taking behaviours in chronic kidney disease with multiple chronic conditions: a meta-ethnographic synthesis of qualitative studies. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *26*(5-6), 586–598.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13588

- Bartlett Ellis, R. J., Hertz, D., Callahan, P., & Ruppar, T. M. (2020). Self-reported nonadherence associated with pharmacy and home medication management inconvenience factors in a US adult population. *Patient Preference and Adherence, 14*, 529–539. https://doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S223408
- Beauchamp, T. L., & Childress, J. F. (2001). Principles of biomedical ethics (5th ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Bender, C. M., Gentry, A. L., Brufsky, A. M., Casillo, F. E., Cohen, S. M., Dailey, M. M., Donovan, H. S., Dunbar-Jacob, J., Jankowitz, R. C., Rosenzweig, M. Q., Sherwood, P. R., & Sereika, S. M. (2014). Influence of patient and treatment factors on adherence to adjuvant endocrine therapy in breast cancer. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*(3), 274–285. https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.274-285

Belaiche, S., Decaudin, B., Dharancy, S., Noel, C., Odou, P., & Hazzan, M. (2017). Factors relevant to medication non-adherence in kidney transplant: A systematic review. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 39(3), 582-593.
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11096-017-0436-4

- Bennett, J. (2016). Bringing science to life. In *Teachers creating context-based learning* environments in science. pp. 21-39. SensePublishers
- Berben, L., Dobbels, F., Engberg, S., Hill, M. N., & De Geest, S. (2012). An ecological perspective on medication adherence. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, 34(5), 635-653. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945911434518
- Bernell, S., & Howard, S. W. (2016). Use your words carefully: what is a chronic disease?. Frontiers in Public Health, 4, 159. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00159
- Bezabhe, W. M., Chalmers, L., Bereznicki, L. R., Peterson, G. M., Bimirew, M. A., & Kassie, D. M. (2014). Barriers and facilitators of adherence to antiretroviral drug therapy and retention in care among adult HIV-positive patients: a qualitative study from Ethiopia. *PloS One*, *9*(5), e97353. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0097353
- Blanchette, P. S., Lam, M., Richard, L., Allen, B., Shariff, S. Z., Vandenberg, T., Pritchard, K., Chan, K. K. W., Louie, A. V., Desautels, D., Raphael, J., & Earle, C. C. (2020).
  Factors associated with endocrine therapy adherence among post-menopausal women treated for early-stage breast cancer in Ontario, Canada. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, *179*(1), 217-227. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-019-05430-6
- Borner, M., Scheithauer, W., Twelves, C., Maroun, J., & Wilke, H. (2001). Answering patients' needs: Oral alternatives to intravenous therapy. *The Oncologist*, 6(4), 12-16. https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.6-suppl\_4-12
- Bosco-Levy, P., Jove, J., Robinson, P., Moore, N., Fourrier-Reglat, A., & Bezin, J. (2016).
  Persistence to 5-year hormonal breast cancer therapy: A French national populationbased study. *British Journal of Cancer*, *115*(8), 912-919.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2016.276

- Bosworth, H. B., Oddone, E. Z., & Weinberger, M. (Eds.). (2006). Patient treatment adherence: Concepts, interventions, and measurement. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Bouwman, L., Eeltink, C. M., Visser, O., Janssen, J., & Maaskant, J. M. (2017). Prevalence and associated factors of medication non-adherence in hematological-oncological patients in their home situation. *BMC Cancer*, 17(1), 739. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-017-3735-1
- Bray, F., Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Siegel, R. L., Torre, L. A., & Jemal, A. (2018). Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 68*(6), 394-424. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21492
- Breast Cancer Research Foundation. (BCRF). (2021). *Breast cancer in the elderly: Treating this growing patient population*. https://www.bcrf.org/blog/breast-cancer-elderly-treating-growing-patient-population/
- Brett, J., Fenlon, D., Boulton, M., Hulbert-Williams, N. J., Walter, F. M., Donnelly, P., Lavery, B., Morgan, A., Morris, C., & Watson, E. (2018). Factors associated with intentional and unintentional non-adherence to adjuvant endocrine therapy following breast cancer. *European Journal of Cancer Care*, 27(1), e12601. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecc.12601
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1977). Toward an experimental ecology of human development. *American Psychologist, 32*(7), 513-531. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.32.7.513
- Broekmans, S., Dobbels, F., Milisen, K., Morlion, B., & Vanderschueren, S. (2009). Medication adherence in patients with chronic non-malignant pain: Is there a

problem? *European Journal of Pain*, *13*(2), 115–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2008.02.010

Brown, M. T., & Bussell, J. K. (2011). Medication adherence: WHO cares? *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 86(4), 304–314. https://doi.org/10.4065/mcp.2010.0575

Browning, K. K., Wewers, M. E., Ferketich, A. K., Otterson, G. A., & Reynolds, N. R. (2009). The self-regulation model of illness applied to smoking behavior in lung cancer. *Cancer Nursing*, 32(4), E15–E25. https://doi.org/10.1097/NCC.0b013e3181a0238f

- Burnier, M., Vrijens, B. (2018). Taxonomy of medication adherence: Recent developments.
  In: Burnier, M. (eds) *Drug adherence in hypertension and cardiovascular protection*. *Updates in hypertension and cardiovascular protection*. Springer.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-76593-8 1
- Burstein, H. J., Lacchetti, C., Anderson, H., Buchholz, T. A., Davidson, N. E., Gelmon, K.
  A., & Griggs, J. J. (2019). Adjuvant endocrine therapy for women with hormone receptor-positive breast cancer: ASCO clinical practice guideline focused update. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 37(5).
- Butler, M., Talley, K. M., Burns, R., Ripley, A., Rothman, A., Johnson, P., & Kane, R. L. (2011). Values of older adults related to primary and secondary prevention. *Evidence Synthesis*, 84. AHRQ Publication. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK53769/
- Butow, P., Palmer, S., Pai, A., Goodenough, B., Luckett, T., & King, M. (2010). Review of adherence-related issues in adolescents and young adults with cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 28(32), 4800-4809. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2009.22.2802

- Buttorff, C., Ruder, T., & Bauman, M. (2017). Multiple chronic conditions in the United States (Vol. 10). Rand Corportation
- Byerly, M. J., Thompson, A., Carmody, T., Bugno, R., Erwin, T., Kashner, M., & Rush, A. J. (2007). Validity of electronically monitored medication adherence and conventional adherence measures in schizophrenia. *Psychiatric Services*, 58(6), 844-847. https://doi.org/10.1176/ps.2007.58.6.844
- Canoy, N., Thapa, S., & Hannes, K. (2019). Transgender persons' HIV care (dis) engagement: a qualitative evidence synthesis protocol from an ecological systems theory perspective. *BMJ Open*, 9(1), e025475. http://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025475
- Cavazza, M., Banks, H., Ercolanoni, M., Cukaj, G., Bianchi, G., Capri, G., & Longo, F.
  (2020). Factors influencing adherence to adjuvant endocrine therapy in breast cancertreated women: using real-world data to inform a switch from acute to chronic disease management. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 183(1), 189-199.
- Checchi, K. D., Huybrechts, K. F., Avorn, J., & Kesselheim, A. S. (2014). Electronic medication packaging devices and medication adherence: a systematic review. *JAMA*, *312* (12), 1237–1247. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2014.10059
- Cedillo-Couvert, E. A., Ricardo, A. C., Chen, J., Cohan, J., Fischer, M. J., Krousel-Wood, M., Kusek, J. W., Lederer, S., Lustigova, E., Ojo, A., Porter, A. C., Sharp, L. K., Sondheimer, J., Diamantidis, C., Wang, X., Roy, J., Lash, J. P., Appel, L. J., Feldman, H. I., ... Townsend, R. R. (2018). Self-reported medication adherence and CKD progression. *Kidney International Reports*, *3*(3), 645–651. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ekir.2018.01.007

Center for Disease Control Prevention. (CDC). (2003). *About chronic disease*. http://www.cdc.gov/washington/overview/chrondis.html

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (CDC). (2017). United States cancer statistics: data visualizations. https://gis.cdc.gov/Cancer/USCS/DataViz.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. CDC. (2020). United States cancer statistics. https://gis.cdc.gov/Cancer/USCS/#/Demographics/
- Center for Disease Control Prevention. (CDC). (2021). *What are the risk factors for breast cancer*? https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/breast/basic\_info/risk\_factors.htm
- Center for Disease Control Prevention. (CDC). (2022). *Promoting health for older adults*. https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/resources/publications/factsheets/promoting-health-for-older-adults.htm
- Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (CMS). (2021). *Identifiable data files*. https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Files-for-Order/IdentifiableDataFiles
- Chang, T. E., Ritchey, M. D., Park, S., Chang, A., Odom, E. C., Durthaler, J., Jackson, S. L., & Loustalot, F. (2019). National rates of nonadherence to antihypertensive medications among insured adults with hypertension, 2015. *Hypertension*, 74(6), 1324-1332.
- Chapman, R. H., Petrilla, A. A., Benner, J. S., Schwartz, J. S., & Tang, S. S. (2008). Predictors of adherence to concomitant antihypertensive and lipid-lowering medications in older adults. *Drugs & Aging*, 25(10), 885-892.

- Charlson, M. E., Pompei, P., Ales, K. L., & MacKenzie, C. R. (1987). A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. *Journal of Chronic Diseases*, 40(5), 373-383.
- Chen, Y., Gao, J., & Lu, M. (2023). Medication adherence trajectory of patients with chronic diseases and its influencing factors: A systematic review. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.15776
- Chen, S.-L., Tsai, J.-C., & Lee, W.-L. (2009). The impact of illness perception on adherence to therapeutic regimens of patients with hypertension in Taiwan. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 18(15), 2234–2244. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2702.2008.02706.x
- Chew, B.-H., Hassan, N.-H., & Sherina, M.-S. (2015). Determinants of medication adherence among adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus in three Malaysian public health clinics: A cross-sectional study. *Patient Preference and Adherence*, 9, 639–648. https://doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S81612
- Choudhry, N. K., Setoguchi, S., Levin, R., Winkelmayer, W. C., & Shrank, W. H. (2008). Trends in adherence to secondary prevention medications in elderly post-myocardial infarction patients. *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*, 17(12), 1189-1196.
- Clancy, C., Lynch, J., O'Connor, P., & Dowling, M. (2020). Breast cancer patients' experiences of adherence and persistence to oral endocrine therapy: A qualitative evidence synthesis. *European Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 44, 101706. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejon.2019.101706
- Clark, S. E., Marcum, Z. A., Radich, J. P., & Bansal, A. (2021). Predictors of tyrosine kinase inhibitor adherence trajectories in patients with newly diagnosed chronic myeloid

leukemia. *Journal of Oncology Pharmacy Practice*, *27*(8), 1842–1852. https://doi.org/10.1177/1078155220970616

- Colbert, A. M., Sereika, S. M., & Erlen, J. A. (2013). Functional health literacy, medicationtaking self-efficacy and adherence to antiretroviral therapy. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 69(2), 295–304. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2012.06007.x
- Coleman, W. (1985). The cognitive basis of the discipline: Claude Bernard on physiology. *Isis, 76*(1), 49-70. https://doi.org/10.1086/353737
- Coleman, M. T., & Newton, K. S. (2005). Supporting self-management in patients with chronic illness. *American Family Physician*, 72(8), 1503-1510. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16273817/
- Cole, A. M., Stephens, K. A., Keppel, G. A., Estiri, H., & Baldwin, L. M. (2016). Extracting electronic health record data in a practice-based research network: Processes to support translational research across diverse practice organizations. *EGEMS*, 4(2), 1206. https://doi.org/10.13063/2327-9214.1206
- Corter, A. L., Broom, R., Porter, D., Harvey, V., & Findlay, M. (2018). Predicting nonadherence to adjuvant endocrine therapy in women with early stage breast cancer. *Psycho-Oncology*, 27(9), 2096-2103. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.4771
- Crawshaw, J., Auyeung, V., Norton, S., & Weinman, J. (2016). Identifying psychosocial predictors of medication non-adherence following acute coronary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 90, 10–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2016.09.003

- Cubanski, J. & Neuman, T. (2016). *Medicare's role for people under age 65 with disabilities*. Kaiser Family Foundation. (KFF). https://www.kff.org/medicare/issuebrief/medicares-role-for-people-under-age-65-with-disabilities/
- Darkow, T., Henk, H. J., Thomas, S. K., Feng, W., Baladi, J.-F., Goldberg, G. A., Hatfield, A., & Cortes, J. (2007). Treatment interruptions and non-adherence with Imatinib and associated healthcare costs. *PharmacoEconomics*, 25(6), 481–496. https://doi.org/10.2165/00019053-200725060-00004
- Dashputre, A. A., Gatwood, K. S., & Gatwood, J. (2020). Medication adherence, health care utilization, and costs among patients initiating oral oncolytics for multiple myeloma or chronic lymphocytic leukemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma. *Journal of Managed Care & Specialty Pharmacy*, 26(2), 186–196.
  https://doi.org/10.18553/jmcp.2020.26.2.186
- Daly, M. C., & Paquette, I. M. (2019). Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) and SEER-Medicare databases: Use in clinical research for improving colorectal cancer outcomes. *Clinics in Colon and Rectal Surgery*, 32(1), 61–68. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0038-1673355
- Davies, C., Pan, H., Godwin, J., Gray, R., Arriagada, R., Raina, V., Abraham, M., Medeiros Alencar, V. H., Badran, A., Bonfill, X., Bradbury, J., Clarke, M., Collins, R., Davis, S. R., Delmestri, A., Forbes, J. F., Haddad, P., Hou, M. F., ... & Peto, R. (2013). Long-term effects of continuing adjuvant tamoxifen to 10 years versus stopping at 5 years after diagnosis of oestrogen receptor-positive breast cancer: ATLAS, a randomised trial. *The Lancet, 381*, 805–816. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)61963-1

De Figueiredo Junior, A. G. de, & Forones, N. M. (2014). Study on adherence to capecitabine among patients with colorectal cancer and metastatic breast cancer. *Arquivos de Gastroenterologia*, 51, 186–191.

De Geest, S., Zullig, L. L., Dunbar-Jacob, J., Helmy, R., Hughes, D. A., Wilson, I. B., & Vrijens, B. (2018). ESPACOMP medication adherence reporting guideline (EMERGE). *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 169(1), 30-35. https://doi.org/10.7326/M18-0543

- Dennis, T., Meera, N. K., Binny, K., Sekhar, M. S., Kishore, G., & Sasidharan, S. (2011).
   Medication adherence and associated barriers in hypertension management in India.
   *CVD Prevention and Control*, 6(1), 9–13.
- Department of Health and Human Service in USA. (2022). Medicare beneficiary enrollment trends and demographic characteristics.

https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/f81aafbba0b331c71c6e8bc66512e2 5d/medicare-beneficiary-enrollment-ib.pdf

Dew, M. A., Dabbs, A. D., Myaskovsky, L., Shyu, S., Shellmer, D. A., DiMartini, A. F., Steel, J., Unruh, M., Switzer, G. E., Shapiro, R., & Greenhouse, J. B. (2009). Metaanalysis of medical regimen adherence outcomes in pediatric solid organ transplantation. *Transplantation*, 88(5), 736–746. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.0b013e3181b2a0e0

Dhruva, A., Dodd, M., Paul, S. M., Cooper, B. A., Lee, K., West, C., & Miaskowski, C. (2010). Trajectories of fatigue in patients with breast cancer before, during, and after radiation therapy. *Cancer Nursing*, 33(3), 201. https://doi.org/10.1097/NCC.0b013e3181c75f2a

- Diaz, E., Levine, H. B., Sullivan, M. C., Sernyak, M. J., Hawkins, K. A., Cramer, J. A., & Woods, S. W. (2001). Use of the medication event monitoring system to estimate medication compliance in patients with schizophrenia. *Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience*, 26(4), 325.
- Dickson, V. V., Clark, R. A., Rabelo-Silva, E. R., & Buck, H. G. (2013). Self-care and chronic disease. *Nursing Research and Practice*, 827409. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/827409
- Dobbels, F., De Bleser, L., Berben, L., Kristanto, P., Dupont, L., Nevens, F., Vanhaecke, J., Verleden, G., & De Geest, S. (2017). Efficacy of a medication adherence enhancing intervention in transplantation: The MAESTRO-Tx trial. *Journal of Heart and Lung Transplant, 36*(5), 499–508.
- Donovan, J. L. (1995). Patient decision making: the missing ingredient in compliance research. International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care, 11(3), 443-455.
- Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG) (2015). Aromatase inhibitors versus tamoxifen in early breast cancer: patient-level meta-analysis of the randomised trials. *Lancet*, 386(10001), 1341–1352. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)61074-1
- Engels, E. A., Pfeiffer, R. M., Ricker, W., Wheeler, W., Parsons, R., & Warren, J. L. (2011). Use of surveillance, epidemiology, and end results-Medicare data to conduct casecontrol studies of cancer among the US elderly. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *174*(7), 860–870. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwr146

- Eraso, Y., Stefler, D., Moon, Z., Rossi, L., & Assefa, S. (2021). Extending adjuvant endocrine therapy for 10 Years: A mixed-methods analysis of women's decision making in an online breast cancer forum. *Healthcare*, 9(6), 688. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare9060688
- Evangelista, L. S., & Shinnick, M. A. (2008). What do we know about adherence and selfcare?. *The Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 23(3), 250–257. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.JCN.0000317428.98844.4d
- Farias, A. J., & Du, X. L. (2017). Association between out-of-pocket costs, race/ethnicity, and adjuvant endocrine therapy adherence among Medicare patients with breast cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 35(1), 86-95. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2016.68.2807
- Farias, A. J., Wu, W. H., & Du, X. L. (2018a). Racial differences in long-term adjuvant endocrine therapy adherence and mortality among Medicaid-insured breast cancer patients in Texas: Findings from TCR-Medicaid linked data. *BMC Cancer*, 18(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-018-5121-z
- Farias, A. J., Hansen, R. N., Zeliadt, S. B., Ornelas, I. J., Li, C. I., & Thompson, B. (2018b). The association between out-of-pocket costs and adherence to adjuvant endocrine therapy among newly diagnosed breast cancer patients. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 41(7), 708–715. https://doi.org/10.1097/COC.00000000000351
- Farmer K. C. (1999). Methods for measuring and monitoring medication regimen adherence in clinical trials and clinical practice. *Clinical Therapeutics*, 21(6), 1074–1073. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0149-2918(99)80026-5
- Feinstein, A. J., Long, J., Soulos, P. R., Ma, X., Herrin, J., Frick, K. D., ... & Gross, C. P. (2015). Older women with localized breast cancer: Costs and survival rates increased across two time periods. *Health Affairs*, 34(4), 592-600.
- Fernandez-Lazaro, C. I., García-González, J. M., Adams, D. P., Fernandez-Lazaro, D., Mielgo-Ayuso, J., Caballero-Garcia, A., Moreno Racionero, F., Córdova, A., & Miron-Canelo, J. A. (2019). Adherence to treatment and related factors among patients with chronic conditions in primary care: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Family Practice*, 20(1), 132. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12875-019-1019-3
- Font, R., Espinas, J. A., Gil-Gil, M., Barnadas, A., Ojeda, B., Tusquets, I., & Borras, J. M. (2012). Prescription refill, patient self-report and physician report in assessing adherence to oral endocrine therapy in early breast cancer patients: a retrospective cohort study in Catalonia, Spain. *British Journal of Cancer*, 107(8), 1249-1256.
- Finitsis, D. J., Vose, B. A., Mahalak, J. G., & Salner, A. L. (2019). Interventions to promote adherence to endocrine therapy among breast cancer survivors: A meta-analysis. *Psycho-Oncology*, 28(2), 255–263. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.4959
- Fleming, L., Agnew, S., Peddie, N., Crawford, M., Dixon, D., & MacPherson, I. (2022). The impact of medication side effects on adherence and persistence to hormone therapy in breast cancer survivors: A quantitative systematic review. *The Breast*, 64, 63–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.breast.2022.04.010
- Fuller, R. H., Perel, P., Navarro-Ruan, T., Nieuwlaat, R., Haynes, R. B., & Huffman, M. D. (2018). Improving medication adherence in patients with cardiovascular disease: A systematic review. *Heart*, 104(15), 1238-1243. https://doi.org/10.1136/heartjnl-2017-312571

- Gallups, S. F., Connolly, M. C., Bender, C. M., & Rosenzweig, M. Q. (2018). Predictors of adherence and treatment delays among African American women recommended to receive breast cancer chemotherapy. *Women's Health Issues*, 28(6), 553-558.
- Gao, P., You, L., Di Wu, A. S., Miao, Q., Rana, U., Martin, D. P., & Fan, Z. (2018).
  Adherence to endocrine therapy among Chinese patients with breast cancer: Current status and recommendations for improvement. *Patient Preference and Adherence, 12*, 887.
- Gast, A., & Mathes, T. (2019). Medication adherence influencing factors—an (updated) overview of systematic reviews. BMC: Systematic Reviews, 8(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-019-1014-8
- Geissler, J., Sharf, G., Bombaci, F., Daban, M., De Jong, J., Gavin, T., Pelouchova, J.,
  Dziwinski, E., Hasford, J., & Hoffmann, V. S. (2017). Factors influencing adherence in CML and ways to improvement: Results of a patient-driven survey of 2546 patients in 63 countries. *Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology*, *143*(7), 1167–1176. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00432-017-2372-z
- Given, C. W., & Given, B. A. (2016). Care of the elderly patient on oral oncolytics for advanced disease. *Current Geriatrics Reports*, 5(3), 233–239. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13670-016-0183-8
- Given, C. W., & Given, B. A. (2016). Care of the elderly patient on oral oncolytics for advanced disease. *Current Geriatrics Reports*, 5(3), 233–239. doi:10.1007/s13670-016-0183-8
- Glanz, K., Rimer, B. K., & Viswanath, K. (2015). *Health behavior: Theory, research, and practice*. John Wiley & Sons.

Goodman, R. A., Posner, S. F., Huang, E. S., Parekh, A. K., & Koh, H. K. (2013). Peer reviewed: defining and measuring chronic conditions: imperatives for research, policy, program, and practice. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 10. http://dx.doi.org/10.5888/pcd10.120239

Golden, S. D., & Earp, J. A. (2012). Social ecological approaches to individuals and their contexts: twenty years of health education & behavior health promotion interventions. *Health Education & Behavior: the official publication of the Society for Public Health Education*, 39(3), 364–372. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198111418634

- Golubnitschaja O, Debald M, Yeghiazaryan K, Kuhn W, Pešta M, et al. (2016) Breast cancer epidemic in the early twenty-first century: Evaluation of risk factors, cumulative questionnaires a recommendations for preventive measures. *Tumour Biol 37*, 12941-12957.
- Goss, P. E., Ingle, J. N., Pritchard, K. I., Robert, N. J., Muss, H., Gralow, J., Gelmon, K.,
  Whelan, T., Strasser-Weippl, K., Rubin, S., Sturtz, K., Wolff, A. C., Winer, E.,
  Hudis, C., Stopeck, A., Beck, J. T., Kaur, J. S., Whelan, K., Tu, D., & Parulekar, W.
  R. (2016). Extending aromatase-inhibitor adjuvant therapy to 10 years. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *375*(3), 209–219. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1604700
- Goudarzi, H., Barati, M., Bashirian, S., & Moeini, B. (2020). Determinants of medication adherence among hypertensive patients using the Pender's health promotion model. *Journal of Education and Health Promotion, 9*, 89.

https://doi.org/10.4103/jehp.jehp\_687\_19

Gosmanova, E. O., & Kovesdy, C. P. (2015). Adherence to antihypertensive medications: is prescribing the right pill enough?. *Nephrology, Dialysis, Transplantation : Official* 

Publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association, 30(10), 1649–1656. https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfu330

- Grace-Martin, K. (2019). *Can a regression model with a small R-squared be useful?* https://www.theanalysisfactor.com/small-r-squared/
- Greer, J. A., Amoyal, N., Nisotel, L., Fishbein, J. N., MacDonald, J., Stagl, J., Pirl, W. F.
  (2016). A systematic review of adherence to oral antineoplastic therapies. *The Oncologist*, 21(3), 354–376. https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.2015-0405

Groth-Marnat, G. (2009). Handbook of psychological assessment. John Wiley & Sons.

- Grundmark, B., Garmo, H., Zethelius, B., Stattin, P., Lambe, M., & Holmberg, L. (2012).
   Anti-androgen prescribing patterns, patient treatment adherence and influencing factors; results from the nationwide PCBaSe Sweden. *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 68(12), 1619–1630. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00228-012-1290-x
- Guérin, A., Hao, Y., Tang, D., Peeples, M., Fang, A., Kageleiry, A., Yoo, V., Li, N., & Wu,
  E. Q. (2016). Treatment patterns and factors associated with the use of everolimus among post-menopausal women with HR+/HER2-metastatic breast cancer: a retrospective US claims study. *Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy*, *17*(9), 1189-1196. https://doi.org/10.1080/14656566.2016.1176148
- Guedes, J. B. R., Guerra, M. R., Alvim, M. M., & Leite, I. C. G. (2017). Factors associated with adherence and persistence to hormonal therapy in women with breast cancer. *Revista Brasileira de Epidemiologia*, 20, 636-649.
- Güth, U., Myrick, M. E., Kilic, N., Eppenberger-Castori, S., & Schmid, S. M. (2012). Compliance and persistence of endocrine adjuvant breast cancer therapy. *Breast*

*Cancer Research and Treatment, 131*(2), 491-499. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-011-1801-y

- Hadji, P., Ziller, V., Kyvernitakis, J., Bauer, M., Haas, G., Schmidt, N., & Kostev, K. (2013).
  Persistence in patients with breast cancer treated with tamoxifen or aromatase inhibitors: a retrospective database analysis. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 138*(1), 185-191. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-013-2417-1
- Hagen, K. B., Aas, T., Kvaløy, J. T., Søiland, H., & Lind, R. (2019). Adherence to adjuvant endocrine therapy in postmenopausal breast cancer patients: A 5-year prospective study. *The Breast, 44,* 52-58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.breast.2019.01.003
- Hagger, M. S., & Weed, M. (2019). DEBATE: Do interventions based on behavioral theory work in the real world?. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 16(1), 36. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-019-0795-4
- Halli-Tierney, A., Scarbrough, C., & Carroll, D. G. (2019). Polypharmacy: evaluating risks and deprescribing. *American Family Physician*, 100(1), 32-38.
- Halpern, R., Barghout, V., Mody-Patel, N., & Williams, D. (2008). Relationship between compliance, costs, hospitalizations for CML and GIST patients using imatinib mesylate. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *26*(15\_suppl), 6598–6598. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2008.26.15\_suppl.6598
- Hansen, L. A. (2012). Best practices in maximizing adherence to cancer therapy. Journal of Hematology Oncology Pharmacy, 9(2), 3695. Retrieved from www.jhoponline.com/ton-online-first/3695-ton-3695
- Hansen, L. A. (2015a). Impact of nonadherence to cancer therapy. *Journal of Hematology Oncology Pharmacy*, 9(3). https://jhoponline.com/ton-online-first/3639-ton-3639

- Hansen, R. A., Voils, C. I., Farley, J. F., Powers, B. J., Sanders, L. L., Sleath, B., & Maciejewski, M. L. (2015b). Prescriber continuity and medication adherence for complex patients. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy*, *49*(3), 293–302. https://doi.org/10.1177/1060028014563266
- Harrell, M., Fabbri, D., & Levy, M. (2017). Analysis of adjuvant endocrine therapy in practice from electronic health record data of patients with breast cancer. JCO Clinical Cancer Informatics, 1, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1200/CCI.16.00044
- Harrow, A., Dryden, R., McCowan, C., Radley, A., Parsons, M., Thompson, A. M., & Wells, M. (2014). A hard pill to swallow: A qualitative study of women's experiences of adjuvant endocrine therapy for breast cancer. *BMJ Open, 4*(6). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005285
- Haskins, C. B., McDowell, B. D., Carnahan, R. M., Fiedorowicz, J. G., Wallace, R. B., Smith, B. J., & Chrischilles, E. A. (2019). Impact of preexisting mental illness on breast cancer endocrine therapy adherence. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 174(1), 197-208. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-018-5050-1
- Haynes, R. B. (1976). A critical review of the "determinants" of patient compliance with therapeutic regimens. In: Sackett D, Haynes R, editors. *Compliance with therapeutic regimens*. 26–39.
- He, W., Fang, F., Varnum, C., Eriksson, M., Hall, P., & Czene, K. (2015). Predictors of discontinuation of adjuvant hormone therapy in patients with breast cancer. *Journal* of Clinical Oncology, 33(20), 2262-2269.

- Heinzl, H., & Mittlböck, M. (2003). Pseudo R-squared measures for Poisson regression models with over-or underdispersion. *Computational Statistics & Data Analysis*, 44(1-2), 253-271.
- Hershman, D., Shao, T., Kushi, L., Buono, D., Tsai, W., Fehrenbacher, L., Neugut, A.
  (2011). Early discontinuation and non-adherence to adjuvant hormonal therapy are associated with increased mortality in women with breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 126*, 529–537. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-010-1132-4
- Hesshmati Nabavi, F., Rajabpoor, M., Mahmoodi, J., Pouresmail, Z., & Mikaniki, T. (2016).
  Comparing the patient's satisfaction with educational performance of the physicians and the nurses. *Jundishapur Journal of Chronic Disease Care, 5*(1).
  https://doi.org/10.17795/jjcdc-29190
- Hill, J. (2005). Adherence with drug therapy in the rheumatic diseases part two: Measuring and improving adherence. *Musculoskeletal Care*, 3(3), 143-156. https://doi.org/10.1002/msc.4
- Hirao, C., Mikoshiba, N., Shibuta, T., Yamahana, R., Kawakami, A., Tateishi, R.,
  Yamaguchi, H., Koike, K., & Yamamoto-Mitani, N. (2017). Adherence to oral
  chemotherapy medications among gastroenterological cancer patients visiting an
  outpatient clinic. *Japanese Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 47(9), 786–794.
  https://doi.org/10.1093/jjco/hyx087
- Ho, S. C., Jacob, S. A., & Tangiisuran, B. (2017). Barriers and facilitators of adherence to antidepressants among outpatients with major depressive disorder: A qualitative study. *PloS One*, *12*(6), e0179290. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0179290

- Howlader, N. Noone, A. M., Krapcho, M., Miller, D., Bishop, K., Altekruse, S. F., & Cronin,
  K. A. (2016). SEER cancer statistics review,1975-2013. *National Cancer Institute*.
  http://seer. cancer. gov/csr/1975\_2013
- Huiart, L., Ferdynus, C., & Giorgi, R. (2013). A meta-regression analysis of the available data on adherence to adjuvant hormonal therapy in breast cancer: summarizing the data for clinicians. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 138*(1), 325-328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-013-2422-4
- Hung, W. W., Ross, J. S., Boockvar, K. S., & Siu, A. L. (2011). Recent trends in chronic disease, impairment and disability among older adults in the United States. *BMC Geriatrics*, 11(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2318-11-47
- Hung, A., Blalock, D. V., Miller, J., McDermott, J., Wessler, H., Oakes, M. M., Reed, S. D.,
  Bosworth, H. B., & Zullig, L. L. (2021). Impact of financial medication assistance on
  medication adherence: a systematic review. *Journal of Managed Care & Specialty Pharmacy*, 27(7), 924–935. https://doi.org/10.18553/jmcp.2021.27.7.924
- Hurtado-de-Mendoza, A., Jensen, R. E., Jennings, Y., & Sheppard, V. B. (2018).
  Understanding breast cancer survivors' beliefs and concerns about adjuvant hormonal therapy: Promoting adherence. *Journal of Cancer Education*, 33(2), 436-439.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s13187-017-1180-0
- Hwang, G. S., Paranjpe, R., Opsomer, C., Lu, K., Abajue, U., Abughosh, S., Zaghloul, H., & Trivedi, M. V. (2020). Oral endocrine therapy agent, race/ethnicity, and time on therapy predict adherence in breast cancer patients in a large academic institution. *Clinical Breast Cancer*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clbc.2020.06.004

Inotai, A., Ágh, T., Maris, R., Erdősi, D., Kovács, S., Kaló, Z., & Senkus, E. (2021). Systematic review of real-world studies evaluating the impact of medication nonadherence to endocrine therapies on hard clinical endpoints in patients with nonmetastatic breast cancer. *Cancer Treatment Reviews*, 100, 102264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctrv.2021.102264

International Business Machines Corporation. (IBM). (n.d.). *Pseudo R square*. https://www.ibm.com/docs/en/spss-statistics/29.0.0?topic=model-pseudo-r-square#:~:text=In%20the%20linear%20regression%20model,to%20a%20maximum %20of%201.

- Iuga, A. O., & McGuire, M. J. (2014). Adherence and health care costs. *Risk Management and Healthcare Policy*, 7, 35–44. https://doi.org/10.2147/RMHP.S19801
- Jaam, M., Ibrahim, M. I. M., Kheir, N., & Awaisu, A. (2017). Factors associated with medication adherence among patients with diabetes in the Middle East and North Africa region: a systematic mixed studies review. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice, 129*, 1-15. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2017.04.015
- Jamil, K., Huang, X., Lovelace, B., Pham, A. T., Lodaya, K., & Wan, G. (2019). The burden of illness of hepatorenal syndrome (HRS) in the United States: A retrospective analysis of electronic health records. *Journal of Medical Economics*, 22(5), 421-429. https://doi.org/10.1080/13696998.2019.1580201
- Jenkins, E. O., Deal, A. M., Anders, C. K., Prat, A., Perou, C. M., Carey, L. A., & Muss, H.
  B. (2014). Age-specific changes in intrinsic breast cancer subtypes: A focus on older women. *The Oncologist, 19*(10), 1076-1083.

- Jeragh-Alhaddad, F. B., Waheedi, M., Barber, N. D., & Brock, T. P. (2015). Barriers to medication taking among Kuwaiti patients with type 2 diabetes: A qualitative study. *Patient Preference and Adherence*, 9, 1491.
- Jimmy, B., & Jose, J. (2011). Patient medication adherence: Measures in daily practice. Oman Medical Journal, 26(3), 155–159. https://doi.org/10.5001/omj.2011.38
- Johnell, K., Lindström, M., Sundquist, J., Eriksson, C., & Merlo, J. (2006). Individual characteristics, area social participation, and primary non-concordance with medication: a multilevel analysis. *BMC Public Health*, *6*(1), 1-8.
- Karter, A. J., Parker, M. M., Moffet, H. H., Ahmed, A. T., Schmittdiel, J. A., & Selby, J. V. (2009). New prescription medication gaps: a comprehensive measure of adherence to new prescriptions. *Health Services Research*, 44(5), 1640–1661. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6773.2009.00989.x
- Kaye, S. (2016). Recasting the white stereotype of Southern Appalachia: Contribution to culture and community by Black Appalachian women. [Doctoral dissertation, East Tennessee State University]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.
- Keller, D. L., Wright, J., & Pace, H. A. (2008). Impact of health literacy on health outcomes in ambulatory care patients: A systematic review. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy*, 42(9), 1272-1281.
- Kimmick, G., Edmond, S. N., Bosworth, H. B., Peppercorn, J., Marcom, P. K., Blackwell,
  K., & Shelby, R. A. (2015). Medication taking behaviors among breast cancer
  patients on adjuvant endocrine therapy. *The Breast, 24*(5), 630-636.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.breast.2015.06.010

- Kitahata, M. M., Reed, S. D., Dillingham, P. W., Van Rompaey, S. E., Young, A. A.,
  Harrington, R. D., & Holmes, K. K. (2004). Pharmacy-based assessment of adherence to HAART predicts virologic and immunologic treatment response and clinical progression to AIDS and death. *International Journal of STD & AIDS*, *15*(12), 803–810. https://doi.org/10.1258/0956462042563666
- Kirzinger, A., Neuman, T., Cubanski, J., & Brodie, M. (2019). *Data note: Prescription drugs* and older adults. Kaiser Family Foundation.
- Klein, C. E., Kastrissios, H., Miller, A. A., Hollis, D., Yu, D., Rosner, G. L., Grinblatt, D. L., Larson, R. A., & Ratain, M. J. (2006). Pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and adherence to oral topotecan in myelodysplastic syndromes: A Cancer and Leukemia Group B study. *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, 57(2), 199–206. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00280-005-0023-6
- Krass, I., Schieback, P., & Dhippayom, T. (2015). Adherence to diabetes medication: A systematic review. *Diabetic Medicine*, 32(6), 725-737. doi: 10.1111/dme.12651
- Krcmarik, K. M. (2018). Advances in medication adherence technology in the elderly population. In D. Chau & T. F. Osborne., *Using technology to improve care of older adults*. (pp. 155–184). Springer Publishing Company.
- Krok-Schoen, J. L., Naughton, M. J., Young, G. S., Moon, J., Poi, M., Melin, S. A., Wood,
  M. E., Hopkins, J. O., Paskett, E. D., & Post, D. M. (2019). Increasing adherence to
  adjuvant hormone therapy among patients with Breast cancer: A smart phone appbased pilot study. *Cancer Control, 26*(1), https://doi.org/10.1177/1073274819883287
- Krousel-Wood, M., Joyce, C., Holt, E. W., Levitan, E. B., Dornelles, A., Webber, L. S., & Muntner, P. (2013). Development and evaluation of a self-report tool to predict low

pharmacy refill adherence in elderly patients with uncontrolled hypertension.

Pharmacotherapy, 33(8), 798-811. https://doi.org/10.1002/phar.1275

- Kvarnström, K., Westerholm, A., Airaksinen, M., & Liira, H. (2021). Factors contributing to medication adherence in patients with a chronic condition: A scoping review of qualitative research. *Pharmaceutics*, 13(7), 1100.
- Kyngäs, H., Duffy, M. E., & Kroll, T. (2000). Conceptual analysis of compliance. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 9(1), 5-12. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2702.2000.00309.x C
- Lacorossi, L., Gambalunga, F., Fabi, A., Giannarelli, D., Facchinetti, G., Piredda, M., & De Marinis, M. G. (2016). Adherence to hormone therapy in women with breast cancer: a quantitative study. *Professioni Infermieristiche, 69*(2). https://doi.org/10.7429/pi.2016.692113
- Lafeuille, M.-H., Grittner, A. M., Lefebvre, P., Ellis, L., McKenzie, R. S., Slaton, T., & Kozma, C. (2014). Adherence patterns for abiraterone acetate and concomitant prednisone use in patients with prostate cancer. *Journal of Managed Care Pharmacy*, 20(5), 477–484. https://doi.org/10.18553/jmcp.2014.20.5.477
- Lailler, G., Memoli, V., Benjamin, C. L. B., Diane, M. K. B., Lauzier, S., Mancini, J., ... & Bouhnik, A. D. (2021). Five-year adjuvant endocrine therapy adherence trajectories among women with breast cancer: a nationwide French study using administrative data. *Clinical Breast Cancer*, 21(4), e415-e426.
- Lam, W. Y., & Fresco, P. (2015). Medication adherence measures: An overview. *BioMed Research International*, 217047. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/217047
- Lambert, L. K., Balneaves, L. G., Howard, A. F., & Gotay, C. C. (2018). Patient-reported factors associated with adherence to adjuvant endocrine therapy after breast cancer:

An integrative review. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 167*(3), 615-633. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-018-05073-z

- Lambert-Côté, L., Bouhnik, A. D., Bendiane, M. K., Bérenger, C., Mondor, M., Huiart, L., & Lauzier, S. (2020). Adherence trajectories of adjuvant endocrine therapy in the five years after its initiation among women with non-metastatic breast cancer: A cohort study using administrative databases. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 180*(3), 777-790.
- Lambert-Kerzner, A., Havranek, E. P., Plomondon, M. E., Fagan, K. M., McCreight, M. S., Fehling, K. B., Williams, D. J., Hamilton, A. B., Albright, K., Blatchford, P. J., Mihalko-Corbitt, R., Bryson, C. L., Bosworth, H. B., Kirshner, M. A., Giacco, E. J., & Ho, P. M. (2015). Perspectives of patients on factors relating to adherence to postacute coronary syndrome medical regimens. *Patient Preference and Adherence, 9*, 1053–1059. https://doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S84546
- Lee, S., Chen, L., Ma, G. X., Fang, C. Y., Oh, Y., & Scully, L. (2013). Challenges and needs of Chinese and Korean American breast cancer survivors: In-depth interviews. *North American Journal of Medicine & Science*, 6(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.7156/najms.2013.0601001
- Lee, M., & Salloum, R. G. (2016). Racial and ethnic disparities in cost-related medication non-adherence among cancer survivors. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, 10(3), 534– 544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-015-0499-y
- Lee, S., Jiang, L., Dowdy, D., Hong, Y. A., & Ory, M. G. (2018). Attitudes, beliefs, and costrelated medication nonadherence among adults aged 65 or older with chronic diseases. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 15. http://dx.doi.org/10.5888/pcd15.180190

- Lee, J., Cho, S., Kim, H. J., Lee, H., Ko, M. J., & Lim, Y. S. (2021). High level of medication adherence is required to lower mortality in patients with chronic hepatitis B taking entecavir: a nationwide cohort study. *Journal of Viral Hepatitis, 28*(2), 353-363.
- Lebovits, A. H., Strain, J. J., Messe, M. R., Schleifer, S. J., Tanaka, J. S., & Bhardwaj, S. (1990). Patient noncompliance with self-administered chemotherapy. *Cancer*, 65(1), 17-22.
- Lin, C., Clark, R., Tu, P., Bosworth, H. B., & Zullig, L. L. (2017). Breast cancer oral anticancer medication adherence: a systematic review of psychosocial motivators and barriers. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 165*(2), 247-260. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-017-4317-2
- Liebert, M. A. (2011). What Should the Age range be for AYA oncology?. *Journal of Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology, 1*(1). https://doi.org/10.1089/jayao.2011.1505
- Liu, H., Golin, C. E., Miller, L. G., Hays, R. D., Beck, C. K., Sanandaji, S., & Wenger, N. S. (2001). A comparison study of multiple measures of adherence to HIV protease inhibitors. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 134(10), 968-977.
- Liu, E. (2014). *Why are Hispanics identifying as white?*. https://www.cnn.com/2014/05/29/opinion/liu-study-hispanics-favorwhiteness/index.html
- Lundgren, C., Lindman, H., Rolander, B., & Ekholm, M. (2018). Good adherence to adjuvant endocrine therapy in early breast cancer–a population-based study based on the Swedish prescribed drug register. *Acta Oncologica*, 57(7), 935-940. https://doi.org/10.1080/0284186X.2018.1442932

- Luschin, G., & Habersack, M. (2014). Oral information about side effects of endocrine therapy for early breast cancer patients at initial consultation and first follow-up visit: an online survey. *Health Communication*, 29(4), 421–426. https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2012.743096
- Lux, M. P., Reichelt, C., Karnon, J., Tänzer, T. D., Radosavac, D., Fasching, P. A., Beckmann. M., W., & Thiel, F. C. (2011). Cost-benefit analysis of endocrine therapy in the adjuvant setting for postmenopausal patients with hormone receptor-positive breast cancer, based on survival data and future prices for generic drugs in the context of the German health care system. *Breast Care, 6*(5), 381-389. https://doi.org/10.1159/000333118
- Lyimo, R. A., de Bruin, M., van den Boogaard, J., Hospers, H. J., van der Ven, A., & Mushi,D. (2012). Determinants of antiretroviral therapy adherence in northern Tanzania: a comprehensive picture from the patient perspective. *BMC Public Health*, *12*(1), 1-8.
- Ma, S., Shepard, D. S., Ritter, G. A., Martell, R. E., & Thomas, C. P. (2020). The impact of the introduction of generic aromatase inhibitors on adherence to hormonal therapy over the full course of 5-year treatment for breast cancer. *Cancer*, *126*(15), 3417-3425.
- Ma, S., Shepard, D. S., Ritter, G. A., Martell, R. E., & Thomas, C. (2021). Association between medication adherence and non-drug healthcare utilisation and costs: A retrospective longitudinal cohort study among US women age 65 and older. *BMJ Open*, *11*(12), e052146. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-052146

- MacDonald, D. A., Chang, H., Wei, Y., & Hager, K. D. (2018). Drug therapy problem identification and resolution by clinical pharmacists in a family medicine residency clinic. *Innovations in Pharmacy*, 9(2), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.24926/iip.v9i2.971
- Makubate, B., Donnan, P., Dewar, J. A., Thompson, A., & McCowan, C. (2013). Cohort study of adherence to adjuvant endocrine therapy, breast cancer recurrence and mortality. *British Journal of Cancer*, 108, 1515–1524.

https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2013.116

- Man, L. W., Yee, Y. W., Yu, D. S. F., Chow C.K., & Chair, S. Y. (2016). The effectiveness of motivational interviewing on lifestyle modification, physiological and health outcomes in clients at risk of or with diagnosed cardiovascular diseases: A systematic review protocol. *JBI Database of Systematic Reviews and Implementation Reports*, 11, 288–306. https://doi.org/10.11124/jbisrir-2013-614
- Marcum, Z. A., Hanlon, J. T., & Murray, M. D. (2017). Improving medication adherence and health outcomes in older adults: An evidence-based review of randomized controlled trials. *Drugs & Aging*, 34(3), 191–201. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40266-016-0433-7
- Marin, D., Bazeos, A., Mahon, F. X., Eliasson, L., Milojkovic, D., Bua, M., Apperley, J. F., Szydlo, R., Desai, R., Kozlowski, K., Paliompeis, C., Latham, V., Foroni, L., Molimard, M., Reid, A., Rezvani, K., de Lavallade, H., Guallar, C., Goldman, J., & Khorashad, J. S. (2010). Adherence is the critical factor for achieving molecular responses in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia who achieve complete cytogenetic responses on imatinib. *Journal of Clinical Oncology, 28*(14), 2381–2388. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2009.26.3087

- Martin, B. C., Wiley-Exley, E. K., Richards, S., Domino, M. E., Carey, T. S., & Sleath, B. L. (2009). Contrasting measures of adherence with simple drug use, medication switching, and therapeutic duplication. *The Annals of pharmacotherapy*, *43*(1), 36–44. https://doi.org/10.1345/aph.1K671
- Marques, P. A. C., & Pierin, A. M. G. (2008). Factors that affect cancer patient compliance to oral anti-neoplastic therapy. *Acta Paulista de Enfermagem*, 21, 323–329.
- Massot Mesquida, M., de la Fuente, J. A., Andrés Lorca, A. M., Arteaga Pillasagua, I., Balboa Blanco, E., Gracia Vidal, S., & Torán-Monserrat, P. (2021). Primary care records of chronic-disease patient adherence to treatment. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(7), 3710.
- Mathes, T., Pieper, D., Antoine, S.-L., & Eikermann, M. (2014). Adherence influencing factors in patients taking oral anticancer agents: A systematic review. *Cancer Epidemiology*, 38(3), 214–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2014.03.012
- Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center. (MSKCC). (2022). Anatomy of the breast. https://www.mskcc.org/cancer-care/types/breast/anatomy-breast
- McCarney, R., Warner, J., Iliffe, S., van Haselen, R., Griffin, M., & Fisher, P. (2007). The Hawthorne effect: A randomised, controlled trial. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 7, 30. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-7-30
- McCowan, C., Shearer, J., Donnan, P., Dewar, J. A., Crilly, M., Thompson, A., & Fahey, T.
  P. (2008). Cohort study examining tamoxifen adherence and its relationship to mortality in women with breast cancer. *British Journal of Cancer*, 99, 1763–1768. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6604758

- McGrady, M. E., & Pai, A. L. H. (2019). A systematic review of rates, outcomes, and predictors of medication non-adherence among adolescents and young adults with cancer. Journal of *Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology*. 2019. https://doi.org/10.1089/jayao.2018.0160
- McLeroy, K. R., Bibeau, D., Steckler, A., & Glanz, K. (1988). An ecological perspective on health promotion programs. *Health Education Quarterly*, 15(4), 351-377.
- Meneveau, M. O., Keim-Malpass, J., Camacho, T. F., Anderson, R. T., & Showalter, S. L. (2020). Predicting adjuvant endocrine therapy initiation and adherence among older women with early-stage breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 184(3), 805–816. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-020-05908-8
- Miaskowski, C., Shockney, L., & Chlebowski, R. T. (2008). Adherence to oral endocrine therapy for breast cancer: a nursing perspective. *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing*, *12*(2). https://doi.org/10.1188/08.CJON.213-221

Milata, J. L., Otte, J. L., & Carpenter, J. S. (2018). Oral endocrine therapy nonadherence, adverse effects, decisional support, and decisional needs in women with breast cancer. *Cancer Nursing*, 41(1), E9–E18.

https://doi.org/10.1097/NCC.000000000000430

- Mohamed, K. E., & Elamin, A. (2020). Adherence to endocrine therapy and its relation to disease-free survival among breast cancer patients visiting an out-patient clinic at Khartoum oncology hospital, Sudan. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*. 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1111/jep.13373
- Molnar, M. Z., Gosmanova, E. O., Sumida, K., Potukuchi, P. K., Lu, J. L., Jing, J., Ravel, V. A., Soohoo, M., Rhee, C. M., Streja, E., Kalantar-Zadeh, K., & Kovesdy, C. P.

(2016). Predialysis cardiovascular disease medication adherence and mortality after transition to dialysis. *Journal of the National Kidney Foundation, 68*(4), 609–618. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.ajkd.2016.02.051

- Monserrat, P. (2021). Primary care records of chronic-disease patient adherence to treatment. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(7), 3710.
- Montesinos López, O. A., Montesinos López, A., & Crossa, J. (2022). Multivariate statistical machine learning methods for genomic prediction. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Moon, Z., Moss-Morris, R., Hunter, M. S., Carlisle, S., & Hughes, L. D. (2017). Barriers and facilitators of adjuvant hormone therapy adherence and persistence in women with breast cancer: a systematic review. *Patient Preference and Adherence, 11*, 305–322. https://doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S126651
- Murphy, C. C., Bartholomew, L. K., Carpentier, M. Y., Bluethmann, S. M., & Vernon, S. W. (2012). Adherence to adjuvant hormonal therapy among breast cancer survivors in clinical practice: A systematic review. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 134(2), 459-478. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-012-2114-5
- Murphy, M., Alavi, K., & Maykel, J. (2013). Working with existing databases. *Clinics in Colon and Rectal Surgery*, 26(1), 5–11. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0033-1333627
- Nardin, S., Mora, E., Varughese, F. M., D'Avanzo, F., Vachanaram, A. R., Rossi, V., & Gennari, A. (2020). Breast cancer survivorship, quality of life, and late toxicities. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 10, 864.
- Nau, D. P. (2012). Proportion of days covered (PDC) as a preferred method of measuring medication adherence. *Pharmacy Quality Alliance*, 6, 25.

- Noens, L., van Lierde, M.-A., De Bock, R., Verhoef, G., Zachée, P., Berneman, Z., Martiat, P., Mineur, P., Van Eygen, K., MacDonald, K., De Geest, S., Albrecht, T., & Abraham, I. (2009). Prevalence, determinants, and outcomes of nonadherence to imatinib therapy in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia: The ADAGIO study. *Blood*, *113*(22), 5401–5411. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-12-196543
- Nonogaki, A., Heang, H., Yi, S., van Pelt, M., Yamashina, H., Taniguchi, C., Nishida, T., & Sakakibara, H. (2019). Factors associated with medication adherence among people with diabetes mellitus in poor urban areas of Cambodia: A cross-sectional study. *PloS One*, *14*(11), e0225000.
- National Cancer Institute. (NCI).(n.d.). *Breast anatomy*. https://training.seer.cancer.gov/breast/anatomy/
- National Cancer Institute. (NCI).(2019). *Immunotherapy to treat cancer*. https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/treatment/types/immunotherapy

Nounou, M. I., ElAmrawy, F., Ahmed, N., Abdelraouf, K., Goda, S., & Syed-Sha-Qhattal, H. (2015). Breast cancer: conventional diagnosis and treatment modalities and recent patents and technologies. *Breast Cancer: Basic and Clinical Research*, 9, BCBCR-S29420. https://doi.org/10.4137/BCBCR.S29420

- Nizet, P., Touchefeu, Y., Pecout, S., Cauchin, E., Beaudouin, E., Mayol, S., & Huon, J. F. (2022). Exploring the factors influencing adherence to oral anticancer drugs in patients with digestive cancer: a qualitative study. *Supportive Care in Cancer, 30*(3), 2591-2604.
- Osterberg, L., & Blaschke, T. (2005). Adherence to medication. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 353(5), 487-97. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra050100

Paleczna, M. (2018). Cancer as a chronic disease—a psychological perspective. *Biuletyn Polskiego Towarzystwa Onkologicznego Nowotwory*, 3(1), 29-33.

- Pan, H., Gray, R., Braybrooke, J., Davies, C., Taylor, C., McGale, P., Peto, R., Pritchard, K. I., Bergh, J., Dowsett, M., Hayes, D. F., & EBCTCG (2017). 20-year risks of breast-cancer recurrence after stopping endocrine therapy at 5 Years. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 377(19), 1836–1846. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1701830
- Park, S. K., Chun, H. K., & Park, C. (2019). Economic evaluations of oral medications for breast cancer treatment in the US: a systematic review with a focus on costeffectiveness threshold. *Expert Review of Pharmacoeconomics & Outcomes Research, 19*(6), 633-643. https://doi.org/10.1080/14737167.2019.1680289
- Partridge, A. H., Avorn, J., Wang, P. S., & Winer, E. P. (2002). Adherence to therapy with oral antineoplastic agents. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 94(9), 652-661. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/94.9.652
- Paranjpe, R., John, G., Trivedi, M., & Abughosh, S. (2019). Identifying adherence barriers to oral endocrine therapy among breast cancer survivors. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 174(2), 297-305. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-018-05073-z
- Patel, A. K., Barghout, V., Yenikomshian, M. A., Germain, G., Jacques, P., Laliberté, F., & Duh, M. S. (2020). Real-world adherence in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer treated with trifluridine plus tipiracil or regorafenib. *The Oncologist*, 25(1), e75–e84. https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.2019-0240
- Peh, K. Q. E., Kwan, Y. H., Goh, H., Ramchandani, H., Phang, J. K., Lim, Z. Y., BEng, D.
  H. F. L., Østbye, T., Blalock, D. V., Yoon, S., Bosworth, H. B., MMed, L.L., &
  Thumboo, J. (2021). An adaptable framework for factors contributing to medication

adherence: results from a systematic review of 102 conceptual frameworks. *Journal of General Internal Medicine, 36*(9), 2784-2795. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-021-06648-1

- Pettersen, T. R., Fridlund, B., Bendz, B., Nordrehaug, J. E., Rotevatn, S., Schjøtt, J., Norekvål, T. M., & CONCARD Investigators (2018). Challenges adhering to a medication regimen following first-time percutaneous coronary intervention: A patient perspective. *International Journal of Nursing Studies, 88*, 16–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2018.07.013
- Perez, E. A., & Weilbaecher, K. (2006). Aromatase inhibitors and bone loss. Oncology, 20(9), 1029–1048. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2693896/
- Peters A, & Tadi P. (2022). *Aromatase inhibitors*. StatPearls. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK557856/
- Phillips, J. L., & Currow, D. C. (2010). Cancer as a chronic disease. *Collegian*, *17*(2), 47-50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2010.04.007
- Pimm, T. J., & Weinman, J. (1998). Applying Leventhal's self regulation model to adaptation and intervention in rheumatic disease. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy: An International Journal of Theory and Practice*, 5(2), 62-75.
- Polit, D. F. & Beck, C. T. (2020). Nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice. (11th edition). Lippincott, Williams, & Wilkins
- Pourcelot, C., Orillard, E., Nallet, G., Dirand, C., Billion-Rey, F., Barbier, G., Chouk, S.,
  Limat, S., Montcuquet, P., Henriques, J., Paget-Bailly, S., Anota, A., Chaigneau, L.,
  & Nerich, V. (2018). Adjuvant hormonal therapy for early breast cancer: An

epidemiologic study of medication adherence. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 169(1), 153–162. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-018-4676-3

Pharmacy Quality Alliance (PQA). (2022). Adherence.

https://www.pqaalliance.org/adherence-measures

- Prieto-Merino, D., Mulick, A., Armstrong, C., Hoult, H., Fawcett, S., Eliasson, L., & Clifford, S. (2021). Estimating proportion of days covered (PDC) using real-world online medicine suppliers' datasets. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Policy and Practice*, *14*(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40545-021-00385-w
- Rahmawati, R., & Bajorek, B. (2018). Factors affecting self-reported medication adherence and hypertension knowledge: A cross-sectional study in rural villages, Yogyakarta Province, Indonesia. *Chronic Illness, 14*(3), 212-227.
- Rand, C. S., & Wise, R. A. (1994). Measuring adherence to asthma medication regimens. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 149(2), 69-76. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm/149.2Pt2.S69
- Reeder-Hayes, K. E., Troester, M. A., & Wheeler, S. B. (2021). Adherence to endocrine therapy and racial outcome disparities in breast cancer. *The Oncologist*, 26(11), 910-915.
- Roberts, A. L., Kubzansky, L. D., Chibnik, L. B., Rimm, E. B., & Koenen, K. C. (2020). Association of posttraumatic stress and depressive symptoms with mortality in women. *JAMA Network Open*, 3(12), e2027935-e2027935. Chicago
- Rocon, P. A., Schmader, K. E.,& Givens, J. (2022). *Drug prescribing for older adults*. UpToDate. https://www.uptodate.com/contents/drug-prescribing-for-older-adults

- Rocque, G. B., Williams, C. P., Kenzik, K. M., Jackson, B. E., Azuero, A., Halilova, K. I., Ingram, S. A., Pisu, M., Forero, A., & Bhatia, S. (2018). Concordance with NCCN treatment guidelines: Relations with health care utilization, cost, and mortality in breast cancer patients with secondary metastasis. *Cancer*, 124(21), 4231–4240. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.31694
- Rodgers B. L. (1989). Concepts, analysis and the development of nursing knowledge: the evolutionary cycle. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 14(4), 330–335. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.1989.tb03420.x
- Rolnick, S. J., Pawloski, P. A., Hedblom, B. D., Asche, S. E., & Bruzek, R. J. (2013). Patient characteristics associated with medication adherence. *Clinical Medicine & Research*, *11(*2), 54–65. https://doi.org/10.3121/cmr.2013.1113
- Rosa, E. M., & Tudge, J. (2013). Urie Bronfenbrenner's theory of human development: Its evolution from ecology to bioecology. *Journal of Family Theory & Review*, 5(4), 243-258. https://doi.org/10.1111/jftr.12022
- Ruddy, K., Mayer, E., & Partridge, A. (2009). Patient adherence and persistence with oral anticancer treatment. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 59(1), 56-66. doi: 10.3322/caac.20004
- Ryan, P. (2009). Integrated theory of health behavior change: background and intervention development. *Clinical Nurse Specialist*, 23(3), 161.
- Sabaté, E. (Ed.). (2003). *Adherence to long-term therapies: Evidence for action*. World Health Organization.
- Sanft, T., Berkowitz, A., Schroeder, B., Hatzis, C., Schnabel, C. A., Brufsky, A., Gustavsen,G., Pusztai, L. & Londen, G. V. (2019). A prospective decision-impact study

incorporating Breast Cancer Index into extended endocrine therapy decision-making. Breast Cancer Management, 8(1), BMT22.

- Santos, M. D., Lange, M., Gervais, R., Clarisse, B., Capel, A., Barillet, M., Grellard, J. M., Heutte, N., Licaj, I., & Joly, F. (2019). Impact of anxio-depressive symptoms and cognitive function on oral anticancer therapies adherence. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 27(9), 3573–3581. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-019-4644-4
- Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results. (SEER). (2022a). *Cancer stat facts: Female breast cancer*. https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/breast.html
- Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results. (SEER). (2022b). *Surveillance, epidemiology, and end results program.* http://seer.cancer.gov/registries/.
- Sella, T., & Chodick, G. (2020). Adherence and persistence to adjuvant hormonal therapy in early-stage breast cancer patients: A population-based retrospective cohort study in Israel. *Breast Care*, 15(1), 45-54. https://doi.org/10.1159/000500318
- Seng, J. J. B., Tan, J. Y., Yeam, C. T., Htay, H., & Foo, W. Y. M. (2020). Factors affecting medication adherence among pre-dialysis chronic kidney disease patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis of literature. *International Urology and Nephrology*, 52(5), 903–916. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11255-020-02452-8
- Seroussi, B., Lamy, J. B., Muro, N., Larburu, N., Sekar, B. D., Guézennec, G., & Bouaud, J. (2018). Implementing guideline-based, experience-based, and case-based approaches to enrich decision support for the management of breast cancer patients in the DESIREE project. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics*, 255, 190–194.
- Shariatpanahi, S., Ashghali Farahani, M., Rafii, F., Rassouli, M., & Kavousi, A. (2019). Designing and testing a treatment adherence model based on the Roy adaptation

model in patients with heart failure: Protocol for a mixed methods study. *JMIR Research Protocols*, 8(7), e13317. https://doi.org/10.2196/13317

Sheppard, V. B., He, J., Sutton, A., Cromwell, L., Adunlin, G., Salgado, T. M., Tolsma, D., Trout, M., Robinson, B. E., Edmonds, M. C., Bosworth, H. B., & Tadesse, M. G. (2019). Adherence to adjuvant endocrine therapy in insured black and white breast cancer survivors: exploring adherence measures in patient data. *Journal of Managed Care & Specialty Pharmacy*, *25*(5), 578–586. https://doi.org/10.18553/jmcp.2019.25.5.578

- Shi, L., Liu, J., Koleva, Y., Fonseca, V., Kalsekar, A., & Pawaskar, M. (2010). Concordance of adherence measurement using self-reported adherence questionnaires and medication monitoring devices. *PharmacoEconomics*, 28(12), 1097–1107. https://doi.org/10.2165/11537400-000000000000000
- Sieber, C. C. (2007). The elderly patient: Who is that?. Der ältere patient: Wer ist das?. *Der Internist, 48*(11), 1190-1194. https://doi.org/10.1007/2Fs00108-007-1945-3
- Siegel, R. L., Miller, K. D., & Jemal, A. (2019). Cancer statistics, 2019. CA: a Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 69(1), 7-34. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21551
- Snowflake Platform. (n.d.). The snowflake platform. https://www.snowflake.com/cloud-dataplatform/
- Smaje, A., Weston-Clark, M., Raj, R., Orlu, M., Davis, D., & Rawle, M. (2018). Factors associated with medication adherence in older patients: A systematic review. *Aging Medicine*, 1(3), 254-266. https://doi.org/10.1002/agm2.12045

- Sokol, M. C., McGuigan, K. A., Verbrugge, R. R., & Epstein, R. S. (2005). Impact of medication adherence on hospitalization risk and healthcare cost. *Medical Care*, 43(6), 521–530. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.mlr.0000163641.86870.af
- Stirratt, M. J., Dunbar-Jacob, J., Crane, H. M., Simoni, J. M., Czajkowski, S., Hilliard, M. E., Aikens, J. E., Hunter, C. M., Velligan, D. I., Huntley, K., Ogedegbe, G., Rand, C. S., Schron, E., & Nilsen, W. J. (2015). Self-report measures of medication adherence behavior: recommendations on optimal use. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, 5(4), 470–482. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13142-015-0315-2
- Tan, X., Camacho, F., Marshall, V. D., Donohoe, J., Anderson, R. T., & Balkrishnan, R.
   (2017). Geographic disparities in adherence to adjuvant endocrine therapy in
   Appalachian women with breast cancer. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 13(4), 796-810.
- Tang, L., Matsushita, H., & Jingu, K. (2018). Controversial issues in radiotherapy after breast-conserving surgery for early breast cancer in older patients: a systematic review. *Journal of Radiation Research*, 59(6), 789–793. https://doi.org/10.1093/jrr/rry071
- Thorne, S., Paterson, B., & Russell, C. (2003). The structure of everyday self-care decision making in chronic illness. *Qualitative Health Research*, *13*(10), 1337-1352.
- Toivonen, K. I., Williamson, T. M., Carlson, L. E., Walker, L. M., & Campbell, T. S. (2020). Potentially modifiable factors associated with adherence to adjuvant endocrine therapy among breast cancer survivors: A systematic review. *Cancers, 13*(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13010107

Tokdemir, G., & Kav, S. (2017). The effect of structured education to patients receiving oral agents for cancer treatment on medication adherence and self-efficacy. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Oncology Nursing*, *4*(4), 290–298.

https://doi.org/10.4103/apjon.apjon\_35\_17

- Torre, L. A., Bray, F., Siegel, R. L., Ferlay, J., Lortet-Tieulent, J., & Jemal, A. (2015). Global cancer statistics, 2012. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 65*(2), 87-108.
- Trabulsi, N., Riedel, K., Winslade, N., Gregoire, J. P., Meterissian, S., Abrahamovicz, M., & Meguerditchian, A. (2014). Adherence to anti-estrogen therapy in seniors with breast cancer: How well are we doing?. *The Breast Journal*, 20(6), 632-638.
- Trayes, K. P., & Cokenakes, S. E. (2021). Breast cancer treatment. *American Family Physician, 104*(2), 171-178.
- Trogdon, J. G., Amin, K., Gupta, P., Urick, B. Y., Reeder-Hayes, K. E., Farley, J. F., Wheeler, S. B., Spees, L., & Lund, J. L. (2021). Providers' mediating role for medication adherence among cancer survivors. *PloS One, 16*(11), e0260358. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0260358
- United States Census Bureau. (2022). *Quick facts*. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/US/PST045221

Unni, E. J., Gupta, S., & Sternbach, N. (2022). Trends of self-reported non-adherence among type 2 diabetes medication users in the United States across three years using the self-reported medication adherence reasons scale. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, 32(1), 151–159.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2021.09.018

- van Loggerenberg, F., Gray, D., Gengiah, S., Kunene, P., Gengiah, T. N., Naidoo, K., Grant,
  A. D., & CAPRISA 058 Study Team (2015). A qualitative study of patient motivation to adhere to combination antiretroviral therapy in South Africa. *AIDS patient care and STDs*, 29(5), 299–306. https://doi.org/10.1089/apc.2014.0293
- Vanderpoel, D. R., Hussein, M. A., Watson-Heidari, T., & Perry, A. (2004). Adherence to a fixed-dose combination of rosiglitazone maleate/metformin hydrochloride in subjects with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a retrospective database analysis. *Clinical Therapeutics*, 26(12), 2066–2075. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinthera.2004.12.018
- Velligan, D. I., Wang, M., Diamond, P., Glahn, D. C., Castillo, D., Bendle, S., Lam, Y. W., Ereshefsky, L., & Miller, A. L. (2007). Relationships among subjective and objective measures of adherence to oral antipsychotic medications. *Psychiatric Services* (*Washington, D.C.*), 58(9), 1187–1192. https://doi.org/10.1176/ps.2007.58.9.1187
- Verbrugghe, M., Verhaeghe, S., Lauwaert, K., Beeckman, D., & Van Hecke, A. (2013). Determinants and associated factors influencing medication adherence and persistence to oral anticancer drugs: A systematic review. *Cancer Treatment Reviews*, 39(6), 610–621. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctrv.2012.12.014
- Vermeire, E., Hearnshaw, H., Van Royen, P., & Denekens, J. (2001). Patient adherence to treatment: Three decades of research. A comprehensive review. *Journal of clinical Pharmacy and Therapeutics*, 26(5), 331–342. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2710.2001.00363.x
- Vitolins, M. Z., Rand, C. S., Rapp, S. R., Ribisl, P. M., & Sevick, M. A. (2000). Measuring adherence to behavioral and medical interventions. *Controlled Clinical Trials*, 21(5), 188S–94S. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0197-2456(00)00077-5

- Vik, S. A., Maxwell, C. J., & Hogan, D. B. (2004). Measurement, correlates, and health outcomes of medication adherence among seniors. *The Annals of pharmacotherapy*, 38(2), 303–312. https://doi.org/10.1345/aph.1D252
- Vrijens, B., De Geest, S., Hughes, D. A., Przemyslaw, K., Demonceau, J., Ruppar, T., & Matyjaszczyk, M. (2012). A new taxonomy for describing and defining adherence to medications. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 73(5), 691-705. https://doi.org 10.1111/j .1365-2125.2012.04167.
- Wade, R. L., Chaudhari, P., Natoli, J. L., Taylor, R. J., Nathanson, B. H., & Horn, D. (2013).
  Comparison of adverse events and hospital length of stay associated with various amphotericin B formulations: sequential conventional amphotericin b/lipid versus lipid-only therapy for the treatment of invasive fungal infections in hospitalized patients. *Pharmacy and Therapeutics*, *38*(5), 278.
- Wafer, M. A. (2017). Chapter 6: Compliance, motivation, and health behaviors of the learner. In *Nurse as educator: Principles of teaching and learning for nursing* (pp. 219–256). Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Wang, X., & Du, X. L. (2015). Socio-demographic and geographic variations in the utilization of hormone therapy in older women with breast cancer after Medicare Part-D coverage. *Medical Oncology*, 32, 1-14.
- Wagner, T. H., & Hibbard, J. H. (2001). Who uses self-care books, advice nurses, and computers for health information?. *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care, 17*(4), 590-600.
- Waitman, L. R., Song, X., Walpitage, D. L., Connolly, D. C., Patel, L. P., Liu, M., & Davis,A. M. (2022). Enhancing PCORnet Clinical Research Network data completeness by

integrating multistate insurance claims with electronic health records in a cloud environment aligned with CMS security and privacy requirements. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association, 29*(4), 660-670.

https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocab269

Wang, X., Xu, L., Yin, Z., Wang, D., Wang, Q., Xu, K., Zhao, J., Zhao, L., Yuan, Z., & Wang, P. (2018). Locoregional recurrence-associated factors and risk-adapted postmastectomy radiotherapy for breast cancer staged in cT1-2N0-1 after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Cancer Management and Research*, *10*, 4105–4112. https://doi.org/10.2147/CMAR.S173628

Warren, J. L., Klabunde, C. N., Schrag, D., Bach, P. B., & Riley, G. F. (2002). Overview of the SEER-Medicare data: Content, research applications, and generalizability to the United States elderly population. *Medical Care*, IV3–IV18.

Waters, H., & Graf, M. (2018). The cost of chronic disease in the US. Milken Institute

- Weaver, K. E., Camacho, F., Hwang, W., Anderson, R., & Kimmick, G. (2013). Adherence to adjuvant hormonal therapy and its relationship to breast cancer recurrence and survival among low income women. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology, 36*(2), 181.
- Wen, K. Y., Smith, R., Padmanabhan, A., & Goldstein, L. (2017). Patient experience of taking adjuvant endocrine therapy for breast cancer: A tough pill to swallow. *Patient Experience Journal*, 4(3), 104-114. https://doi.org/10.35680/2372-0247.1173
- Weingart, S. N., Flug, J., Brouillard, D., Morway, L., Partridge, A., Bartel, S., Shulman, L.N., & Connor, M. (2007). Oral chemotherapy safety practices at US cancer centers:

Questionnaire survey. *BMJ*, 334(7590), 407.

https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.39069.489757.55

White, M. C., Holman, D. M., Boehm, J. E., Peipins, L. A., Grossman, M., & Henley, S. J. (2014). Age and cancer risk: A potentially modifiable relationship. *American Journal* of Preventive Medicine, 46(3), S7–S15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2013.10.029

Wood, L. (2012). A review on adherence management in patients on oral cancer therapies.
 *European Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 16(4), 432–438.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejon.2011.10.002

- World Health Organization. (WHO). (2014). *Global status report on noncommunicable diseases*. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/148114
- Wouters, H., Stiggelbout, A. M., Bouvy, M. L., Maatman, G. A., Van Geffen, E. C., Vree,
  R., & Van Dijk, L. (2014). Endocrine therapy for breast cancer: assessing an array of
  women's treatment experiences and perceptions, their perceived self-efficacy and
  nonadherence. *Clinical Breast Cancer*, *14*(6), 460-467.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clbc.2014.04.005
- Wulaningsih, W., Garmo, H., Ahlgren, J., Holmberg, L., Folkvaljon, Y., Wigertz, A., ... & Lambe, M. (2018). Determinants of non-adherence to adjuvant endocrine treatment in women with breast cancer: the role of comorbidity. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 172*(1), 167-177. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-018-4890-z
- Xie, Y., Guo, B., & Zhang, R. (2020). Cost-effectiveness analysis of advanced radiotherapy techniques for post-mastectomy breast cancer patients. *Cost Effectiveness and Resource Allocation, 18*(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12962-020-00222-y

- Xu, L., & Wang, A. (2019). Health belief about adjuvant endocrine therapy in premenopausal breast cancer survivors: a qualitative study. *Patient Preference and Adherence*, 13, 1519.
- Xu, L., Zhang, Z., Xiang, Q., Liu, Q., Duan, X., Liu, Y., & Cui, Y. (2019). Extended adjuvant therapy with aromatase inhibitors for early breast cancer: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Clinical Breast Cancer*, 19(5), e578-e588.
- Yach, D. (2002). Innovative care for chronic conditions Building blocks for action: Global report. WHO. http://improvingchroniccare.org/downloads/who\_innovative\_care\_for\_chronic\_condit ions.pdf
- Yoon, H., Chatters, L., Kao, T. S. A., Saint-Arnault, D., & Northouse, L. (2018). Predictors of quality of life and depression among Korean-American cancer patients and their family caregivers. *Psycho-Oncology*, 27(12), 2717-2724.
- Yuan, C., Xie, Z., Bian, J., Huo, J., & Daily, K. (2020). Outcomes of primary endocrine therapy in elderly women with stage I–III breast cancer: A SEER database analysis. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 180, 819-827.
- Yussof, I., Mohd Tahir, N. A., Hatah, E., & Mohamed Shah, N. (2022). Factors influencing five-year adherence to adjuvant endocrine therapy in breast cancer patients: A systematic review. *Breast*, 62, 22–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.breast.2022.01.012
- Zhang, Z.-J., Zhang, C.-L., Zhang, X.-G., Liu, X.-M., Zhang, H., Wang, J., & Liu, S. (2015). Relationship between self-efficacy beliefs and achievement motivation in student nurses. *Chinese Nursing Research*, 2(2), 67–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cnre.2015.06.001

- Zhu, J., Wang, F., Shi, L., Cai, H., Zheng, Y., Zheng, W., ... & Shu, X. O. (2020). Accelerated aging in breast cancer survivors and its association with mortality and cancer recurrence. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 180(2), 449-459.
- Zulkosky, K. (2009). Self-efficacy: A concept analysis. *Nursing Forum, 44*(2), 93–102. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6198.2009.00132.x

Sunny Yoo Ruggeri was born in Cheon-An, South Korea, in 1987 to Jiyoung Yoo and Jung Sook Kim. She constantly desired to be a great scientist. So, she started her passion for learning physics with a bachelor's degree to better understand all the tools of science. After, she graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree in Physics at Sung Kyun Kwan University, South Korea, in 2009. She continued her studies further to the graduate level focusing on Physics and Biochemistry and retrieved her Master's degree in Energy Science from the same school in 2014. During her Master's years, she worked on laser physics by using optical spectroscopy to understand photosynthesis mechanisms. She also developed a new device to increase the sensitivity of sample yield on the receiving device at Lund University, Sweden.

When Ms. Sunny Ruggeri moved to the USA, she wanted to do something more emotionally rewarding, so she changed her career to nursing. She earned her registered nurse license after graduating from the Bridgeport Hospital School of Nursing in CT, USA, in 2016. She began her career as a medical-surgical nurse at Bridgeport Hospital, Yale New Haven's satellite location in CT, USA. Ms. Ruggeri additionally obtained a degree of a Master of Science in Nursing degree in 2019. She started her nursing education career at Becker College, Worcester, MA, USA, in 2019 as a lecturer and clinical instructor. Ms. Ruggeri began working for Worcester State University as a Tenure Track Assistant Professor in 2022. She presented her Ph.D. study at the Eastern Nursing Research Society (ENRS) Conference 2021, the Oncology Nursing Society (ONS) Conference 2021, and North American Nursing Diagnosis Association (NANDA) International Conference 2023. Overall, Ms. Ruggeri has been involved in and presented eight poster presentations and five publications in highly recognized Science Citation Index (SCI) journals.

In the Summer of 2019, Ms. Ruggeri began coursework for her Doctor of Philosophy degree in Nursing at the University of Missouri-Kansas City. She passed her comprehensive exam in February 2022. Ms. Ruggeri plans to continue with big-data analysis projects to identify the medication adherence rate and the multi-level determinants influencing medication adherence among older women with breast cancer in large samples across diverse backgrounds using the SEER-Medicare dataset.

Ms. Ruggeri is a member of the Oncology Nursing Society, the Boston Oncology Nursing Society, Eastern Nursing Research Society, and the Lambda Phi Chapter of Sigma Theta Tau International.

275